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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 
(the Authority), which comprise the Statements of Net Position as of June 30, 2018 and 2017; the related 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and Cash Flows for the years then 
ended; and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic 
financial statements, as listed on the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Authority as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, and the changes in its financial position 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 
 
Required Supplementary Information  
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and the Required Supplementary Information—Pension Plan, as listed in the 
table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to 
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because 
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 
Other Information  
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements as a 
whole. The Indenture Cash Flow and Debt Service Coverage on page 50 is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements, or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 18, 
2018, on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Austin, Texas 
September 18, 2018 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A) 
 
The Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority (the Authority) presents the following discussion and 
analysis of the Authority’s financial activities during the fiscal years that ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. 
This section is intended to be read it in conjunction with the Authority’s financial statements, which 
immediately follow this section.  

 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The financial section of this annual report consists of four parts: management’s discussion and analysis, 
the basic financial statements, the notes to the financial statements and the required supplementary 
information. 
 
The financial statements provide both long-term and short-term information about the Authority’s overall 
financial status. The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the 
financial statements and provide more detailed data.  
 
Basic financial statements: The financial statements are designed to provide readers with an overview 
of the Authority’s finances in a manner similar to private-sector business. 
 
The Statements of Net Position present information on all of the Authority’s assets and deferred outflows, 
as well as the Authority’s liabilities and deferred inflows with the difference reported as net position. Over 
time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial 
position of the Authority is improving or deteriorating. The Statements of Net Position can be found on 
page 9 of this report. 
 
The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position present information showing how 
the Authority’s net position changed during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. All changes in 
net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows. Therefore, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for 
some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. The increase or decrease in net 
position may serve as an indicator of the effect of the Authority’s current year operations on its financial 
position. The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position can be found on page 10 
of this report. 
 
The Statements of Cash Flows summarize all of the Authority’s cash flows into three categories as 
applicable: 1) cash flows from operating activities, 2) cash flows from capital and related financing 
activities and 3) cash flows from investing activities. The Statement of Cash Flows can be found on  
page 11 of this report. The Statements of Cash Flows, along with the related notes and information in 
other financial statements, can be useful in assessing the following: 
 
 The Authority’s ability to generate future cash flows 

 
 The Authority’s ability to pay its debt as the debt matures 
 
 Reasons for the difference between the Authority’s operating cash flows and operating income 
 
 The impact of the Authority’s financial position of cash and noncash transactions from investing, 

capital, and financing activities 
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The Notes to Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding 
of the data provided in the basic financial statements. The Notes to Financial Statements can be found 
starting on page 12 of this report. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
 Total toll revenue increased to $91.5 million in 2018 from $75.6 million in 2017 or a 21 percent 

increase. Total toll revenue increased from $64.3 million to $75.6 million from 2016 to 2017 or a 
18 percent increase. 
 

 Total operating expenses were approximately $56.6 million, $45.0 million and $41.0 million in 2018 
2017 and 2016, respectively.  
 

 Total construction in progress was approximately $645.7 million, $594.3 million and $338.6 million as 
of June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Construction in progress increased by approximately 
$51.4 million from 2017 to 2018 in part due to progress made on the MoPac Improvement Project of 
approximately $21.6 million, the placing in service of $179.0 million of the MoPac Improvement 
Project, progress made of the SH 45 Southwest Project of approximately $42.6 million, starting the 
290E Phase III Project of approximately $4.2 million, continuing the 183 South Project (collectively, 
the Projects) of approximately $154.7 million and various other projects which totaled approximately 
$7.3 million.  

 
 Construction in progress increased by approximately $255.7 million from 2016 to 2017 in part due to 

progress made on the MoPac Improvement Project of approximately $63.9 million and start of the 
SH 45 Southwest Project of approximately $22.2 million and continuing the 183 South Project of 
approximately $162.6 million. 

 
 Total restricted cash and cash equivalents decreased by $32.1 million from 2017 to 2018. The overall 

decrease in restricted cash and investments was largely due to construction of the Projects. 
 

 Total restricted cash and cash equivalents decreased by $124.4 million from 2016 to 2017. The 
overall decrease in restricted cash and investments was largely due to construction of the Projects. 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE AUTHORITY 
 
Net position: As noted above, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the Authority’s 
financial position. The net position reflects an un-expendable and expendable portion of net position. The 
Authority’s assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by approximately 
$635.0 million, $636.2 million and $466.8 million as of June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see 
Table A-1). As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the largest portion of the Authority’s net position is reflected its 
investment in capital assets (the Tolling System infrastructure and related assets) net of any outstanding 
debt used to acquire those assets. The second largest portion of net position, as of June 30, 2018 and 
2017, is expendable and reflects proceeds restricted for debt service or construction expenditures. 
Although the Authority’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted 
that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital 
assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  
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2018 2017 2016

Current assets 182,094  $         204,850  $         143,984  $         
Restricted assets 204,384             309,229             492,744             
Pension asset 826                    355                    202                    
Capital assets 1,673,630          1,491,482          1,084,996          

Total assets    2,060,934          2,005,916          1,721,926          
Deferred outflows of resources 108,057             109,742             91,656               

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 2,168,991  $      2,115,658  $      1,813,582  $      

Total liabilities 1,532,560  $      1,480,216  $      1,346,650  $      
Deferred inflows of resources 278                    286                    172                    

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 1,532,838  $      1,480,502  $      1,346,822  $      

Net position:
Invested in capital assets 447,015  $         436,282  $         200,628  $         
Restricted for other purposes 106,764             141,068             227,787             
Unrestricted 82,372               57,806               38,345               

Total net position 636,151             635,156             466,760             
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources

and net position 2,168,989  $      2,115,658  $      1,813,582  $      

Table A-1
Condensed Schedules of Net Position

(In Thousands of Dollars)

 
For fiscal year 2018, current and restricted assets decreased as a result of the Authority’s ongoing 
construction on the Projects. The Authority receives grant funds, and bond proceeds to fund the Projects. 
 
For fiscal year 2017, current and restricted assets decreased as a result of the Authority’s ongoing 
construction on the Projects. The Authority receives grant funds, and bond proceeds to fund the Projects.  
 
For fiscal year 2018 and 2017, excluding accumulated depreciation, capital assets increased as a result 
of the ongoing construction and current period Project additions of approximately $181.4 million and 
$174.4 million, respectively. 
 
For fiscal year 2017 and 2016, excluding accumulated depreciation, capital assets increased as a result 
of the ongoing construction and current period additions of approximately $171.4 million and 
$214.0 million, respectively, on the Projects. 
 
Changes in net position: The operating revenues continue to increase as the level of toll transactions 
increases within the completed projects of the Authority’s Tolling System (which as of June 30, 2018, 
includes the 183A Turnpike Project (Phases I and II), the 290E Project (Phases I and II) and the SH 71 
Express Project) and the addition of MoPac Improvement Project in October of 2017. The average daily 
Tolling System transactions increased in 2018 from approximately 222.7 thousand per day in 2017 to 
approximately 252.1 thousand per day or from an annual total of approximately 80.0 million to 92.0 million 
from 2017 to 2018.  
  



Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued) 
June 30, 2018 and 2017 
 

6 

Activity in the MoPac Improvement Project is not reflected in the total Tolling System transactions above. 
The MoPac Improvement Project is not included in the Authority’s Tolling System established by the bond 
indenture securing the Authority’s toll revenue obligations. For fiscal year 2018, activity of the MoPac 
Improvement Project consisted of approximately 7.4 million transactions and approximately $8.5 million in 
revenue.  

The average daily Tolling System transactions increased in 2017 from approximately 198 thousand 
per day to approximately 222.7 thousand per day in 2017 or from an annual total of approximately 
62.0 million to 80.0 million from 2016 to 2017. 
 
The chart below includes transactions for the completed projects of the Authority’s Tolling System (which 
as of June 30, 2018, includes the 183A Turnpike Project (Phases I and II), the 290E Project (Phases I 
and II) and the SH 71 Express Project). 

 
Total Monthly Tolling System Transactions 

 

 

As noted at Table A-2 on the following page, operating expenses increased by $11.6 million from 2017 to 
2018 and by $4.0 million from 2016 to 2017. The increases are related to the increase in the number of 
tolling transactions which result in additional expenses for road maintenance, image tag and collection 
fees.  
 
The nonoperating expenses (net) increased from $32.5 million in fiscal year 2017 to $34.5 million in fiscal 
year 2018. The increase is attributable to the initial CAMPO RIF payment incurred in fiscal year 2018 
relating to the MoPac Improvement Project. 
 
The nonoperating expenses (net) decreased from $50.8 million in fiscal year 2016 to $32.5 million in 
fiscal year 2017. The decrease is attributed to financing expenses in 2016 from the issuance of new 
revenue bonds exceeding the 2017 financing expenses. Additionally, the Series 2016 Refunding Bonds 
allowed for lower cost of borrowing and the Authority also capitalized interest of $13.9 million in 2017 
compared to $9.1 million in 2016.  
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The change in net position before capital grants and contributions is a gain of approximately 
$0.978 million in fiscal year 2018 compared to a loss of $0.2 million and $26.0 million in fiscal years 2017 
and 2016, respectively. See Table A-2. 
 

2018 2017 2016
Revenues:

Toll revenue 91,492  $          75,651  $          64,312  $          
Grant proceeds and other operating 682                   1,569                1,486                

Total revenues 92,174              77,220              65,798              
Expenses:

Administration 25,390              20,501              16,721              
Professional services 3,167                2,371                2,578                
Depreciation and amortization 28,045              22,099              21,692              

Total expenses 56,602              44,971              40,991              
Operating income 35,572              32,249              24,807              

Total net nonoperating revenue (expenses) (34,594)             (32,461)             (50,837)             
Change in net position—before capital grants 

and contributions 978                   (212)                  (26,030)             
Capital grants and contributions, net 17                     168,608            173,714            

Change in net position 995                   168,396            147,684            
Total net position at beginning of year 635,156            466,760            319,076            
Total net position at end of year 636,151  $        635,156  $        466,760  $        

Table A-2
Condensed Schedules of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

(In Thousands of Dollars)

 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital assets: As of June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Authority had invested approximately 
$642.5 million, $594.3 million and $338.6 million, respectively, in construction in progress. Of the 
$645.7 million, and $594.3 million of the construction in progress, the non-Tolling System projects 
(projects other than the 183A Turnpike Project, the 290E Project, the 183 South Project and the SH 71 
Express Project) made up $123.1 million and $216.8 million of the total in 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
See Table A-3 and Note 3. 
 

                             
2018 2017 2016

Property and equipment 4,862  $              12,474  $            11,830  $            
Toll road 1,171,794           1,009,918           837,774              
Accumulated depreciation (145,518)             (125,242)             (103,162)             
Construction in progress 642,491              594,333              338,554              

Net capital assets 1,673,629  $       1,491,483  $       1,084,996  $       

Table A-3
Capital Assets

(Net of Depreciation, in Thousands of Dollars)
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Long-term debt: As of June 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Authority had total debt outstanding of 
approximately $1,441.4 million, $1,364.5 million and $1,244.5 million, respectively. See Table A-4. 
 

2018 2017 2016
Total debt:

Total bonds and other obligations 1,441,425  $       1,360,946  $       1,239,227  $       
Total notes -                      3,570                  5,300                  

Total debt outstanding 1,441,425  $       1,364,516  $       1,244,527  $       

Total debt service payments:
Principal payments 8,755  $              6,425  $              6,905  $              
Interest payments 54,324                45,132                38,004                

Table A-4
Total Debt

(In Thousands of Dollars)

 
The total debt obligations include the current portion of the obligations of $7.4 million, $6.9 million and 
$6.4 million for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  
 
Additional information on the Authority’s long-term debt can be found in Note 4 of this report. 
 
CONTACTING THE AUTHORITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide interested parties with a general overview of the Authority’s 
finances and to demonstrate the Authority’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions 
about this report or need additional financial information, contact the Central Texas Regional Mobility 
Authority, 3300 North IH 35, Suite 300, Austin, 78705. 
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Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

Current assets:

Unrestricted:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 49,687,164  $             903,311  $                  

Investments (Note 2) 35,008,355                 67,774,818                 

Due from other governments (Note 8) 4,336,907                   17,083,930                 

Accrued interest receivable 192,484                      325,529                      

Prepaid expenses and other assets 46,518                        37,999                        

Total unrestricted 89,271,428                 86,125,587                 

Restricted:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 92,822,518                 118,725,139               

Total restricted 92,822,518                 118,725,139               

Total current assets 182,093,946               204,850,726               

Noncurrent assets:

Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 26,661,063                 81,632,324                 

Investments (Note 2) 177,722,684               227,597,046               

Total restricted assets 204,383,747               309,229,370               

Pension asset (Note 7) 826,397                      355,139                      

Total capital assets, net (Note 3) 1,673,629,024            1,491,481,738            

Total assets 2,060,933,114            2,005,916,973            

Total deferred outflows of resources (Notes 5 and 7) 108,056,556               109,741,671               

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 2,168,989,670  $        2,115,658,644  $        

Current liabilities:

Payable from current assets:

Accounts payable 1,079,771  $               1,838,473  $               

Due to other governments 4,073,939                   1,672,933                   

Accrued expenses 584,371                      413,542                      

Total payable from current assets 5,738,081                   3,924,948                   

Payable from restricted current assets:

Construction accounts payable 45,136,616                 73,481,537                 

CAMPO RIF payable 2,000,000                   -                             

Accrued interest payable 25,942,463                 25,975,163                 

Bonds, notes payable and other obligations, current portion (Note 4) 7,425,000                   6,950,000                   

Unearned revenue 12,318,439                 12,318,439                 

Total payable from restricted current assets 92,822,518                 118,725,139               

Total current liabilities 98,560,599                 122,650,087               

Noncurrent liabilities:

Unearned revenue -                             -                             

Notes payable, net of current portion (Note 4) -                             1,805,000                   

Revenue bonds payable and other obligations, net of current portion (note 4) 1,433,999,854            1,355,761,123            

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,433,999,854            1,357,566,123            

Total liabilities 1,532,560,453            1,480,216,210            

Total deferred inflows of resources (Notes 5 and 7) 278,184                      286,449                      

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 1,532,838,637            1,480,502,659            

Net position:

Net Investment in capital assets 447,015,053               436,282,193               

Restricted for debt service 106,764,024               141,067,986               

Unrestricted 82,371,956                 57,805,806                 

Total net position 636,151,033               635,155,985               

Total liabilities and net position 2,168,989,670  $        2,115,658,644  $        

See notes to financial statements.
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Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017
Operating revenues:

Tolls 91,491,730  $     75,651,364  $     
Grant proceeds and other operating 681,812              1,568,891           

Total operating revenues 92,173,542         77,220,255         

Operating expenses:
Salaries and wages 4,871,271           4,337,946           
Toll contractual services 12,258,054         8,356,483           
Professional services 3,167,349           2,370,921           
General and administrative 8,259,628           7,806,640           
Depreciation and amortization 28,045,493         22,099,071         

Total operating expenses 56,601,795         44,971,061         

Operating income 35,571,747         32,249,194         

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income 2,541,537           847,178              
Financing expense (226,753)             (1,358,618)          
CAMPO RIF payment (2,000,000)          -                      
Interest expense, net of interest capitalized (34,908,809)        (31,949,097)        

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses), net (34,594,025)        (32,460,537)        
Change in net position before capital grants and 

contributions 977,722              (211,343)             

TxDOT capital grants and contributions, net 17,326                168,607,570       
Change in net position 995,048              168,396,227       

Total net position at beginning of year 635,155,985       466,759,758       

Total net position at end of year 636,151,033  $   635,155,985  $   

See notes to financial statements.
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Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from toll fees 91,130,996  $         73,772,971  $         

Receipts from grants and other income 681,812                  1,568,891               

Payments to vendors (22,051,246)            (17,059,484)            

Payments to employees (4,789,619)              (4,258,810)              

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 64,971,943             54,023,568             

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:

Proceeds from notes payable and other obligations 90,521,885             49,636,149             

Payments on revenue bonds issuance -                          (3,855,854)              

Payments on interest (54,324,611)            (45,132,276)            

Payments on bonds (9,403,471)              (6,425,000)              

Purchase of capital assets (302,647)                 (2,260,579)              

Payments for construction in progress (240,014,400)          (206,701,520)          

Proceeds from capital grants 28,679,062             100,753,583           

Proceeds from contributed capital -                          4,500,000               

Net cash flows used in capital and related financing activities (184,844,182)          (109,485,497)          

Cash flows from investing activities:

Interest income, gross of capitalized interest 5,083,086               3,170,825               

Purchase of investments (178,465,748)          (285,516,658)          

Proceeds from sale or maturity of investments 261,164,872           213,417,984           

Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 87,782,210             (68,927,849)            

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (32,090,029)            (124,389,778)          

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 201,260,774           325,650,552           

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 169,170,745  $       201,260,774  $       

Reconciliation of change in net position to net cash provided by operating activities:

Operating income 35,571,747  $         32,249,194  $         

Adjustments to reconcile change in net position to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 28,045,493             22,099,071             

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Increase in due from other governments (391,555)                 (1,926,383)              

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (8,519)                     69,602                    

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (727,881)                 555,604                  

Increase in accrued expenses 2,541,014               946,663                  

Increase in pension asset (471,258)                 (153,116)                 

Increase in deferred outflow of resources 421,167                  68,501                    

Increase (decrease) in deferred inflow of resources (8,265)                     114,432                  

Total adjustments 29,400,196             21,774,374             

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 64,971,943  $         54,023,568  $         

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents:

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 49,687,164  $         903,311  $              

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:

Current 92,822,518             118,725,139           

Noncurrent 26,661,063             81,632,324             

Total 169,170,745  $       201,260,774  $       

See notes to financial statements.
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The financial statements of the Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority (the Authority) have been 
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAP) as applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the 
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting 
principles. The more significant of the Authority’s accounting policies are described below: 
 
A. Reporting entity: The Authority was authorized by the State of Texas in 2002. The Authority is 
authorized to construct, maintain, repair and operate turnpike projects at locations authorized by the 
Legislature of the State of Texas and approved by the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT). The 
Authority receives its revenues from tolls, fees and reimbursement grants from the operation of turnpike 
projects and reimbursement grants for the construction of toll projects. The Authority may issue revenue 
bonds for the purpose of paying the costs of turnpike projects. 
 
The Authority was formed through the joint efforts of Travis and Williamson Counties (the Counties). Their 
efforts began in September 2002, following the enactment of provisions by the 77th Texas Legislature 
authorizing the formation of regional mobility authorities (RMAs). The petition to form the Authority was 
filed by the Counties, and the Texas Transportation Commission granted approval for its formation in 
October 2002. The Counties appointed its initial Board of directors (the Board) in January 2003. Each 
County appointed three directors, and the Governor appointed the presiding officer. The members are 
appointed in belief that the composition of the Board and the common interest in the region shared by all 
Board members will result in adequate representation of all political subdivisions within the geographic 
area of the RMA and serve without pay for terms of two years. The Authority has full control over all 
operations, but must comply with certain bond indentures and trust agreements. The Authority employs 
an Executive Director who manages the day-to-day operations. 
 
In evaluating how to define the Authority for financial reporting purposes, management has determined 
there are no entities over which the Authority exercises significant influence. Significant influence or 
accountability is based primarily on operational or financial relationships with the Authority. Since the 
Authority does not exercise significant influence or accountability over other entities, it has no component 
units. 
 
B. Basis of accounting: The operations of the Authority are accounted for within a single proprietary 
(enterprise) fund through which all financial activities are recorded. The measurement focus for an 
enterprise fund is the flow of economic resources. An enterprise fund follows the accrual basis of 
accounting. With this measurement focus, all assets, liabilities and deferred inflows and outflows of 
resources associated with the operations are included on the Statements of Net Position. Net position 
(i.e., total assets and deferred outflows net of total liabilities and deferred inflows) is segregated into 
amounts of net investment in capital assets, amounts restricted for capital activity and debt service 
pursuant to the bond indenture, and amounts which are unrestricted. Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are earned, expenses are recognized in 
the period in which the liability is incurred regardless of the timing of related cash flows, and depreciation 
of capital assets is recognized. Revenue from grants and contracts specifying allowable costs to be 
incurred are recognized as revenue when all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider are met and 
qualifying expenditures have been incurred.  
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

C. Pledged revenue: In accordance with the bond indenture, as amended, between the Authority and 
the trustee named therein, the Authority has designated the following projects as part of the “CTRMA 
Turnpike System” (the Tolling System): the 183A Turnpike Project, the 290E Project, the 183 South 
Project and the SH 71 Express Project. The trust estate established by the bond indenture is pledged to 
secure certain outstanding obligations of the Authority, and such trust estate includes the revenues from 
the Tolling System. The Tolling System may also include any future Project and other roads, bridges or 
other toll facilities for which the Authority has operational responsibility that the Authority designates as 
part of the Tolling System by official action of its Board of Directors.  

 
D. Cash, cash equivalents and investments: Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
demand deposits, investments in the money market mutual fund and short-term investments with original 
maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Bank deposits are fully collateralized or 
covered by federal depository insurance. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in 
an orderly transaction between market participants. Investments in debt securities are reported at fair 
value based on pricing service modeling for fixed income securities. Investment in local government 
investment pools are reported at amortized cost. The net change in fair value of investments is recorded 
on the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and includes the unrealized and 
realized gains and losses on investments. The Authority’s investment practices are governed by State 
statutes, the Authority’s own investment policy and bond indentures and the Texas Public Funds 
Investment Act. 
 
E. Compensated absences: Full-time regular employees are eligible for vacation, which accrue 
monthly. The maximum paid accrual is from 180 hours for one to two years of service up to 336 hours for 
10 plus years of service. Vested vacation leave is recorded as an expense and a liability as the benefits 
accrue to employees. There are no accumulating sick leave benefits that vest for which any liability must 
be recognized. Accrued vacation leave on the Statements of Net Position is $282,775 and $182,441 as of 
June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  
 
F. Capital assets: Capital assets, which include property and equipment, right of way and toll roads, 
are reported at cost. Capital assets acquired through contributions, such as those from developers or 
other governments, are recorded at estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. Capital assets are 
defined as assets with initial, individual costs exceeding $500 to $20,000, depending on the asset 
category. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:  
 

Estimated
Useful Live

Roads and bridges 40 years
Improvements 5-20 years
Buildings 20-30 years
Equipment 3-10 years

 
A full month’s depreciation is taken in the month an asset is placed in service. When property and 
equipment are disposed, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective 
accounts, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recorded in operations. 
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

F. Capital assets (continued): The Authority capitalizes interest cost of restricted tax-exempt 
borrowings less any interest earned on temporary investment of the proceeds of those borrowings from 
the date of borrowing until the specified qualifying assets acquired with those borrowings are ready for 
their intended use. 
 
The Authority tests for impairment of capital assets when significant unexpected decline in service utility 
occurs. There were no asset impairments in fiscal year 2018 or 2017.  
 
G. Grants and contributions: Revenues from grants and contributions are cash and noncash which 
include the following: (1) Capital grants and contributions which are restricted revenues whose resources 
may only be spent to purchase, build or use capital assets for specified programs or (2) Operating grants 
and contributions which are restricted in the way they may be spent for operations of a particular 
program.  
 
The Authority has entered into several construction contracts with TxDOT for the construction of 
roadways using Highway Planning and Construction federal funding and certain state funding for 
transportation improvements. During the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority recognized 
capital grants and contributions of approximately $15.5 million and $168.6 million, respectively, from 
TxDOT. Revenues from federal and state cost reimbursement grants and contracts are recognized as 
earned when all eligibility requirements, including incurring allowable expenditures, have been met. As of 
June 30, 2018 and 2017, there was approximately $12.3 million, for both years, of unearned revenue 
from a TxDOT construction contract which is recorded as unearned revenue in the Statements of Net 
Position until qualifying allowable expenditures are incurred. 
 
H. Restricted assets: Certain assets of the Authority are classified as restricted assets in the 
Statement of Net Position because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants or TxDOT 
construction contracts. When the proceeds are restricted for the acquisition or construction of noncurrent 
assets or are restricted for liquidation of long-term debt, they are further classified as noncurrent restricted 
assets. The Authority’s policy is to first apply restricted resources when an expense is incurred for 
purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available. In the financial statements, 
restricted net position is reported for amounts that are externally restricted by creditors (e.g., bond 
covenants), grantors, contributors or laws and regulations of other governments or law through 
constitutional provision or enabling legislation.  
 
I. Income taxes: The Authority is an instrumentality of the state of Texas. As such, income earned in 
the exercise of its essential government functions is exempt from federal income taxes.  
 
J. Pensions: The net pension liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions, pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Authority’s participation in 
the Texas County and District Retirement System (TCDRS), an Agent Plan, and additions to/deductions 
from TCDRS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 
TCDRS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized 
in the TCDRS net pension liability calculations when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. The investments are stated at fair value.  
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

K. Deferred outflows and inflows of resources: The Authority has classified as deferred inflows of 
resources items that represent acquisition of net position that applies to future periods and will not be 
recognized as a revenue until then. The Authority has classified as deferred outflows of resources certain 
items that represent a consumption of resources that applies to a future period and, therefore, will not be 
recognized as an expense until then. Bond issuance cost, other than prepaid insurance, is expensed as 
incurred, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and 
Liabilities. Deferred gains/losses on refunding (the difference between the reacquisition price and the 
carrying value of the existing debt) are recorded as deferred outflows of resources and amortized over the 
shorter of the life of the original bonds or the life of the refunding bonds.  
 
L. Long-term obligations: Long term obligations are reported as liabilities in the statement of net 
position and consist of notes and bonds payable and related premiums and discounts. The Authority 
amortizes premiums and discounts over the estimated life of the bonds as an adjustment to interest 
expense using the effective interest method.  
 
M. Classification of operating and nonoperating revenue and expenses: The Authority defines 
operating revenues and expenses as those revenues and expenses generated by the Authority’s Tolling 
System (the 183A Turnpike Project, the 290E Project, the 183 South Project and the SH 71 Express 
Project) and non-Tolling System (MoPac Improvement Project) operations. It also includes all revenues 
and expenses not related to capital and related financing, noncapital financing or investing activities. This 
definition is consistent with the Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Standards, which defines operating receipts as cash receipts from customers and other cash receipts that 
do not result from transactions defined as capital and related financing, noncapital financing or investing 
activities. All revenues and expense not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenue and 
expenses. 
 
N. Estimates: The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates.  
 
O. Noncash disclosures for statements of cash flows: 
 
Capital Appreciation Bonds: The Authority’s outstanding capital appreciation bonds Series 2010 and 
2011 included accreted interest of $5.5 million and $5.2 million for the periods ended June 30, 2018 and 
2017, respectively. 
 
SH 71 Express Project: On February 27, 2013, the Authority elected to waive and decline the Authority’s 
option under the Texas Transportation Code to develop, finance, and construct the SH 71 Express 
Project which consists of three miles of toll lanes (the Project). However, the Authority elected to retain its 
option to operate any potential toll lanes on the Project and to retain the revenues generated therefrom. 
Under an agreement executed in December 2013 between the Authority and TxDOT, TxDOT funded the 
development, design, and construction of the Project, subject to partial reimbursement from the Authority 
as provided in this agreement. The Project was substantially completed and operational in 2017. The 
completion of the Project resulted in the contribution of the SH 71 Express Project asset to the Authority’s 
Tolling System in the amount of approximately $161.0 million with a repayment liability of approximately 
$65.0 million, from future toll collections, and a capital contribution from TxDOT of $96.0 million of the toll 
project cost.  
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

SH 71 Express Project (continued): During fiscal year 2018 TxDOT updated certain capital balances 
and related debt on the SH 71 Express Project which resulted in a decrease of contributed capital by 
$19.5 million and related debt by $2.0 million (included in the TxDOT Capital grants and contributions, net 
on the Statement of Revenues and Expenses and Changes in Net Position). 
 

Noncash Disclosure (in Millions) 2018 2017
SH 71 Express Project obligation:

Increase (decrease) in highway and bridge capital asset (19.5)  $         161.0  $        
Increase (decrease) in SH 71 Express Project obligation to TxDOT (2.0)               65.0              

 
2016 Obligations: The Authority issued its Series 2016 Subordinate Lien Revenue Refunding Bonds on 
August 9, 2016, called the 2016 Subordinate Lien Bonds. The refunding effected through the use of a 
portion of the proceeds of the 2016 Subordinate Lien Bonds resulted in the following noncash 
transactions during fiscal year 2017:  
 

Noncash Disclosure (in Millions) 2018 2017
Payments to refunding bond escrow:

2011 Subordinate Lien Bonds -$              70.0  $          
Issuance costs -                1.0                
Deferred outflow on refunding -                19.4              

Total -$              90.4  $          

 

Note 2. Cash and Investments 

The Authority’s Board has adopted an Investment Policy to set forth the factors involved in the 
management of investment assets for the Authority. The Authority seeks to mitigate risk by investing in 
compliance with the investment policy, state statutes and bond indenture provisions by qualifying the 
broker or financial institution with whom the Authority will transact business, maintaining sufficient 
collateralization, portfolio diversification and limiting maturities.  
 
TexSTAR Investment Pool balances are carried at amortized cost, which does not require categorization 
under GASB No. 72, Fair Value Measurements and Application. 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

The Authority had the following investments as of June 30: 
 

Summary of Investments by Type 2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 169,170,745  $   201,260,774  $   
TexSTAR Investment Pool 127,974,817       169,963,150       
US government sponsored enterprises and treasury notes 84,756,222         125,408,714       

Total cash and investments 381,901,784  $   496,632,638  $   

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 49,687,164  $     903,311  $          
Unrestricted investments 35,008,355         67,774,818         
Restricted cash and cash equivalents:

Current 92,822,518         118,725,139       
Noncurrent 26,661,063         81,632,324         

Restricted investments 177,722,684       227,597,046       
Total cash and cash equivalent and investment, as

reported on the Statement of Net Position 381,901,784  $   496,632,638  $   

 
The Authority utilizes various methods to measure the fair value of investments on a recurring basis. 
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes 
inputs to valuation methods. The three levels of inputs are:  
 
Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that the 
Authority has the ability to access.  
 
Level 2: Inputs are observable other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These inputs may include quoted prices for the identical 
instrument in an inactive market, prices for similar instruments, interest rates, prepayment speeds, credit 
risk, yield curves, default rates and similar data.  
 
Level 3: Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability, to the extent relevant observable inputs are not 
available, representing the Authority’s own assumptions about the assumptions a market participant 
would use in valuing the asset or liability, and would be based on the best information available.  
 
The availability of observable inputs can vary from security to security and is affected by a wide variety of 
factors, including, for example, the type of security, whether the security is new and not yet established in 
the marketplace, the liquidity of markets, and other characteristics particular to the security. To the extent 
that valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the 
determination of fair value requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised in 
determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in Level 3.  
 
The inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such 
cases, for disclosure purposes, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value 
measurement falls in its entirety, is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety. Investments measured at net asset value do not have significant terms 
or conditions for redemption or commitment for additional funding. The inputs or methodology used for 
valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities.  
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

The following tables summarize the inputs used as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, for the Authority’s 
investments measured at fair value:  
 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance

Federal HOME Loan Bank -$                     9,973,520  $        -$                     9,973,520  $        

Fannie Mae -                       19,909,580          -                       19,909,580          

US Treasury Notes -                       44,874,022          -                       44,874,022          

Farmer MAC -                       9,999,100            -                       9,999,100            

Total U.S. government sponsored enterprise
securities and treasury notes -$                     84,756,222  $      -$                     84,756,222          

Investments at NAV based on amortized cost:

Goldman Sachs Financial Square Treasury Obligations Fund 168,743,537        

TexSTAR Investment Pool 127,974,817        
Total 381,474,576  $    

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance

Federal HOME Loan Bank -$                     75,626,854  $      -$                     75,626,854  $      

Federal Farm Credit Bank -                       39,975,000          -                       39,975,000          

Freddie MAC Callable -                       9,806,860            -                       9,806,860            

Total U.S. government sponsored enterprise
securities -$                     125,408,714  $    -$                     125,408,714        

Investments at NAV based on amortized cost:

Goldman Sachs Financial Square Treasury Obligations Fund 200,357,463        

TexSTAR Investment Pool 169,963,150        
Total 495,729,327  $    

Fair Value Hierarchy at June 30, 2017

Fair Value Hierarchy at June 30, 2018

 
Custodial credit risk—deposits: Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the 
failure of a depository financial institution, the Authority will not be able to recover its deposits or will not 
be able to recover its collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The Authority has 
a formal policy specific to custodial credit risk, which requires bank deposit accounts to be collateralized 
with pledged securities equal to 105 percent of the carrying value.  

 
The Authority was fully collateralized with pledged securities held in the name of the pledging financial 
institution for amounts in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit as of June 30, 2018 
and 2017. Cash balance as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, are $427,208 and $903,311, respectively. 
 
Custodial credit risk—investments: Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of 
the failure of the counterparty to a transaction, the Authority will not be able to recover the value of its 
investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Investment securities are 
exposed to custodial risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the Authority 
and are held by the counterparty, its trust or agent, but not in the Authority’s name. The Authority’s 
investment securities are not exposed to custodial credit risk because all securities are held by the 
Authority’s custodial bank in the Authority’s name.  
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

Concentration of credit risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of 
the Authority’s investment in a single issuer. The Authority is authorized to invest funds in accordance 
with its investment policy, bond indentures and the Texas Public Funds Investment Act. Authorized 
investments include, but are not limited to: United States Treasury and federal agency issues, certificates 
of deposit issued by a state or national bank domiciled in the state of Texas, repurchase agreements 
collateralized by United States Treasury or federal agency securities, guaranteed investment contracts 
(GICs), obligations of states and municipalities, Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) registered 
no-load money market mutual funds and local government investment pools. The Authority does not have 
a specific investment policy related to concentration of credit risk. The Authority does have a policy 
related to portfolio diversification. 
 
With regards to investment composition, the Authority’s investment policy currently states that local 
government investment pools may not exceed 80 percent of the total investment portfolio less bond 
funds. Bond funds may be invested at 100 percent of total investment portfolio. No other parameters for 
investment composition are stated in the approved investment policy. 
 
The Authority’s portfolio consisted of the following as of June 30: 
 

TexSTAR Investment Pool 127,974,817  $   33.5% 169,963,150  $   34.3%
Goldman Sachs Financial Square

Treasury Obligations Fund 168,743,537       44.2% 200,357,463       40.4%
Federal HOME Loan Bank 9,973,520           2.6% 75,626,854         15.3%
Federal Farm Credit Bank -                      0.0% 39,975,000         8.1%
Farmer MAC 9,999,100           2.6% -                      0.0%
Freddie MAC Callable -                      0.0% 9,806,860           2.0%
Fannie Mae 19,909,580         5.2% -                      0.0%
U.S. Treasury notes 44,874,022         11.8% -                      0.0%

Total 381,474,576  $   495,729,327  $   

2018 2017

 
Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that the changes in interest rates will adversely affect the 
fair value of an investment. Interest rate risk may be mitigated by investing operating funds primarily in 
shorter term securities, money market funds or similar investment pools and limiting the average maturity 
of the portfolio. 
 
The Authority’s investment policy notes that with regard to maximum maturities, the Authority will attempt 
to match its investments with anticipated cash flow requirements. Unless matched to a specific cash flow, 
the Authority will not directly invest operating or general funds in securities maturing more than 16 months 
from the date of purchase, unless approved by the Authority’s Board. Investment of bond proceeds shall 
not exceed the projected expenditure schedule of the related project. Reserve funds may be invested in 
securities exceeding 12 months if the maturities of such investments are made to coincide as nearly as 
practicable with the expected use of the funds. 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority’s investments in debt securities mature as follows: 
 

90 Days 91 to 191 to Greater Than

Investment Type or Less 180 Days 365 Days 365 Days Fair Value

Federal HOME Loan Bank -$                     -$                     9,973,520  $        -$                     9,973,520  $        

Fannie Mae -                       19,909,580          -                       -                       19,909,580          

U.S. Treasury Notes -                       24,913,086          19,960,936          -                       44,874,022          

Farmer MAC -                       -                       9,999,100            -                       9,999,100            

Total U.S. government sponsored 

enterprise securities and treasury
notes -$                     44,822,666  $      39,933,556  $      -$                     84,756,222  $      

90 Days 91 to 191 to Greater Than

Investment Type or Less 180 Days 365 Days 365 Days Fair Value

Federal HOME Loan Bank 21,275,076  $      14,387,328  $      39,964,450  $      -$                     75,626,854  $      

Federal Farm Credit Bank 24,996,000          -                       14,979,000          -                       39,975,000          

Freddie Mac Callable -                       9,806,860            -                       -                       9,806,860            

Total U.S. government sponsored 
enterprise securities 46,271,076  $      24,194,188  $      54,943,450  $      -$                     125,408,714  $    

Investment Maturities (in Days)—2018

Investment Maturities (in Days)—2017

 
Local Government Investment Pool: The Texas Short-Term Asset Reserve Fund (TexSTAR) is a public 
funds investment pool created pursuant to the Interlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 791, of the Texas 
Government Code, and the Public Funds Investment Act, Texas Government Code, Chapter 2256. 
TexSTAR is managed by a 5-member board of trustees who has contracted with JPMorgan Investment 
Management, Inc. and First Southwest Asset Management, Inc. to administer the operations of the fund. 
TexSTAR is rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s and maintains a weighted average maturity of 60 days or 
less, with a maximum maturity of 13 months for any individual security. The amounts can be withdrawn 
with limited notice.  
 
The Chief Financial Officer of the Authority is the President of TexSTAR. The Authority has investments 
of $127.9 million and $170.0 million, respectively, in TexSTAR as of June 30, 2018 and 2017. 
 
Money market mutual fund: The Goldman Sachs Financial Square Treasury Obligations Fund is a 
government money market fund under Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. 
As such, the fund values its securities using amortized cost. The fund is rated Aaa by Moody’s. The 
redemption frequency is one day and there are no unfunded commitments. 
 
Credit risk: Credit risk is the risk than an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations to the Authority. To help mitigate credit risk, credit quality guidelines are incorporated into the 
investment policy, as follows: 
 
 Limiting investments to the safest types of securities, as listed above under the concentration of 

credit risk section 
 

 Pre-qualifying the financial institutions, brokers/dealers, intermediaries, and advisors with which the 
Authority will do business 
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Note 2. Cash and Investments (Continued) 

The Authority’s investments had the following credit risk structure as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, based 
on Standard & Poor’s ratings:  
 

U.S. Government Sponsored Enterprise Investment 
Securities and Treasury Notes Grade Rating 2018 2017

Federal HOME Loan Bank AA+ 9,973,520  $       75,626,854  $     
Federal Farm Credit Bank AA+ -                      39,975,000         
Fannie Mae AA+ 19,909,580         -                      
Freddie MAC Callable AA+ -                      9,806,860           
US Treasury Notes Aaa 44,874,022         -                      
Farmer MAC NR 9,999,100           -                      

Total 84,756,222  $     125,408,714  $   

Standard & Poor’s

 

Note 3. Capital Assets 

The following schedule summarizes the capital assets of the Authority as of June 30, 2018 and 2017: 
 

Disposals/

2017 Additions Adjustments Transfers 2018

Nondepreciable assets:

    Construction in progress 594,333,090  $       227,501,014  $       (61,180)  $               (179,282,341)  $      642,490,583  $       

    Right of way 88,148,108             1,500                      -                          -                          88,149,608             

Total nondepreciable assets 682,481,198           227,502,514           (61,180)                   (179,282,341)          730,640,191           

Depreciable assets:

Property and equipment 12,473,998             166,093                  (7,777,841)              -                          4,862,250               

Toll road:

    Building and toll facilities 7,062,332               -                          -                          -                          7,062,332               

    Highways and bridges 858,354,482           -                          (19,449,859)            176,109,526           1,015,014,149        

    Toll equipment 29,106,931             2,010,383               -                          3,172,815               34,290,129             

    Signs 13,001,702             31,900                    -                          -                          13,033,602             

    Land improvements 14,243,759             -                          -                          -                          14,243,759             

Total depreciable assets 934,243,204           2,208,376               (27,227,700)            179,282,341           1,088,506,221        

Property and equipment (10,828,047)            (566,257)                 7,770,769               -                          (3,623,535)              

Building and toll facilities (1,771,794)              (176,840)                 -                          -                          (1,948,634)              

Highways and bridges (93,834,827)            (23,392,958)            -                          -                          (117,227,785)          

Toll equipment (13,116,937)            (2,698,611)              -                          -                          (15,815,548)            

Signs (2,071,239)              (325,893)                 -                          -                          (2,397,132)              

Land improvements (3,619,820)              (884,934)                 -                          -                          (4,504,754)              

Accumulated depreciation (125,242,664)          (28,045,493)            7,770,769               -                          (145,517,388)          
Net property and equipment 1,491,481,738  $    201,665,397  $       (19,518,111)  $        -$                        1,673,629,024  $    
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Note 3. Capital Assets (Continued) 

Disposals/

2016 Additions Adjustments Transfers 2017

Nondepreciable assets:

    Construction in progress 338,554,088  $       262,061,658  $       -$                        (6,282,656)  $          594,333,090  $       

    Right of way 86,849,831             1,298,277               -                          -                          88,148,108             

Total nondepreciable assets 425,403,919           263,359,935           -                          (6,282,656)              682,481,198           

Depreciable assets:

Property and equipment 11,829,980             662,733                  -                          (18,715)                   12,473,998             

Toll road:

    Building and toll facilities 7,062,332               -                          -                          -                          7,062,332               

    Highways and bridges 688,882,100           163,189,726           -                          6,282,656               858,354,482           

    Toll equipment 27,734,552             1,372,379               -                          -                          29,106,931             

    Signs 13,001,702             -                          -                          -                          13,001,702             

    Land improvements 14,243,759             -                          -                          -                          14,243,759             

Total depreciable assets 762,754,425           165,224,838           -                          6,263,941               934,243,204           

Property and equipment (10,234,692)            (612,070)                 -                          18,715                    (10,828,047)            

Building and toll facilities (1,594,679)              (177,115)                 -                          -                          (1,771,794)              

Highways and bridges (76,374,847)            (17,459,980)            -                          -                          (93,834,827)            

Toll equipment (10,477,858)            (2,639,079)              -                          -                          (13,116,937)            

Signs (1,745,346)              (325,893)                 -                          -                          (2,071,239)              

Land improvements (2,734,886)              (884,934)                 -                          -                          (3,619,820)              

Accumulated depreciation (103,162,308)          (22,099,071)            -                          18,715                    (125,242,664)          

Net property and equipment 1,084,996,036  $    406,485,702  $       -$                        -$                        1,491,481,738  $    

 
Construction in progress as of June 30, 2018 and 2017, consists of the following: 
 

2017 Additions Disposals Transfers 2018

Construction in progress:

Preliminary and construction costs 563,265,424  $      210,271,099  $      (61,180)  $              (176,109,526)  $     597,365,817  $      

Collection system 7,374,859              1,408,335              -                         (3,172,815)             5,610,379              

Capitalized interest 23,692,807            15,821,580            -                         -                         39,514,387            
Net construction in progress 594,333,090  $      227,501,014  $      (61,180)  $              (179,282,341)  $     642,490,583  $      

2016 Additions Disposals Transfers 2017

Construction in progress:

Preliminary and construction costs 323,615,537  $      245,980,128  $      -$                       (6,330,241)  $         563,265,424  $      

Collection system 5,263,163              2,111,696              -                         -                         7,374,859              

Capitalized interest 9,675,388              13,969,834            -                         47,585                   23,692,807            
Net construction in progress 338,554,088  $      262,061,658  $      -$                       (6,282,656)  $         594,333,090  $      

 
Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, totaled $28,045,493 and 
$22,099,071, respectively.  
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Note 3. Capital Assets (Continued) 

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority has other non-Tolling System projects (projects other than 
the 183A Turnpike Project, the 290E Project, the 183 South Project and the SH 71 Express Project) 
construction in progress and capital assets for the following projects: 

2018 2017
Construction in progress non-Tolling System projects:

MoPac Improvement Project 18,395,548  $     161,541,983  $   
MoPac South 12,286,563         11,327,315         
183N Mobility 10,975,004         8,455,862           
SH45 Southwest 77,108,308         31,775,145         
US290 West (Oak Hill) 4,387,198           3,793,939           

Capital assets in non-Tolling System projects:
    Building and toll facilities, net of depreciation 173,908,157       -                      
    Toll equipment, net of depreciation 2,946,185           -                      

Total non-Tolling System projects 300,006,963  $   216,894,244  $   

 

Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable 

The following schedule summarizes total notes and bonds payable for the years ended June 30, 2018 
and 2017:  
 

Additions/ Amortization/ Due Within

2017 Accretion Deductions 2018 One Year

American Bank Note 3,570,000  $             -$                      (3,570,000)  $        -$                          -$                      

Total note 3,570,000                 -                        (3,570,000)            -                            -                        

Series 2010 Obligations 43,549,710               -                        -                        43,549,710               1,310,000              

Series 2010 CAB accretion 25,337,137               4,671,175              -                        30,008,312               -                        

Total 2010 Bonds 68,886,847               4,671,175              -                        73,558,022               1,310,000              

Series 2011 Obligations 9,999,944                 -                        -                        9,999,944                 -                        

Series 2011 CAB accretion 4,498,178                 925,166                 -                        5,423,344                 -                        

Total 2011 Bonds 14,498,122               925,166                 -                        15,423,288               -                        

Series 2013 Obligations 245,215,000             -                        (4,800,000)            240,415,000             5,715,000              

Total 2013 Bonds 245,215,000             -                        (4,800,000)            240,415,000             5,715,000              

TIFIA Bond 2015—Series C 52,531                      51,859,820            -                        51,912,351               -                        

SIB Bond 2015—Series E 30,518,853               1,233,202              -                        31,752,055               -                        
SHF Bond 2015—Series D 30,518,853               1,233,232              -                        31,752,085               -                        

Series 2015 Bonds—Series A and B 367,575,000             -                        -                        367,575,000             -                        

Total 2015 Bonds 428,665,237             54,326,254            -                        482,991,491             
Sub Lien Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 74,690,000               -                        (385,000)               74,305,000               400,000                 
Sr. Lien Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 358,030,000             -                        358,030,000             -                        

Total 2016 Bonds 432,720,000             -                        (385,000)               432,335,000             400,000                 
71E Toll Project Obligation 65,000,000               -                        (2,667,942)            62,332,058               -                        
State Highway 45SW Obligation -                            22,080,000            -                        22,080,000               -                        
Regions 2017 MoPac Obligation -                            17,000,000            -                        17,000,000               -                        

Total 2017 obligations 65,000,000               39,080,000            (2,667,942)            101,412,058             -                        

Total bonds and obligations payable 1,254,985,206          99,002,595            (7,852,942)            1,346,134,859          7,425,000              

Total notes, bonds and obligations payable 1,258,555,206          99,002,595            (11,422,942)          1,346,134,859          7,425,000              
Net (premium) discount on revenue bonds payable 105,960,917             -                        (10,670,922)          95,289,995               -                        

Total notes, bonds and obligations payable, net 1,364,516,123          99,002,595  $        (22,093,864)  $      1,441,424,854          7,425,000  $          

Less current maturities of notes and bonds payable (6,950,000)                (7,425,000)                
Total 1,357,566,123  $      1,433,999,854  $      
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Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable (Continued) 

Additions/ Amortization/ Due Within

2016 Accretion Deductions 2017 One Year

American Bank Note 5,300,000  $             -$                      (1,730,000)  $        3,570,000  $             1,765,000  $          
Total note 5,300,000                 -                        (1,730,000)            3,570,000                 1,765,000              

Series 2010 Obligations 43,549,710               -                        -                        43,549,710               -                        
Series 2010 CAB accretion 21,005,210               4,331,927              -                        25,337,137               -                        

Total 2010 Bonds 64,554,920               4,331,927              -                        68,886,847               -                        
Series 2011 Obligations 79,999,944               -                        (70,000,000)          9,999,944                 -                        
Series 2011 CAB accretion 3,573,728                 924,450                 -                        4,498,178                 -                        

Total 2011 Bonds 83,573,672               924,450                 (70,000,000)          14,498,122               -                        
Series 2013 Obligations 249,910,000             -                        (4,695,000)            245,215,000             4,800,000              

Total 2013 Bonds 249,910,000             -                        (4,695,000)            245,215,000             4,800,000              
TIFIA Bond 2015—Series C 51,130                      1,401                     -                        52,531                      -                        
SIB Bond 2015—Series E 5,701,479                 24,817,374            -                        30,518,853               -                        

SHF Bond 2015—Series D 5,701,479                 24,817,374            -                        30,518,853               -                        
Series 2015 Bonds—Series A and B 367,575,000             -                        -                        367,575,000             -                        

Total 2015 Bonds 379,029,088             49,636,149            -                        428,665,237             

Sub Lien Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 -                            74,690,000            -                        74,690,000               -                        

Sr. Lien Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 358,030,000             -                        -                        358,030,000             385,000                 
Total 2016 Bonds 358,030,000             74,690,000            -                        432,720,000             385,000                 

71E Toll Project Obligation -                            65,000,000            -                        65,000,000               -                        
Total bonds and obligations payable 1,135,097,680          194,582,526          (74,695,000)          1,254,985,206          5,185,000              

Total notes, bonds and obligations payable 1,140,397,680          194,582,526          (76,425,000)          1,258,555,206          6,950,000              

Net (premium) discount on revenue bonds payable 104,128,955             10,826,977            (8,995,015)            105,960,917             -                        

Total notes, bonds and obligations payable, net 1,244,526,635          205,409,503  $      (85,420,015)  $      1,364,516,123          6,950,000  $          

Less current maturities of notes and bonds payable (6,425,000)                (6,950,000)                

Total 1,238,101,635  $      1,357,566,123  $      

 
The Series 2010 Obligations, the Series 2011 Obligations, the Series 2013 Obligations, the Series 2015 
Obligations and the Series 2016 Obligations, each as further described below, were issued by the 
Authority pursuant to a bond indenture between the Authority and the trustee named therein, and are 
secured by and payable from the trust estate established thereby, in the manner described in and subject 
to the terms and conditions of the bond indenture. The trust estate established by the bond indenture 
includes the revenues from the Tolling System. The Authority is required to establish and maintain toll 
rates in connection with the Tolling System as shall be sufficient to satisfy its rate covenant under the 
bond indenture. 
 
Series 2010 Obligations: The Authority issued its Series 2010 Senior Lien Revenue Bonds and Taxable 
Series 2010 Subordinate Lien Revenue Build America Bonds (Series 2010 Subordinate Lien BABs) on 
March 1, 2010, collectively called the Series 2010 Obligations. The Series 2010 Senior Lien Revenue 
Bonds were issued in part as current interest bonds (Series 2010 CIBs) and in part as capital appreciation 
bonds (Series 2010 CABs). The Series 2010 Subordinate Lien BABs were refunded and redeemed in 
whole by the Authority on June 5, 2013.  
 
The proceeds from the Series 2010 Obligations were used to (i) finance a portion of the costs of the 
183A Phase II Project; (ii) currently refund and redeem, in whole, the Authority’s outstanding Revenue 
Notes, Taxable Series 2009; (iii) pay capitalized interest with respect to the Series 2010 Obligations; 
(iv) make a deposit to the Senior Lien Debt Service Reserve Fund and the Subordinate Lien Debt Service 
Reserve Fund and (v) pay certain issuance costs of the Series 2010 Obligations.  
 
The Series 2010 CIBs are scheduled to mature in 2019 through 2020. Interest on the Series 2010 CIBs is 
calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of 12, 30-day months at the rate of 5.75 percent. Interest on the 
Series 2010 CIBs is payable on each July 1 and January 1, commencing July 1, 2010. As of June 30, 
2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal amount was $8.5 million for each year. 
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Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable (Continued) 

The Series 2010 CABs are scheduled to mature in 2025 through 2040 at an aggregated maturity amount 
of $176.1 million. The principal amount of $34.9 million of the Series 2010 CABs represents the total 
amount of outstanding principal before the accreted and compounded interest as of June 30, 2018 and 
2017. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the aggregate maturity amount was $34.9 million for both years. 
 
Interest on the Series 2010 CABs will accrete from the date of initial delivery to stated maturity at rates 
ranging from 7.20 percent to 7.85 percent and will compound on each July 1 and January 1, commencing 
July 1, 2010. Such accreted and compounded interest will be paid as part of the maturity amount at 
stated maturity. 
 
The amount of accumulated accreted interest on the Series 2010 CABs as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 
was $30.0 million and $25.3 million, respectively. The accumulated accreted interest is added to the 
outstanding principal on July 1 and January 1 of each year beginning July 1, 2010. 
 
Series 2011 Obligations: The Authority issued its Series 2011 Senior Lien Revenue Bonds and Series 
2011 Subordinate Lien Revenue Bonds on June 29, 2011, collectively called the Series 2011 Obligations. 
The Series 2011 Senior Lien Revenue Bonds were issued in part as current interest bonds (Series 2011 
CIBs) and in part as capital appreciation bonds (Series 2011 CABs). The Series 2011 CIBs were 
refunded in full during fiscal year 2016. 
 
A portion of the proceeds from the Series 2011 Obligations was used to (i) prepay a State Infrastructure 
Bank loan in full, (ii) redeem the Authority’s Series 2010 Notes in whole, (iii) pay capitalized interest with 
respect to the Series 2011 Obligations, (iv) make a deposit to the Senior Lien Debt Service Reserve Fund 
and the Subordinate Lien Debt Service Reserve Fund and (v) pay certain issuance costs of the Series 
2011 Obligations. The remaining proceeds of the Series 2011 Obligations were used to finance a portion 
of the costs of the 290E Phase II Project and as otherwise authorized in the Indenture.  
 
The Series 2011 CABs are scheduled to mature starting in 2022 through 2026 at an aggregated maturity 
amount of $22.1 million. The principal amount of $9.9 million for the Series 2011 CABs represents the 
total amount of outstanding principal before the accreted and compounded interest as of June 30, 2018 
and 2017. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the aggregate maturity amount was $9.9 million for both years. 
 
Interest on the Series 2011 CABs will accrete from the date of initial delivery to stated maturity at rates 
ranging from 5.9 percent to 6.5 percent and will compound on each July 1 and January 1, commencing 
July 1, 2011. Such accreted and compounded interest will be paid as part of the maturity amount at 
stated maturity. 
 
The amount of accumulated accreted interest on the Series 2011 CABs as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 
was $5.4 million and $4.5 million, respectively. The accumulated accreted interest is added to the 
outstanding principal on July 1 and January 1 of each year beginning July 1, 2011. 
 
During fiscal year 2017, the Series 2011 Subordinate Lien Revenue Bonds were refunded in full in the 
principal amount of $70.0 million with a portion of the proceeds from the Series 2016 Subordinate Lien 
Revenue Refunding Bonds. The Series 2011 Subordinate Lien Revenue Bonds were issued as current 
interest bonds and were scheduled to mature starting in 2023 through 2041. Interest on the Series 2011 
Subordinate Lien Revenue Bonds is calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of 12, 30-day months at 
the rate of 6.75 percent. Interest on the Series 2011 Subordinate Lien Revenue Bonds is payable on each 
July 1 and January 1, commencing January 1, 2012.  
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Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable (Continued) 

Series 2013 Obligations: The Authority issued its Series 2013A Senior Lien Revenue Refunding 
Bonds (Series 2013A Senior Lien Bonds), Series 2013B Senior Lien Revenue Refunding Put Bonds 
(Series 2013B Senior Lien Put Bonds) and Series 2013 Subordinate Lien Revenue Refunding Bonds 
(Series 2013 Subordinate Lien Bonds), collectively called the Series 2013 Obligations, on May 16, 2013. 
The Series 2013B Senior Lien Put Bonds were refunded in full during fiscal year 2016. 
 
The proceeds from the Series 2013 Obligations were used to (i) refund in full the Authority’s Series 2005 
Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, the Authority’s 2005 TIFIA Bond, and the Authority’s Series 2010 
Subordinate Lien BABs, (ii) make a deposit to the Subordinate Lien Debt Service Reserve Fund and 
(iii) pay certain issuance costs of the Series 2013 Obligations. 
 
The Series 2013A Senior Lien Bonds were issued as current interest bonds and are scheduled to mature 
on dates ranging from 2017 through 2043. Interest on the Series 2013A Senior Lien Bonds is calculated 
on the basis of a 360-day year of 12, 30-day months at a rate of 5 percent. Interest on the Series 2013A 
Senior Lien Bonds is payable on each July 1 and January 1, commencing July 1, 2013. As of June 30, 
2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal amount was $139.9 million and $143.7 million, respectively. 
 
The Series 2013 Subordinate Lien Bonds were issued as current interest bonds and are scheduled to 
mature in 2017 through 2042. Interest on the Series 2013 Subordinate Lien Bonds is calculated on the 
basis of a 360-day year of 12, 30-day months at the rate of 5 percent. Interest on the Series 2013 
Subordinate Lien Bonds is payable on each July 1 and January 1, commencing July 1, 2013. As of 
June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal amount was $100.5 million and $101.5 million, 
respectively. 
 
Series 2015 Obligations: The Authority issued its Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2015A (the Series 
2015A Bonds) and its Senior Lien Revenue and Refunding Put Bonds, Series 2015B (the Series 2015B 
Bonds) on November 19, 2015. The Authority issued its Subordinate Lien Revenue Bond, Taxable 
Series 2015C (the 2015C TIFIA Bond), its Subordinate Lien Revenue Bond , Taxable Series 2015D (the 
2015D SHF Bond), and its Subordinate Lien Revenue Bond, Taxable Series 2015E (the 2015E SIB 
Bond) on November 18, 2015. The Series 2015A Bonds, the Series 2015B Bonds, the 2015C TIFIA 
Bond, the 2015D SHF Bond and the 2015E SIB Bond are collectively referred to as the Series 2015 
Obligations. 
 
A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2015 Obligations was used to finance and refinance the costs of 
designing, engineering, developing and constructing the 183 South Project. The remaining proceeds of 
the Series 2015 Obligations were used to (i) refund and redeem in whole the Authority's outstanding 
Senior Lien Revenue Refunding Put Bonds, Series 2013B, (ii) prepay in whole the Authority's outstanding 
2015 Draw Down Note, (iii) pay capitalized interest with respect to the Series 2015A Bonds, (iv) make 
deposits to the Senior Lien Debt Service Reserve Fund and (v) pay certain issuance costs of the 
Series 2015 Obligations. 
 
Series 2015A Bonds: The Series 2015A Bonds were issued as current interest bonds and are scheduled 
to mature in 2025 through 2045. Interest on the Series 2015A Bonds is calculated on the basis of a 
360-day year of 12, 30-day months at a rate of 5 percent. Interest on the Series 2015A Bonds is payable 
on each July 1 and January 1, commencing January 1, 2016. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the 
outstanding principal amount was $298.8 million for both years. 
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Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable (Continued) 

Series 2015B Bonds: The Series 2015B Bonds were issued as current interest bonds and as variable 
rate obligations and are scheduled to mature in 2021 through 2045. Through the period that commenced 
on the issuance date thereof and ends on January 6, 2021 (initial multiannual rate period), the 
Series 2015B Bonds will bear interest at a rate of 5 percent. On January 7, 2021, the Series 2015B 
Bonds are subject to mandatory tender at a purchase price equal to the principal amount thereof plus 
accrued interest to such purchase date. If, on such date, all Series 2015B Bonds are not successfully 
remarketed, the Authority has no obligation to purchase such Bonds on such date, and all Series 2015B 
Bonds will continue to be outstanding and will bear interest at a rate of 9 percent per annum until 
subsequently remarketed. 
 
Interest on the Series 2015B Bonds during the initial multiannual rate period is calculated on the basis of 
a 360-day year of 12, 30-day months and is payable on each January 1 and July 1, commencing 
January 1, 2016. Pursuant to the terms of the bond indenture, the Series 2015B Bonds are subject to 
mandatory tender for purchase and conversion to another interest rate mode at the times stated therein. 
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal amount was $68.8 million for both years. 
 
2015C TIFIA Bond: In November 2015, the Authority entered into a secured loan agreement (the TIFIA 
Loan Agreement) with the United States Department of Transportation, pursuant to which the Authority is 
authorized to borrow an amount not to exceed $282,200,885 to pay eligible project costs of the 183 South 
Project. The Authority’s obligation to repay amounts borrowed under the TIFIA Loan Agreement is 
evidenced by the 2015C TIFIA Bond. The 2015C TIFIA Bond bears interest at 3.08 percent per annum 
and the final maturity date thereof will be the earlier of (i) the date this is 35 years from the date of 
substantial completion of the 183 South Project and (ii) July 1, 2049. Payments of principal and interest 
due on the 2015C TIFIA Bond are payable in the amounts set forth in the TIFIA Loan Agreement on each 
January 1 and July 1, commencing on the earlier of (i) July 1, 2024 and (ii) the semiannual payment date 
on (or immediately preceding) the fifth anniversary of the date of substantial completion of the 183 South 
Project.  
 
The Authority has received loan proceeds of approximately $51.9 million through fiscal year 2018 under 
the TIFIA Loan Agreement. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the 2015C TIFIA Bond had an outstanding 
balance of $51.9 million and $52,531, respectively. As of June 30, 2018, the 2015C TIFIA Bond balance 
included accrued interest of approximately $400,000 as part of the loan balance.  
 
2015D SHF Bond: In November 2015, the Authority entered into a secured loan agreement (the SHF 
Loan Agreement) with TxDOT, pursuant to which the Authority is authorized to borrow an amount not to 
exceed $30 million to pay eligible projects costs of the 183 South Project. The Authority’s obligation to 
repay amounts borrowed under the SHF Loan Agreement is evidenced by the 2015D SHF Bond. Interest 
on the 2015D SHF Bond is payable on each January 1 and July 1, commencing July 1, 2020, and 
installments of principal thereof are payable on each July 1, commencing July 1, 2025 in the amounts set 
forth in the SHF Loan Agreement. The 2015D SHF Bond bears interest at 4 percent per annum and the 
final maturity date thereof is July 1, 2049. 
 
The Authority received loan proceeds of $24.3 million during fiscal year 2017 under the SHF Loan 
Agreement. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the 2015D SHF Bond had an outstanding balance of 
$31.8 million and $30.5 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the 2015D SHF Bond 
balance included accrued interest of approximately $1.7 million and $500,000, respectively. 
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Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable (Continued) 

2015E SIB Bond: In November 2015, the Authority entered into a secured loan agreement (the SIB Loan 
Agreement) with TxDOT, pursuant to which the Authority is authorized to borrow an amount not to exceed 
$30 million to pay eligible projects costs of the 183 South Project. The Authority’s obligation to repay 
amounts borrowed under the SIB Loan Agreement is evidenced by the 2015E SIB Bond. Interest on the 
2015E SIB Bond is payable on each January 1 and July 1, commencing July 1, 2020, and installments of 
principal thereof are payable on each July 1, commencing July 1, 2025, in the amounts set forth in the 
SIB Loan Agreement. The 2015E SIB Bond bears interest at 4 percent per annum and the final maturity 
date thereof is July 1, 2049. 
 
The Authority received loan proceeds of $24.3 million during fiscal year 2017 under the SIB Loan 
Agreement. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the 2015E SIB Bond had an outstanding balance of 
$31.8 million and $30.5 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the 2015E SIB Bond balance 
included accrued interest of approximately $1.7 million and $500,000, respectively.  
 
Series 2016 Obligations: On August 9, 2016, the Authority issued its Series 2016 Subordinate Lien 
Revenue Refunding Bonds (2016 Subordinate Lien Bonds) and on June 1, 2016 the Authority issued its 
Series 2016 Senior Lien Revenue Refunding Bonds (2016 Senior Lien Bonds), collectively called the 
Series 2016 Obligations. The proceeds of the Series 2016 Senior Lien Bonds were used to (i) refund a 
portion of the Series 2010 CIBs and all outstanding Series 2011 CIBs and (ii) pay issuance costs of the 
Series 2016 Senior Lien Bonds. 
 
The 2016 Subordinate Lien Bonds were issued as current interest bonds and are scheduled to mature in 
2018 through 2041. Interest on the 2016 Subordinate Lien Bonds is calculated on the basis of a 360-day 
year of 12, 30-day months at rates ranging from 3.125 percent to 5.000 percent. Interest on the 2016 
Subordinate Lien Bonds is payable on each July 1 and January 1, commencing January 1, 2017. As of 
June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal amount was $74.3 million and $74.69 million, 
respectively. 
 
The 2016 Senior Lien Bonds were issued as current interest bonds and are scheduled to mature in 2020 
through 2046. Interest on the 2016 Senior Lien Bonds is calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of 12, 
30-day months at rates ranging from 3.375 percent to 5.000 percent. Interest on the 2016 Senior Lien 
Bonds is payable on each July 1 and January 1, commencing July 1, 2016. As of June 30, 2018 and 
2017, the outstanding principal amount was $358.0 million for both years. 
 
American Bank Note: In June 2013, the Authority entered into a secured loan agreement with a bank for 
an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $5,300,000 (the Loan). The Loan bears interest at 
2.25 percent per annum and matures on January 1, 2019. The Loan requires semiannual interest 
payments on the outstanding balance starting January 1, 2013. 
 
Proceeds from the Loan are to be used to pay (i) expenses of studying the cost, design, engineering and 
feasibility of transportation projects; (ii) expenses associated with securing the Loan and (iii) the 
reimbursement to the Authority of costs attributable to certain preliminary cost and feasibility and other 
expenses relating to the preparation of financing of the transportation projects incurred prior to the 
execution of the Loan. 
 
During fiscal year 2018, the Loan was repaid in full in the amount of $3.6 million. The Loan had an 
outstanding balance of $3.6 million as of June 30, 2017. 
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Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable (Continued) 

71E Toll Project Obligation to TxDOT: The Authority, the Capitol Area Metropolitan Planning Organization 
(CAMPO) and TxDOT approved the execution of a Project Agreement (the SH 71 Agreement) for the 
development of toll lanes on SH 71 extending from Presidential Boulevard to just east of SH 130, including 
the realignment of FM 973 where that road intersects with SH 71 (the SH 71 Project). The SH 71 Project is 
also referred to as the SH 71 Express Project. 
 
Pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Authority’s Board, the Authority waived and declined to exercise 
its option to develop, finance, and construct the SH 71 Project, and retained (and did not waive) its option 
to operate any potential toll lanes on the SH 71 Project and to retain the revenues generated therefrom. 
Upon completion of the SH 71 Project, the SH 71 Agreement obligates the Authority to operate and 
maintain the toll lanes and related infrastructure of the SH 71 Project developed, financed and 
constructed by TxDOT. The Authority will retain the revenues generated from the SH 71 Project, which 
will be used to pay operation and maintenance costs of the toll lanes, toll facilities and related equipment. 
After payment of such operation and maintenance costs, one-half of the remaining revenues from the SH 
71 Project must be used to reimburse TxDOT for up to $65.0 million of the costs of the SH 71 Project (the 
TxDOT Reimbursement Amount), plus interest thereon at 3.62 percent per annum.  
 
The SH 71 Agreement obligates the Authority to repay the TxDOT Reimbursement Amount solely from 
one-half of the net revenues of the SH 71 Project over a 35-year term. The first payment is due on the 
first anniversary of substantial completion of the SH 71 Project and continuing every year thereafter for a 
total of 35 years or until the TxDOT Reimbursement Amount and all accrued interest is paid. The SH 71 
Project was substantially completed on March 8, 2017, and, accordingly, the first payment payable by the 
Authority to TxDOT under the SH 71 Agreement is due on March 8, 2018. In accordance with the SH 71 
Agreement a payment was made by the Authority in March 2018 for $2.7 million, of which $648,471 was 
payment of principal on the TxDOT Reimbursement Amount and $2.1 million was payment of interest. In 
the event any annual payment is not sufficient to pay for all accrued interest due, the unpaid amount of 
accrued interest is added to the TxDOT Reimbursement Amount. 
 
Under the SH 71 Agreement, TxDOT is obligated to operate and maintain all other aspects of the 
SH 71 Project, including but not limited to, the general purpose lanes and the FM 973 realigned 
intersection with SH 71. 
 
As of June 30, 2017, the toll lanes of the SH 71 Project were operational and the Authority recorded a 
capital contribution of $96.0 million and a note payable to TxDOT of $65.0 million; however, payments 
made by the Authority in respect of the TxDOT Reimbursement Amount are paid as, and constitute, 
Operating Expenses under the terms of the Authority’s bond indenture securing its outstanding toll 
revenue obligations. During fiscal year 2018, the Authority made a debt service payment on the TxDOT 
Reimbursement Amount of approximately $2.7 million in principal and interest as described above. In 
addition, TxDOT provided updated final project cost after final project acceptance which reduced the final 
project costs and related liability by $19.5 million and $2.0 million, respectively.  
 
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding principal amount was $62.3 million and $65 million, 
respectively. 
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Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable (Continued) 

2016 SHF SH 45SW Loan:  In October 2016, the Authority entered into a secured loan agreement (the 
SHF SH 45SW Loan Agreement) with TxDOT, pursuant to which the Authority is authorized to borrow an 
amount not to exceed $60 million to pay eligible project costs of the SH 45 Southwest Project. Interest on 
amounts borrowed under the SHF SH 45SW Loan Agreement (i) will accrete at 4 percent per annum, 
compounding semiannually on each January 1 and July 1, until the January 1 or July 1 which is six 
months prior to the initial interest payment date, and (ii) is payable on each January 1 and July 1, 
commencing on July 1, 2022. Principal installment payments are due on amounts borrowed under the 
SHF SH 45SW Loan Agreement on each January 1, commencing on the January 1, 2027, in the amounts 
set forth therein. Amounts borrowed under the SHF SH 45SW Loan Agreement will bear interest at 
4 percent per annum and the final maturity date thereof is January 1, 2049. The Authority may defer up to 
25 percent of the principal and interest due on any principal or interest payment date, not to exceed 
two years and not past the final maturity date. The net revenues from the SH 45 Southwest Project have 
been pledged as collateral for amounts borrowed under the SHF SH 45SW Loan Agreement. 
 
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority borrowed $22.1 million and $-0-, respectively, under the SHF 
SH 45SW Loan Agreement. 
 
Regions 2017 MoPac Note: In December 2017, the Authority entered into a secured loan agreement 
with a bank for an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $24,990,900 (the MoPac Note). The MoPac 
Note bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.44 percent per annum and matures on December 1, 2021. The 
MoPac Note requires monthly interest payments on the outstanding balance starting January 1, 2018. 
The net revenues from the MoPac Improvement Project have been pledged as collateral for the MoPac 
Note. 
 
Proceeds from the MoPac Note are to be used to pay (i) expenses of studying the cost, design, 
engineering and feasibility of the MoPac Improvement Project; (ii) the costs of construction of the MoPac 
Improvement Project (iii) the acquisition of the right-of-way other interest in the real property; (iv) 
expenses associated with securing the MoPac Note and (v) the reimbursement to the Authority of costs 
attributable to certain preliminary cost and feasibility and other expenses relating to the preparation of 
financing of the MoPac Improvement Project incurred prior to the execution of the MoPac Note. 
 
During fiscal year 2018, the Authority borrowed $17.0 million to be used for the MoPac Improvement 
Project. As of June 30, 2018, the outstanding principal amount of the MoPac Note was $17.0 million. 
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Note 4. Notes and Bonds Payable (Continued) 

Future payments on debt obligations: Future payments of principal and interest on the Authority’s 
bonds and notes described in this Note 4 (based on the scheduled payments) as of June 30, 2018, are as 
follows: 
 

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2019 7,425,000  $           51,203,300  $         -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

2020 14,460,000             51,393,175             -                          -                          -                          -                          

2021 15,965,000             50,998,663             -                          -                          -                          2,749,534               

2022 18,105,000             49,958,950             480,449                  404,551                  17,000,000             2,749,534               

2023 19,710,000             48,850,050             1,868,357               1,861,643               -                          2,749,534               

2024-2028 106,570,000           229,493,250           7,651,138               9,863,862               2,784,991               13,660,460             

2029-2033 178,890,000           196,307,750           13,109,731             29,605,269             57,439,156             12,034,646             

2034-2038 237,650,000           145,666,225           11,974,257             45,080,743             21,964,066             9,918,140               

2039-2043 286,250,000           81,279,813             7,621,437               46,858,563             25,373,598             7,102,828               

2044-2048 163,850,000           15,321,500             2,294,285               19,575,715             26,523,705             3,675,450               

2049-2051 -                          -                          -                          -                          3,410,976               349,214                  
1,048,875,000  $    920,472,676  $       44,999,654  $         153,250,346  $       154,496,492  $       54,989,340  $         

Notes PayableCurrent Interest Bonds Capital Appreciation Bonds

 

Principal Interest

2019 7,425,000  $           51,203,300  $         

2020 14,460,000             51,393,175             

2021 15,965,000             54,152,748             

2022 35,585,449             54,570,127             

2023 21,578,357             53,461,227             

2024-2028 117,006,129           253,017,572           

2029-2033 249,438,887           237,947,665           

2034-2038 271,588,323           200,665,108           

2039-2043 319,245,035           135,241,204           

2044-2048 192,667,990           38,572,665             

2049-2051 3,410,976               349,214                  
Total 1,248,371,146        1,130,574,005  $    

SH 71E Obligation 62,332,058             

Accreted interest 35,431,655             

97,763,713             
1,346,134,859  $    

Total Debt Service

 
As described above, the Series 2010 CABs and the Series 2011 CABs were issued as capital 
appreciation bonds. The accreted interest on the Series 2010 CABs and 2011 CABS are reflected on the 
Statement of Net Position as additional principal and is reflected in the interest column in this table in the 
amount of $35,431,655.  
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Note 5. Deferred Outflow and Inflow of Resources 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, 
Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position, the Authority has classified the difference between the 
reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the defeased debt as a deferred outflow of resources. 
The deferred outflow of resources is amortized over the term of the defeased bonds and recognized as a 
component of interest expense annually. The Authority has also deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources for certain pension related items in accordance with applicable pension standards as noted 
under Note 7.  
 
The Authority’s deferred outflow of resources balance is composed of the following: 
 

2018 2017

Deferred outflows from bond refundings 107,766,160  $   109,030,108  $   
Employer pension contribution 245,788              227,392              
Difference in pension investment assumption (25,643)               418,615              
Experience changes 28,161                32,857                
Assumption changes 42,090                32,699                

108,056,556  $   109,741,671  $   

June 30

 
The Authority’s deferred inflow of resources balance is composed of the following: 
 

2018 2017

Experience changes 278,184  $          286,449  $          

June 30

 

Note 6. Risk Management 

In conjunction with its normal operations, the Authority is exposed to various risks related to the damage 
or destruction of its assets from both natural and man-made occurrences; tort/liability claims; errors and 
omissions claims; and professional liability claims. As a result of these exposures, the Authority carries 
insurance with a governmental risk pool under an “all risks” policy. All categories of insurance coverage in 
place were either maintained at current levels or increased as to overall limits of coverage and reduction 
of self-retained risk so as to reduce the overall exposure of risk to the Authority. There were no 
settlements in excess of insurance coverage during fiscal years 2018 and 2017. 
 

Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan 

Plan description: The Authority participates in Texas County and District Retirement System (TCDRS). 
TCDRS is a statewide, agent multiple-employer, public employee retirement system. TCDRS is a 
nonprofit public trust providing pension, disability and death benefits for the eligible employees of 
participating counties and districts. TCDRS was established by legislative act in 1967 under authority of 
Article XVI of the Texas Constitution. The TCDRS Act (Subtitle F, Title 8, Texas Government Code) is the 
basis for TCDRS administration. TCDRS issues a publicly available annual financial report that includes 
financial statements and required supplementary information for the plan. That annual report may be 
downloaded at http://www.tcdrs.com. 
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Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan (Continued) 

Benefits provided: Effective the date of participation, the Authority provides retirement, disability and 
death benefits. A percentage of each employee’s paycheck is deposited into his or her TCDRS account. 
That percentage has been set by the Authority at 7 percent and has elected a matching rate of $2 to $1. 
The employee’s savings grow at a rate of 7 percent, compounded annually. At retirement, the employee’s 
account balance is combined with the Authority’s matching and converted into a lifetime monthly benefit. 
Employees receive a month of service time for each month that they make a deposit into their account. 
The amount of service an employee needs to earn a future benefit is called the vesting requirement. 
When an employee is vested, he or she has the right to a monthly benefit, which includes the employer 
matching contribution, at age 60 or older. 
 
The Authority adopted a 10 year/Age 60 Retirement Eligibility described in Section 844.207 of the TCDRS 
Act, under which: (a) any TCDRS member who has 10 or more years of service credit with the District 
and other subdivisions that have adopted the provisions of Section 844.207 or 844.210, is a vested 
member and shall have the right to retire and receive a service retirement annuity after attaining age 60, 
unless the optional 8 year/age 60 Retirement Eligibility and/or Optional Rule 75 Retirement Eligibility is 
adopted, as allowed by the plan. The Authority has adopted both the Optional 8 year/Age 60 Retirement 
Eligibility, which allows an 8-year service eligibility requirement for vesting, service, and disability 
retirement; and Optional Rule 75, which allows the member to have the right to retire and receive service 
retirement annuity when years of such credited service added to his or her years of attained age equal or 
exceed 75. 
 
Any TCDRS member who is a vested member may terminate employment with all participating 
subdivisions prior to attaining age 60, and remain eligible to retire and receive a service retirement 
annuity after attaining age 60 provided his or her membership is not terminated other than by retirement. 
 
Any TCDRS member who is a vested member under Section 844.207(d) may retire and receive a 
disability retirement annuity if he or she is certified as disabled, as defined by the plan. 
 
Any TCDRS member who has four or more years of service credit with the District and other subdivisions 
is eligible for purposes of the Survivor Annuity Death Benefit.  
 
Retirees elect to receive their lifetime benefit by choosing one of seven actuarially equivalent payment 
options. Prior service gives employees monetary credit for time worked for an eligible organization before 
it joined the system. Buybacks allow current employees to re-establish a closed TCDRS account from 
previous service with an employer. Partial lump sum payments at retirement allow employees to withdraw 
part of their TCDRS account balance as a lump sum at retirement with a reduced monthly benefit. In 
addition, the Authority may choose to adopt a cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) for its retirees. This 
adjusts retiree benefits to restore purchasing power lost due to the effects of inflation. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms: The following employees were covered by the benefit terms as of 
the valuation date December 31: 
 

2017 2016

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2 2
Inactive employees entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 14 11
Active employees 25 24

Total 41 37
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Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan (Continued) 

Contributions: Plan members and the Authority are required to contribute at a rate set by statute. The 
contribution requirements of plan members and the Authority are established and may be amended. For 
2018 and 2017, the contribution rate for the plan members was 7 percent of gross pay. The Authority 
pays a matching portion to the pension plan totaling 14 percent of gross pay for 2018 and 2017, which 
totaled $475,880 and $446,675, respectively. 
 
Net pension asset: The Authority’s net pension asset was measured as of December 31, 2017 and 
2016, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial assumptions: The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability as of 
December 31, 2017 were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 
2013, through December 31, 2016, except where required to be different by GASB Statement No. 68. 
 
The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability as of December 31, 2016 were 
based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period from January 1, 2009, through 
December 31, 2012, except where required to be different by GASB Statement No. 68.  
 
The total pension liability in the December 31, 2017 and 2016, actuarial valuation was determined using 
the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

2017 2016

Inflation 2.75% 3.0%
Salary increases (including inflation plus average merit of 1.6% and

1.4% and productivity of 0.5% for 2017 and 2016) 4.85% 4.9%
Investment rate of return 8.1% 8.1%

 
Mortality rates were based on the following. 
 
Depositing members: For the December 31, 2017 valuation, 90 percent of the RP-2014 Active 
Employee Mortality Table for males and 90 percent of the RP-2014 Active Employee Mortality Table for 
females, projected with 110 percent of the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after 2014. 
 
For the December 31, 2016 valuation, the RP-2000 Active Employee Mortality Table for males with a 
two-year set-forward and the RP-2000 Active Employee Mortality Table for females with a four-year 
setback, both projected to 2014 with scale AA and then projected with 110 percent of the MP-2014 
Ultimate scale after that.  
 
Service retirees, beneficiaries and nondepositing members: For the December 31, 2017 valuation, 
110 percent of the RP-2014 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for males and 110 percent of the RP-2014 
Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for females, both projected with 110 percent of the MP-2014 Ultimate 
scale after 2014. 
 
For the December 31, 2016 valuation, the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected to 2014 with 
scale AA and then projected with 110 percent of the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after that, with a one-year 
set-forward for males and no age adjustment for females. 
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Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan (Continued) 

Disabled retirees: For the December 31, 2017 valuation, 130 percent of the RP-2014 Disabled Annuitant 
Mortality Table for males and 115 percent of the RP-2014 Disabled Annuitant Mortality Table for females, 
both projected with 110 percent of the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after 2014 
 
For the December 31, 2016 valuation, RP-2000 Disabled Mortality Table projected to 2014 with scale AA 
and then projected with 110 percent of the MP-2014 Ultimate scale after with no age adjustment for 
males and with a two-year set-forward for females.  
 
Long-term rate of return on assets: The long-term expected rate of return on TCDRS assets is 
determined by adding expected inflation to expected long-term real returns, and reflecting expected 
volatility and correlation. The capital market assumptions and information shown below are provided by 
TCDRS’ investment consultant. The valuation assumption for long-term expected return is re-assessed at 
a minimum of every four years, and is set based on a 30-year time horizon; the most recent analysis was 
performed in 2013.  
 
The capital market assumptions and information shown below are provided by TCDRS’ investment 
consultant based on December 31, 2017, information for a seven- to 10-year time horizon. 
 

Geometric Real Rate
Target of Return (Expected

Asset Class Benchmark Allocation (1) Minus Inflation) (2)

United States Equities Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index 11.5% 4.55%
Private Equity Cambridge Associates Global Private Equity and Venture

Capital Index (3) 16.0% 7.55%
Global Equities MSCI World (net) Index 1.5% 4.85%
International Equities—Developed MSCI World Ex USA (net) 11.0% 4.55%
International Equities—Emerging MSCI EM Standard (net) index 8.0% 5.55%
Investment—Grade Bonds Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 3.0% 0.75%
Strategic Credit FTSE High-Yield Cash-Pay Capped Index 8.0% 4.12%
Direct Lending S&P/LSTA Leveraged Loan Index 10.0% 8.06%
Distressed Debt Cambridge Associates Distressed Index (4) 2.0% 6.30%
REIT Equities 67% FTSE NAREIT Equity REITs Index plus 33%

FRSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index 2.0% 4.05%
Master Limited Partnerships (MLPs) Alerian MLP Index 3.0% 6.00%
Private Real Estate Partnerships Cambridge Associates Real Estate Index (5) 6.0% 6.25%
Hedge Funds Hedge Fund Research, Inc. Fund of Funds Composite

Index 18.0% 4.10%
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Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan (Continued) 

The capital market assumptions and information shown below are provided by TCDRS’ investment 
consultant based on December 31, 2016, information for a seven- to 10-year time horizon. 
 

Geometric Real Rate
Target of Return (Expected

Asset Class Benchmark Allocation (1) Minus Inflation) (2)

United States Equities Dow Jones U.S. Total Stock Market Index 13.5% 4.7%
Private Equity Cambridge Associates Global Private Equity and Venture

Capital Index (3) 16.0% 7.7%
Global Equities MSCI World (net) Index 1.5% 5.0%
International Equities—Developed MSCI World Ex USA (net) 10.0% 4.7%
International Equities—Emerging MSCI EM Standard (net) index 7.0% 5.7%
Investment—Grade Bonds Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 3.0% 0.6%
High-Yield Bonds Citigroup High-Yield Cash-Pay Capped Index 3.0% 3.7%
Opportunistic Credit Citigroup High-Yield Cash-Pay Capped Index 2.0% 3.8%
Direct Lending S&P/LSTA Leveraged Loan Index 10.0% 8.2%
Distressed Debt Cambridge Associates Distressed Index (4) 3.0% 6.7%
REIT Equities 67% FTSE NAREIT Equity REITs Index plus 33%

FRSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index 2.0% 3.9%
Master Limited Partnerships (MLPs) Alerian MLP Index 3.0% 5.6%
Private Real Estate Partnerships Cambridge Associates Real Estate Index (5) 6.0% 7.2%
Hedge Funds Hedge Fund Research, Inc. Fund of Funds Composite

Index 20.0% 3.9%

 
(1) Target asset allocation adopted at the April 2018 and 2017 TCDRS Board meetings. 
 
(2) Geometric real rates of return in addition to assumed inflation of 1.95 percent and 2.0 percent, 

respectively, per investment consultant’s 2018 and 2017 capital market assumptions. 
 
(3) Includes vintage years 2006-present of Quarter Pooled Horizon IRRs. 
 
(4) Includes vintage years 2005-present of Quarter Pooled Horizon IRRs. 
 
(5) Includes vintage years 2007-present of Quarter Pooled Horizon IRRs. 
 
Discount rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.1 percent for both  
December 31, 2017 and 2016. In order to determine the discount rate to be used by the employer, the 
TCDRS used an alternative method to determine the sufficiency of the fiduciary net position in all future 
years. The alternative method reflects the funding requirements under the employer’s funding policy and 
the legal requirements under the TCDRS Act. 
 
(1) TCDRS has a funding policy where the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability shall be amortized as a 

level percent of pay over 20-year closed layered periods.  
 
(2) Under the TCDRS Act, the employer is legally required to make the contribution specified in the 

funding policy.  
 
(3) The employer’s assets are projected to exceed its accrued liabilities in 20 years or less. When this 

point is reached, the employer is still required to contribute at least the normal cost.  
 
(4) Any increased cost due to the adoption of a COLA is required to be funded over a period of 

15 years, if applicable.  
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Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan (Continued) 

Changes in net pension liability (asset): Based on the above, the projected fiduciary net position is 
determined to be sufficient compared to projected benefit payments. Based on the expected level of cash 
flows and investment returns to the system, the fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension 
liability is projected to increase from its current level in future years.  
 
Since the projected fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay projected benefit payments in 
all future years, the discount rate for purposes of calculating the total pension liability and net pension 
liability of the Authority is equal to the long-term assumed rate of return on investments. This long-term 
assumed rate of return should be net of investment expenses, but gross of administrative expenses for 
GASB Statement No. 68 purposes. Therefore, the system has used a discount rate of 8.1 percent. This 
rate reflects the long-term assumed rate of return on assets for funding purposes of 8.0 percent, net of all 
expenses, increased by 0.1 percent to be gross of administrative expenses. 
 

Net Pension
Total Pension Fiduciary Net Liability (Asset) 

Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) Liability (a) Position (b) (a) - (b)

Balances as of June 30, 2017 5,719,320  $       6,074,459  $      (355,139)  $             
Changes for the year:

Service cost  621,685              -                    621,685                  
Interest on total pension liability (1) 512,318              -                    512,318                  
Effect of plan changes (2) -                     -                    -                          
Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses (34,008)              -                    (34,008)                   
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 15,820                -                    15,820                    
Refund of contributions (16,897)              (16,897)              -                          
Benefit payments (14,389)              (14,389)              -                          
Administrative expenses -                     (5,074)                5,074                      
Member contributions -                     228,848             (228,848)                 
Net investment income -                     897,084             (897,084)                 
Employer contributions -                     457,484             (457,484)                 
Other (3) -                     8,731                 (8,731)                     

Balances as of June 30, 2018 6,803,849  $       7,630,246  $      (826,397)  $             

Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) 2018
Increase (Decrease)
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Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan (Continued) 

Net Pension
Total Pension Fiduciary Net Liability (Asset) 

Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) Liability (a) Position (b) (a) - (b)

Balances as of June 30, 2016 4,870,215  $       5,072,238  $      (202,023)  $             
Changes for the year:

Service cost  636,083              -                    636,083                  
Interest on total pension liability (1) 417,633              -                    417,633                  
Effect of plan changes (2) -                     -                    -                          
Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses (152,926)            -                    (152,926)                 
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs -                     -                    -                          
Refund of contributions (37,296)              (37,296)              -                          
Benefit payments (14,389)              (14,389)              -                          
Administrative expenses -                     (4,111)                4,111                      
Member contributions -                     211,078             (211,078)                 
Net investment income -                     378,134             (378,134)                 
Employer contributions -                     422,157             (422,157)                 
Other (3) -                     46,648               (46,648)                   

Balances as of June 30, 2017 5,719,320  $       6,074,459  $      (355,139)  $             

Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) 2017
Increase (Decrease)

 
(1)  Reflects the change in the liability due to the time value of money. TCDRS does not charge fees or 

interest. 
 
(2)  Reflects new annuity purchase rates applicable to all TCDRS employees effective January 1, 2018. 
 
(3)  Relates to allocation of system-wide items. 
 
Sensitivity analysis: The following presents the net pension asset/liability of the Authority, calculated 
using the discount rate of 8.1 percent, as well as what the net pension asset/liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (7.1 percent) or 1 percentage point 
higher (9.1 percent) than the current rate. 
 

Current
1.0% Decrease Discount Rate 1.0% Increase

7.1% 8.1% 9.1%

Total pension liability 7,670,245  $       6,803,849  $       6,068,401  $       
Fiduciary net position 7,630,246           7,630,246           7,630,246           
Net pension liability (asset) 39,999                (826,397)             (1,561,845)          

Current
1.0% Decrease Discount Rate 1.0% Increase

7.1% 8.1% 9.1%

Total pension liability 6,475,773  $       5,719,320  $       5,088,480  $       
Fiduciary net position 6,074,459           6,074,459           6,074,459           
Net pension liability (asset) 401,314              (355,139)             (985,979)             

June 30, 2017

June 30, 2018
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Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan (Continued) 

Pension plan fiduciary net position: Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position 
is available in the separate issued TCDRS report. 
 
Pension expense: the Authority recognized the following pension related expense (income): 
 

Pension Expense (Income) 2018 2017

Service cost 621,685  $          636,083  $          
Interest on total pension liability (1) 512,318              417,633              
Effect of plan changes -                      -                      
Administrative expenses 5,074                  4,111                  
Member contributions (228,848)             (211,078)             
Expected investment return net of investment expenses (518,128)             (435,573)             
Recognition of deferred inflows/outflows of resources:
   Recognition of economic/demographic gains or losses (37,577)               (33,798)               
   Recognition of assumption changes or inputs 6,429                  4,671                  
   Recognition of investment gains or losses 65,301                141,093              
Other (2) (8,731)                 (46,648)               
Pension expense 417,523  $          476,494  $          

June 30

 
(1) Reflects the change in the liability due to the time value of money. TCDRS does not charge fees or 

interest.  
 
(2)  Relates to allocation of system-wide items.  
 
Deferred inflows and outflows of resources: the deferred inflows and outflows of resources are as 
follows: 
 

Deferred Inflows/ Deferred Inflows Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows Deferred Outflows
Outflows of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected 
and actual experience 278,184  $                 28,161  $                  286,449  $                 32,857  $                  

Changes of assumptions -                            42,090                      -                            32,699                      
Net difference between projected 

and actual earnings -                            (25,643)                     -                            418,615                    
Contributions made subsequent 

to measurement date -                            245,788                    -                            227,392                    
278,184  $                 290,396  $                 286,449  $                 711,563  $                 

June 30, 2017June 30, 2018
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Note 7. Employee Retirement Plan (Continued) 

Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date are eligible employer contributions made from 
January 1, 2018, through June 30, 2018. Amounts currently reported as deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, excluding contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date, will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 
Years ending June 30:

2019 34,153  $            
2020 18,003                
2021 (95,541)               
2022 (106,939)             
2023 (31,148)               
Thereafter (52,104)               

(233,576)  $         

 
The remaining balance to be recognized in future years (and included in the thereafter category), if any, 
will be impacted by additional future deferred inflows and outflows of resources. 
 

Amount Balance of Balance of

Original Recognized Deferred Deferred

Original Date Recognition in 6/30/18 Inflows Outflows

Amount Established Period Expenses (1) 6/30/2018 6/30/2018

Investment (gains) losses (378,957)  $          12/31/2017 5 years (75,791)  $            303,165  $           -$                     

Investment (gains) losses 57,439                 12/31/2016 5 years 11,488                 -                       34,464                 

Investment (gains) losses 567,272               12/31/2015 5 years 113,454               -                       226,909               

Investment (gains) losses 80,751                 12/31/2014 5 years 16,150                 -                       16,150                 

Economic/demographic (gains)

or losses (34,008)                12/31/2017 9 years (3,770)                  (30,229)                -                       

Economic/demographic (gains)

or losses (152,926)              12/31/2016 9 years (16,992)                (118,942)              -                       

Economic/demographic (gains)

or losses (193,519)              12/31/2015 9 years (21,502)                (129,013)              -                       

Economic/demographic (gains)

or losses 46,958                 12/31/2014 10 years 4,696                   -                       28,161                 

Assumption changes or inputs 15,820                 12/31/2017 9 years 1,758                   -                       14,062                 

Assumption changes or inputs -                       12/31/2016 9 years -                       -                       -                       

Assumption changes or inputs 42,041                 12/31/2015 9 years 4,671                   -                       28,028                 

Assumption changes or inputs -                       12/31/2014 10 years -                       -                       -                       

Schedule of Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources

 
 
(1) Investment (gains)/losses are recognized in pension expense over a period of five years; 

economic/demographic (gain)/losses and assumption changes or inputs are recognized over the 
average remaining service life for all active, inactive and retired members. 
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Note 8. Disaggregation of Receivable and Payable Balances 

Due from other governments are comprised of current intergovernmental receivables and amounts due 
from other Texas tolling authorities related to toll tag transactions on the Authority’s toll roads. The 
Authority does not issue toll tags; however, the Authority has contracted with TxDOT and other tolling 
entities located both within and outside the State of Texas to handle customer service and operations 
related to the toll tag transactions at June 30, 2018 and 2017. Accounts payable balances are comprised 
of 100 percent current payables to contractors and vendors at June 30, 2018 and 2017.  
 
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the receivable from TxDOT comprises approximately 19 percent and 
82 percent, respectively, and the total balances are as follows: 
 

2018 2017

TxDOT 845,325  $          13,983,903  $     
Other governments 3,491,582           3,100,027           

Total 4,336,907  $       17,083,930  $     

June 30

 

Note 9. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities  

 
Commitments: In May 2014, the Authority entered into a 10-year lease agreement for office space. The 
aggregate future minimum lease payments under the new lease are as follows: 
 
Years ending December 31:

2019 358,932  $          
2020 370,700              
2021 382,468              
2022 394,236              
2023 336,703              

1,843,039  $       

 
The Authority’s rental expense for fiscal year 2018 and 2017 totaled $527,968 and $544,164, 
respectively, which includes common area maintenance and property taxes. 
 
The Authority has a capital improvement program for roadway construction projects extending into future 
years. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority has a capital budget of approximately $1.198 billion 
and $1.209 billion, respectively, for future toll projects, which may or may not materialize. Including the 
183 South Project, the Authority’s contractual commitments related to its capital improvement plan are 
approximately $464.0 million and $664.0 million, respectively, for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 
2017. All contracts contain a termination for convenience clause in which such contracts may be 
terminated, in whole or in part, for the convenience of the Authority. 
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Note 9. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Continued) 

CAMPO Interlocal Agreement: Capital Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO) is the 
designated metropolitan planning organization for Central Texas. As part of the designated planning 
organization, CAMPO received approximately $136 million in grant funds of which $130 million was 
allocated to the MoPac Improvement Project. The funding received was made available for transportation 
projects in the Austin area. As part of the construction of the MoPac Improvement Project, the Authority 
executed an agreement with CAMPO. The executed agreement calls for the sharing of surplus revenue 
generated from the MoPac Improvement Project by setting up a Regional Infrastructure Fund (RIF) 
account. The RIF account was created upon execution of the agreement with CAMPO. As of 
September 1, 2017, $2,000,000 of the surplus revenue from the MoPac Improvement Project was 
deposited into the RIF account. The amounts placed in the RIF account in accordance with the 
agreement are to be used to fund other CAMPO identified transportation projects in the region. As of 
June 30, 2018, the Authority has a payable RIF balance of $2,000,000 which will be deposited into the 
RIF account. The remaining commitment to the RIF account is dependent upon there being surplus 
revenue of the MoPac Improvement Project in the future such that the remaining amount payable to the 
RIF account pursuant to the CAMPO agreement of $228 million, may be paid through fiscal year 2041. 
 
Litigation: As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority is involved in various contract disputes on its 
construction projects. Based on the status of the claims and the information available, the Authority 
believes that a liability has not been incurred as of the date of the financial statements. The Authority 
believes it has substantial defenses against these claims and the resolution of these matters will not have 
a material adverse effect on its financial statements. 
 

Note 10. Authority’s Tolling System Disclosure 

During fiscal year 2018, the Authority had non-Tolling System assets generating revenue (the MoPac 
Improvement Project) and non-Tolling System assets under construction. Governments that report 
enterprise funds or that use enterprise fund accounting and reporting standards to report their activities 
are required to present segment information for defined activities in the notes to the financial statements. 
For purposes of this disclosure, a segment is an identifiable activity reported as or within an enterprise 
fund or an other stand-alone entity for which one or more revenue bonds or other revenue-backed debt 
instruments outstanding with a revenue pledge to support that debt. In addition, the activities, revenue, 
expenses, gains and losses, assets and liabilities are required to be accounted for separately. The 
requirement for separate accounting for the Authority’s Tolling System is also imposed by the bond 
indenture. A segment has a specific identifiable revenue stream pledged in support of revenue bonds or 
other revenue backed debt and has related expenses, gains and losses, assets, and liabilities that can be 
identified. 
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Note 10. Authority’s Tolling System Disclosure (Continued) 

During fiscal year 2018, the Authority’s Non Toll System MoPac Project was placed into operations. 
Accordingly, the following condensed financial information for the Authority’s Tolling System activities are 
presented below: 
 

Assets and Deferred Outflows

Current assets 75,898,630  $         
Restricted assets 300,624,180           
Pension asset 826,397                  
Capital assets 1,378,573,371        

Total assets    1,755,922,578        
Deferred outflows of resources 108,056,556           

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 1,863,979,134  $    

Liabilities and Deferred Inflows

Current liabilities 81,222,707  $         
Noncurrent liabilities 1,394,919,854        

Total liabilities 1,476,142,561        
Deferred inflows of resources 278,184                  

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 1,476,420,745        
Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 194,237,697           
Restricted for other purposes 106,764,024           
Unrestricted 86,556,668             

Total net position 387,558,389           
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position 1,863,979,134  $    

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018

 

Operating revenues 84,756,778  $         
Operating expenses, including depreciation and amortization 49,738,897             

Operating income 35,017,881             
Total net nonoperating revenues (expenses) (31,363,082)            

Change in net position—before capital grants and contributions 3,654,799               
Capital grants and contributions, net of TxDOT adjustment (14,289,985)            

Change in net position (10,635,186)            
Total net position at beginning of year 398,193,575           
Total net position at end of year 387,558,389  $       

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Year Ended June 30, 2018 
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Note 10. Authority’s Tolling System Disclosure (Continued) 

Net cash flows provided by operating activities 57,417,921  $         
Net cash flows used in capital and related financing activities (186,251,682)          
Net cash flows provided by investing activities 87,012,957             

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (41,820,804)            
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 201,260,774           
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 159,439,970  $       

Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2018

 

Note 11. Subsequent Events 

During the first quarter of fiscal year 2019, the Authority received additional borrowings of approximately 
$94.0 million and $18.0 million, respectively, from the 2015C TIFIA Bond and the 2016 SHF SH 45SW 
Loan Agreement.  
 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through September 18, 2018, the date the financial statements 
were available to be issued.  
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Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Required Supplementary Information—Pension Plan
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Assets and Related Ratios
As of Years Ended June 30

2018 2017 2016 2015
Total pension liability:

Service cost 621,685  $            636,083  $            474,778  $            461,237  $            
Interest on total pension liability 512,318                417,633                361,003                295,209                
Effect of plan changes -                       -                       (33,691)                -                       
Effect of assumption changes or inputs (34,008)                -                       42,041                  -                       
Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses 15,820                  (152,926)              (193,519)              46,943                  
Benefit payments/refunds of contributions (31,286)                (51,685)                (2,211)                  -                       

Net change in total pension liability 1,084,529             849,105                648,401                803,389                

Total pension liability at beginning of year 5,719,320             4,870,215             4,221,814             3,418,425             

Total pension liability at end of year (a) 6,803,849             5,719,320             4,870,215             4,221,814             

Fiduciary net position:
Employer contributions 457,484                422,157                361,493                327,807                
Member contributions 228,848                211,078                180,742                163,979                
Investment income net of investment expense 897,084                378,134                (162,009)              261,626                
Benefit payments/refunds of contributions (31,286)                (51,685)                (2,211)                  -                       
Administrative expenses (5,074)                  (4,111)                  (3,541)                  (3,345)                  
Other 8,731                    46,648                  1,713                    (242)                     

Net change in fiduciary net position 1,555,787             1,002,221             376,187                749,825                

Fiduciary net position at beginning of year 6,074,459             5,072,238             4,696,051             3,946,226             

Fiduciary net position at end of year (b) 7,630,246             6,074,459             5,072,238             4,696,051             

Net pension asset at end of year = (a) - (b) (826,397)  $           (355,139)  $           (202,023)  $           (474,237)  $           

Fiduciary net position as a percentage of total 
    pension liability 112.15% 106.21% 104.15% 111.23%
Pensionable covered payroll 3,269,251  $         3,015,395  $         2,582,032  $         2,342,556  $         
Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of
     covered payroll (25.28%) (11.78%) (7.82%) (20.24%)

 
The Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Assets and related Ratio disclosure is required for 10 years. The 
schedule noted above is only for the years which the new GASB Statements have been implemented. 
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Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Required Supplementary Information—Pension Plan (Continued)
Schedule of Employer Contributions
As of June 30,

Actual
Actuarially Actual Contribution Pensionable Contribution as
Determined Employer Deficiency Covered a Percentage of

Year Ending Contribution (1) Contribution (Excess) Payroll (2) Covered Payroll

2009 177,644  $         177,644  $         -$                   1,410,996  $      12.6%
2010 208,394             224,770             (16,376)              1,605,503          14.0%
2011 212,249             235,472             (23,222)              1,623,942          14.5%
2012 248,565             270,179             (21,614)              1,863,303          14.5%
2013 251,978             286,786             (34,811)              2,048,602          14.0%
2014 261,182             304,447             (43,266)              2,174,701          14.0%
2015 284,621             327,807             (43,187)              2,341,479          14.0%
2016 302,614             339,408             (58,879)              2,424,343          14.0%
2017 341,041             446,675             (81,115)              3,190,536          14.0%
2018 383,156             475,880             (74,328)              3,399,143          14.0%

 
(1) TCDRS calculates actuarially determined contributions on a calendar year basis. GASB No. 68 indicates the 

Authority should report contribution amounts on a fiscal year basis.  
 

(2) Payroll is calculated based on contributions as reported for the fiscal year to TCDRS. 
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Actuarial methods and assumptions used: Following are the key assumptions and methods used in 
determining the actuarially determined contribution:  
 

Valuation Timing Actuarially determined contribution rates are 
calculated as of December 31, two years prior 
to the end of the fiscal year in which the 
contributions are reported. 

 
Actuarial Cost Method Individual entry age normal cost method, as 

required by GASB Statement No. 68, used for 
GASB calculations. A slightly different version 
of the entry age normal cost method is used for 
the funding actuarial valuation. 

 
Asset Valuation Method   
 Smoothing period 
 Recognition method 
 Corridor 

5 years  
Non-asymptotic  
None 
 

Economic Assumptions  
 Inflation 
 Salary increases 
 
 
 
 
 Investment rate of return  
 
 COLAs 

 
2.75 percent 
4.85 percent (made up of 2.75 percent inflation 

and 0.5 percent productivity increase 
assumptions) and a merit, promotion and 
longevity component that on average 
approximates 1.6 percent per year for a career 
employee. 

 
8.1 percent 
 
COLAs for the Authority are not considered to be 

substantively automatic under GASB 
Statement No. 68. Therefore, no assumption 
for future cost-of-living adjustments is included 
in the GASB calculations. No assumption for 
future cost-of-living adjustments is included in 
the funding valuation. 
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Demographic assumptions—related to December 31, 2017 valuation: 
 

Retirement 
Age Male Female Age Male Female

40-44 4.5% 4.5% 62 20% 20%
45-49 9 9 63 15 15
50 10 10 64 15 15
51 9 9 65 25 25
52 9 9 66 25 25
53 9 9 67 24 24
54 10 10 68 22 22
55 10 10 69 22 22
56 10 10 70 22 22
57 10 10 71 22 22
58 12 12 72 22 22
59 12 12 73 22 22
60 12 12 74 ** 22 22
61 12 12

Annual Rates of Service Retirement*

 
*  Deferred members are assumed to retire (100 percent probability) at the later of: a) age 60 b) earliest 

retirement eligibility.  
 
** For all eligible members ages 75 and later, retirement is assumed to occur immediately.  
 
Other terminations of employment: The rate of assumed future termination from active participation in 
the plan for reasons other than death, disability or retirement are all set at 0 percent and the rates do not 
vary by length of service, entry-age group (age at hire), and sex. No termination after eligibility for 
retirement is assumed. 
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Withdrawals: Members who terminate may either elect to leave their account with TCDRS or withdraw 
their funds. The probability that a member elects a withdrawal varies by length of service and vesting 
schedule. Rates applied to your plan are shown in table below. For nondepositing members who are not 
vested, 100 percent are assumed to elect a withdrawal. 
 

Years of Service Probability Years of Service Probability

0 100% 15 40%
1 100 16 38
2 100 17 36
3 100 18 33
4 100 19 30
5 50 20 28
6 49 21 26
7 48 22 24
8 47 23 22
9 46 24 20

10 45 25 18
11 44 26 16
12 43 27 14
13 42 28 12
14 41 29* 10

Probability of Withdrawal

 
*Members with more than 29 years of service are not assumed to refund. 
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Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Supplemental Information—Indenture Cash Flow and Debt Service Coverage
June 30, 2018

Toll revenues 84,074,966  $     
Other revenues* 680,462              
Miscellaneous revenue 1,350                  
Interest income available to pay debt service 2,541,537           

Total revenues 87,298,315         
Less system operating expenses (20,096,093)        

Revenues available for rate covenant and additional bonds tests 67,202,222         

Net senior lien debt service 28,920,913  $     
Net subordinate lien debt service 7,095,986           

Total net debt service 36,016,899         

Debt service coverage ratios for rate covenant and additional bonds test:
Senior lien obligations 2.32                    
Senior and subordinate lien obligations 1.87                    
Less  system maintenance expenses (2,988,960)          

Revenues available for debt service 64,213,262         

Debt service coverage ratios for revenues available for debt service:
Senior lien obligations 2.22                    
Senior and subordinate lien obligations 1.78                    
Less total net debt service (36,016,899)        
Less deposits to renewal and replacement fund -                      
Less debt service payments on other obligations -                      

Annual excess 28,196,363  $     

 
* The HERO operating grant revenues are included in “Other Revenues” above as the corresponding expenses 
are included in “System Operating Expenses.”  
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Report on Internal Control Over  
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters  
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in  

Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 

To the Board of Directors 
Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority  
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Central Texas 
Regional Mobility Authority (the Authority) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2018.   
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the Authority’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit, we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weakness 
may exist that have not been identified.   
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, grant agreements and the Public Funds Investment Act, noncompliance with which could have 
a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instance of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards or the Public Funds 
Investment Act.  
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Purpose of This Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Austin, Texas 
September 18, 2018 
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Report on Compliance For the Major Federal  
Program, Report on Internal Control Over Compliance and Report  

on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required  
by the Uniform Guidance 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 

To the Board of Directors 
Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority  
 
 
Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 
We have audited Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority’s (the Authority) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and 
material effect on the Authority’s major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2018. The Authority’s 
major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.   
 
Management’s Responsibility  
Management is responsible for compliance with the federal statutes, regulations and the terms and 
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the Authority’s major federal program based 
on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of 
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal 
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Authority’s 
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances.   
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal 
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance.   

 
Opinion on the Major Federal Program 
In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year 
ended June 30, 2018.  
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the Authority’s internal control over compliance with the requirements 
that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program to determine the auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance for the major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined 
above. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 
We have audited the financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic 
financial statements. We have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2018, which contained 
an unmodified opinion on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of 
forming an opinion on the basic financial statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of 
Federal Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Schedule of Expenditures of 
Federal Awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a 
whole. 

 
Austin, Texas 
September 18, 2018 
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Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Federal Passed
CFDA Pass Through Entity Through to Federal

Federal Grantor/Program Title Number Grant Award Number Subrecipients Expenditures 

U.S. Department of Transportation
Highway Planning and Construction Cluster:

Pass through Texas Department of Transportation:
Highway Planning and Construction—MoPac 20.205 CSJ 3136-01-107 -$                      15,165,626  $       
Highway Planning and Construction—US290W Project 20.205 0113-08-060 -                        293,094                
Highway Planning and Construction—US290W Multi. Projects 20.205 0265-01-080 -                        131,081                
Highway Planning and Construction—HERO Project 20.205 CSJ 0914-00-358; 0914-00-361 -                        544,370                

Total Highway Planning and Construction Cluster -                        16,134,171           

U.S. Department of Transportation
Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act—TIFIA 

183 South 20.223 -                        20,433,697           

Total Federal Expenditures -$                      36,567,868  $       

See notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Reporting entity: The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) includes the activity 
of all federal programs administered by Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority (the Authority). 
Because this schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Authority, it is not 
intended to, and does not, present the financial position, changes in net position or cash flows of the 
Authority.   

 
Basis of presentation: The Schedule presents total federal awards expended for each individual 
program and CFDA number in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
 
Basis of accounting: The expenditures for each of the federal financial assistance programs are 
presented on the accrual basis of accounting for the Authority’s fiscal year. Such expenditures are 
recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for 
State and Local and Governments, or the cost principles contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement. In accordance with the Uniform Guidance, the Authority did not apply or use the 
10 percent de minimis cost rate as defined by the Uniform Guidance for the period ending June 30, 2018.   
 
Loan and loan guarantees—Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act (TIFIA): The 
United States Department of Transportation provided a secured loan to the Authority of $282 million to 
pay or reimburse a portion of the 183 South Toll Project. The secured loan agreement was entered into 
pursuant to the provisions of TIFIA, and the loan will be repaid with toll revenues from the Toll System. 
 
During fiscal 2018, $20.4 million of TIFIA loan proceeds were expended to fund the project’s construction 
costs. The TIFIA loan proceeds expended on eligible project expenditures are subject to the Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and are 
included in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.   
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Section I 
 Summary of Auditor’s Results 

      

       
 1. Financial Statements       
       

Type of auditor’s report issued on whether the financial 
statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP: 

 Unmodified    

       
  Internal control over financial reporting:       
       
   Material weakness(es) identified?      Yes  X No 
       
   Significant deficiency(ies) identified?       
        Yes  X None Reported 
       
  Noncompliance material to financial       
   statements noted?   Yes  X No 
       
 2. Federal Awards       
       
  Internal control over major federal program:       
       
   Material weakness(es) identified?   Yes  X No 
       
   Significant deficiency(ies) identified?       
        Yes   X None Reported 
  Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for       
   the major federal program:  Unmodified    
       
  Any audit findings disclosed that are required       
   to be reported in accordance with       
   Section 2 CFR 200.516 (a)   Yes  X No 
       
  Identification of major federal program:       
       
  CFDA Number(s)  Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
  20.223  Transportation Infrastructure Finance and 

Innovation Act (TIFIA) Program 
 

   
  Dollar threshold used to distinguish between       
   type A and type B programs:  $ 1,097,036    
       
  Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?  X Yes   No 
       
Section II 
 Financial Statement Findings 
 
 None reported 
 
Section III 
 Federal Award Finding and Questioned Costs 
 
 None reported
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Prior-Year Federal Award Finding and Questioned Costs 
 

 None reported 



 

 



 

 
 
 

Exhibit D 
 

State Awards Compliance Report 
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 

Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance 
With Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors 
Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority  

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Central Texas 
Regional Mobility Authority (the Authority) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2018.  

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the Authority’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit, we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weakness 
may exist that have not been identified.  

Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, grant agreements, and the Public Funds Investment Act, noncompliance with which could have 
a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instance of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards or the Public Funds 
Investment Act.  
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Purpose of This Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Austin, Texas 
September 18, 2018 
 
 
 



 

 

 

3 

Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program, 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance and Report on 
Schedule of Expenditures of State Awards Required by the 

State of Texas Uniform Grant Management Standards

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors 
Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority  

Report on Compliance for the Major State Program 
We have audited Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority’s (the Authority) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the state of Texas Uniform Grant Management Standards (UGMS) 
that could have a direct and material effect on the Authority’s major State program for the year ended 
June 30, 2018. The Authority’s major state program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results 
section of the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.  

Management’s Responsibility  
Management is responsible for compliance with state statutes, regulations, contracts and terms and 
conditions of its state awards applicable to its state programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the Authority’s major state program based 
on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of 
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States and the UGMS. Those standards and the UGMS require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major state 
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Authority’s 
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances.  

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major state 
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance.  

Opinion on the Major State Program 
In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on the major state program for the year 
ended June 30, 2018.  
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the Authority’s internal control over compliance with the requirements 
that could have a direct and material effect on the major state program to determine the auditing 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance for the major state program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with the UGMS, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Authority’s internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
state program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program will not 
be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a 
type of compliance requirement of a state program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined 
above. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
UGMS. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of State Awards Required by the State of Texas Uniform 
Grant Management Standards 
We have audited the financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic 
financial statements. We have issued our report thereon dated September 18, 2018, which contained 
an unmodified opinion on those basic financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose 
of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures 
of State Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the UGMS and is not 
a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Schedule of Expenditures of 
State Awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a 
whole. 

 
Austin, Texas 
September 18, 2018 
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Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Schedule of Expenditures of State Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Passed
Through to State

State Grantor/Program Title State Grant Award Number Subrecipients Expenditures 
Texas Department of Transportation:

SH 45SW Toll Project CSJ 1200-06-004; 1200-07-001 -$                    12,699,162  $     
US290W Scenic Brook to Joe Tanner Grant CSJ 0113-08-060 -                     73,273                
MoPac Improvement Project CSJ 3136-01-107 -                     3,791,406           
MoPac South Project Environmental Assessment CSJ 3136-01-176 -                     709,930              
Highway Planning and Construction—US290W 

Multi. Projects Grant CSJ 0265-01-080 -                     32,770                
Highway Planning and Construction—HERO Project CSJ 0914-00-358; 0914-00-361 -                     136,092              

Total state expenditures -$                    17,442,633  $     

See notes to Schedule of Expenditures of State Awards.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Reporting entity: The Schedule of Expenditures of State Awards (the Schedule) includes the activity of 
all state programs administered by Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority (the Authority). Because this 
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Authority, it is not intended to, and 
does not, present the financial position, changes in net position or cash flows of the Authority.  

 
Basis of presentation: The Schedule presents total state awards expended for each individual program 
in accordance with the Texas Uniform Grant Management Standards. 
 
Basis of accounting: The expenditures for each of the state financial assistance programs are 
presented on the accrual basis of accounting for the Authority’s fiscal year. Such expenditures are 
recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for 
State and Local and Governments, or the cost principles contained in the Texas Uniform Grant 
Management Standards, Cost Principles and Audit Requirements for State Awards, wherein certain types 
of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 
 
Loan and loan guarantees: The Authority has no loan or loan guarantees.  
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Section I 
Summary of Auditor’s Results 

      

       
 1. Financial Statements       
       

 Type of auditor’s report issued on whether the financial  
statements were presented in accordance with GAAP: 

 
Unmodified 

   

       
  Internal control over financial reporting:       
       
   Material weakness(es) identified?      Yes  X No 
       
   Significant deficiency(ies) identified?    Yes  X None Reported 
       
  Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?   Yes  X No 
       
 2. State Awards       
       
  Internal control over major state program:       
       
   Material weakness(es) identified?   Yes  X No 
       
   Significant deficiency(ies) identified?       
        Yes   X None Reported 
  Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for the        
   major state program:  Unmodified    
       
  Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be       
   reported in accordance with the State of Texas       
   Single Audit Circular   Yes  X No 
       
  Identification of major state program:       
       
  State Award Number(s)  Name of State Program or Cluster 

CSJ 1200-06-004 and CSJ 1200-07-001  SH 45SW Toll Project 

  Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and       
   type B programs:  $ 750,000    
       
  Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?  X Yes   No 
       

Section II  
Financial Statement Findings 

 
 None reported 

 
Section III   

State Award Finding and Questioned Costs 
 

None reported 
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Prior Year State Award Finding and Questioned Costs 
 

None reported 
 
 



 

 





July 25, 2018 
Regular Board Meeting 

Minutes



MINUTES 
 

Regular Meeting of the Board of  
 

Directors of the  
 

CENTRAL TEXAS REGIONAL MOBILITY AUTHORITY 

Wednesday, July 25, 2018 

 The meeting was held in the Mobility Authority’s Lowell H. Lebermann, Jr. Board Room at 
 3300 N. Interstate 35, #300, Austin, Texas 78705-1849. Notice of the meeting was posted 
 July 20, 2018 at the respective County Court Houses of Williamson and Travis 
 Counties; online on the website of the Mobility Authority; and in the Mobility 
 Authority’s office lobby at 3300 N. Interstate 35, #300, Austin, Texas 78705-1849.   
 

An archived copy of the live-streamed video of this 
meeting is available at: 

https://mobilityauthority.swagit.com/play/07252018-575 

1. Welcome and opening remarks by the Chairman and the members of the Board of 
Directors.  
 
After noting that a quorum of the Board was present, Chairman Wilkerson called the 
meeting to order at 9:02a.m. with the following Board members present: David Armbrust, 
Mark Ayotte, John Langmore, Frank Leffingwell, Nikelle Meade, and David Singleton. 

 

2. Opportunity for public comment. 
 
No comments were offered. 
 
Chairman Wilkerson took up Items 16 and 17 prior to the Consent Agenda in order to 
accommodate guest speakers on those items. 
 

16. Consider and take appropriate action on a resolution in support of the 183A Frontage 
Roads south of RM 1431 in Cedar Park.  
 
Mayor Corbin Van Arsdale from Cedar Park spoke about the item.  Mayor Van Arsdale’s 
comments were followed by a presentation from Justin Word, P.E., Director of 
Engineering.  
 
MOTION:  Approve a resolution in support of the 183A Frontage Roads south of RM  
   1431 in Cedar Park. 
 

https://mobilityauthority.swagit.com/play/07252018-575


RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  David Singleton 
SECONDED BY: Nikelle Meade 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-026 
 

17. Consider and take appropriate action on a resolution authorizing the Executive Director to 
negotiate an interlocal agreement with the City of Austin to establish a collaborative 
process and guidelines for stormwater and environmental controls.  
 
Mike Heiligenstein, Executive Director presented this item.  Additional comments were 
offered by Mike Personett, Interim Director of Watershed Protection, City of Austin. 
 
MOTION:  Approve a resolution authorizing the Executive Director to negotiate an  
   interlocal agreement with the City of Austin to establish a collaborative  
   process and guidelines for stormwater and environmental controls. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  David Armbrust 
SECONDED BY: Mark Ayotte 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-027 
 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
At the request of Board Member Langmore, Items 5 and 6 were pulled from the Consent 
Agenda and taken up by the Board as Regular Items. 
 

3. Approve Work Authorization No. 7 with Fagan Consulting LLC to provide general systems 
consulting services for FY 2019. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-028 
 

4. Approve Work Authorization No. 8 with Fagan Consulting LLC to provide professional 
services supporting the implementation of the new Pay By Mail services contract.  
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-029 
 



7. Approve reallocation of budget for professional services contracts for the SH 45 SW 
Project. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-030 
 

8. Approve Personal Services Agreement with Neal Spelce for communications and support 
services. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-031 
 
 
Regular Items 

5. Approve Work Authorization No. 16 with Kapsch TrafficCom USA, Inc. for support of the 
new Pay By Mail back office system implementation. 

Presentation by Tracie Brown, Director of Operations. 

MOTION:  Approve a Work Authorization No. 16 with Kapsch TrafficComm USA, Inc.  
   for support of the new Pay by Mail back office system implementation. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  John Langmore 
SECONDED BY: Nikelle Meade 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-032 

6. Approve agreement with Kapsch TrafficCom USA, Inc. for license plate image review 
services for the new Pay By Mail system.  

Presentation by Tracie Brown, Director of Operations. 

MOTION:  Approve an agreement with Kapsch TrafficComm USA, Inc. for license  
   plate image review services for the new Pay by Mail system. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  John Langmore 
SECONDED BY: Frank Leffingwell 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-033 
 



9. Approve the minutes from the June 27, 2018 Regular Board meeting.  
 
MOTION:  Approve the minutes from the June 27, 2018 Regular Board meeting. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  Mark Ayotte 
SECONDED BY: Nikelle Meade 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 

10. Accept the unaudited financial statements for June 2018. 
 
Presentation by Mary Temple, Controller and Bill Chapman, Chief Financial Officer. 
 
MOTION:  Accept the unaudited financial statements for June 2018. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  Frank Leffingwell 
SECONDED BY: Nikelle Meade 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-034 
 

11. Approve the addition of Vining Sparks IBG, L.P. to the List of Financial Institutions and 
Qualified Brokers authorized to provide investment services and engage in investment 
transactions with the Mobility Authority.   
 
Presentation by Mary Temple, Controller. 
 
MOTION:  Approve the addition of Vining Sparks IBG, L.P. to the List of Financial  
   Institutions and Qualified Brokers authorized to provide investment  
   services and engage in investment transactions with the Mobility   
   Authority.  
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  Mark Ayotte  
SECONDED BY: Frank Leffingwell 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-035 
 



12. Approve Amendment No. 9 to the Stantec Consulting Services Inc. agreement for traffic 
and revenue consulting services. 
 
Presentation by Bill Chapman, Chief Financial Officer. 
 
MOTION:  Approve Amendment No. 9 to the Stantec Consulting Services Inc.  
   agreement for traffic and revenue consulting services. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  John Langmore  
SECONDED BY: Nikelle Meade 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-036 
 

13. Authorize the Executive Director to finalize and execute an Agreement for the Payoff and 
Termination of the Pass-Through Toll Agreement between the CTRMA and TXDOT for the 
U.S. 183/183A Intersection Project. 
 
Presentation by Bill Chapman, Chief Financial Officer.  
 
MOTION:  Authorize the Executive Director to finalize and execute an Agreement  
   for the Payoff and Termination of the Pass-Through Toll Agreement  
   between the CTRMA and TXDOT for the U.S. 183/183A Intersection  
   Project. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  Mark Ayotte   
SECONDED BY: Frank Leffingwell 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-037 
 

14. Authorize the Issuance, Sale and Delivery of Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 
Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2018, and subordinate lien revenue bond anticipation 
notes, Series 2018, in accordance with specified parameters for the Manor Expressway 
(290E) Phase III Project.  
 
Presentation by Bill Chapman, Chief Financial Officer.  Richard Ramirez, Financial Advisor, 
Hilltop Securities also spoke on the item.  
 



MOTION:  Authorize the Issuance, Sale and Delivery of Central Texas Regional  
   Mobility Authority Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, Series 2018, and   
   subordinate lien revenue bond anticipation notes, Series 2018, in   
   accordance with specified parameters for the Manor Expressway (290E)  
   Phase III Project. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  John Langmore   
SECONDED BY: Frank Leffingwell 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-038 
 

15. Consider and take appropriate action on the Qualified Veterans Discount Program.  
 
Presentation by Tracie Brown, Director of Operations. 
 
Board Member John Langmore proposed an amendment to the resolution, requiring an 
end or a revision to the Qualified Veterans Discount Program by December 31, 2021. 
 
MOTION:  Approve the Qualified Veterans Discount Program through December 31,  
   2021.  
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  John Langmore   
SECONDED BY: David Armbrust 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-039 
 

18. Consider and take appropriate action on a resolution authorizing an administrative change 
order process and associated dollar amounts for use on construction projects. 
 
Presentation by Justin Word, P.E., Director of Engineering. 
 
MOTION:  Approve an administrative change order process and associated dollar  
   amounts for use on construction projects. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  John Langmore   
SECONDED BY: David Singleton 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 



NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-040 
 

19. Award a construction contract for Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III Project. 
 
Chairman Wilkerson tabled this item for consideration after Executive Session.  
 

20. Approve Supplement No. 1 to Work Authorization No. 7 for WSP USA, Inc. for general 
engineering consulting services related to MoPac.  
 
Presentation by Justin Word, P.E., Director of Engineering. 
 
MOTION:  Approve Supplement No. 1 to Work Authorization No. 7 for WSP USA,  
   Inc. for general engineering consulting services related to MoPac 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  Mark Ayotte   
SECONDED BY: David Singleton 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-041 
 

21. Approve a supplement to the Daniel J. Edelman, Inc. agreement for services including 
customer messaging, toll discount program, Pay By Mail transition and veterans program.  
 
Presentation by Dee Anne Heath, Director of External Affairs. 
 
MOTION:  Approve a supplement to the Daniel J. Edelman, Inc. agreement for  
   services including customer messaging, toll discount program, Pay By 
   Mail transition and veterans program. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  Mark Ayotte   
SECONDED BY: David Singleton 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-042 
 
 
 
 



Briefings and Reports 
 

22. Project Briefings 
 

A. MoPac Express Lane Six-Month Performance Update. 
 
Presentation by Tracie Brown, Director of Operations.  Additional comments 
provided by Sgt. Terry Gish, Austin Police Department and John Nevares, Assistant 
Director of Operations, TXDOT.  
 

B. Quarterly Project Reports 
 

i. MoPac Improvement project 
 
Presentation by Jeff Dailey, Deputy Executive Director  
 

ii. 183 South Project 
 
Presentation by Justin Word, P.E., Director of Engineering, Steve Pustelnyk, 
Director of Community Relations and Aaron Autry, 183 South Project 
Manager, Atkins 
 

iii. SH 45 Southwest Project 
 
Presentation by Justin Word, P.E., Director of Engineering 
 

23. Executive Director Board Report 
 

A. Projects under development 
 
Presentation by Mike Heiligenstein, Executive Director 
 

B. Local government highlights 
 
Presentation by Mike Heiligenstein, Executive Director 
 

C. Park and Ride Update 
 
Presentation by Jeff Dailey, Deputy Executive Director 
 

D.  Austin Memorial Park landscaping coordination 
 
Presentation by Lloyd Chance, Senior Project Manager – Construction 
 



E. Texas Senate Committee on Transportation Hearing – August 27, 2018 
 
Presentation by Mike Heiligenstein 

 
Executive Session Pursuant to Government Code, Chapter 551 
 
Chairman Wilkerson announced in open session at 12:06 p.m. that the Board would  
recess the open meeting and reconvene in Executive Session to deliberate the following 
items: 

 
24. Discuss acquisition of one or more parcels or interests in real property needed for the 

Bergstrom Expressway (183 South) Project and related legal issues, including 
consideration of the use of eminent domain to condemn property, pursuant to §551.072 
(Deliberation Regarding Real Property; Closed Meeting) and §551.071 (Consultation With 
Attorney; Closed Meeting). 
 

25. Discuss legal issues related to claims by or against the Mobility Authority; pending or 
contemplated litigation and any related settlement offers; or other matters as 
authorized by §551.071 (Consultation with Attorney).  
 

26. Discuss legal issues relating to procurement and financing of Mobility Authority 
transportation projects, as authorized by §551.071 (Consultation with Attorney). 
 

27. Discuss personnel matters as authorized by §551.074 (Personnel Matters). 
 
After completing the executive session, the Board reconvened in open meeting at 12:36 
p.m.  
 

Regular Items 
 

19. Award a construction contract for Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III Project. 
 
Chairman Wilkerson tabled this item for a future Board Meeting.  

 
28. Consideration of the use of eminent domain to condemn property: Declare a public 

necessity to acquire the following described parcels of land, or interests therein, for the 
183 South (Bergstrom Expressway) Project; and with respect to each such parcel or 
interest therein, authorize any of the following actions: (i) acquisition through negotiation 
or by the use of eminent domain to condemn the parcel or interest therein; (ii) execution 
of a contract to purchase, and (ii) execution of a possession and use agreement: 
 
 



A. Parcel E33D of the 183 South (Bergstrom Expressway) Project, an easement taking 
of 0.189 acre, from approximately 4.297 acres of real estate, owned by 724 
Bastrop Hwy, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, and located at 720 Bastrop 
Highway, Austin, Travis County, Texas on the west side of 183 South. 

 
MOTION:  Authorize the use of the power of eminent domain to acquire an   
   easement interest of a 0.189 acres, from approximately 4.297 acres of  
   real estate, owned by 724 Bastrop Hwy, LLC, a Texas limited liability  
   company, and located at 720 Bastrop Highway, Austin, Travis County,  
   Texas on the west side of 183 South. 
 
RESULT:   Approved (Unanimous); 7-0 
MOTION BY:  Nikelle Meade   
SECONDED BY: David Singleton 
AYE:   Wilkerson, Meade Singleton, Armbrust, Langmore, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None. 
 
ADOPTED AS:  Resolution No. 18-043 
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MINUTES 

Special Called Meeting of the Board of Directors  

of the  

CENTRAL TEXAS REGIONAL MOBILITY AUTHORITY  

Wednesday, August 22, 2018  

11:00 A.M.  

This was a telephone conference call meeting. Notice of the meeting was posted 
August 17, 2018, at the Williamson County Courthouse and the Travis County 
Courthouse; online on the website of the Mobility Authority; and in the Mobility 
Authority’s office lobby at 3300 N. Interstate 35, #300, Austin, Texas 78705-1849. 
Board Members on the call were Nikelle Meade, David Singleton, David Armbrust, 
Mark, Ayotte, and Frank Leffingwell. 

An archived copy of the live-streamed audio of this 
meeting is available at:  

https://mobilityauthority.swagit.com/play/08222018-1426 
 

1. Welcome and Opening Remarks by Chairman Ray Wilkerson.  
 
After noting that a quorum of the Board was present, Chairman Ray Wilkerson called the 
meeting to order at 11:05 a.m.  Executive Director Heiligenstein had each Board Member 
who called in state their name for the record and confirm that they could both hear and be 
heard by all other attendees that were present in-person or on the phone. 
 

2. Opportunity for Public Comment.  
 

Sharon Blythe, representing Austin RAMP (Rescue Austin Memorial Parks) provided 
comment. 

Regular Board Items  
 

3. Award a construction contract for the Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III Project. 
 

Presentation by Justin Word, P.E., Director of Engineering. 
 
MOTION:  Award a construction contract for the Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III  
   Project. 
 
RESULT:     Approved (Unanimous); 6-0  

https://mobilityauthority.swagit.com/play/08222018-1426


MOTION BY:  Frank Leffingwell 
SECONDED BY:  David Singleton 
AYE:  Wilkerson, Meade, Singleton, Armbrust, Ayotte, Leffingwell 
NAY:   None.  
 
ADOPTED AS:   Resolution No. 18-044 
 

Chairman Wilkerson announced that the Board would not meet in Executive Session and tabled 
Items 4 - 7.  

 
Executive Session Pursuant to Government Code, Chapter 551 

 
4. Discuss legal issues related to claims by or against the Mobility Authority; pending or 

contemplated litigation and any related settlement offers; or other matters as authorized 
by §551.071 (Consultation with Attorney). 
 

5. Discuss legal issues relating to procurement and financing of Mobility Authority 
transportation projects, as authorized by §551.071 (Consultation with Attorney). 
 

6. Discuss personnel matters as authorized by §551.074 (Personnel Matters). 
 
Regular Board Items  
 

7. Discuss and take appropriate action regarding agreements with the Texas Department of 
Transportation for development of the 183 North Project, including potential 
amendments to the SH 45 SW Loan Agreement and the SH 71 Toll Lanes Project 
Development Agreement. 

After confirming that no member of the public wished to address the Board, Chairman  
Wilkerson declared the meeting adjourned at 11:12 a.m. 

 
8. Adjourn Meeting.  

 

  

 





 
EXHIBIT A 

 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
Letters of engagement (work authorizations) to provide traffic and revenue and toll services during the 
time period of September 26, 2018, to October 1, 2021, may be requested for the MoPac North and 
South Corridors, 183 North Corridor, other regional toll road and managed lane projects, and for 
miscellaneous technical tasks: 

• Level-3 Comprehensive traffic and toll revenue study for one project. This study will produce 
traffic and toll revenue forecasts and documentation suitable for financing, including 
coordination with the financial team and meetings/presentations to rating agencies and investors. 
The scope will include services for socioeconomic updates, data collection and stated preference 
surveys; 

• Level-2 Preliminary traffic and toll revenue study for one project. Such a study will involve 
limited amount of data collection, surveys and socioeconomic reviews but the results could help 
with project configuration optimization, toll rate setting, etc. to assess the project’s feasibility; 

• Corridor level operational model development in support of Volume Delay Function (VDF) 
curve refinement as inputs to the traffic and revenue forecasting models for two projects; and 

• Environmental support including technical assistance for traffic analysis for one project. 
 

Additional services beyond the above noted may include: 
• Technical assistance and monitoring associated with existing Mobility Authority toll road and 

managed lane facilities; 
• On-call technical assistance; 
• Toll rate evaluations; 
• Attendance in meetings and preparation of meeting minutes as requested by the Mobility 

Authority; 
• Peer review services for traffic and revenue studies and operational analyses conducted by other 

firms; 
• Innovative tools for tracking of budgeted versus actual transactions and performance measures 

for select corridors; and  
• Conceptual/Sketch Level toll feasibility and project evaluations. 
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Second Amendment To 
Professional Consulting Services Agreement 

Between 
Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 

and 
CDM Smith Inc. 

 
 This Second Amendment to the Agreement between Central Texas Regional Mobility 
Authority ("Authority") and CDM Smith Inc., ("Consultant") effective August 1, 2009, as 
amended (the "Agreement") is made effective as of September 26, 2018 and is for the purpose of 
amending Article 3, Subsection a. of the Agreement. 
 
The Authority and Consultant hereby agree that Articles 3, Subsection a. of the Agreement is 
amended to read in its entirety as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 3 

COMPENSATION 
 
 Authorization for Consultant to perform the Services, compensation for Consultant’s 
work, and other aspects of the mutual obligations concerning Consultant’s work and payment 
therefore are as follows: 

 
a. BASIS FOR COMPENSATION. Subject to the terms of a Work Authorization issued 

pursuant to subsection 3.b below, the Authority agrees to pay and the Consultant agrees to 
accept as full and sufficient compensation and reimbursement for the performance of all 
Services set forth in this Agreement, hourly rates for the staff working on the assignment 
computed as follows:  
 

Direct Labor Cost x (1.0 + FAR) x 1.10 
 
Where Direct Labor Cots equals salary divided by 2080; FAR equals consultant’s  most 
recent audited overhead rate under 48 C.F.R. Part 31, Federal Acquisition Regulations 
(FAR 31); and 1.10 reflects a 10 percent (10%) profit. Representative rates computed 
through this methodology as of the Effective Date of this Agreement are reflected in 
Appendix B. Rates will be revised annually to reflect adjustments to the Direct Labor Costs 
and audited FAR rates; no adjustments shall be made to the specified profit percentage. 
The first adjustment shall be considered in January 2011. All adjustments shall be agreed 
to by the parties prior to implementation, and the Authority shall have the right to review 
and/or audit Consultant’s Direct Labor Costs and FAR rates upon written request and as 
provided in subsection (e) hereto. During the term of this Agreement Consultant shall 
provide to the Authority, prior to requesting any adjustment to rates, a copy of the report 
establishing a new FAR rate for Consultant.  
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The payment of the hourly rates and allowed costs shall constitute full payment for all 
Services, liaisons, products, materials, and equipment required to deliver the Services.  

   
By their signatures below, the parties to this Second Amendment to the Agreement evidence 
their agreement to the amendments set forth above. 

 
CENTRAL TEXAS REGIONAL     CDM SMITH, INC. 
MOBILITY AUTHORITY       
 

 
 

By: _________________________   By: ____________________________ 
       Mike Heiligenstein 
       Executive Director    Name: _________________________ 
 
       Title: __________________________ 
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Proposed Registered Account Parameters 

Number of 
Vehicles 

Minimum Initial  
Pre-paid Toll Amount 

Initial Automatic 
Replenishment Amount 

Low Balance 
Threshold 

1 $20 $20 $10 

 

Proposed Schedule of Fees and Charges 

ACCOUNT 
TYPE DESCRIPTION AMOUNT 

Pay By Mail 

Toll Differential (amount above tag rate)  50% * 
Mailed Monthly Statement Administrative Fee  $ 1.00 per statement 
Mailed On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee $ 1.00 per statement 
Faxed On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee $ 1.00 per statement 
Emailed Monthly Statement Administrative Fee No Charge 
Emailed On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee No Charge 
Non-Texas License Plate Look-up Fee $1.00 per invoice 
Late Payment Administrative Fee – Notice of Non-Payment 
(30 days past due) $15.00 per invoice 

Late Payment Administrative Fee – Violation Notice (60 days 
past due) $30.00 per invoice 

Late Payment Administrative Fee – Collections (90 days past 
due) $45.00 per invoice 

Enhanced Enforcement Administrative Fee (Failure to Pay 
Toll criminal complaint or habitual violator determination) $50.00 

Returned Check Administrative Fee (insufficient funds) $25.00 per check 
 

Registered  
Pre-paid 

Toll Differential (amount above tag rate) 33% 
Emailed Monthly Statement Administrative Fee No Charge 
Mailed On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee $ 1.00 per statement 
Faxed On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee $ 1.00 per statement 
Emailed On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee No Charge 

 

Registered  
Post-paid 

Toll Differential (amount above tag rate) 33% 
Emailed Monthly Statement Administrative Fee No Charge 
Mailed On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee $ 1.00 per statement 
Faxed or On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee $ 1.00 per statement 
Emailed On-Demand Monthly Statement Administrative Fee No Charge 

 

* Effective January 1, 2019 

  



 
 

 

 

Proposed Billing Schedule 

If Paid At…i Tag 
Registered 

Pre-paid 
+ 33% Surcharge 

Pay By Mail 
+ 50% Surchargeii 

Registered 
Post-paid 

+ 33% Surcharge 

Toll Bill /  
Statement N/A Tolls only 

Tolls + $1 mail 
admin fee 

(per invoice) 
Tolls only 

Notice of 
Non-Payment 

(30 days past due) 
N/A N/A 

Tolls + $15 late  
payment admin fee 

(per invoice) 
N/A 

Violation Notice  
(60 days past due) N/A N/A 

Tolls + $30 late  
payment admin fee 

(per invoice) 
N/A 

Collections  
(90 days past due) N/A N/A Tolls + $45 late payment 

admin fee (per invoice) N/A 

Court N/A N/A 
Toll + $50 enhanced 

enforcement admin fee 
(per complaint) 

N/A 

Habitual Violator N/A N/A 

Tolls + all outstanding 
fees + $50 enhanced 

enforcement admin fee 
(per determination) 

N/A 

 

i Mail and late payment administrative fees do not carry-over from the previous stage. 
ii Effective January 1, 2019. 
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Subchapter C.Subchapter B.   TOLL COLLECTIONS 

 Purpose 

This subchapter establishes practices and operations for toll collection systems on designated 
controlled-access toll roads operating within the turnpike system, and incorporates provisions of 
Section 370.177, Transportation Code, regarding failure or refusal to pay turnpike project tolls and 
related penalties and offenses. 

 Transponder Account 

A customer may establish a transponder account by contacting any interoperable agency’s Customer 
Service Center (“CSC”). A transponder is an electronic device that records the presence of a vehicle 
on a toll road and is usually attached to the windshield of the vehicle. Each CSC that is interoperable 
with the authority’s toll facilities has its own user agreement concerning requirements to open and 
maintain a transponder account.  

 Unauthorized Transfer of Transponder 

A transponder that is interoperable with the authority’s toll facilities is for use with one vehicle per 
transponder, and should not be transferred to another vehicle once the transponder  is attached to 
the original vehicle’s windshield. Transfer of a transponder to a vehicle other than the original 
vehicle is against authority policy. If a transponder is transferred to another vehicle in violation of 
this section, the authority may refuse to recognize an electronic toll transaction incurred with respect 
to an unauthorized vehicle. 

 Video Billing 

(a) The authority offers video billing as a courtesy payment option for customers that use the 
authority’s toll facilities without a transponder account. The authority, through its third-party 
vendor Violations Process and Toll Collection Provider (the “Collectionsthe Contractor”), will use 
the license plate information of a vehicle that does not have a valid toll transponder but travels on 
the authority’s toll facilities to determine the registered owner of such a vehicle via an interface 
with the state of Texas Vehicle Title & Registration database or a similar institution. 

(b) The Collections Contractor will send an invoice to the registered owner of the vehicle and 
accept payment on behalf of the authority. The Contractor will add a mail administrative fee for 
each invoice. All toll bills/invoices require payment by the invoice due date. The Collections 
Contractor will add a $1.00 handling fee for each invoice. The Collections Contractor will retain 
the additional toll surcharge and handling fee to cover their cost and forward the toll payments to 
the authority. All toll bills/invoices require payment within 30 days of the date thereof.  



(c)(b)  

 Establishment of Video Billing Administrative Fees for Unpaid Tolls 

(a) Section 370.177, Transportation Code, authorizes the assessment and collection of an 
administrative fee to recover the authority’s cost of collecting unpaid tolls. An administrative fee 
may not exceed $100.00 per unpaid toll. The authority has determined that such fees may vary 
depending on how far in the collection process a delinquent account proceeds. 

(b) The administrative fees for each billing stage and other related charges shall be published on 
the authority website.The current administrative fee shall be applied at each phase of the collection 
process. This means that upon issuance of a notice of non-payment, a $15.00 administrative fee 
shall be collected in addition to  the unpaid toll and any other fees that are due. 

(c) If payment is not received in connection with the first notice of non-payment, and a second 
notice of non-payment is sent, an additional $15.00 administrative fee shall become due. 
Therefore, full payment of a second notice of non-payment will require payment of $30.00 in 
administrative fees, in addition to all other amounts due. 

(d) If payment is not received in connection with either the first or second notice of non-
payment, the unpaid account shall be considered for collection, an additional $30.00 administrative 
fee shall become due, and the cumulative administrative fee due shall be $60.00. 

(e)(c) The board recognizes that the amount of the administrative fee should be subject to 
periodic change when collection costs and associated matters are considered. Therefore, the board 
delegates the authority to revise the administrative fee, or any aspect thereof, to the executive 
director, in consultation with the director of operations, and the executive director may revise an 
administrative fee by written amendment. The executive director shall give notice to the board of 
any such revision at the next regularly scheduled board meeting after the revision is put into effect. 

 Customer Service and Violation Enforcement Policies  

(a) A tolerant and customer-friendly approach will be employed towards customers who use the 
road without paying the required toll. While it is understood that the objective of the authority is 
to collect revenue and minimize toll violation abuse, the authority believes that a moderate 
approach towards customers who did not pay the toll ultimately will allow for a period of 
adjustment as customers begin using the toll roads, and will create new toll customers for the 
authority. 

(b) The authority will establish a “Violation Processing Center (VPC)”process where vehicle 
images captured at the toll collection point and for which no toll was paid will be reviewed and 
processed according to authority policies in accordance with the toll enforcement process 
established by state law. Repeat offenders will be issued notices of nonpayment and will be given 



the opportunity to make outstanding toll and administrative payments.  

(c) Failure to respond to the established customer contact process and to satisfy outstanding, 
unpaid toll amounts will result in the issuance of citation and prosecution in accordance with state 
lawadditional collection activities and/or legal action. 

(d) The Executive Director may determine a customer with 100 or more events of nonpayment 
within a period of one year and who have received at least two written notices of nonpayment is 
considered to be a habitual violator under Section 372.106, Transportation Code. An event of 
non-payment is considered to be one unpaid toll transaction. 

(e) The two written notices of nonpayment must state the full amount owed for the 100 or more 
events of nonpayment and must also include a warning that the failure to pay the amounts 
specified in the notices may result in the toll project entity’s exercise of habitual violator remedies. 

(f) For those potential habitual violators who have “not paid in full the total amount due for tolls 
and administrative fees under those notices”, notice will be sent to the potential habitual violator 
that complies with State law and affords the potential violator with an opportunity to dispute the 
finding. 

(g) The board must take action to deem an individual as a habitual violator before name 
publication, vehicle bans and/or vehicle registration blocks can be used. 

(b)(h) The habitual violator process shall be published on the authority website.  

 Procedures for Disputing Toll Violations 

(a) A customer may dispute an alleged failure to pay a toll on the authority’s web site or by 
contacting the CSC where a valid transponder account has been established. 

(b) A customer who has contacted a CSC or the authority’s collection contractor and has been 
unable to satisfactorily resolve a dispute regarding a toll violation may submit a written appeal to 
the authority. Such appeal shall be for the purposes of the customer providing the authority with 
the information upon which they base their appeal. The authority may or may not determine that 
there is any merit to such appeal and is not required to undertake any formal proceedings to make 
such determination. 

 



Steps to Implement Habitual Violator Remedies under SB 1792 
 
 

1. Identify all potential habitual violators, registered vehicle owners who have “100 or more 
events of nonpayment within a period of one year.”  

 
2. Send two written notices of nonpayment to each potential habitual violator. The notice must 

state the full amount owed for the “100 or more events of nonpayment” and must also 
include “a warning that the failure to pay the amounts specified in the notices may result in 
the toll project entity's exercise of habitual violator remedies.”  

 
3. For those potential habitual violators who have “not paid in full the total amount due for 

tolls and administrative fees under those notices” described in #2 above,  send notice to the 
potential habitual violator. The notice must:  

a. be sent by first class mail and is presumed received on the fifth day after the date the 
notice is mailed; and  

b. state: 
(A) the total number of events of nonpayment and the total amount due for 

tolls and administrative fees; 
(B) the date of the determination under Subsection (a); 
(C) the right of the person to request a hearing on the determination; and 
(D) the procedure for requesting a hearing, including the period during which 

the request must be made. 
 

4. If the Mobility Authority receives a written request from a potential habitual violator for a 
hearing no later than 35 days after the determination notice under #3 is mailed, then “a 
hearing shall be held as provided by Section 372.107.” The hearing is conducted before a 
Justice of the Peace (JP). 

 
5. If the potential habitual violator does not timely request a hearing, requests a hearing but 

fails to appear, or the JP affirms the determination, then the Mobility Authority’s preliminary 
determination that the person is a habitual violator becomes final and is not subject to 
appeal. 

 
6. BY ORDER OF ITS GOVERNING BODY, the Mobility Authority “may prohibit the 

operation of a motor vehicle on a toll project of the toll project entity if: 
a. the registered owner of the vehicle has been finally determined to be a habitual 

violator; and 
b. the toll project entity has provided notice of the prohibition order to the registered 

owner.” 
 

7. After the habitual violator has received the notice of the prohibition order, the Mobility 
Authority may pursue the following remedies: 

a. Publication of non-paying vehicle information that includes only the persons ’ names 
and, for each person listed: (1) the city and state of the person ’s residence; (2) the 
total number of events of nonpayment; and (3) the total amount due for the tolls and 
administrative fees; and 



b. the operator of a vehicle operated on a toll project in violation of the order commits 
a Class C misdemeanor; and 

c. “the toll project entity may report the determination to a county assessor-collector or 
the Texas Department of Motor Vehicles in order to cause the denial of vehicle 
registration as provided by Section 502.011.” That section provides: 

(A) Sec. 502.011.  REFUSAL TO REGISTER VEHICLE FOR 
NONPAYMENT OF TOLL OR ADMINISTRATIVE FEE.  (a)  A 
county assessor-collector or the department may refuse to register or 
renew the registration of a motor vehicle if it has received written notice 
from a toll project entity that the owner of the vehicle has been finally 
determined to be a habitual violator under Subchapter C, Chapter 372. 

 
8. A peace officer may impound a vehicle operated in violation of the prohibition order a 

second time, subject to detailed notice and other procedures established by SB 1792. 
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INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT   

 THIS INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into 
effective as of the 30th day of September, 2018, by and between the CENTRAL TEXAS 
REGIONAL MOBILITY AUTHORITY (“CTRMA”) and the NORTH EAST TEXAS 
REGIONAL MOBILITY AUTHORITY (“NET RMA”), political subdivisions of the State of 
Texas (collectively, the “Parties”). 

WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, the CTRMA is a regional mobility authority created pursuant to the request 
of Travis and Williamson Counties and operating pursuant to Chapter 370 of the Texas 
Transportation Code (the “RMA Act”) and 43 TEX. ADMIN. CODE §§ 26.1 et seq. (the “RMA 
Rules”); and   

 WHEREAS, the NET RMA is a regional mobility authority created pursuant to the 
request of Gregg and Smith Counties and operating pursuant to the RMA Act and the RMA 
Rules; and 

 WHEREAS, subsequent to the initial formation of the NET RMA the Counties of 
Cherokee, Rusk, Harrison, Upshur, Bowie, Panola, Titus, Van Zandt, Wood, and Kaufman 
joined the Authority and are represented on the Board of Directors of the NET RMA; and 

 WHEREAS, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code provides that any one or more 
public agencies may contract with each other for the performance of governmental functions or 
services in which the contracting parties are mutually interested; and 

WHEREAS, Section 370.033 of the RMA Act provides that a regional mobility 
authority may enter into contracts or agreements with another governmental entity; and 

WHEREAS, the NET RMA currently operates Segments 1, 2, 3A, 3B and 5 of Toll 49 
and is pursuing the development of Segments 4, 6, 7, and 8 of Toll 49 (Segments 1–8 
collectively, the “Toll 49 Project”); and 

 WHEREAS, the NET RMA is in need of toll transaction processing and toll collection 
services related to the Toll 49 Project and potentially other future transportation projects; and 

WHEREAS, the CTRMA is a party to the Agreement Regarding Interoperability of Toll 
Systems and Transponders (the “Interoperability Agreement”), through which toll transactions 
on various tolled facilities throughout the state are processed and credited to the operator of the 
facility on which the transaction occurred; and  

 WHEREAS, the CTRMA and NET RMA jointly participated in a procurement for Pay 
By Mail processing, violations processing, collections, and customer services (the “Services”); 
and 
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 WHEREAS, following the joint evaluation process and selection of a vendor, the 
CTRMA entered into an agreement with Cofiroute USA, LLC for the provision of the Services 
(the “Cofiroute Contract”); and 

 WHEREAS, the Cofiroute Contract specifically provides that the Services will be 
provided to CTRMA and will also be provided for the benefit of NET RMA; and  

 WHEREAS, the Cofiroute Contract further provides that the terms related to the 
performance of the Services for CTRMA shall apply equally to the Services provided for NET 
RMA and that CTRMA will have the right to seek performance under the Cofiroute Contract on 
its behalf and on behalf of other entities, including NET RMA; and  

 WHEREAS, one necessary element required for Cofiroute to perform the Services is the 
review of images of license plates (“Image Reviews”) to assure that such images are accurate 
when they are associated with Pay by Mail processing and collection efforts; and  

 WHEREAS, CTRMA has entered into an “Agreement for Image Review Services” 
dated September 7, 2018, with Kapsch TraffiCom USA, Inc. (“Kapsch”) to perform Image 
Reviews (the “Kapsch Agreement”); and  

 WHEREAS, the Image Reviews performed for CTRMA under the Kapsch Agreement 
will also be performed for NET RMA; and  

 WHEREAS, in addition to securing performance of the Services and Image Reviews for 
its benefit under the Cofiroute Contract and the Kapsch Agreement NET RMA also desires that 
electronic toll collection transactions related to use of NET RMA facilities be processed through 
the Interoperability Agreement through CTRMA; and 

 WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed that it would be to their mutual benefit for the 
CTRMA to seek performance under the Cofiroute Contract and the Kapsch Agreement for the 
benefit of the NET RMA and to provide for processing of NET RMA’s transactions through the 
Interoperability Agreement,  

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein 
contained, the undersigned Parties agree as follows:  

I. 
FINDINGS 

 
 Recitals. The recitals set forth above are incorporated herein for all purposes and 
are found by the Parties to be true and correct.  It is further found and determined that the Parties 
have authorized and approved the Agreement by resolution or order adopted by their respective 
governing bodies, and that this Agreement will be in full force and effect when approved by each 
party. 

II. 
ACTIONS 
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1. Provision of Services.  Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the CTRMA and/or its 
consultants shall facilitate the NET RMA’s utilization of the resources and services provided 
under (i) the Cofiroute Contract; (ii) the Kapsch Agreement; (iii) the Interoperability Agreement;  
and (iv) any amendments or successor agreements, in connection with the provision of the 
Services and Image Reviews for the Toll 49 Project and any other NET RMA transportation 
projects.  Article 1 and Appendix “A” of the Cofiroute Contract set forth the general scope of the 
Services, including but not limited to Pay By Mail transaction processing, toll collection, 
violation processing, collection management, court support services, and Habitual Violator 
program services.  All terms related to the performance of the Services under the Cofiroute 
Contract to CTRMA apply equally to the Services provided to the NET RMA.  Article 1 and 
Attachment “A” of the Kapsch Agreement set forth the standards for performance of the Image 
Reviews, including optical character recognition image reviews and manual image reviews.  
NET RMA related Image Reviews will be considered as CTRMA-related Image Reviews for 
purposes of the Kapsch Agreement and enforcement of the terms thereof.   

2. Enforcement of Cofiroute Contract; Key Performance Indicators.  The CTRMA has 
the right to seek performance under the Cofiroute Contract and enforce the terms of the contract 
on behalf of the NET RMA.  The toll collection processing Services being provided pursuant to 
this Agreement are an extension of the Services being provided to the CTRMA under the 
Cofiroute Contract.  As such, unless different Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) are 
identified by NET RMA and agreed to by Cofiroute, CTRMA shall require that the same KPIs 
set forth in Appendix “B” of the Cofiroute Contract are established and maintained for the 
Services for NET RMA facilities.  As further provided below, CTRMA shall enforce such KPIs 
and other standards in the Cofiroute Contract on the NET RMA’s behalf, and CTRMA shall not 
agree to modify the KPIs as they apply to NET RMA’s facilities without the prior written 
consent of NET RMA, provided that nothing herein shall preclude CTRMA from establishing 
different KPIs that are unique to CTRMA facilities or operations without the consent of NET 
RMA.  If at any time during the term of this Agreement NET RMA finds that Cofiroute is not 
meeting the KPIs for toll collection processing services for NET RMA facilities or is otherwise 
not complying with the terms of the Cofiroute Contract, the NET RMA may provide written 
notification to CTRMA of the nature of the non-compliance and the necessary corrective action.  
Upon receipt of such notification, CTRMA shall, on NET RMA’s behalf and in a timely manner, 
use the remedies available in the Cofiroute Contract to enforce the contract and to demand that 
Cofiroute take corrective action.  In the event NET RMA believes it has been damaged and is 
owed compensation or other relief by Cofiroute, CTRMA shall cooperate with NET RMA to 
assert such claims on NET RMA’s behalf.  To the extent there are any third-party expenses 
associated with the pursuit of claims or remedial action for the benefit of NET RMA, NET RMA 
shall pay such expenses provided that such expenses and/or the retention of third parties in 
connection with such efforts is approved by NET RMA, in writing.  It is NET RMA’s obligation 
to monitor Cofiroute’s performance under the Cofiroute Contract as it relates to NET RMA 
(including, without limitation, proper implementation of NET RMA’s fee structure), and 
CTRMA shall have no liability for lost revenue or other losses due to Cofiroute’s failure to 
perform.  

3. Cost of Services and Payment.  NET RMA shall provide Cofiroute with all necessary 
information regarding tolls and fees to be charged to users of NET RMA facilities.  The 
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Cofiroute Contract provides that Cofiroute shall be entitled to retain a portion of the tolls and 
fees as full compensation for the Services provided under the Cofiroute Contract, in amounts as 
provided for in Appendix “C” of that contract and reflected in Attachment “B”.   As directed by 
NET RMA, Cofiroute will remit the tolls and fees collected for the use of NET RMA facilities, 
net of the compensation owed to Cofiroute for the provision of the Services, to the NET RMA on 
a weekly basis.  NET RMA shall be responsible for verifying that Cofiroute is charging the 
correct tolls and fees and is retaining amounts authorized under the Cofiroute Contract, and 
Cofiroute shall provide NET RMA with a weekly summary, in such detail as is required by NET 
RMA, of tolls and fees charged and tolls and fees collected in providing Services for the 
preceding week.  In the event there is a discrepancy that cannot be resolved through direct 
discussion between NET RMA and Cofiroute, or an event of nonpayment of amounts NET RMA 
claims it is owed, CTRMA will, at NET RMA’s request and in a timely manner, take actions 
necessary to secure necessary information (including, without limitation, asserting the right to 
review, copy and audit Cofiroute’s records related to NET RMA facilities as provided for in the 
Cofiroute Contract) and/or assert such rights and claims as are provided for in the Cofiroute 
Contract and that are directed by NET RMA.  To the extent there are any third-party expenses 
associated with the pursuit of claims or remedial action for the benefit of NET RMA, NET RMA 
shall pay such expenses provided that such expenses and/or the retention of third parties in 
connection with such efforts is approved by NET RMA, in writing.   

Payments due to NET RMA under this Agreement shall be made to the NET RMA’s Trustee, 
ZB, NA dba Zions Bank (an affiliate of Amegy Bank), via wiring instructions provided by the 
NET RMA. 

4. Amendments to the Cofiroute Contract.  The Cofiroute Contract was jointly procured 
by both the CTRMA and the NET RMA, and the provision of Services to the NET RMA is 
contingent upon the terms of the Cofiroute Contract.  As such, CTRMA shall not agree to amend 
any material terms of the Cofiroute Contract that relate to Services to be provided to NET RMA 
without the prior written consent of NET RMA. 

5. Enforcement of Kapsch Agreement and Cost of Image Reviews.  The CTRMA has 
the right to seek performance under the Kapsch Agreement as it relates to Image Reviews and 
enforce the terms of the agreement as it relates to NET RMA transactions.  If at any time during 
the term of this Agreement NET RMA finds that Kapsch is not complying with the terms of the 
Kapsch Agreement as it relates to NET RMA Image Reviews, the NET RMA may provide 
written notification to CTRMA of the nature of the non-compliance and the necessary corrective 
action.  Upon receipt of such notification, CTRMA shall, on NET RMA’s behalf and in a timely 
manner, use the remedies available in the Kapsch Agreement to enforce the agreement and to 
demand that Kapsch take corrective action.  In the event NET RMA believes it has been 
damaged and is owed compensation or other relief by Kapsch, CTRMA shall cooperate with 
NET RMA to assert such claims on NET RMA’s behalf.  To the extent there are any third-party 
expenses associated with the pursuit of claims or remedial action for the benefit of NET RMA, 
NET RMA shall pay such expenses provided that such expenses and/or the retention of third 
parties in connection with such efforts is approved by NET RMA, in writing.  It is NET RMA’s 
obligation to monitor Kapsch’s performance under the Kapsch Agreement as it relates to NET 
RMA Image Reviews, and CTRMA shall have no liability for lost revenue or other losses due to 
Kapsch’s failure to perform. 
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 Kapsch will charge for services related to Image Reviews on a per transaction basis.  The 
fees are set forth on Attachment “B”.  In the event there is a decrease in fees charged under the 
Kapsch Agreement due to enhanced technology, operational efficiencies experienced by Kapsch, 
or any other reason, Attachment “B” will be amended accordingly and NET RMA will receive 
the benefit of the decreased fees. 

 In the event the NET RMA enters into a future agreement for image review services, this 
Agreement may be amended to remove the obligations of Kapsch and CTRMA as they relate to 
the Image Reviews provided under the Kapsch Agreement. 

6. Transponder-based Transactions and Associated Expenses.  CTRMA shall submit 
transponder based transaction on NET RMA facilities to the Central United States Interoperable 
Hub (or any subsequent hub established for transaction processing).  The Scope of Services 
associated with electronic transaction processing provided for hereunder is set forth on 
Attachment “A”; and the fees for such services are set forth on Attachment “B”.  Payments due 
to NET RMA under this section shall be made via wire transfer as provided in Section II.3.  In 
the event NET RMA becomes a direct party to the Interoperability Agreement or the Central 
United States Interoperable Hub, the parties agree to amend this Agreement as necessary to 
accommodate the change.    

 CTRMA is periodically assessed certain maintenance, hardware, and software costs as a 
party to the Interoperability Agreement.  Such costs are borne by all of the parties to that 
agreement based on the relative volume of transactions processed for each party in relation to the 
total volume of transactions processed by the Central United States Interoperable Hub.  Because 
costs are charged to CTRMA as a result of NET RMA’s transactions, NET RMA shall reimburse 
CTRMA for the portion of CTRMA’s costs that are attributable to the proportional volume of 
NET RMA’s transactions.  The calculation will be based on NET RMA and CTRMA 
transactions for the previous calendar year. 

III. 
GENERAL AND MISCELLANEOUS 

 
1. Term and Termination.  Subject to the following, this Agreement shall be effective as 
of the date first written above and shall continue in force and effect until March 8, 2023.  The 
term of the Agreement may be extended by written agreement of the Parties.  Notwithstanding 
the foregoing: 

a. if the Cofiroute Contract is terminated, this Agreement shall terminate on the 
same day that the Cofiroute Contract terminates, provided that the CTRMA shall 
give the NET RMA written notice of the termination within five (5) business days 
of providing notice to or receiving notice from Cofiroute in accordance with the 
Cofiroute Contract;  

b. either party may terminate this Agreement in the event of a material breach of its 
terms, which may include, but is not limited to, failure to make timely payments 
of amounts owed and failure of the Services or Image Reviews to be provided in 
accordance with this Agreement, provided that the party seeking to terminate the 



 
Page 6 of 10 

 

Agreement has provided written notice to the other of the alleged default and the 
default has not been cured within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice; or  

c. either party may terminate this Agreement upon ninety (90) days written notice to 
the other. 

2. Prior Written Agreements.  This Agreement is without regard to any and all prior 
written contracts or agreements between the Parties regarding any other subject matter and does 
not modify, amend, ratify, confirm, or renew any such other prior contract or agreement between 
the Parties. 

3. Other Services.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to create, by implication or 
otherwise, any duty or responsibility of either of the Parties to undertake or not to undertake any 
other service, or to provide or not to provide any service, except as specifically set forth in this 
Agreement or in a separate written instrument executed by both Parties. 

4. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to waive, 
modify, or amend any legal defense available at law or in equity to either of the Parties nor to 
create any legal rights or claims on behalf of any third party.  Neither of the Parties waives, 
modifies, or alters to any extent whatsoever the availability of the defense of governmental 
immunity under the laws of the State of Texas and of the United States. 

5. Amendments and Modifications.  This Agreement may not be amended or modified 
except in writing and executed by both Parties to this Agreement and authorized by their 
respective governing bodies. 

6. Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable 
by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable 
any other provision hereof, but rather this entire Agreement will be construed as if not containing 
the particular invalid or unenforceable provision(s), and the rights and obligations of the Parties 
shall be construed and enforced in accordance therewith.  The Parties acknowledge that if any 
provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, it is their desire and 
intention that such provision be reformed and construed in such a manner that it will, to the 
maximum extent practicable, give effect to the intent of this Agreement and be deemed to be 
validated and enforceable. 

7. Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall be considered fully 
executed as of the date first written above, when both Parties have executed an identical 
counterpart, notwithstanding that all signatures may not appear on the same counterpart. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed and attested this Agreement by their 
officers thereunto duly authorized. 

 
      CENTRAL TEXAS REGIONAL   

       MOBILITY AUTHORITY 
 
 

       By: ____________________________ 
      Mike Heiligenstein  
      Executive Director   
    
 

     NORTH EAST TEXAS    
     REGIONAL MOBILITY AUTHORITY 

   
       By: ____________________________ 
        Chris Miller 
        Executive Director 
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ATTACHMENT “A” 

SCOPE OF SERVICES-TRANSPONDER TRANSACTIONS 

The Scope of Services may include, but not be limited to, the following tasks on behalf of the 
NET RMA: 

1. The CTRMA shall submit transponder-based transactions to the Central United States 
Interoperable Hub, in accordance with the approved interoperable business rules and 
interface control documents. 

2. The CTRMA shall collect and distribute to the NET RMA toll funds collected on behalf 
of the NET RMA within two weeks after the CTRMA has received funds due from the 
last of the other toll agencies remitting funds for CTRMA and/or NET RMA transactions 
for the preceding month.    

3. The CTRMA shall provide timely assistance to the NET RMA in properly reconciling the 
payments from CTRMA to NET RMA. 

4. The CTRMA shall make a good faith effort to include the NET RMA in the review of toll 
transaction processing agreements that affect the processing of NET RMA transactions or 
may result in a change to the toll transaction fee structure or performance measures.  

5. Either directly or through access to consultant-provided systems and reports, the CTRMA 
shall make all reasonable efforts to provide to the NET RMA the same access to 
information and reports that the CTRMA requires to audit, reconcile, or resolve customer 
service or financial related matters related to electronic toll transactions. 

6. CTRMA shall make all reasonable efforts to provide to the NET RMA the same 
ownership of toll transaction related information that the CTRMA is afforded through 
their consultant agreements. 

7. Per Article II.6 of the Agreement, NET RMA will reimburse CTRMA for a proportional 
share of certain actual costs incurred as a party to the Interoperability Agreement.  
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ATTACHMENT “B” 

PAY BY MAIL RATE SCHEDULE 

In accordance with the provisions of the Cofiroute Contract, pricing for the Pay By Mail services to be provided is as follows:   
 

Pay 
Item Description of Item Unit Volume  

(per month) 

Unit Price % of Toll Collected 

Proposed Price 
(USD) 

Maximum Allowed 
(USD) 

Proposed 
Percentage  

(%) 

Maximum 
Allowed  

(%) 
        

1 Transaction Paid from Pre-paid Balance (Plate-
based Account) Transaction 

0-150,000 
150,001 – 300,000 

>300,000 

  18% 
15% 
10% 

25% 
25% 
25% 

2 Paid First Video Bill 
(paid prior to issuance of 1st Notice of Non-Payment 

One Paid Bill 
(30 days of transactions) 

0-50,000 
50,001 – 75,000 

>75,000 

$     0.54 
$     0.54 
$     0.54 

$     1.00 
$     1.00 

 $     1.00 

 17% 
 17% 
 17% 

 20% 
 20% 
 20% 

3 Paid 1st Notice of Non-Payment 
(paid prior to issuance of Violation Notice) 

One Paid Notice 
(30 days of transactions) 

0-20,000 
20,001-40,000 

>40,000 

$     2.50 
$     2.50 
$     2.50 

  13% 
 13% 
 13% 

 15% 
 15% 
 15% 

4 Paid Violation Notice One Paid Notice 
(30 days of transactions) 

0-10,000 
10,001 – 20,000 

>20,000 

$     5.60 
$     5.60 
$     5.60 

  8% 
 8% 
 8% 

 10% 
 10% 
 10% 

5 Paid in Collections Each Transaction Paid 
0-5,000 

5,001 – 10,000 
>10,000 

$     3.52 
$     3.52 
$     3.52 

  0% 
 0% 
 0% 

 5% 
 5% 
 5% 

6 Image Review Transaction N/A N/A 
 

  

7 Court Packets Packet 
0-50 

51-150 
>150 

$  20.00 
$  17.00 
$  15.00 

 
  

 
Notes: 
 
1. Each set of transactions on a bill or notice shall age together. 
2. Cofiroute shall only be paid for one of the pay items for each set of transactions.  That is, once a set of transactions moves from the toll bill to the 1st Notice 

of Non-Payment, the unit prices associated with that service are used to determine payment.  The unit prices for the Paid First Video Bill would no longer 
apply to this set of transactions.  Transactions shall only be charged once, according to the phase in which the transaction was paid.  

3. The unit price will be determined by the aggregate value of transactions (CTRMA, NET RMA, and any other RMA participating through CTRMA 
combined) for the calendar month. 

4. Image reviews will be provided through the Kapsch Agreement.  In the event the Kapsch Agreement is terminated, Cofiroute may perform image reviews at 
rates to be determined pursuant to the Cofiroute Contract.    
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TRANSPONDER TRANSACTION FEES 
 

Transactions submitted to the Central United States Interoperable Hub through CTRMA shall be processed at a cost of $0.05 + 3% of 
the toll for each transaction.  These fees will be deducted from the amounts due to NET RMA.  
 
 
 

IMAGE REVIEW FEES UNDER KAPSCH AGREEMENT 
 

Optical Character Recognition (software program): $.019 per transaction 
Manual review:  $.039 per transaction 

Non-revenue:  $0 per transaction 
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GENERAL MEBTING OF'THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF'THE, NORTH EAST TEXAS

REGIONAL MOBILITY AUTHORITY

RESOLUTION NO. 18-43

WHEREAS, the North East Texas Regional Mobility Authority ("NET RMA") was created
pursuant to the request of Gregg and Smith Counties and in accordance with provisions of the
Transportation Code and the petition and approval process established in 43 Tex. Admin. Code

$ 26.1 , et seq. (the "RMA Rules"); and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the NET RMA has been constituted in accordance with
the Transportation Code and the RMA Rules; and

WHEREAS, subsequent to the initial formation of the NET RMA the Counties of Cherokee,
Rusk, Harrison, Upshur, Bowie, Panola, Titus, Yan Zandt, Wood, and Kaufman joined the
Authority and are represented on the Board of Directors; and

WHEREAS, the Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority ("CTRMA") was created pursuant
to the request of Travis and Williamson Counties and in accordance with provisions of the
Transportation Code and the petition and approval process established in the RMA Rules; and

WHEREAS, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code provides that any one or more public
agencies may contract with each other for the performance of governmental functions or services
in which the contracting parties are mutually interested; and

WHEREAS, Section 370.033 of the Transportation Code provides that regional mobility
authorities may enter into interlocal agreements with other governmental entities; and

WHEREAS, on November 6, 2012 in Resolution No. 12-34, the NET RMA Board of Directors
approved entry into an interlocal agreement with the CTRMA providing for the submission of
transponder-based transactions to the interoperability hub and for processing and collection
services for Pay By Mail transactions of the NET RMA; and

WHEREAS, on September 22,2015, in Resolution No. l5-33, the NET RMA Board of Directors
extended the interlocal agreement with CTRMA; and

WHEREAS, in April 2017, the CTRMA, with support and cooperation from the NET RMA,
initiated the reprocurement of Pay By Mail processing, violation processing, collections, and
customer support (collectively, the "Services"); and

WHEREAS, with input from the NET RMA, the CTRMA selected Cofiroute USA, LLC
("Cofiroute") as the best qualified firm to provide the Services; and
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WHEREAS, the CTRMA has entered into an agreement with Cofiroute to provide the Services
(the "Cofiroute Contract"), and the Cofiroute Contract recognizes that the Services may also be
provided for the benefit of NET RMA; and

WHEREAS, the CTRMA has entered into an agreement with Kapsch TrafficCom USA, Inc. to
provide image review services (the "Image Reviews") necessary for the processing of Pay By
Mail transactions (the "Kapsch Agreement"), and these services may be made available to the
NET RMA through the CTRMA;and

WHEREAS, transponder transactions on NET RMA facilities must be processed through the
Central United States Interoperable Hub (the "Hub"), and CTRMA has previously served as the
conduit for transmitting NET RMA transactions to the Hub; and

WHEREAS, the NET RMA staff and consultants believe that the NET RMA will benefit from
the provision of the Services through the Cofiroute Contract and the Image Reviews through the
Kapsch Agreement, as well as continuing to access the Hub through CTRMA, and therefore it is
in the NET RMA's best interest to enter into a new interlocal agreement with the CTRMA for
the provision of the Services and the Image Reviews, as well as the forwarding of transponder
transactions to the Hub, in the form or substantially the same form attached hereto as Attachment
"4" (the "Interlocal Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Interlocal Agreement protects the interests of the NET RMA and provides a

means for enforcement of the terms of the Cofiroute Contract and Kapsch Agreement through
CTRMA for the benefit of the NET RMA

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors approves the entry into the
Interlocal Agreement between the NET RMA and CTRMA, in the form or substantially the same

form attached hereto as Attachment "A"; and

BE, IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Executive Director is authorized to execute the
Interlocal Agreement between the NET RMA and CTRMA on behalf of the NET RMA.

Adopted by the Board of Directors of the North East Texas Regional Mobility Authority on the
l4th day of August, 2018.

Submitted and reviewed by Approved:

/ fi*-''* Éo * 'flo-^o;
C. Brian Cassidy
General Counsel for the North East
Texas Regional Mobility Authority

Linda Ryan Th6mas
Chair, Board of Directors
Date Passed: 08/14118
Resolution No. 18-43
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CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING & INSPECTION 

SERVICES 

Cost Plus, 

Unit Cost, Lump Sum, or Specified Rate 

Specific Deliverable with Work Authorizations 

 

 THIS CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING & INSPECTION 

SERVICES (the “Contract”) is made by and between the Central Texas Regional Mobility 

Authority, 3300 N. I-35, Suite 300, Austin, Texas 78705, (the “Authority,”) and HDR, Inc. having 

its principal business address at 810 Hesters Crossing Suite 120 Round Rock, TX 78681 (the 

“Engineer”). 

 

WITNESSETH 

 WHEREAS, the Authority desires to contract for services generally described as 

construction, engineering and inspection services, and more specifically described in Article I (the 

“Services”); and, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to a qualifications-based selection conducted in accordance with the 

Professional Services Procurement Act (Tex. Gov’t Code Sec. 2254.001, et. seq.), and the 

Authority’s Policy Code regarding the procurement of professional services, the Authority has 

selected the Engineer to provide the needed Services; and 

 WHEREAS, the Engineer has agreed to provide the Services subject to the terms and 

conditions hereinafter set forth. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Authority and the Engineer, in consideration of the mutual 

covenants and agreements herein contained, do hereby mutually agree as follows. 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

ARTICLE 1 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 The Engineer will furnish items and perform those Services for fulfillment of the Contract 

as identified in Exhibit B of the Attachment B - Work Authorization(s) (the “Services”). All 

Services provided by the Engineer shall comply with the terms and conditions of this Contract and 

any Work Authorizations issued pursuant hereto. 

 

ARTICLE 2 

COMPENSATION 

Compensation for the Engineer’s Services and other aspects of the mutual obligations 

concerning the Engineer’s Services and payment therefore are as follows: 
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A. Basis for Compensation.  

The compensation type(s) to be used shall be specified in the Work Authorization issued pursuant 

to Article 4.  Compensation types can include: 

(1) Cost Plus  

Subject to the terms of a Work Authorization issued pursuant to Article 4 below 

(including any maximum amount to be paid as stated therein), the Authority agrees 

to pay, and the Engineer agrees to accept as full and sufficient compensation and 

reimbursement for the performance of all Services as set forth in this Contract, 

hourly rates for the staff working on the assignment computed as follows:  

 Direct Labor Cost x (1.0 + OH Rate) x (1.0 + Profit %, in decimal form) 

where Direct Labor Cost equals employee’s actual annual salary divided by 2080 

hours per year (subject to any applicable cap); OH Rate equals the Engineer’s most 

recent auditable overhead rate under 48 C.F.R. Part 31, Federal Acquisition 

Regulations (FAR) or otherwise approved overhead rate pursuant to this subsection 

2.A; and Profit % reflects a ten percent (10%) profit. No increase shall be made to 

the specified profit percentage. 

The Direct Labor Cost caps for the classifications of employees working for the 

Authority as of the effective date of this Contract are reflected in Attachment A-1. 

Revisions to Direct Labor Cost caps for employee classifications and the auditable 

overhead rate may be proposed no more frequently than once per calendar year, 

and no sooner than 12 months after contract execution, and are subject to the written 

approval of the Executive Director or his designee. 

The actual annual salaries for employees working greater than 80 hours/month for 

the Authority are reflected in Attachment A-2. Revisions to actual annual salaries 

may be proposed no more frequently than once per calendar year, and no sooner 

than 12 months after contract execution, and are subject to the written approval of 

the Executive Director or his designee.  Actual annual salaries shall not increase 

more than 3% annually.   

 The Authority shall have the right to review and/or audit the Engineer’s Direct 

Labor Costs and auditable overhead rates upon written request. Once approved, the 

range of Direct Labor Costs and auditable overhead rate will be used going forward 

until the next annual adjustment is requested and approved. Changes to the 

auditable overhead rate will not be applied retroactively to Direct Labor Costs 

incurred in the previous year. If the Engineer or a subconsultant of the Engineer 

does not have a FAR Part 31 overhead rate, they may submit, for Authority 

approval, alternate documentation supporting an appropriate auditable overhead 

rate.  If an auditable overhead rate is not submitted or available, fixed hourly rates 

must be submitted per subsection 2. A.4.  During the term of this Contract the 

Engineer shall provide to the Executive Director or his designee, prior to requesting 
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any adjustment to its auditable overhead rate, a copy of the report establishing a 

new FAR Part 31 rate for the Engineer.  

The payment of the hourly rates and allowed costs shall constitute full payment for 

all Services, liaisons, products, materials, and equipment required to deliver the 

Services. 

(2) Unit Cost  

The Authority agrees to pay the Engineer an agreed upon unit price times the 

number of units completed for each billing. This method of payment is generally 

reserved for work which has a definable work product but the quantity is uncertain 

and the Engineer assumes the risks for all costs. Each invoice submitted shall 

identify the specific contract task(s) listed in Exhibit B and the completed work 

product/deliverable for the agreed upon price listed in Exhibit D Fee Schedule. 

(3) Lump Sum  

The Authority agrees to pay Engineer a Lump Sum amount for the specified 

category of services. 

The Lump Sum will include compensation for Engineer's services and services of 

sub consultants, if any. Appropriate amounts will be incorporated in the Lump Sum 

to account for labor, overhead, profit, and Reimbursable Expenses. 

The portion of the Lump Sum amount billed for Engineer's services will be based 

upon Engineer's estimate, as approved by the Authority, of the proportion of the 

total services actually completed during the billing period to the Lump Sum. 

(4) Specified Rate 

For the specified category of services, the Owner shall pay Engineer an amount 

equal to the cumulative hours charged to the specific project by each class of 

Engineer's employees times Standard Hourly Rates for each applicable billing class 

for all services performed on the specific project, plus Reimbursable Expenses and 

sub consultant's charges, if any. 

Standard Hourly Rates include salaries and wages paid to personnel in each billing 

class plus the cost of customary and statutory benefits, general and administrative 

overhead, non-project operating costs, and operating margin or profit. 

Engineer's Reimbursable Expenses Schedule and Standard Hourly Rates are 

attached are included in Attachment A-1. 

The total estimated compensation for the specified category of services shall be 

stated in the Work Authorization. This total estimated compensation will 

incorporate all labor at Standard Hourly Rates, Reimbursable Expenses, and sub 

consultants' charges, if any. 

The amounts billed will be based on the cumulative hours charged to the specified 

category of services during the billing period by each class of Engineer's employees 
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times Standard Hourly Rates for each applicable billing class, plus Reimbursable 

Expenses and Engineer's sub consultant's charges, if any. 

Revisions to the Standard Hourly Rates may be proposed no more frequently than 

once per calendar year, and no sooner than 12 months after contract execution, and 

are subject to written approval of the Executive Director or his designee.  

B. Limitations on Rates Utilized. FOR COST PLUS, The Engineer represents that 

at all times, subject to the limitations on timing and approval in subsection 2.A, throughout the 

term of this Contract that it shall not use an auditable overhead rate that exceeds the rate determined 

in accordance with FAR Part 31 (or successor regulations); and shall be based on actual salary 

amounts for the individuals performing the Services; that the Direct Labor Costs shall not exceed 

the caps reflected in Attachment A-1 and shall be based on actual salary amounts for the 

individuals performing the Services. Individuals working on the project will be required to be 

invoiced at the approved field overhead rate unless approved, in advance, by the Authority. 

 

C. Reimbursable Expenses.  As indicated above, and subject to the terms of any 

Work Authorization, the compensation computed in accordance with subsections 2.A. and B. is 

anticipated by the Authority and the Engineer to be full and sufficient compensation and 

reimbursement for the Services, and includes all customary out-of-pocket expenses anticipated to 

result from the Engineer’s performance under the Contract that are included in the computation of 

the approved overhead rate. Construction plans sets will be provided to the Engineer in electronic 

format, only, and the printing of plan sets will not be reimbursed by the Authority.  Roadway tolls 

incurred by Engineer or any of its subconsultants in connection with the performance of the 

Services will not be a reimbursable expense under this contract. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

the Engineer shall be entitled to reimbursement for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses actually 

incurred by the Engineer that are necessary for the performance of its duties under this Contract 

and which are not included in the approved overhead rate, said expenses being limited to travel 

costs at the Current State Rate, printing costs for specified reports and deliverables (not 

construction plan sets), automobile expenses being reimbursed at the federal mileage rates for 

travel originating from the office of the Engineer employee or subconsultant, and other expenses 

directly approved, in advance, by the Executive Director or his designee. Except for automobile 

expenses paid at the federal mileage rate and travel paid at Current State Rate (if available), all 

such reimbursement shall be at one-hundred percent (100%) of the actual cost thereof paid by the 

Engineer to unaffiliated entities; provided, however, that aggregate amounts in excess of $2,500 

for which the Engineer intends to seek reimbursement pursuant to this subsection must be 

approved in advance and in writing by the Executive Director or his designee, except when such 

advance approval is impractical due to a bona fide emergency situation. Except as otherwise 

authorized in a executed Work Authorization, and only then to the extent reimbursable by the 

Texas Department of Transportation (“TxDOT”) under the terms of any form of financial 

assistance agreement, the Authority shall not reimburse the Engineer for travel, lodging, and 

similar expenses incurred by the Engineer to bring additional staff to its local office or to otherwise 

reassign personnel to provide basic engineering support of the Engineer’s performance of the 

Services, provided, however, that the Authority shall reimburse, but only in accordance with the 

terms of this subsection, such costs incurred by the Engineer to bring to its local office or the 

Authority’s facilities, with advance approval by the Executive Director or his designee, staff with 
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specialized skills or expertise required for the Services and not customarily available from a staff 

providing services of the type described in this Contract. 

Engineer acknowledges that all expenses and costs paid or reimbursed by the Authority using 

federal or state funds shall be paid or reimbursed in accordance with, and subject to, applicable 

policies of the Authority and other applicable state and federal laws, including the applicable 

requirements of OMB Circular A-87, which may reduce the amount of expenses and costs 

reimbursed to less than what was actually incurred. 

At the Authority’s sole option, and approved in a Work Authorization pursuant to Article 4, the 

Engineer may charge vehicles used for the Project on a lump sum monthly basis.  The monthly 

lump sum amount shall include all vehicle expenses including:  ownership, insurance, fuel, 

maintenance, title, registration and all other operating and maintenance expenses.    

 

At the Authority’s sole option, and approved in a Work Authorization pursuant to Article 4, the 

Engineer may charge Reimbursable Expenses for the Project on a lump sum monthly basis.  The 

monthly lump sum amount shall be considered full compensation for all expenses incurred by the 

Engineer in performance of the Work.    

 

 

D. Subconsultants.  For the purposes of this Contract, a “subconsultant” is an 

individual or entity contracted by the Engineer to provide services related to or part of those which 

the Engineer owes to the Authority under this Contract. The Engineer may engage a subconsultant 

to provide services, and the Authority will reimburse the Engineer for the Engineer’s cost of 

engaging the subconsultant for those services, if the Engineer provides a written description of the 

proposed services and the proposed price (using rates approved in Attachment A-1), to the 

Authority before the services are provided and the Authority has provided to the Engineer a written 

approval for the services and the proposed price. If an approved subconsultant bills on an hourly 

rate, each invoice from the subconsultant submitted to the Authority for reimbursement must report 

the tasks performed by each billing person and the amount of time spent performing the task. The 

Engineer may not charge a mark-up or commission on a subconsultant’s invoice, and the Authority 

will not reimburse the Engineer in an amount that exceeds the price proposal from the 

subconsultant that was approved by the Authority. 

 

E. Non-compensable Time.  Time spent by the Engineer’s personnel or 

subconsultants in an administrative or supervisory capacity not related to the performance of the 

Services is not compensable and shall not be billed to the Authority. Time spent on work in excess 

of what would reasonably be considered appropriate under industry standards for the performance 

of such Services is not compensable, unless that additional time spent resulted from the Authority’s 

delay in providing information, materials, feedback, or other necessary cooperation to the 

Engineer. The Authority will not pay any hourly compensation to the Engineer for Services or 

deliverables required due to an error, omission, or fault of the Engineer. 
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F. Taxes.  All payments to be made by the Authority to the Engineer pursuant to this 

Contract are inclusive of federal, state, or other taxes, if any, however designated, levied, or based. 

The Authority acknowledges and represents that it is a tax-exempt entity under Sections 151.309, 

et seq., of the Texas Tax Code. Title to any consumable items purchased by the Engineer in 

performing this Contract shall be deemed to have passed to the Authority at the time the Engineer 

takes possession or earlier, and such consumable items shall immediately be marked, labeled, or 

physically identified as the property of the Authority, to the extent practicable. 

 

ARTICLE 3 

INVOICE REQUIREMENTS 

A. Invoices and Records.  The Engineer shall submit its monthly invoices certifying 

the fees charged and any Reimbursable Expenses for Services provided during the previous month, 

and shall also present a reconciliation of monthly invoices (and related estimates) to which the 

work relates. Each invoice shall be in such detail as is required by the Authority and, if the work 

is eligible for payment through an agreement with the Texas Department of Transportation 

(“TxDOT”), in such detail as TxDOT may require, including a breakdown of Services provided 

on a project-by-project basis, together with other Services requested by the Authority, with the 

Engineer provided advance notice of such TxDOT requirements. Upon request of the Authority, 

the Engineer shall also submit certified time and expense records directly related to Services 

provided to the Authority, and copies of invoices that support invoiced fees and Reimbursable 

Expenses. All invoices must be consistent with the rates established by this Contract. Unless 

waived in writing by the Executive Director, or his designee, no invoice may contain, and the 

Authority will not be required to pay, any charge for billable hours which is more than (90) days 

old at the time of invoicing. 

 

B. Form of Invoices. The invoice shall show: (1) the Work Authorization number for 

each Work Authorization included in the billing; (2) the total amount earned thru the billing period; 

and (3) the amount due and payable as of the date of the current billing statement for each Work 

Authorization. The invoice shall indicate if the work has been completed or if the invoice is for 

partial completion of the work. The invoice shall be in the form provided by the Authority. 

 

C. DBE Forms.  The Engineer will be responsible for completing and including with 

each invoice all TxDOT required DBE reporting forms included in Exhibits E, and F of   

Attachment B - Work Authorization(s). 

  

D. Time and place of payment.  Upon receipt of an invoice that complies with all 

invoice requirements set forth in this Contract, the Authority shall make a good faith effort to pay 

the amount, which is due and payable within thirty (30) days, provided that if all or a portion of 

the Services reflected in the invoice are to be reimbursed by TxDOT through an agreement 

between TxDOT and the Authority, the Authority shall make a good faith effort to pay such 

amounts within thirty (30) days of receipt of such payments from TxDOT. If the Authority 

disputes a request for payment by the Engineer, the Authority agrees to pay any undisputed 

portion of the invoice when due. Any such dispute must be detailed in writing within 30 days 
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after the Authority’s receipt of the monthly invoice. The Engineer reserves the right to stop 

work under this Contract if payments are not timely made per the terms of this Contract. 

 

E. Withholding Payments. The Authority reserves the right to withhold payment of 

the Engineer's invoice in the event of any of the following: (1) if a dispute over the work or costs 

thereof is not resolved within a thirty (30) day period following receipt of the invoice; (2) pending 

verification of satisfactory work performed; or (3) if required reports (including third-party 

verifications, if any) are not received. 

 

F. Invoice and Progress Report Submittal Process. The protocol for invoice and 

progress report submittal, review, and approval will be as follows: 

(1) The invoice submittal shall include: 

o Progress report 

o Forecast for completion of the scope 

o Invoice 

o Supporting documents as requested 

(2) A progress report shall be submitted to Authority at least once each calendar 

month; 

(3) In the event that invoices are not submitted on a monthly basis, a monthly 

submittal of the progress report information will be required nevertheless; 

(4) The invoice submittal shall not be later than the 10th day of the month 

following service; 

(5) The Authority and/or the Authority’s GEC (as defined below) will review 

the invoices for supporting documentation, compliance with the Contract, 

and consistency with the submitted progress report; 

(6) The invoice will either be recommended for approval by Authority and/or 

GEC, or the Authority and/or GEC will return it to the Engineer for required 

correction; and 

(7) Upon satisfactory review and approval of the invoice, the Authority will 

submit it to the Authority CFO for payment. 

 

 

G. Effect of Payments.  No payment by the Authority shall relieve the Engineer of its 

obligation to deliver timely the Services required under this Contract. If, prior to acceptance of any 

Service, product or other deliverable, the Authority determines that said Service, product or 

deliverable does not satisfy the requirements of this Contract, the Authority may reject same and 
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require the Engineer to correct or cure same within a reasonable period of time and at no additional 

cost to the Authority. 

H. Audit. The Authority shall have the right to examine the books and records of the 

Engineer for the purpose of checking the amount of work performed by the Engineer. The 

Engineer shall maintain all books, documents, papers, accounting records and other evidence 

pertaining to cost incurred and shall make such materials available at its office during the 

Contract period and for four (4) years from the date of final payment under this Contract or until 

any pending litigation has been completely and fully resolved and the Authority approves of the 

destruction of records, whichever occurs last. The Authority or any of its duly authorized 

representatives, TxDOT, the Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”), the United States 

Department of Transportation Office of Inspector General and the Comptroller General shall 

have access to any and all books, documents, papers and records of the Engineer which are 

directly pertinent to this Contract for the purpose of making audits, examinations, excerpts and 

transcriptions. 

 

 

ARTICLE 4 

WORK AUTHORIZATIONS 

A. Use.  Services performed shall be in strict accordance with the scope, schedule, and 

budget set forth in each Work Authorization issued pursuant to this Contract, and no Services shall 

be performed which are not the subject of a validly issued Work Authorization. The Authority will 

issue Work Authorizations using the form attached as Attachment B to authorize all work under 

this Contract. No work shall begin on the activity until the Work Authorization is approved and 

fully executed. All work must be completed on or before the completion date specified in the Work 

Authorization. 

 

B. Contents. Each Work Authorization shall include: (1) types of Services to be 

performed and a full description of the work required to perform those Services (2) a full 

description of general administration tasks exclusive to that Work Authorization (3) a work 

schedule (including beginning and ending dates) with milestones;  (4) the basis of payment 

whether cost plus fixed fee, unit cost, lump sum, or specified rate;  (5) a Work Authorization 

budget as described in subsection C below ; and (6) DBE Requirements. The Engineer shall not 

include additional contract terms and conditions in the Work Authorization. 

  

C. Work Authorization Budget. A Work Authorization budget shall be prepared by 

the Engineer and shall set forth in detail the following:  (1) the computation of the estimated cost 

of the work as described in the Work Authorization; (2) the estimated time (hours/days) required 

to complete the work using the fees set forth in Attachment A-1; (3) a work plan that includes a 

list of the work to be performed; and (4) a maximum cost (not-to-exceed) amount or unit or lump 

sum cost and the total cost or price of the Work Authorization as defined in the Work 

Authorization. 
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D. No Guaranteed Work. Work Authorizations will be issued at the sole discretion 

of the Authority. While it is the Authority's intent to issue Work Authorizations hereunder, the 

Engineer shall have no cause of action conditioned upon the lack or number of Work 

Authorizations issued. 

E. Incorporation into Contract. Each Work Authorization shall be signed by both 

parties and become a part of the Contract. No Work Authorization will waive the Authority's or 

the Engineer's responsibilities and obligations established in this Contract. The Engineer shall 

promptly notify the Authority of any event that will affect completion of the Work Authorization 

in accordance with the terms thereof. 

F. Supplemental Work Authorizations. Before additional work may be performed 

or additional costs incurred beyond those authorized in a Work Authorization, a change in a Work 

Authorization shall be enacted by a written Supplemental Work Authorization in the form 

identified and attached hereto as Attachment C. Supplemental Work Authorizations, if required, 

must be executed by both parties within the period of performance specified in the Work 

Authorization. The Engineer shall allow adequate time for review and approval of the 

Supplemental Work Authorization by the Authority. 

(1) Notice. If the Engineer is of the opinion that any assigned work is beyond 

the scope of this Contract and constitutes additional work beyond the Services to 

be provided under this Contract, it shall promptly notify the Authority and submit 

written justification presenting the facts of the work and demonstrating how the 

work constitutes supplementary work. 

(2) Changes in Scope. Changes that would modify the scope of the work 

authorized in a Work Authorization must be enacted by a written Supplemental 

Work Authorization. If the change in scope affects the amount payable under the 

Work Authorization, the Engineer shall prepare a revised Work Authorization 

budget for the Authority's approval. The Authority shall analyze the proposed 

justification, work hour estimate and cost. Upon approval of the need, the Authority 

shall negotiate the Supplemental Work Authorization scope with the Engineer, and 

then process the final Supplemental Work Authorization, subject to final written 

approval by the Authority. 

(3) Limitation of Liability. The Authority shall not be responsible for actions 

by the Engineer or any costs incurred by the Engineer relating to additional work 

not directly associated with or prior to the execution of a Supplemental Work 

Authorization. 

 

G. Deliverables. Upon satisfactory completion of the Work Authorization, the 

Engineer shall submit the deliverables as specified in the executed Work Authorization to the 

Authority for review and acceptance. 
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ARTICLE 5 

SCHEDULE 

A. Progress meetings. As required and detailed in the Work Authorizations, the 

Engineer shall from time to time during the progress of the work confer with the Authority. The 

Engineer shall prepare and present such information as may be pertinent and necessary or as may 

be requested by the Authority in order to evaluate features of the work. 

 

B. Conferences. At the request of the Authority or the Engineer and as required and 

detailed in the Work Authorizations, conferences shall be provided at the Engineer's office, the 

office of the Authority, or at other locations designated by the Authority. These conferences shall 

also include evaluation of the Engineer's Services and work when requested by the Authority. 

 

C. Reports. The Engineer shall promptly advise the Authority in writing of events that 

have a significant impact upon the progress of a Work Authorization, including:  

(1) problems, delays, adverse conditions that will materially affect the ability 

to meet the time schedules and goals, or preclude the attainment of project work units by 

established time periods; this disclosure will be accompanied by a statement of the action taken or 

contemplated, and any Authority or federal assistance needed to resolve the situation; and 

(2) favorable developments or events that enable meeting the work schedule 

goals sooner than anticipated.  

 

D. Corrective Action. Should the Authority determine that the progress of work does 

not satisfy the milestone schedule set forth in a Work Authorization, the Authority shall review 

the work schedule with the Engineer to determine the nature of corrective action needed. 

 

E. More Time Needed. If the Engineer determines or reasonably anticipates that the 

work authorized in a Work Authorization cannot be completed within the work schedule contained 

therein, the Engineer shall promptly notify the Authority and shall follow the procedure set forth 

in the Work Authorization. The Authority may, at its sole discretion, modify the work schedule to 

incorporate an extension of time. 

 

ARTICLE 6 

SUSPENSION OF WORK AUTHORIZATION 

A. Notice. Should the Authority desire to suspend a Work Authorization but not 

terminate the Contract, the Authority may verbally notify the Engineer followed by written 

confirmation, giving fifteen (15) days prior notice. Both parties may waive the fifteen (15) day 

notice requirement in writing. 
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B. Reinstatement. A Work Authorization may be reinstated and resumed in full force 

and effect within sixty (60) days of receipt of written notice from the Authority to resume the work. 

Both parties may waive the sixty (60) day notice in writing. 

 

C. Limitation of Liability. The Authority shall have no liability for work performed 

or costs incurred prior to the date authorized by the Authority to begin work, during periods 

when work is suspended, or after the completion of the Contract or Work Authorization. 

 

ARTICLE 7 

CHANGES IN WORK 

A. Work Previously Submitted as Satisfactory. If the Engineer has submitted work 

in accordance with the terms of this Contract and Work Authorization(s) but the Authority requests 

changes to the completed work or parts thereof which involve changes to the original scope of 

services or character of work under the Contract and Work Authorization(s), the Engineer shall 

make such revisions as requested and as directed by the Authority, provided the work is reflected 

in a Supplemental Work Authorization. 

 

B. Work Does Not Comply with Contract. If the Engineer submits work that does 

not comply with the terms of this Contract or Work Authorization(s), the Authority shall instruct 

the Engineer to make such revision as is necessary to bring the work into compliance with the 

Contract or Work Authorization(s). No additional compensation shall be paid for this work. 

 

C. Errors/Omissions. The Engineer shall make revisions to the work authorized in 

this Contract or Work Authorization(s) that are necessary to correct errors or omissions appearing 

therein, when required to do so by the Authority. No additional compensation shall be paid for this 

work. 

 

ARTICLE 8 

OWNERSHIP OF DATA 

A. Work for Hire. All services provided under this Contract are considered work for 

hire and, as such, all data, basic sketches, charts, calculations, plans, specifications, electronic files, 

and other documents created or collected under the terms of this Contract are the property of the 

Authority. 

 

B. Disposition of Documents. All documents and electronic files prepared by the 

Engineer and all documents furnished to the Engineer by the Authority shall be delivered to the 

Authority upon request by the Authority. The Engineer, at its own expense, may retain copies of 

such documents or any other data which it has furnished the Authority under this Contract, but 

further use of the data is subject to express written permission by the Authority. 
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C. Release of Design Plan. The Engineer (1) will not release any design plan created 

or collected under this Contract except to its subconsultants as necessary to complete the Contract; 

(2) shall include a provision in all subcontracts which acknowledges the Authority’s ownership of 

the design plan and prohibits its use for any use other than the project identified in this Contract; 

and (3) is responsible for any improper use of the design plan by its employees, officers, or 

subconsultants, including costs, damages, or other liability resulting from improper use. Neither 

the Engineer nor any subconsultants may charge a fee for any portion of the design plan created 

by the Authority. 

ARTICLE 9 

PUBLIC INFORMATION AND CONFIDENTIALITY 

A. Public Information. The Authority will comply with Government Code, Chapter 

552, the Public Information Act, in the release of information produced under this Contract. 

 

B. Confidentiality. The Engineer shall not disclose information obtained from the 

Authority under this Contract without the express written consent of the Authority. All employees 

of the Engineer and its subconsultants working on the Project are required to sign a confidentiality 

agreement. 

 

ARTICLE 10 

PERSONNEL, EQUIPMENT AND MATERIAL 

A. Engineer Resources. The Engineer shall furnish and maintain quarters for the 

performance of all Services, in addition to providing adequate and sufficient personnel and 

equipment to perform the Services required under the Contract. The Engineer certifies that it 

presently has adequate qualified personnel in its employment for performance of the Services 

required under this Contract, or it will be able to obtain such personnel from sources other than the 

Authority. 

 

B. Removal of Employee. All employees of the Engineer assigned to this Contract 

shall have such knowledge and experience as will enable them to perform the duties assigned to 

them. The Authority may instruct the Engineer to remove any employee from association with 

work authorized in this Contract if, in the sole opinion of the Authority, the work of that employee 

does not comply with the terms of this Contract or if the conduct of that employee becomes 

detrimental to the work. 

C. Authority Approval of Replacement Personnel. The Engineer may not replace 

the Key Personnel, as designated in the applicable Work Authorization, without prior written 

approval of the Authority. If any Key Personnel cease to work on this Contract, the Engineer must 

notify the Authority in writing as soon as possible, but in any event within (3) three business days.  

The notification must give the reason for removal.  The Engineer must receive written approval 

from the Authority of proposed replacement Key Personnel.  The Authority’s approval will be 

based upon the proposed replacement Key Personnel qualifications to provide the required 

services.  Approval will not be unreasonably withheld. 
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Violation of this Section by the Engineer is a material breach of contract. 

 

D. Liquidated Damages. Because of the importance and unique nature of the services 

to be provided by Key Personnel it is impractical to calculate the actual losses that would be 

suffered by the Authority by the loss of Key Personnel from the Contract.  Therefore, the Engineer 

agrees to compensate the Authority for its losses by paying liquidated damages in the amount of 

$2,500 per day per Key Personnel position if any Key Personnel are removed by the Engineer by 

reassignment without prior written approval from the Authority.  Liquidated damages may accrue 

from the date the Engineer removes the Key Personnel from the Contract if the parties do not agree 

on a replacement within (14) calendar days after the Key Personnel are removed from the Contract.  

Liquidated damages shall cease when the parties agree on a substitute or when the Contract is 

terminated. 

 

(1)  

 

E. Ownership of Acquired Property. Except to the extent that a specific provision 

of this Contract states to the contrary, the Authority shall own all intellectual property acquired or 

developed under this Contract and all equipment purchased by the Engineer or its subconsultants 

under this Contract. All intellectual property and equipment owned by the Authority shall be 

delivered to the Authority when the Contract or applicable Work Authorization terminates, or 

when it is no longer needed for work performed under this Contract, whichever occurs first. 

 

ARTICLE 11 

SUBCONTRACTING 

A. Prior Approval. The Engineer shall not assign, subcontract, or transfer any portion 

of professional services related to the work under this Contract unless specified in an executed 

Work Authorization or otherwise without first obtaining the prior written approval from the 

Authority. Request for approval should include a written description of the proposed services, and, 

using rates established in Attachment A-1, a proposed price. 

 

B. DBE Compliance. The Engineer’s subcontracting program shall comply with the 

requirements of Exhibits E, and F of Attachment B - Work Authorization(s). 

 

C. Required Provisions. All subcontracts for professional services shall include the 

provisions included in this Contract and any provisions required by law. The Engineer is 

authorized to pay subconsultants in accordance with the terms of the subcontract. 

 

D. Engineer Responsibilities. No subcontract shall relieve the Engineer of any of its 

responsibilities under this Contract and of any liability for work performed under this Contract, 

even if performed by a subconsultant or other third party performing work for or on behalf of the 

Engineer. 
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E. Invoice Approval and Processing. All subconsultants shall prepare and submit 

their invoices on the same billing cycle and format as the Engineer (so as to be included in invoices 

submitted by the Engineer), and in the event that the cycles are not concurrent, a detailed 

explanation will be submitted to the Authority. 

 

ARTICLE 12 

INSPECTION OF WORK 

A. Review Rights. Under this Contract, the Authority, TxDOT, and the U.S. 

Department of Transportation, and any authorized representative of the Authority, TxDOT, or the 

U.S. Department of Transportation, shall have the right at all reasonable times to review or 

otherwise evaluate the work performed hereunder and the premises in which it is being performed. 

 

B. Reasonable Access. If any review or evaluation is made on the premises of the 

Engineer or a subconsultant under this Article, the Engineer shall provide and require its 

subconsultants to provide all reasonable facilities and assistance for the safety and convenience of 

the persons performing the review in the performance of their duties. 

 

ARTICLE 13 

SUBMISSION OF REPORTS 

 All applicable study reports shall be submitted in preliminary form for approval by the 

Authority before a final report is issued. The Authority's comments on the Engineer's preliminary 

report must be addressed in the final report. 

 

ARTICLE 14 

VIOLATION OF CONTRACT TERMS 

A. Increased Costs. Violation of contract terms, breach of contract, or default by the 

Engineer shall be grounds for termination of the Contract, and any increased or additional cost 

incurred by the Authority arising from the Engineer's default, breach of contract or violation of 

contract terms shall be paid by the Engineer. 

 

B. Remedies. This Contract shall not be considered as specifying the exclusive 

remedy for any default, but all remedies existing at law and in equity may be availed of by either 

party and shall be cumulative. 

 

C. Excusable Delays. Except with respect to defaults of subconsultants, the Engineer 

shall not be in default by reason of any failure in performance of this Contract in accordance with 

its terms (including any failure to progress in the performance of the work) if such failure arises 

out of causes beyond the control and without the default or negligence of the Engineer. Such causes 

may include, but are not restricted to, acts of God or the public enemy, acts of the Government in 
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either its sovereign or contractual capacity, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, 

freight embargoes, and unusually severe weather. 

 

ARTICLE 15 

TERMINATION 

A. Termination. The Contract may be terminated by any of the following conditions: 

(1) by mutual agreement and consent, in writing from both parties; 

(2) by the Authority by notice in writing to the Engineer as a consequence of 

failure by the Engineer to perform the Services set forth herein in a satisfactory manner or if the 

Engineer violates the provisions of Article 22, Gratuities, or Exhibit E to Attachment B, DBE 

Requirements; 

(3) by either party, upon the failure of the other party to fulfill its obligations as 

set forth herein, following thirty (30) days written notice and opportunity to cure; 

(4) by the Authority for its convenience and in its sole discretion, not subject to 

the consent of the Engineer, by giving thirty (30) days written notice of termination to the 

Engineer; or 

(5) by satisfactory completion of all services and obligations described herein. 

 

B. Measurement. Should the Authority terminate this Contract as herein provided, no 

fees other than fees due and payable at the time of termination shall thereafter be paid to the 

Engineer. In determining the value of the work performed by the Engineer prior to termination, 

the Authority shall be the sole judge. Compensation for work at termination will be based on a 

percentage of the work completed at that time. Should the Authority terminate this Contract under 

paragraph A (3) or (4) above, the Engineer shall not incur costs during the thirty-day notice period 

in excess of the amount incurred during the preceding thirty (30) days and only as necessary to 

terminate the work in progress. 

 

C. Value of Completed Work. If the Engineer defaults in the performance of this 

Contract or if the Authority terminates this Contract for fault on the part of the Engineer, the 

Authority will give consideration to the following when calculating the value of the completed 

work:  (1) the actual costs incurred (not to exceed the rates set forth in the applicable Work 

Authorization) by the Engineer in performing the work to the date of default; (2) the amount of 

work required which was satisfactorily completed to date of default; (3) the value of the work 

which is usable to the Authority; (4) the cost to the Authority of employing another firm to 

complete the required work; (5) the time required to employ another firm to complete the work; 

(6) delays in opening a revenue generating project and costs (including lost revenues) resulting 

therefrom; and (7) other factors which affect the value to the Authority of the work performed. 

 

D. Calculation of Payments. The Authority shall use the fee structure established by 

the applicable Work Authorization in determining the value of the work performed up to the time 
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of termination. In the event that a cost plus fixed fee basis of payment is utilized in a Work 

Authorization, any portion of the fixed fee not previously paid in the partial payments shall not be 

included in the final payment. 

 

E. Surviving Requirements. The termination of this Contract and payment of an 

amount in settlement as prescribed above shall extinguish the rights, duties, and obligations of the 

Authority and the Engineer under this Contract, except for those provisions that establish 

responsibilities that extend beyond the Contract period, including without limitation the provisions 

of Article 17. 

 

F. Payment of Additional Costs. If termination of this Contract is due to the failure 

of the Engineer to fulfill its Contract obligations, the Authority may take over the project and 

prosecute the work to completion, and the Engineer shall be liable to the Authority for any 

additional cost to the Authority. 

ARTICLE 16 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

 The Engineer shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes, codes, 

ordinances, rules and regulations, and the orders and decrees of any court, or administrative bodies 

or tribunals in any manner affecting the performance of this Contract, including, without 

limitation, worker's compensation laws, minimum and maximum salary and wage statutes and 

regulations, nondiscrimination, licensing laws and regulations, the Authority’s enabling legislation 

(Chapter 370 of the Texas Transportation Code), and all amendments and modifications to any of 

the foregoing, if any. When required, the Engineer shall furnish the Authority with satisfactory 

proof of its compliance therewith. 

 

ARTICLE 17 

INDEMNIFICATION 

THE ENGINEER SHALL INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE 

AUTHORITY AND ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, ENGINEERS, AND 

AGENTS (WHICH, FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS CONTRACT, SHALL INCLUDE 

THE AUTHORITY’S GEC, GENERAL COUNSEL, BOND COUNSEL, FINANCIAL 

ADVISORS, TRAFFIC AND REVENUE  ENGINEERS, TOLL 

OPERATIONS/COLLECTIONS FIRMS, AND UNDERWRITERS) FROM ANY 

CLAIMS, COSTS, OR LIABILITIES OF ANY TYPE OR NATURE AND BY OR TO ANY 

PERSONS WHOMSOEVER, TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY THE NEGLIGENT ACTS, 

ERRORS, OR OMISSIONS OF THE ENGINEER OR ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, 

EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE ENGINEER’S 

PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK TO BE ACCOMPLISHED UNDER THIS 

CONTRACT. IN SUCH EVENT, THE ENGINEER SHALL ALSO INDEMNIFY AND 

HOLD HARMLESS THE AUTHORITY, ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, 

ENGINEERS, AND AGENTS (AS DEFINED ABOVE) FROM ANY AND ALL 

REASONABLE AND NECESSARY EXPENSES, INCLUDING REASONABLE 

ATTORNEYS’ FEES, INCURRED BY THE AUTHORITY IN LITIGATING OR 
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OTHERWISE RESISTING SAID CLAIMS, COSTS OR LIABILITIES. IN THE EVENT 

THE AUTHORITY, ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, ENGINEERS, AND 

AGENTS (AS DEFINED ABOVE), IS/ARE FOUND TO BE PARTIALLY AT FAULT, 

THE ENGINEER SHALL, NEVERTHELESS, INDEMNIFY THE AUTHORITY FROM 

AND AGAINST THE PERCENTAGE OF FAULT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 

ENGINEER OR ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS OR TO 

THEIR CONDUCT. 

 

ARTICLE 18 

ROLE OF GENERAL ENGINEERING CONSULTANT 

The Authority will utilize a General Engineering Consultant (“GEC”) to assist in its 

management of this Contract. The GEC is an independent contractor and is authorized by the 

Authority to provide the management and technical direction for this Contract on behalf of the 

Authority. All the technical and administrative provisions of the Contract shall be managed by the 

GEC, and the Engineer shall comply with all of the GEC’s directives that are within the purview 

of the Contract. Decisions concerning Contract amendments and adjustments, such as time 

extensions and Supplemental Work Authorizations, shall be made by the Authority; however, 

requests for such amendments or adjustments shall be made through the GEC, who shall forward 

such requests to the Authority with its comments and recommendations.  

Should any dispute arise between the General Engineering Consultant and the Engineer, 

concerning the conduct of this Contract, either party may request a resolution of said dispute by 

the Executive Director of the Authority or his designee, whose decision shall be final. The parties 

shall first try to resolve the dispute at the lowest level practical. In the event that an agreement 

cannot be reached, the Engineer may schedule a meeting with the GEC Manager. If an agreement 

cannot be reached at this level, then a meeting will be scheduled with the Authority and the GEC 

Manager, so the Engineer can present its case. The Authority’s decision in the matter will be final. 

In no case will the Engineer go directly to the Authority with a dispute unless the Engineer believes 

that the GEC is violating, or is directing the Engineer to take an action which would violate, any 

laws or similar provisions described in Article 16 or any ethical obligations owed to the Authority. 

 

ARTICLE 19 

ENGINEER’S RESPONSIBILITY 

A. Accuracy. The Engineer shall have total responsibility for the accuracy and 

completeness of the documents prepared under this Contract and shall check all such material 

accordingly. 

 

B. Errors and Omissions. The Engineer's responsibility for all questions arising from 

errors and/or omissions will be determined by the Authority. The Engineer shall not be relieved of 

the responsibility for subsequent correction of any such errors or omissions or for clarification of 

any ambiguities until after the project has been completed. In the event that the Authority discovers 

a possible error or omission, the Authority shall notify the Engineer and seek to involve the 

Engineer in determining the most effective solution with respect to time and cost, provided that 

the Authority shall ultimately determine the solution that is chosen. 
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C. Seal. The responsible Engineer shall sign, seal and date all appropriate engineering 

submissions to the Authority in accordance with the Texas Engineering Practice Act and the rules 

of the Texas Board of Professional Engineers. 

 

D. Resealing of Documents. Once the work has been sealed and accepted by the 

Authority, the Authority, as the owner, will notify the Engineer, in writing, of the possibility that 

a Authority engineer, as a second engineer, may find it necessary to alter, complete, correct, revise 

or add to the work. If necessary, the second engineer will affix his seal to any work altered, 

completed, corrected, revised or added. The second engineer will then become responsible for any 

alterations, additions or deletions to the original design including any effect or impacts of those 

changes on the original engineer’s design. 

 

ARTICLE 20 

NONCOLLUSION 

A. Warranty. The Engineer warrants that it has not employed or retained any 

company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for the Engineer, to solicit or 

secure this Contract and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any company or Engineer any fee, 

commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gifts, or any other consideration, contingent upon or 

resulting from the award or making of this Contract. 

 

B. Liability. For breach or violation of this warranty, the Authority shall have the right 

to annul this Contract without liability or, in its discretion, to deduct from the Contract 

compensation, or otherwise recover, the full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, 

brokerage fee, gift or contingent fee. 

 

ARTICLE 21 

INSURANCE 

 The Engineer and all subconsultants shall furnish the Authority a properly completed 

Certificate of Insurance approved by the Authority prior to beginning work under the Contract and 

shall maintain such insurance through the Contract period. The Engineer shall provide proof of 

insurance (and the Professional Liability Insurance discussed herein) in a form reasonably 

acceptable by the Authority. The Engineer certifies that it has and will maintain insurance 

coverages as follows: 

A. Workers Compensation Insurance. In accordance with the laws of the State of 

Texas and employer’s liability coverage with a limit of not less than $1,000,000. This policy shall 

be endorsed to include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the Authority. 

 

B. Comprehensive General Liability Insurance. With limits not less than 

$1,000,000 for bodily injury, including those resulting in death, and $1,000,000 for property 

damage on account of any one occurrence, with an aggregate limit of $1,000,000. 
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C. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance. Applying to owned, non-

owned, and hired automobiles in an amount not less than $1,000,000 for bodily injury, including 

death, to any one person, and $1,000,000 on account on any one occurrence, and $1,000,000 for 

property damage on account of any one occurrence.  This policy shall not contain any limitation 

with respect to a radius of operation for any vehicle covered and shall not exclude from the 

coverage of the policy any vehicle to be used in connection with the performance of the Engineer’s 

obligations under this Contract. 

 

D. Excess Liability Insurance. In an amount of $5,000,000 per occurrence and 

aggregate. 

 

E. Valuable Papers Insurance. In an amount sufficient to assure the full restoration 

of any plans, drawings, field notes, logs, test reports, diaries, or other similar data or materials 

relating to the services provided under this Contract in the event of their loss or destruction, until 

such time as the work has been delivered to the Authority. 

  

F. Architects and/or Engineers Professional Liability insurance.  Engineer shall 

provide and maintain professional liability coverage, with limits not less than $5,000,000 per claim 

and $5,000,000 aggregate. The professional liability coverage shall protect against any negligent 

act, error or omission arising out of design or engineering activities, including environmental 

related activities, with respect to the project, including coverage for negligent acts, errors or 

omissions by any member of the Engineer and its subconsultants (including, but not limited to 

design subconsultants and subconsultants) of any tier. The policy must provide that coverage 

extends a minimum of three (3) years beyond the Engineer’s completion of the services. This 

policy shall be endorsed to include a waiver of subrogation in favor of the Authority.  

  

G. General for All Insurance.  The Engineer shall promptly, upon execution of this 

Contract, furnish certificates of insurance to the Authority indicating compliance with the above 

requirements.  Certificates shall indicate the name of the insured, the name of the insurance 

company, the name of the agency/agent, the policy number, the term of coverage, and the limits 

of coverage. 

All policies are to be written through companies (a) authorized to transact that class of 

insurance in the State of Texas; (b) rated (i), with respect to the companies providing the insurance 

under subarticles 21.a. through d., above, by A. M. Best Company as “A-X” or better (or the 

equivalent rating by another nationally recognized rating service) and (ii) with respect to the 

company providing the insurance under subarticle 21.e., a rating by A. M. Best Company or similar 

rating service satisfactory to the Authority and/or its insurance consultant; and (c) otherwise 

acceptable to the Authority. 

All policies are to be written through companies authorized to transact that class of 

insurance in the State of Texas. Such insurance shall be maintained in full force and effect during 

the life of this Contract or for a longer term as may be otherwise provided for hereunder.  Insurance 
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furnished under subarticles 21.b., c., and d., above, shall name the Authority as additional insured 

and shall protect the Authority, its  officers, employees, and directors, agents, and representatives 

from claims for damages for bodily injury and death and for damages to property arising in any 

manner from the negligent or willful acts or failures to act by the Engineer, its officers, employees, 

directors, agents, and representatives in the performance of the services rendered under this 

Contract.  Certificates shall also indicate that the contractual liability assumed in Article 17, above, 

is included. 

The insurance carrier shall include in each of the insurance policies required under 

subsections 21.a., b., c., d., e., and f., the following statement:  “This policy will not be canceled 

or materially changed during the period of coverage without at least thirty (30) days prior written 

notice addressed to the Central Texas Regional Authority, 3300 N. IH-35, Suite 300, Austin, Texas 

78705, Attn: Executive Director” 

 

H. Subconsultant. In the event a subconsultant selected by the Engineer to perform 

work associated with this Contract is unable to secure insurance coverage in the amounts set forth 

in subarticles 21.b., d.,  and f. . above, Engineer may provide to the Authority an explanation of 

coverages that a subconsultant does possess, why those coverages are adequate to cover the 

potential exposure for the work to be performed by the subconsultant, and an acknowledgement 

that the Engineer remains liable for the work performed under the Contract, including that 

performed by the subconsultant. The Authority may decide, in its sole discretion, whether to accept 

the coverages available to the subconsultant. 

 

ARTICLE 22 

GRATUITIES 

A. Employees Not to Benefit. Authority policy mandates that the director, employee 

or agent of the Authority shall not accept any gift, favor, or service that might reasonably tend to 

influence the director, employee or agent in making of procurement decisions. The only exceptions 

allowed are ordinary business lunches and items that have received the advance written approval 

of the Executive Director of the Authority. 

 

B. Liability. Any person doing business with or who reasonably speaking may do 

business with the Authority under this Contract may not make any offer of benefits, gifts or 

favors to Authority employees, except as mentioned above. Failure on the part of the Engineer to 

adhere to this policy may result in the termination of this Contract. 

 

ARTICLE 23 

DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 

The Engineer agrees to comply with the DBE requirements and reporting guidelines set 

forth in Exhibits E, and F of Attachment B - Work Authorization(s). The DBE Goal established 

for this project is as set forth in the Work Authorization.  The Engineer also agrees to comply with 
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the DBE subcontracting plan that was included in the response that the Engineer submitted to the 

Authority’s Request for Qualifications. 

 

ARTICLE 24 

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES (FORM 1295) 

The Engineer must comply with the Certificate of Interested Parties (Form 1295) adopted 

by the Texas Legislature as House Bill 1295, which added section 2252.908 of the Government 

Code, available for review at the Texas Ethics Commission website: 

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/tec/1295-Info.htm 

The Engineer, after award, is required to complete and submit Form 1295 (attached as 

Exhibit B) if the Engineer has either of the following contracts with a governmental entity or state 

agency starting as of January 1, 2016: 

1) Requires an actions or vote by the governing body of the entity or agency before the 

contract may be signed; or 

2) Has a value of at least $1 million. 

 

ARTICLE 25 

MAINTENANCE, RETENTION AND AUDIT OF RECORDS 

A. Retention Period. The Engineer shall maintain all books, documents, papers, 

accounting records and other evidence pertaining to costs incurred and services provided 

(hereinafter called the Records). The Engineer shall make the Records available at its office during 

the Contract period and for four years from the date of final payment under this Contract, until 

completion of all audits, or until pending litigation has been completely and fully resolved, 

whichever occurs last. 

 

B. Availability. The Authority shall have the exclusive right to examine the books and 

records of the Engineer for the purpose of checking the amount of work performed by the Engineer. 

The Engineer shall maintain all books, documents, papers, accounting records and other evidence 

pertaining to cost incurred and shall make such materials available at its office during the contract 

period and for four (4) years from the date of final payment under this Contract or until pending 

litigation has been completely and fully resolved, whichever occurs last. The Authority or any of 

its duly authorized representatives, the Texas Department of Transportation (“TxDOT”), the 

Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”), the United States Department of Transportation 

Office of Inspector General and the Comptroller General shall have access to any and all books, 

documents, papers and records of the Engineer which are directly pertinent to this Contract for the 

purpose of making audits, examinations, excerpts and transcriptions. 

  

https://www.ethics.state.tx.us/tec/1295-Info.htm
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ARTICLE 26 

CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLIANCE 

A. Compliance with Regulations. The Engineer shall comply with the regulations of 

the Department of Transportation, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Parts 21, 24, 26 and 60 

as they relate to nondiscrimination; also Executive Order 11246 titled Equal Employment 

Opportunity as amended by Executive Order 11375. 

 

B. Nondiscrimination. The Engineer, with regard to the work performed by it during 

the Contract, shall not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, sex, or national origin in the 

selection and retention of subconsultants, including procurement of materials and leases of 

equipment. 

C. Solicitations for Subcontracts, Including Procurement of Materials and 

Equipment. In all solicitations either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by the Engineer 

for work to be performed under a subcontract, including procurement of materials or leases of 

equipment, each potential subconsultant or supplier shall be notified by the Engineer of the 

Engineer’s obligations under this Contract and the Regulations relative to nondiscrimination on 

the grounds of race, color, sex, or national origin. 

 

D. Information and Reports. The Engineer shall provide all information and reports 

required by the Regulations, or directives issued pursuant thereto, and shall permit access to its 

books, records, accounts, other sources of information, and facilities as may be determined by the 

Authority or the FHWA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such Regulations or 

directives. Where any information required of the Engineer is in the exclusive possession of 

another who fails or refuses to furnish this information, the Engineer shall so certify to the 

Authority or the FHWA, as appropriate, and shall set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the 

information. 

 

E. Sanctions for Noncompliance. In the event of the Engineer's noncompliance with 

the nondiscrimination provisions of this Contract, the Authority shall impose such Contract 

sanctions as it or the FHWA may determine to be appropriate, including, but not limited to: 

(1) withholding of payments to the Engineer under the Contract until the 

Engineer complies; and/or  

(2) cancellation, termination, or suspension of the Contract, in whole or in part. 

 

ARTICLE 27 

PATENT RIGHTS 

 The Authority and the U. S. Department of Transportation shall have the royalty free, 

nonexclusive and irrevocable right to use and to authorize others to use any patents developed by 

the Engineer under this Contract. 
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ARTICLE 28 

DISPUTES 

A. Disputes Not Related to Contract Services. The Engineer shall be responsible for 

the settlement of all contractual and administrative issues arising out of any procurement made by 

the Engineer in support of the Services authorized herein.  

 

B. Disputes Concerning Work or Cost. The Executive Director of the Authority 

shall decide all questions, difficulties and dispute of any nature whatsoever that may arise under 

or by reason of this Contract, and his decision upon all claims, questions and disputes shall be 

final. The Engineer shall comply with the provisions of Article 18 in proceeding with such 

disputes. 

 

ARTICLE 29 

SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS 

 The Engineer and the Authority do each hereby bind themselves, their successors, 

executors, administrators and assigns to each other party of this Contract and to the successors, 

executors, administrators and assigns of such other party in respect to all covenants of this 

Contract. The Engineer shall not assign, subcontract, or transfer its interest in this Contract without 

the prior written consent of the Authority. 

 

ARTICLE 30 

SEVERABILITY 

 In the event any one or more of the provisions contained in this Contract shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or 

unenforceability shall not affect any other provision thereof and this Contract shall be construed 

as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. 

 

ARTICLE 31 

PRIOR CONTRACTS SUPERSEDED 

 This Contract, including all attachments, constitutes the sole agreement of the parties 

hereto for the services authorized herein and supersedes any prior understandings or written or oral 

contracts between the parties respecting the subject matter defined herein. 

 

ARTICLE 32 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

The undersigned Engineer represents that such firm has no conflict of interest that would 

in any way interfere with its or its employees’ performance of services for the Authority or which 

in any way conflicts with the interests of the Authority. The Authority shall exercise reasonable 

care and diligence to prevent any actions or conditions that could result in a conflict with the 

Authority’s interests. 
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ARTICLE 33 

ENTIRETY OF AGREEMENT 

 This writing, including attachments and addenda, if any, embodies the entire agreement 

and understanding between the parties hereto, and there are no agreements and understandings, 

oral or written, with reference to the subject matter hereof that are not merged herein and 

superseded hereby. No alteration, change or modification of the terms of the Contract shall be 

valid unless made in writing signed by both parties hereto. 

 

ARTICLE 34 

SIGNATORY WARRANTY 

 The undersigned signatory for the Engineer hereby represents and warrants that he or she 

is an officer of the organization for which he or she has executed this Contract and that he or she 

has full and complete Authority authorization to enter into this Contract on behalf of the firm. 

These representations and warranties are made for the purpose of inducing the Authority to enter 

into this Contract. 

 

ARTICLE 35 

NOTICES 

A notice, demand, request, report, and other communication required or permitted under this 

Contract, or which any party may desire to give, shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have 

been given on the sooner to occur of (i) receipt by the party to whom the notice is hand-delivered, 

with a written receipt of notice provided by the receiving party, or (ii) two days after deposit in a 

regularly maintained express mail receptacle of the United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, 

or registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, express mail delivery, addressed to such 

party at their address set forth below, or to such other address as a party may from time to time 

designate under this article, or (iii) receipt of an electronic mail transmission (attaching scanned 

documents in a format such as .pdf or .tif) for which confirmation of receipt by the other party has 

been obtained by the sending party: 

 

In the case of the Engineer: 

Paul Bowen, P.E. 

HDR, Inc. 

810 Hesters Crossing Suite 120 

Round Rock, TX 78681 Paul.Bowen@hdrinc.com 

 

In the case of the Authority: 

Mike Heiligenstein, Executive Director 

Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 

3300 North IH 35, Suite 300 
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Austin, TX 78705 

Email: mstein@ctrma.org 

with a copy to: 

Justin Word, Director of Engineering  

Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 

3300 North IH 35, Suite 300 

Austin, TX 78705 

 

Email: jword@ctrma.org 

 

A party may change the information provided in this article for notification purposes by providing 

notice to the other party of the new information and the effective date of the change. 

 

ARTICLE 36 

BUSINESS DAYS AND DAYS 

 For purposes of this Contract, “business days” shall mean any day the Authority is open 

for business and “days” shall mean calendar days. 

 

ARTICLE 37 

INCORPORATION OF PROVISIONS 

 Attachments A-1 through C are attached hereto and incorporated into this Contract as if 

fully set forth herein. 

 

ARTICLE 38 

PRIORITY OF DOCUMENTS/ORDER OF PRECEDENCE 

 This Contract, and each of the Attachments (together, the “Contract Documents”), are an 

essential part of the agreement between the Authority and the Engineer, and a requirement 

occurring in one is as binding as though occurring in all. The Contract Documents are intended to 

be complementary and to describe and provide for a complete Contract. In the event of any conflict 

among the Contract Documents or between the Contract Documents and other documents, the 

order of precedence shall be as set forth below: 

 

 A. Supplemental Work Authorizations; 

 B. Work Authorizations; 

 C. Contract Amendments; 

 D. This Contract. 

mailto:mstein@ctrma.org
mailto:jword@mobilityauthority.com
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 E. The Request for Qualifications 

 F.  The Engineer’s Response to the Request for Qualifications. 

 Additional details and more stringent requirements contained in a lower priority document 

will control unless the requirements of the lower priority document present an actual conflict with 

the requirements of the higher level document. Notwithstanding the order of precedence among 

Contract Documents set forth in this Article 36, in the event of a conflict within a Contract 

Document or set of Contract Documents with the same order of priority (including within 

documents referenced therein), the Authority shall have the right to determine, in its sole 

discretion, which provision applies. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and the Engineer have executed this Contract in 

duplicate. 

 

        THE ENGINEER CENTRAL TEXAS REGIONAL 

MOBILITY AUTHORITY  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

 (Signature)      (Signature) 

 

______________________________        Mike Heiligenstein  

 (Printed Name)     

 

                                                                                          Executive Director   

 (Title)     

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

(Date)       (Date) 

 

Attachments and Exhibits to Contract for Construction Engineering & Inspection Services 

Attachments Title 

A-1 Rate Schedule 

A-2 Actual Employee Rates 

B Work Authorization  

C Supplemental Work Authorization 

D Key Personnel 
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ATTACHMENT A-1 

 

RATE SCHEDULE 

 

 

 

 

 

 



RATE SCHEDULE

Position Max Position Max

Project Manager 110.00$  Office Engineer 60.00$  
Resident Engineer 70.00$  Lead Roadway Inspector 55.00$  
Lead Materials Manager 90.00$  Roadway Inspector I 35.00$  
Office Engineer 60.00$  Lead Structural Inspector 60.00$  
Lead Roadway Inspector 55.00$  Structural Inspector I 35.00$  
Roadway Inspector I 35.00$  Structural Inspector II 45.00$  
Lead Structural Inspector 60.00$  Structural Steel Inspector 75.00$  
Structural Inspector I 35.00$  Electrical Inspector 60.00$  
Structural Inspector II 45.00$  Record Keeper 35.00$  
Structural Steel Inspector 75.00$  SW3P/Barricade Inspector 45.00$  
Electrical Inspector 60.00$  Utility Coordinator 110.00$  
Record Keeper 35.00$  
SW3P/Barricade Inspector 45.00$  
Utility Coordinator 110.00$  
Survey Manager Specified Rate
Testing Technician Specified Rate

Position Max Position Max
Office Engineer 60.00$  Office Engineer 60.00$  
Lead Roadway Inspector 55.00$  Lead Roadway Inspector 55.00$  
Roadway Inspector I 35.00$  Roadway Inspector I 35.00$  
Lead Structural Inspector 60.00$  Lead Structural Inspector 60.00$  
Structural Inspector I 35.00$  Structural Inspector I 35.00$  
Structural Inspector II 45.00$  Structural Inspector II 45.00$  
Structural Steel Inspector 75.00$  Structural Steel Inspector 75.00$  
Electrical Inspector 60.00$  Electrical Inspector 60.00$  
Record Keeper 35.00$  Record Keeper 35.00$  
SW3P/Barricade Inspector 45.00$  SW3P/Barricade Inspector 45.00$  
Utility Coordinator 110.00$  Utility Coordinator 110.00$  

Company

2017 Office

OH Rate

HDR Eng, Inc 1.4891

CDM Smith

Garver

G Sylva

Profit 10%

Garver CDM Smith

G Sylva

2018 Raw Labor Rate

HDR

2018 Raw Labor Rate

2018 Raw Labor Rate2018 Raw Labor Rate

2017 Field OH Rate

1.3494

1.3207

1.3350

1.4000
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ATTACHMENT A-2 

 

Actual Employee Rates 

  



ACTUAL EMPLOYEE RATES

Actual Raw Labor (W2) Rates
Position Key Personnel 2018-2019

Regular
Project Manager Paul Bowen 99.64$  
Resident Engineer Raphael Campos 61.10$  
Lead Materials Manager Chien-Nan Fu 76.50$  
Office Engineer John Grounds 51.77$  
Lead Roadway Inspector Terry Gentry 45.62$  
Survey Manager Chris Conrad 165.00$  
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ATTACHMENT B 

 

WORK AUTHORIZATION 

WORK AUTHORIZATION NO. 1  

CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING & INSPECTION SERVICES 

 

 THIS WORK AUTHORIZATION is made pursuant to the terms and conditions of Article 4 of the Contract 

for Construction Engineering & Inspection Services (“the Contract”) entered into by and between the Central Texas 

Regional Authority (“the Authority”) and HDR, Inc. (“the Engineer”) dated __________________. 

 PART I. The Engineer will perform Construction Engineering & Inspection Services in accordance with the 

project description attached hereto in Exhibit B and made a part of this Work Authorization. The responsibilities of 

the Authority and the Engineer as well as the work schedule are further detailed in Exhibits A, B, and C which are 

attached hereto and made a part of the Work Authorization.  

 PART II. The maximum amount payable under this Work Authorization is $8,284,409.28 and the method 

of payment will be calculated on a per-hour basis using hourly billing rates. This amount is based upon the Engineer’s 

estimated Work Authorization costs included in Exhibit D, Fee Schedule/Budget, which is attached and made a part 

of this Work Authorization.  DBE participation shall be tracked and documented as detailed in Exhibits E, and F. 

  PART III. Payment to the Engineer for the services established under this Work Authorization shall be made 

in accordance with the appropriate sections of the Contract. 

 PART IV. This Work Authorization shall become effective on the date of final acceptance of the parties 

hereto and shall terminate upon completion of the work, unless extended by a Supplemental Work Authorization as 

provided in Article 4 of the Contract. 

 PART V. This Work Authorization does not waive the parties' responsibilities and obligations provided under 

the Contract. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Work Authorization is executed in duplicate counterparts and hereby accepted 

and acknowledged below. 

      THE ENGINEER CENTRAL TEXAS REGIONAL MOBILITY 

AUTHORITY  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

 (Signature)      (Signature) 

 

______________________________        Mike Heiligenstein    

 (Printed Name)     

 

                                                                                          Executive Director   

 (Title)     

______________________________  ______________________________ 

(Date)       (Date) 
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LIST OF EXHIBITS TO WORK AUTHORIZATION 

 

Exhibits Title 

A Services to Be Provided by the Authority 

B Services to Be Provided by the Engineer 

C Work Schedule 

D Fee Schedule/Budget 

E DBE Participation Forms (E-1 through E-7) 

F Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) for Federal Funded Professional or 

Technical Services Contracts – See Exhibit E Instructions 

G Invoice Template 

H Confidentiality Agreement 
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EXHIBIT A 

 

SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY THE AUTHORITY 

 

The Authority shall perform and provide the following in a timely manner so as not to delay the 

Services to be provided by the Engineer: 

1) Authorize the Engineer in writing to proceed. 

2) Render reviews, decisions and approvals as promptly as necessary to allow for the 

expeditious performance of the Services to be provided by the Engineer. 

3) Provide timely review and decisions in response to the Engineer’s request for information 

and/or required submittals and deliverables, in order for the Engineer to maintain the 

agreed-upon work schedule. 

4) Maintain the Project’s website. 

5) Provide the Engineer with relevant data available to the Authority related to people, 

agencies and organizations interested in the proposed project. 

6) Provide for inspections of tolling equipment (including ITS elements and lightning 

protection). 

7) Either provide directly, or have its designated General Engineering Consultant (“GEC”) 

provide general oversight services of the Engineer. 

8) Provided for inspections of materials prepared, fabricated, or produced off-site at a 

supplier facility. 
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EXHIBIT B 

 

SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY THE ENGINEER 

 

Professional services (“the Services”) to be provided by the Construction Engineering and 

Inspection Consultant Team (“the Engineer”) include providing and maintaining construction 

engineering, inspection, survey, and materials testing staff at the field office supplied by the 

Authority’s construction contractor (“Contractor”). The Engineer would oversee, review and 

document construction activities performed by the Contractor. 

Scheduling of activities below will conform to the Project milestones established by the Authority 

and the Texas Department of Transportation (“TxDOT”). 

The Engineer will serve as a member of the project oversight team (“Oversight Team”) comprised 

of the Authority, General Engineering Consultant (“GEC”), and TxDOT staff members. The 

Engineer shall work at the direction and supervision of the Authority and the Authority’s GEC, 

who will assist with oversight of the Project. The Engineer shall work cooperatively and 

collaboratively throughout all aspects and phases of construction operations and in its dealings 

with the Authority, Contractor, GEC, toll system integrators, suppliers, subcontractors, engineers, 

legal counsel, accountants, consultants, government entities, utilities, property owners, and the 

general public. 

The Engineer shall coordinate with the Authority’s public involvement team, as required, in the 

Authority’s dealings with the general public, adjacent property owners, and interested advocacy 

groups. 

The Engineer shall keep the Oversight Team informed of the Contractor’s operations in the field, 

especially issues related to safety, quality, schedule, potential change orders, and potential 

construction claims. The Engineer will have the authority to stop construction activity in response 

to emerging life safety issues. 

The Engineer will not control or direct the construction under the construction contract. Field 

inspections will not relieve the Contractor of sole responsibility for the means and methods of 

construction, or for health or safety precautions in connection with the work under the construction 

contract. 

The Engineer should be aware that the time frames noted herein are tentative and subject to change. 

The Engineer will remain available for the duration that the services are required by the Authority, 

unless the Contract is terminated as described therein. 

The Services to be provided by the Engineer include, without limitation, the following key 

elements: 

 

A. General Requirements 

1) Provide all labor, equipment, tools and incidentals to perform the Services. 

2) Establish and maintain the Project field office operation within the Contractor-

provided facility.  The Engineer shall install and maintain all necessary computer 

network equipment for their use.  The Authority’s Contractor will provide, install, 

and maintain business class ethernet system internet services provided with 

minimum 100 Megabyte/sec download and 10 megabyte/sec upload.  The 

Authority’s Contractor will provide, install, and maintain one high-speed color 

copier / printer / scanner capable of handling 11x17 prints which will be available 
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for use by the Engineer and the Authority.  The Engineer shall supply all paper 

for this printer.  

3) In delivery of Services, the Engineer will be required to track and document all 

project activities, as appropriate, to the two individual project CSJs. The CTRMA 

improvements are included in CSJ# 0114-02-0104 and the TxDOT improvements 

are included in CSJ# 0114-02-0105. Both CSJs will be constructed as part of this 

project. 

4) Provide all Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), as necessary in performance of 

Services. PPE will meet all current standards set by OSHA and any additional 

project specific requirements. 

5) Provide vehicles clearly displaying company logos (or team logo), mobile 

phones, and computer equipment system (i.e. laptop, computers and/or tablets) 

capable of performing the Services. 

6) Assist in the resolution of construction issues and conflicts and provide timely 

data to the Authority and the Contractor. 

7) The scope and duration of the Project is based on the construction contract 

construction schedule, including any added days to the schedule by contract, as 

well as a close-out period. The Engineer shall be available as requested by the 

Authority during close-out and will be responsible to verify that all 

documentation has been submitted and all outstanding project-related issues have 

been resolved. 

 

B. Project Controls 

The Engineer shall provide the following in support of project control efforts for the 

Project: 

1) Project correspondence – issue and follow-up on all correspondence to and from 

the Contractor for the Project. All key communication with the Contractor must be 

in writing. 

2) Record keeper duties – perform all duties necessary to properly document Project 

activities and validate conformance of the Project by its participants with Authority, 

TxDOT and Federal guidelines and requirements. 

3) Document control – maintain oversight of the online document control system for 

the Authority and properly file all appropriate documents within the system using 

the Authority’s filing system. The Engineer will respect the confidentiality of all 

information provided to and available on this system. 

4) Project scheduling – continuously evaluate the overall Project schedule and the 

Contractor schedule updates to verify that the Project is on track.  Notify members 

of the Oversight Team immediately if there are potential threats to the Project 

schedule.  Monthly schedule updates submitted by the Contractor with the pay 

application will be evaluated and validated to document adequate reporting of the 

Contractor project progress and to support the associated pay request. 

5) Contractor pay requests – review, validate, require revisions to or recommend 

payment of the Contractor pay requests. This will include a detailed evaluation of 

the Contractor’s associated schedule as discussed above. 

6) Changes/Assessment –identify, develop, evaluate and negotiate (if necessary) all 

change orders, lane rental bank assessments, liquidated damage assessments, and 
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other elements of the Contract which may have an impact on the overall Contractor 

reimbursement.  The Engineer will notify the Authority when these issues arise and 

will receive approval prior to issuance of the associated correspondence to the 

Contractor. 

7) Project report and metrics – assist the Authority or GEC in production of Project-

specific reports, presentations, and updates as required.  This will require providing 

data, tables, write-ups, status summaries, graphs and other information as 

necessary.  The Engineer will be responsible for the completeness and accuracy of 

the information provided. 

 

C. Construction Engineering 

1) The Engineer will provide quality control and assurance for the construction of 

the project through construction engineering and management in accordance with 

the plans, specifications, and approved Construction Quality Management Plan 

to be developed by the Engineer in collaboration with the Authority. Included 

with this task will be the following responsibilities: 

a. Establish and maintain the Project Field Office operation within the 

Contractor-provided facility. 

b. Review the Contractor’s plan for construction Quality Control. 

c. Maintain the Project diary and all required documentation. 

d. Document pre-construction conditions via still photography and video. 

e. Coordinate review of construction documents including, but not limited to, 

Requests for Information (RFIs), shop drawings, and submittals from the 

Contractor with the Design Engineer for concurrence with the Project design 

and specifications. 

f. Prepare and maintain an Engineering Judgement Log in accordance with the 

Construction Quality Management Plan. 

2) The Engineer will provide technical advice to assist the Oversight Team on 

matters of construction related to interpretation of design details, construction 

techniques and procedures, specifications, standard construction details, and 

construction plans prepared by the Design Engineer.  As required, the Engineer 

will seek clarifications from the Design Engineer on the intent reflected in the 

designs, plans, and specifications. The Design Engineer will remain responsible 

for design related services. 

3) Additionally, the Engineer will be responsible for the following: 

a. Requests for Information (RFI) Processing – receive RFIs from Contractor or 

create as necessary.  Review and facilitate resolution of all RFI responses, and 

maintain all documents. Coordinate with the GEC for RFIs that require 

Design Engineer review. 

b. Shop Drawing Submittal Processing – coordinate all reviews of shop 

drawings with the Design Engineer, comments and approvals, and maintain a 

shop drawing log. 

c. Utility Coordination – provide oversight of the utility adjustment process 

including attendance and participation at utility coordination meetings review 

of assembly packages, and assistance with utility conflict resolution as 

required. 
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D. Construction Inspections 

The Engineer’s inspection team (“Inspectors”) shall perform their work in a manner that 

minimizes disruption to the Contractor’s operations and schedule. 

Perform and report construction inspections of all operations related to structures, roadway, 

drainage, traffic (i.e. signs, striping, signals, illumination), stormwater pollution prevention 

plan and maintenance of traffic to validate that the Contractor’s work, including sequencing 

of work, is conducted in accordance with the approved contract documents. 

The Engineer will not be responsible for providing inspections of tolling equipment 

(including ITS elements and lightning protection). These services will be provided by the 

Authority or its designated consultant.  The Engineer will be responsible for coordination 

and scheduling of the ITS inspections. 

 

Other inspection efforts required of the Engineer include: 

 

• Toll gantry column and truss inspections. 

• Identify, document and make recommendations to the Oversight Team regarding plan 

errors and omissions, substitutions, defects and deficiencies in the work of the 

contractor, subcontractors, vendors, etc. 

• Provide sufficient staff and a staffing plan to maintain consistency throughout the 

Project to schedule and perform inspections of the Contractor’s work. The Engineer 

shall be required to be on-site performing inspection duties at any time the work is 

being performed which requires inspection. 

• Review and report daily documentation of construction quantities in support of 

Contractor draw requests. 

• Regularly review and provide input on the Contractor’s reported progress shown in the 

detailed project schedule. 

• Contribute to a digital photograph log of the Project area during construction to 

document construction progress, with emphasis on areas with potential claim 

items/issues and on areas of real/potential public controversy. All photographs shall 

have embedded time, date, and georeferencing data. 

• Verify that the Project is implemented in accordance with the direction provided in 

RFIs. Inspectors will prepare RFIs as necessary during the Project. 

• Inspectors will be provided with access to the Contractor’s shop drawings and 

submittals. Inspectors will verify that the Project is constructed in compliance with 

these documents. 

• Prepare, follow-up on, and be responsible for resolution of Non-Compliance Reports 

(NCRs) for non-compliant work. 

• Schedule or conduct material testing as needed for inspection of the construction work. 

• Review material testing reports and assist in the resolution of any deficiencies reported. 

• Perform quality control checks on all documentation (i.e. drill shaft logs, daily work 

reports) prior to incorporating them into the Project records. 

• Become familiar with and utilize the standard reporting forms used to document 

construction inspections. 

 

1) Inspector Training and Certifications 

All Inspectors shall have a current OSHA-10 Card (safety training). 
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Project inspectors will be required to have appropriate training and certifications to 

understand the methods and criteria for sampling and testing of materials that they will 

be inspecting. 

Although not a comprehensive list, at least one certified inspector will be required for 

each of the following construction components, where applicable, and will require the 

Authority approval prior to commencement of work: 

a. Traffic Control – A certified inspector is a person who has passed the Work 

Zone Traffic Control course offered by Texas A&M Engineering Extension 

Service (TEEX) and has a minimum of five (5) years of experience in Traffic 

Control inspection. 

b. Electrical – A certified inspector is a person who has a minimum of five (5) 

years of experience in electrical inspection of roadway illumination and traffic 

signals and within 6 months of Contract Execution (depending on course 

availability) be able to pass the tests for TxDOT’s course TRFS450, “Roadway 

Illumination” and TRF453 “Electrical Requirements for Installation of Traffic 

Signals.” 

c. Asphalt – A certified inspector is a person with a current Texas Asphalt 

Pavement Association (TxAPA) Hot-Mix Asphalt (HMA) Roadway Specialist 

– Level 1B certification and a minimum of five (5) years of experience in 

asphalt inspection for roadways. 

d. Concrete – A certified inspector is a person with a current American Concrete 

Institute (ACI) Concrete Field Testing Technician – Field Grade I certification 

and a minimum of 5 years of experience in inspection of structural concrete. 

e. Capital Metro Railroad (“Railroad”) Work Zone Training – The Engineer and 

appropriate staff will attend and become certified in Railroad Work Zone 

Training as provided by the Railroad or their approved training provider. There 

shall be no crossings of the Railroad's tracks without the presence of a “Railroad 

Worker-in- Charge”, as approved by the Railroad. 

 

2) Inspection Levels 

Inspections will be performed at three different levels:  

• Full Time Inspection (FTI) – continuous inspection during construction 

operation. 

• Hold Point Inspection (HPI) – inspection at specific hold points in the work 

prior to the Contractor continuing. 

• Spot Inspection (SI) – Spot inspection during operation and inspection of end 

product. 

The Project’s Quality Assurance Program for Design-Bid-Build Projects (QAP),  lists 

the inspection level for different elements of the work. These may be modified to meet 

specific needs as discussed in the pre-activity meeting for that element of work. For 

items not listed in the QAP, the Engineer will develop inspection levels and hold points 

and present them to the Contractor at the pre-activity meeting. 

3) Construction Inspection Checklists 

Inspection checklists will be provided by the Authority as a tool for the Inspectors to 

verify that the Project is built in compliance with the approved construction documents. 

Inspectors shall utilize these checklists as part of the Services. 

4) Traffic Control 
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• Review, monitor, and recommend modification to the Contractor’s maintenance of 

traffic/traffic control operations according to applicable specifications and 

standards using approved inspection reports. 

• Modifications to the Contractor’s maintenance of traffic/traffic control operations 

will require sign and sealed plans from a licensed engineer. 

• Provide an inspector that is certified to perform barricade inspections and submit 

proof of certification to the Authority for each inspector utilized on the Project for 

maintenance of traffic inspections. 

• Provide barrier inspections and document deficiencies or actions needed.  

Corrective actions should be submitted to the Contractor and tracked until 

completed. 

• Document and issue deficiency reports to the Contractor on any non-compliant 

traffic control devices or layouts. 

• Verify Contractor requests for lane closures and detours are in accordance with 

applicable standards and submit lane closure notifications to TxDOT. 

• Document and track lane rental fees. 

• Verify the Contractor makes repairs to critical items immediately and that other 

deficiencies or actions are being addressed within the timeframes specified by the 

contract and specifications, or within reasonable timeframes. Advise the Authority 

on non-payment of applicable contract pay items, if needed. 

• Verify all traffic control items used by the Contractor meet requirements of Texas 

Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (“TMUTCD”, current version at the 

time of proposal or latest edition). 

 

5) Drill Shafts (i.e. Bridges, Large Signs, Toll Gantries, Signals, High Mast 

Illumination) 

The Inspector shall verify proper drill shaft or pile installations. Inspectors should have 

knowledge in geological materials to verify proper founding is achieved, proper 

underwater and slurry displacement concrete placement procedures and proper use of 

steel casing for dewatering and stability applications are implemented. The Inspector 

shall complete a separate log for each drill shaft/pile. 

6) Daily Work Reports (“DWR”) 

Prepare a DWR for each day of work from the begin work date until final acceptance. 

All inspectors shall prepare their own DWR on approved RMA format each day they 

are on the Project. Each DWR must have all applicable information included (i.e. the 

weather recorded for that day, including temperature high and low, weather conditions, 

all visitors to the Project, traffic conditions, lane closure hours, police officer names 

and hours worked, portable message sign hours, instruction given to the Contractor, the 

Contractor work hours, the Contractor’s equipment and utilization, safety concerns, 

and accidents). 

DWRs will be accompanied by inspector photo logs documenting the daily work being 

done.  These will be included as part of the DWR. 

7) Contractor Quantities 

Complete a TxDOT Form 1257 or other approved form for all applicable items to pay 

for items of work inspected. Input the station number, supporting calculations, quantity 

being paid, any comments or remarks necessary, and any other information to properly 

distinguish the item being paid.  Quantities will be assigned, as appropriate to each of 

the two individual CSJs on the Project. 
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Quantities should be assigned to schedule activity IDs for purposes of documenting 

and tracking pay items. 

Track and report, on a monthly basis, Contractor’s materials on hand. 

8) Non-Conformance Reports (“NCR”s) 

If the inspection identifies work that is in non-conformance, and that work can be 

corrected and completed in conformance with the approved construction documents, 

and the Contractor corrects and completes the work in accordance with the approved 

construction documents, then no additional action is required. 

If the work is not in conformance and is not easily correctable, then the Inspector will 

prepare an NCR for submittal to the Contractor. 

E. Survey Oversight 

Survey oversight is primarily intended as survey quality assurance of the efforts of the 

Contractor and the Contractor’s surveyor. Efforts shall include, but are not limited to: 

1) Provide separate permanent benchmarks outside of the construction footprint to 

assist in performing independent verification of the Contractor’s surveyor’s 

permanent and temporary benchmarks for the duration of the project. 

2) Perform additional verification of the Contractor’s survey records and methods 

through semi-annual audits.  

3) Check the horizontal and vertical locations of bridge structure components to verify 

conformance with the plans. 

4) Check Contractor’s line and grade between PVT/PVCs and at the beginning and 

end of cross slope transitions as well as any points of 0% cross slope for all lanes 

and shoulders on the mainlanes and general purpose lanes. 

5) Perform miscellaneous spot checks as needed during the duration of the project. 

6) All deliverables shall be in Microstation Format (latest TxDOT approved version) 

with topographic information to be provided in 2D and 3D files.  digital terrain 

models shall be in *.tin format.  Other point files shall be required in ASCII or *.dat 

file formats as requested by the Authority. 

7) All deliverables must also conform to the following TxDOT coordinate system: 

Texas Central Zone #4203, NAD 83, Adjusted to Surface using a combined scale 

factor of 1.00011. 

F. Materials Engineering and Acceptance 

1) Provide a Qualification Program for materials utilized for the construction of the 

Project in accordance with the Authority’s Quality Acceptance Program (“QAP”). 

Maintain documentation of all qualified individuals who perform required tests for 

acceptance of materials. 

2) Prepare reports for all material tests, clearly stating whether the material meets 

specifications, includes all information required by the testing method, and are 

signed by the Materials Engineer (or his designee). Provide all reports in a timely 

manner for review by the GEC. 

3) Develop and implement a testing plan in compliance with TxDOT’s Guide 

Schedule of Sampling and Testing (“Guide Schedule”) for the Project. As 

recommended in the Guide Schedule, testing will be performed at a four-fold 
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increase at the start of production until the GEC has confidence in the Contractor’s 

(or the Contractor’s suppliers) process. 

4) Prepare Non-Conformance Reports (“NCR”s) for failing tests as appropriate. 

5) Prepare control charts for applicable test values. 

6) Monitor test results, maintain a material testing database capable of tracking failing 

tests, inform the GEC of failing test results in a timely manner, and work with the 

GEC to resolve failed tests on the project. 

7) Perform IRI testing of finished pavement surfaces per applicable TxDOT testing 

methodology. 

8) Approve the Contractor’s procedures and requirements for handling, storage, 

shipping, delivery, and preservation of materials incorporated into the work; 

including Corrective Action procedures for test or inspection failures, malfunctions 

or deficiencies. 

9) Perform the testing of construction materials utilized on the project in accordance 

with the Quality Assurance Plan 

10) Submit construction Quality Acceptance Material Certification letters quarterly to 

the GEC. 

11) Conduct the materials acceptance testing program and provide materials advice as 

deemed necessary. 

12) Prepare the end of project material certification binder and sign materials 

certification letter stating that the materials incorporated into the construction work 

are in accordance with standards and specifications. 

G. Project Closeout 

1) Record Drawings 

Compile and provide the Authority with Record (“As-Built”) Plans incorporating 

construction revisions into the original “as bid” construction plans. This should include 

electronic version of the *.dgn files and a complete set of As-Builts in Adobe format. 

2) Requests for Information (“RFI”) 

Inspectors are responsible for verifying that the Project is implemented in accordance 

with the direction provided in RFIs. Inspectors will prepare RFIs or forward those 

received from the Contractor to the Design Engineer for clarification. 

3) Shop Drawings and Submittals 

Inspectors will be provided with access to the Contractor’s shop drawings and 

submittals. Inspectors will verify that the Project is constructed in compliance with 

these documents. 

4) Punch List 

a. Coordinate with the GEC, Contractor and TxDOT in the generation of a 

final punch list. 

b. Monitor the resolution of outstanding construction items. 

c. Perform inspection to verify satisfactory completion of punch list items. 

H. Other Requirements 

1) Meetings 

a. Attend weekly progress meetings held by the GEC with the Contractor. 

b. Attend staff meetings for the construction oversight team held by the GEC. 

c. Attend monthly construction meetings held and hosted by the Authority. 
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d. Attend pre-activity meetings, safety meetings, and any other meetings 

requiring construction inspection expertise, as requested by the Authority 

or the GEC. 

2) Deliverables  

a. The following construction documentation will be maintained and kept up-

to-date during the course of the construction contract on the Authority’s 

document control system for review by the Oversight Team and will be 

submitted in a timely manner after being checked by an appropriate member 

(senior inspector, project manager, etc.) of the Engineer’s staff. 

b. Weekly Progress Reports and Weekly Meeting Minutes 

c. Proof of Certification and Training 

d. RFI Files and Log 

e. Submittal Files and Log 

f. Change Order Files and Log 

g. Monthly Schedule Update 

h. Project Diary (objective and consisting of documented facts and statements 

only) 

i. Project Reports and Metrics (as defined in Project Controls) 

j. Construction Quality Management Plan 

k. Engineering Judgement Log 

l. Utility Documentation 

m. Inspector Daily Work Reports 

n. Inspector Checklists (includes any required calculations or worksheets) 

o. Inspector Verified Quantities 

p. Non-Conformance Reports 

q. Embankment, Sub-grade, Sub-base, and Base Course Testing Reports 

r. Concrete Plant and Concrete Related Field Inspection Reports (calibrations, 

gradations, admixtures, slump, air content, etc.) 

s. HMA Plant Reports 

t. HMA and Cement Concrete Mix Designs 

u. Concrete Volume Checks 

v. Off-Site Testing and Inspection Reports (by others) 

w. Miscellaneous materials certifications and documents (source of aggregate, 

shop drawings, subcontractor acceptance, purchase orders, etc.) 

x. Inspector Photographs 

y. Drill Shaft Logs 

z. Barricade Inspection Reports 

aa. SW3P Reports 

bb. Provide materials tickets for all applicable items (i.e. Concrete, HMA, 

Flexbase, Prime, Fertilizer, Seed, etc.) with an attached documentation 

indicating date, pay item(s), placement location, and cumulative quantity 

cc. Punch list Documentation; 

dd. Project Close-Out Documentation 

ee. Initial Benchmark Survey Verification Report 

ff. Survey Audit Reports 

gg. Survey plan sheets for bridge drilled shaft and bearing seat checks 

hh. Survey spreadsheet for roadway grade checks 

ii. Accident Reports prepared by others for major accidents within the work 

zone (fatality or medical treatment required) 

jj. Correspondence 

kk. Final Record Drawings 
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ll. Test reports, plant reports, test failure tracking database, IRI results, and 

certifications related to the project for incorporation into the project records 

nn. Compile the end of project materials certification binder to be signed by the 

Materials Engineer (professional engineer licensed and registered in Texas), 

including deficiency report, letters of certification, summary of NCRs and 

Engineering Judgments, and test exception letters 

 

3) Schedule 

The scope and duration of the Project is based on the construction contract 

construction schedule, including any added days to the schedule by contract, as well 

as a close-out period. The Engineer shall be available as requested by the Authority 

during close-out and will be responsible to verify that all documentation has been 

submitted and all outstanding project-related issues have been resolved. 

 

4) Local Government Project Procedures (LGPP) 

The Engineer is required to provide a “qualified person” to the project.  This person 

must be a member of the Key Personnel and have successfully completed the TxDOT 

Local Government Project Procedures Training and Qualification Course, LGP101. 
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EXHIBIT C 

 

WORK SCHEDULE 

 

 

 

 

The Engineer will perform Construction Engineering & Inspection Services as described in this Work Authorization 

or until all tasks are complete and will submit deliverables to the Authority based on the following work schedule: 

 

Notice to Proceed ……………………………………………  Approximately Fall 2018 

Construction completion ………………………………………Approximately Summer 2021 
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EXHIBIT D 

 

FEE SCHEDULE/BUDGET 

 

  



FEE SCHEDULE/BUDGET

JOB CLASSIFICATION FIRM

2018‐2019 

LOADED 

RATE

2018‐2019 

LOADED OT 

RATE

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT

Project Manager HDR 272.82$  160 0 160 0 160 0 140 0 120 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0

Resident Engineer HDR 157.90$  160 20 160 20 168 20 152 20 168 20 176 20 176 20 160 20 176 20 176 20 160 20 176 20 152 20

Lead Materials Manager HDR 197.70$  80 0 120 0 126 0 114 0 126 0 132 0 132 0 120 0 132 0 132 0 120 0 132 0 114 0

Office Engineer Garver 132.97$  80 0 160 0 168 0 152 0 168 0 176 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 152 0

Lead Roadway Inspector CDM Smith 116.46$  174.69$  160 0 160 20 168 30 152 40 168 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 152 40

Roadway Inspector I HDR 72.36$     108.54$  80 0 80 0 152 20 168 20 176 20 176 20 160 20 176 20 176 20 160 20 176 20 152 20

Lead Structural Inspector G Sylva 132.05$  198.08$  80 0 168 20 152 30 168 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 152 40

Structural Inspector I HDR 78.74$     118.12$  80 0 152 20 168 30 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 152 40

Structural Inspector II HDR 104.67$  157.00$  80 0 176 10 160 20 176 30 152 40

Structural Steel Inspector HDR 182.49$ 

Electrical Inspector HDR 145.11$  160 0 80 0 80 0

Record Keeper HDR 82.70$     124.05$  160 0 160 0 168 0 152 0 168 0 176 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 152 0

SW3P/Barricade Inspector HDR 97.25$     145.87$  64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0

Utility Coordinator HDR 265.40$  40 0 40 0 40 0 40 0 40 0 20 0

Survey Manager McGray 165.00$ 

Suvey Crew McGray

Materials & Testing Field REL 65.00$     80.50$     80 0 160 10 168 20 152 30 168 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 152 40

Materials & Testing Lab REL

DBE Sub‐consultants %

G Sylva 11.06% Engineer's Estimate 84,053,224.20$        9.86%

McGray 4.29% Awarded Contractor 71,236,424.39$        11.63%

REL 5.76%

Total DBE  21.10%

Garver 9.89%

CDM Smith 9.91%

Total Partners 19.80%

HDR 59.10%

Total HDRE 59.10%

Sub‐Total 100.00%

May‐19 Jun‐19 Jul‐19 Oct‐19 Nov‐19Apr‐19 Aug‐19 Sep‐19Nov‐18 Dec‐18 Jan‐19 Feb‐19 Mar‐19

Budget % of Construction Contract

4,895,278.63$          

4,895,278.63$          

$

915,815.34$             

355,028.00$             

8,283,189.63$         

476,916.38$             

1,747,759.71$         

818,990.12$             

821,161.17$             

1,640,151.29$         
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FEE SCHEDULE/BUDGET

JOB CLASSIFICATION FIRM

2018‐2019 

LOADED 

RATE

2018‐2019 

LOADED OT 

RATE

2020 

LOADED 

RATE

2020 

LOADED OT 

RATE

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT

Project Manager HDR 272.82$  281.00$  64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0

Resident Engineer HDR 157.90$  162.64$  168 20 168 20 152 20 176 20 176 20 160 20 176 20 176 20 168 20 168 20 168 20

Lead Materials Manager HDR 197.70$  203.63$  126 0 126 0 114 0 132 0 132 0 120 0 132 0 132 0 126 0 126 0 126 0

Office Engineer Garver 132.97$  136.96$  168 0 168 0 152 0 176 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 176 0 168 0 168 0 168 0

Lead Roadway Inspector CDM Smith 116.46$  174.69$  119.95$  179.93$  168 40 168 40 152 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 176 40 168 40 168 40 168 40

Roadway Inspector I HDR 72.36$     108.54$  74.53$     111.80$  168 20 168 20 80 0 80 0

Lead Structural Inspector G Sylva 132.05$  198.08$  136.01$  204.02$  168 40 168 40 152 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 176 40 168 40 168 40 168 40

Structural Inspector I HDR 78.74$     118.12$  81.11$     121.66$  168 40 168 40 152 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 176 40 168 40 168 40 168 40

Structural Inspector II HDR 104.67$  157.00$  107.81$  161.71$  168 40 168 40 152 40 176 40 176 40 160 40 176 40 176 40 168 40 168 40 168 40

Structural Steel Inspector HDR 182.49$  187.96$  48 0 48 0 48 0

Electrical Inspector HDR 145.11$  149.47$ 

Record Keeper HDR 82.70$     124.05$  85.18$     127.77$  168 0 168 0 152 0 176 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 176 0 168 0 168 0 168 0

SW3P/Barricade Inspector HDR 97.25$     145.87$  100.17$  150.25$  64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0

Utility Coordinator HDR 265.40$  273.36$ 

Survey Manager McGray 165.00$  169.95$ 

Suvey Crew McGray

Materials & Testing Field REL 65.00$     80.50$     66.95$     82.92$     168 40 168 40 152 40 176 40 176 30 160 20 176 20 176 10 168 10 168 10 168 10

Materials & Testing Lab REL

Aug‐20 Sep‐20 Oct‐20Apr‐20Dec‐19 Jan‐20 Feb‐20 Mar‐20 May‐20 Jun‐20 Jul‐20
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FEE SCHEDULE/BUDGET

JOB CLASSIFICATION FIRM

2020 

LOADED 

RATE

2020 

LOADED OT 

RATE

2021 LOADED 

RATE

2021 

LOADED OT 

RATE

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT        

HOURS/

MONTH
OT

Project Manager HDR 281.00$  289.43$       64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0

Resident Engineer HDR 162.64$  167.52$       152 20 176 20 152 20 152 20 184 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 168 0 176 0

Lead Materials Manager HDR 203.63$  209.74$       114 0 132 0 114 0 114 0 138 0 132 0 120 0 132 0 126 0 132 0

Office Engineer Garver 136.96$  141.07$       152 0 176 0 152 0 152 0 184 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 168 0 176 0

Lead Roadway Inspector CDM Smith 119.95$  179.93$  123.55$       185.32$  152 40 132 30 114 20 114 10 138 0 88 0 80 0 88 0 40 0 40 0

Roadway Inspector I HDR 74.53$     111.80$  76.77$         115.15$ 

Lead Structural Inspector G Sylva 136.01$  204.02$  140.09$       210.14$  152 40 176 40 152 40 152 40 138 20 80 0 80 0 80 0 40 0 40 0

Structural Inspector I HDR 81.11$     121.66$  83.54$         125.31$  152 40 176 40 152 30 152 20 92 0 80 0 80 0 40 0

Structural Inspector II HDR 107.81$  161.71$  111.04$       166.56$  152 40 176 30 152 20 152 10 92 0

Structural Steel Inspector HDR 187.96$  193.60$      

Electrical Inspector HDR 149.47$  153.95$       80 0 80 0

Record Keeper HDR 85.18$     127.77$  87.74$         131.60$  152 0 176 0 152 0 152 0 184 0 176 0 160 0 176 0 168 0 176 0

SW3P/Barricade Inspector HDR 100.17$  150.25$  103.17$       154.76$  64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 64 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0 20 0

Utility Coordinator HDR 273.36$  281.56$      

Survey Manager McGray 169.95$  175.05$      

Suvey Crew McGray

Materials & Testing Field REL 66.95$     82.92$     68.96$         85.40$     152 10 176 10 152 10 152 10 80 0 40 0 20 0 20 0

Materials & Testing Lab REL

Aug‐21Nov‐20 Dec‐20 Jan‐21 Feb‐21 Mar‐21 Apr‐21 May‐21 Jun‐21 Jul‐21
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FEE SCHEDULE/BUDGET

JOB CLASSIFICATION FIRM

2018‐2019 

LOADED 

RATE

2018‐2019 

LOADED OT 

RATE

2020 

LOADED 

RATE

2020 

LOADED OT 

RATE

2021 

LOADED 

RATE

2021 

LOADED OT 

RATE

OT Factors

2018‐2019 

Regular 

Hours

2018‐2019 

OT Hours

2020 

Regular 

Hours

2020       

OT Hours

2021 

Regular 

Hours

2021       

OT Hours

Total Hours 

Worked

Total Hours 

Available
Utilization ODE's Total

Contract 

%

Project Manager HDR 272.82$  281.00$  289.43$  1.0 1316 0 768 0 512 0 2596 5893 44% 21,744.65$                   744,765.48$       8.99%

Resident Engineer HDR 157.90$  162.64$  167.52$  1.0 2328 280 2016 240 1344 40 6248 5893 106% 54,361.63$                   1,064,936.51$    12.86%

Lead Materials Manager HDR 197.70$  203.63$  209.74$  1.0 1706 0 1512 0 1008 0 4226 5893 72% 54,361.63$                   910,954.46$       11.00%

Office Engineer Garver 132.97$  136.96$  141.07$  1.0 2248 0 2016 0 1344 0 5608 5893 95% 54,361.63$                   818,990.12$       9.89%

Lead Roadway Inspector CDM Smith 116.46$  174.69$  119.95$  179.93$  123.55$  185.32$  1.5 2328 490 1972 470 702 30 5992 5893 102% 51,051.62$                   821,161.17$       9.91%

Roadway Inspector I HDR 72.36$     108.54$  74.53$     111.80$  76.77$     115.15$  1.5 2000 220 328 20 0 0 2568 5893 44% 20,936.60$                   216,221.53$       2.61%

Lead Structural Inspector G Sylva 132.05$  198.08$  136.01$  204.02$  140.09$  210.14$  1.5 2088 450 2016 480 762 100 5896 5893 100% 51,051.62$                   915,815.34$       11.06%

Structural Inspector I HDR 78.74$     118.12$  81.11$     121.66$  83.54$     125.31$  1.5 1920 410 2016 480 596 50 5472 5893 93% 46,086.61$                   523,669.65$       6.32%

Structural Inspector II HDR 104.67$  157.00$  107.81$  161.71$  111.04$  166.56$  1.5 912 140 2016 470 396 30 3964 5893 67% 46,086.61$                   505,829.64$       6.11%

Structural Steel Inspector HDR 182.49$  187.96$  193.60$  1.0 0 0 144 0 0 0 144 5893 2% 4,820.40$ 31,887.07$         0.38%

Electrical Inspector HDR 145.11$  149.47$  153.95$  1.0 320 0 0 0 160 0 480 5893 8% 9,360.00$ 80,428.97$         0.97%

Record Keeper HDR 82.70$     124.05$  85.18$     127.77$  87.74$     131.60$  1.5 2328 0 2016 0 1344 0 5688 5893 97% 54,361.63$                   536,523.36$       6.48%

SW3P/Barricade Inspector HDR 97.25$     145.87$  100.17$  150.25$  103.17$  154.76$  1.5 896 0 768 0 292 0 1956 5893 33% 17,939.34$                   212,127.79$       2.56%

Utility Coordinator HDR 265.40$  273.36$  281.56$  1.0 220 0 0 0 0 0 220 5893 4% 9,547.20$ 67,934.17$         0.82%

Survey Manager McGray 165.00$  169.95$  175.05$  1.0 10,230.00$         0.12%

Suvey Crew McGray 1,500.00$ 344,798.00$       4.16%

Materials & Testing Field REL 65.00$     80.50$     66.95$     82.92$     68.96$     85.40$     1.5 2248 460 2016 250 464 20 5458 5893 93% 54,361.63$                   426,916.38$       5.15%

Materials & Testing Lab REL 50,000.00$         0.60%

8,283,189.63$   

1,219.65$           

8,284,409.28$  

Sub‐Total (Labor+Monthly ODEs)

Project ODEs

TOTAL
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Description Unit 2018/2019 Rate 2020 Rate 2021 Rate

Cell Phone & Data Plan Month 75.00$                77.25$       79.57$      

Wireless Router/Server Month 35.00$                36.05$       37.13$      

Laptop & Data Plan Month 50.00$                51.50$       53.05$      

Vehicle Month 1,400.00$          1,442.00$ 1,485.26$

Total recurring monthly cost per person 1,560.00$          1,606.80$ 1,655.00$

Copy/Print Paper* Month 35.00$                36.05$       37.13$      

Datum Monument Materials** Each 500.000$           515.000$  530.450$ 

*Monthly charge

**Only used by Survey team

Description Unit 2018/2019 Rate 2020 Rate 2021 Rate

Vehicle Mileage* Mile 0.545$                0.561$       0.578$      

Lodging In‐State/Out‐of‐State** Day 93.00$                95.79$       98.66$      

Meals In‐State/Out‐of‐State** Day 51.00$                52.53$       54.11$      

Air Travel ‐ In State ‐ Short Notice*** Rd Trip/Person 500.00$             515.00$     530.45$    

Air Travel ‐ In State ‐ 2+ Wks Notice*** Rd Trip/Person 350.00$             360.50$     371.32$    

Air Travel ‐ Out of State ‐ 2+ Wks Notice**Rd Trip/Person 450.00$             463.50$     477.41$    

Air Travel ‐ Out of State ‐ Short Notice*** Rd Trip/Person 600.00$             618.00$     636.54$    

Rental Car (including fuel)*** Day 75.00$                77.25$       79.57$      

Parking Day 25.00$                25.75$       26.52$      

* Federal rate

** State rate

*** Max Negotiated Rate

PRO‐RATED ODEs

Vehicle Charge Calculation Basis

Hours Range
Monthly Veh 

Fee % Charged

Monthly  

Amount 

0 ‐ 50 Hrs./Month $1,400.00 25% $350.00

51 ‐ 100 Hrs./Month $1,400.00 50% $700.00

100 ‐ 150 Hrs./Month $1,400.00 75% $1,050.00

151 ‐ 200+ Hrs./Month $1,400.00 100% $1,400.00

Computer Charge Calculation Basis

Hours Range
Monthly Com 

Fee % Charged

Monthly  

Amount 

0 ‐ 50 Hrs./Month $50.00 25% $12.50

51 ‐ 100 Hrs./Month $50.00 50% $25.00

100 ‐ 150 Hrs./Month $50.00 75% $37.50

151 ‐ 200+ Hrs./Month $50.00 100% $50.00

Phone Charge Calculation Basis

Hours Range
Monthly Cell 

Fee % Charged

Monthly  

Amount 

0 ‐ 50 Hrs./Month $75.00 25% $18.75

51 ‐ 100 Hrs./Month $75.00 50% $37.50

100 ‐ 150 Hrs./Month $75.00 75% $56.25

151 ‐ 200+ Hrs./Month $75.00 100% $75.00

* add 3 % increase to these amounts for years 2020, 2021

OTHER DIRECT EXPENSES

OTHER DIRECT EXPENSES
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McGRAY & McGRAY LAND SURVEYORS, INC.
3301 Hancock Drive, Suite 6

Austin, Texas 78731

Office 512/451‐8591  Fax 512/451‐8791

Email mcgray@mcgray.com

CTRMA 2018 Rates

Principal $190.00

Project Manager $165.00

RPLS $145.00

Field Coordinator $98.00

GPS Processing $108.00

Senior Survey Technician $96.00

Survey Technician $88.00

LiDAR Technician $98.00

Researcher (Abstractor) $73.00

Administrative $63.00

Survey Crew ‐ 1 Man Crew $110.00

Survey Crew ‐ 2 Man Crew $150.00

Survey Crew ‐ 3 Man Crew $186.00

GPS Field Person + GPS $150.00

Real Time Kinematic (RTK) Crew + Rover $220.00

LiDAR Scanner $100.00

Additional Vehicle (per day) $70.00

ATV (per day) $85.00
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EXHIBIT E 

INSTRUCTIONS 

DBE PARTICIPATION 

he following pages contain seven (7) different forms (Forms E-1 through E-7) covering participation of DBE 

providers and subproviders. The correct form to use is determined by whether or not a DBE goal has been set for 

the contract. The following pages contain separate reporting forms for federally funded DBE participation. Select 

the forms that are appropriate for your contract and delete the rest along with these instructions from the 

Work Authorization.  

Federally Funded Contracts 

Exhibit F, Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) for Federal-Aid Professional or Technical 

Services Contracts 

 This provision is applicable to federally funded contracts with assigned DBE goals. 

 The appropriate forms for this provision are Forms E-1, E-2, E-3, E-4, E-5, E-6 and E-7. 

Examples of each form required is included in the contract. The native forms that will need to be 

submitted can be downloaded from the Authority’s website. 

 Note: a completed Form E-2 will be required with each Work Authorization, if a DBE will be 

performing work. If a non-DBE subprovider is used, insert N/A (not applicable) on the line 

provided on the Form E-2. 

 Form E-4 must be submitted monthly to the Authority even if there is no invoice being submitted 

or subcontracting to report. 

 Form E-4 must be submitted with each invoice to the appropriate agency contact for payment. 

Exhibit G, Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) for Race Neutral Professional or Technical 

Services Contracts 

 This provision is applicable to federally funded contracts with no DBE goal assigned. 

 If no subconsultants will be used, the appropriate forms for this provision are E-3 and E-5 forms. 

Examples of each form required is included in the contract. The native forms that will need to be 

submitted can be downloaded from the Authority’s website. 

 Note:  If subconsultants are used, the required forms would be Forms E-1, E-2, E-3, E-4, E-5, E-6 

and E-7. A copy of each form required is in the contract. 

 Form E-4 must be submitted monthly to the Authority even if there is no invoice being submitted 

or subcontracting to report. 

 Form E-4 must be submitted with each invoice to the appropriate agency contact for payment. 

Form E-4, Texas Department of Transportation/Authority Subprovider Monitoring System for 

Federally Funded Contracts. This is a DBE Monthly Progress Report. 

 Required for all federally funded contracts. 

 This form is required monthly and must be submitted to the Authority even if there is no invoice 

being submitted or subcontracting to report. 

 This form must be submitted with each invoice to the appropriate agency contact for payment. 

Form E-7, Federal Subprovider and Supplier Information 

Required for all federally funded contracts. 
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     FORM E-1                       

Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 

Subprovider Monitoring System 

Commitment Worksheet 

Contract #:  Assigned Goal: 10%   Federally Funded ___________    State Funded _______ 

Prime Provider:  Total Contract Amount:   

Prime Provider Info:  DBE   ___ HUB ___ Both ___    

Engineer ID #: _________________                DBE/HUB Expiration Date: __________________ 

        (First 11 Digits Only) 

If no subproviders are used on this contract, please indicate by placing “N/A” on the 1st line under Subproviders. 

Subprovider(s) 

(List All) 

Type 

of Work 

Engineer ID # 

(First 11 Digits Only) 

D=DBE 

H=HUB 

Expiration 

Date 

$ Amount or 

% of Work * 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

Subprovider(s) Contract or % of Work* Totals  

 

*For Work Authorization Contracts, indicate the % of work to be performed by each subprovider. 

Total DBE or HUB Commitment Dollars   $   

Total DBE or HUB Commitment Percentages of Contract  %       

 (Commitment Dollars and Percentages are for Subproviders only) 
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Form SMS.4901 (Rev. 06/08) 

Page 1 of 1 

                                                                     FORM E-2                                                                  FormSMS. 4901 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program                   (Rev. 06/08) 

                                                      Commitment Agreement Form    Page 1 of 1 

This commitment is subject to the award and receipt of a signed contract from the Texas Department of Transportation 

for the subject project. 

Project #: County: Contract-CSJ:   

Items of work to be performed (attach a list of work items if more room is required):    

Bid Item # Item Description Unit of Measure Unit Price Quantity Total Per Item  

       

       

       

        

  Total    

The contractor certifies by signature on this agreement that subcontracts will be executed between the prime contractor and 

the DBE subconsultants as listed on the agreement form. If a DBE Subconsultant is unable to perform the work as listed on 

this agreement form, the prime contractor will follow the substitution/replacement approval process as outlined in the 

Contract DBE Special Provision. 

  

IMPORTANT: The signatures of the prime contractor and the DBE, 

and the total commitment amount must always be on the same page. 
  

Prime Contractor: Name/Title (please print):   

Address: Signature:   

Phone: Fax:   

E-mail: Date:   

DBE: Name/Title (please print):   
Engineer No.:   

Address: Signature:   

Phone: Fax:   

E-mail: Date:   

Subconsultant (if the DBE will be a second tier sub): Name/Title (please print):   

Address: Signature:   

Phone: Fax:   

E-mail: Date:   

The Texas Department of Transportation maintains the information collected through this form. With few exceptions, you are 

entitled on request to be informed about the information that we collect about you. Under §§552.021 and 552.023 of the Texas 

Government Code, you also are entitled to receive and review the information. Under §559.004 of the Government Code, you 

are also entitled to have us correct information about you that is incorrect. 

To ensure prompt and efficient handling of your project file we are requesting that all commitments to be presented to the 

Office of Civil Rights, using this basic format.  
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                                                                       FORM E-3                                                           Form SMS.4902 

           DBE Prime Contractor          (Rev. 05/08)  

     To Non-DBE Subconsultants           Page 1 of 1 

              

Project: ___________________________   Contract CSJ: ____________________________ 

 

County: ___________________________   District: _________________________________ 

 

Letting Date: _______________________   For Month of (Mo./Yr.): ____________________ 

 

Contractor: _________________________   Contract Amount: __________________________ 

 

Name of Non-DBE Subconsultant $ Amount Paid 

This Period 

Total $ Amount Paid 

to Date 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Send this report to the District DBE Coordinator. Report is due within 15 days following the end of each calendar month. 

 

Signature:        Date:

 Company Official 

 

The Texas Department of Transportation maintains the information collected through this form. With few exceptions, you 

are entitled on request to be informed about the information that is collected about you. Under §§552.021 and 552.023 of 

the Texas Government Code, you also are entitled to receive and review the information. Under §559.004 of the 

Government Code, you are also entitled to have us correct information about you that is incorrect. 
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 FORM E-4    Form SMS. 4903 

         TxDOT Department of Transportation                      (Rev. 05/08)         

     DBE Monthly Progress Report                            Page 1 of 1 

 

Project: ___________________________   Contract CSJ: ____________________________ 

 

County: ___________________________   District: _________________________________ 

 

Letting Date: _______________________   For Month of (Mo./Yr.): ____________________ 

 

Contractor: _________________________   Contract Amount: _________________________ 

 

DBE Goal: ____________% DBE Goal Dollars: _________________________ 

 

 

Engineer 
Number 

 

 

Name of 
DBE 

Sub/Suppli
er 

 

 

* RC 
or 
RN 

** DBE 

$ Amt Paid 
for Work 

Performed 
this Period 

(X) 

*** $ Amt Paid 
to Non-DBE 

2nd 

Tier Subs 
and Haulers 

(Y) 

 

 

Amt Paid to 
DBEs to Date 

(X-Y) 

 

 

For TxDOT 
use Only 

       

       

       

       

       

       

* Race Conscious or Race Neutral. 

**Goal/commitment progress report amount and/or race-neutral amount. Do not subtract non-DBE second-tier subcontracts and 

haulers from this column. 

*** Report amount of payment DBE subconsultants paid to non-DBE subconsultants/haulers. 

If using a non-DBE hauling firm that leases from DBE truck owner-operators, payments made to each owner-operator must be 

reported separately. 

Any changes to the DBE commitments approved by the department must be reported to the area Engineer.* 

Submissions of this report for periods of negative DBE activity is required. This report is required until all DBE subcontracting or 

material supply activity is completed. 

I hereby certify that the above is a true and correct statement of the amounts paid to the DBE firms listed above. 

 

Signature: _______________________________________  Date: _______________________________________ 

 

This report must be sent to the area Engineer’s office within 15 days following the end of the calendar month. 

 

The Texas Department of Transportation maintains the information collected through this form. With few exceptions, you are entitled 

on request to be informed about the information that is collected about you. Under §§552.021 and 552.023 of the Texas Government 

Code, you also are entitled to receive and review the information. Under §559.004 of the Government Code, you are also entitled to 

have us correct information about you that is incorrect. 
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FORM E-5 

Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority Subprovider Monitoring System for Federally Funded Contracts 

Progress Assessment Report for month of (Mo./Yr.)  _____________/________ 

 

Contract #:   Original Contract Amount:   

 

Date of Execution:    Approved Supplemental Agreements:   

 

Prime Provider:    Total Contract Amount:   

 

Work Authorization No.   Work Authorization Amount:   

If no subproviders are used on this contract, please indicate by placing “N/A” on the 1st line under Subproviders. 

      

DBE 

All 

Subproviders 

Category of Work Total            

Subprovider Amount 

% Total Contract 

Amount 

Amount Paid 

This Period 

Amount Paid   

To Date 

Subcontract  Balance 

Remaining 

        

        

        

        

        

        

Fill out Progress Assessment Report with each estimate/invoice submitted, for all subcontracts, and forward as follows: 

1 Copy with Invoice - Contract Manager/Managing Office 

1 Copy – CTRMA DBE Liaison, c/o Atkins or WSP, ______________________________, Austin, Texas 

I hereby certify that the above is a true and correct statement of the amounts paid to the firms listed above. 

       

Print Name - Company Official /DBE Liaison Officer Signature Phone Date 

    

Email  Fax  
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                 Form SMS. 4903 

                  (Rev. 09/10) 

                   Page 1 of 1 

        FORM E-6 

DBE Final Report 

The DBE final report form should be filled out by the contractor and submitted to the appropriate district office upon completion of 

the project. One copy of the report must be submitted to the area Engineer’s office. The report should reflect all DBE activity on the 

project. The report will aid in expediting the final estimate for payment. If the DBE goal requirements were not met, 

documentation supporting good faith efforts must be submitted. 

Project: ___________________________   Contract CSJ: ____________________________ 

 

County: ___________________________   Control Project: ___________________________ 

 

Letting Date: _______________________   DBE Goal: ________________________________ 

 

Contractor: _________________________   Contract Amount: _________________________ 

 

 

Engineer 
Number 

 

 

Name of 
DBE 

Sub/Suppli
er 

 

 

* RC 
or 
RN 

** DBE 

$ Amt Paid 
for Work 

Performed 
this Period 

(X) 

*** $ Amt Paid 
to Non-DBE 

2nd 

Tier Subs 
and Haulers 

(Y) 

 

 

Amt Paid to 
DBEs to Date 

(X-Y) 

 

 

For TxDOT 
use Only 

       

       

       

       

* Race Conscious or Race Neutral. 

**Goal/commitment progress report amount and/or race-neutral amount. Do not subtract non-DBE second-tier subcontracts and 

haulers from this column. 

*** Report amount of payment DBE subconsultants paid to non-DBE subconsultants/haulers. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Was there a project under-run caused by a TxDOT change order that impacted DBE Goal attainment? 

 
______ Yes _______ No      Change Order Number  ____________________________________ 

 

This is to certify that _______ % of the work was completed by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises as stated above. 

 

By ________________________________________ Per: __________________________________ 

       Name of General Contractor    Contractor’s Signature 

Subscribed and sworn to before me, this _________ day of _____________, A.D. _________ 

 

_______________________________________  ____________________________________ 

Notary Public      County
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FORM E-7       

Federal Subprovider and Supplier Information 

The Provider shall indicate below the name, address and phone number of all successful and unsuccessful 

subproviders and/or suppliers that provided proposals/quotes for this contract prior to execution. You may 

reproduce this form if additional space is needed.  

Name Address Phone Number 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

The information must be provided and returned with the contract. 

  

__________________________________    __________________ 

Signature        Date 

 

________________________           

Printed Name     Email      Phone# 
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EXHIBIT F 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) 

for Federal-Aid Professional or Technical Services Contracts 

Special Provision 

 

1) PURPOSE. The purpose of this attachment is to carry out the U.S. Department of 

Transportation’s  (“DOT”) policy of ensuring nondiscrimination in the award and 

administration of DOT assisted contracts and creating a level playing field on which firms 

owned and controlled by minority or socially and economically disadvantaged individuals 

can compete fairly for DOT assisted contracts. 

 

2) POLICY. It is the policy of the DOT, the Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority (the 

“Authority”) and the Texas Department of Transportation (the “Department”) that 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBEs) as defined in 49 CFR Part 26, Subpart A and the 

Department’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program (“DBE Program”), shall have the 

opportunity to participate in the performance of contracts financed in whole or in part with 

Federal funds. The Authority and the Department previously entered into a Memorandum of 

Understanding Regarding the Adoption of the Texas Department of Transportation’s 

Federally-Approved Disadvantaged Business Opportunity Program by the Central Texas 

Regional Authority (the “MOU”) dated effective February 1, 2007. The MOU provides that 

the Authority has adopted the Department’s DBE Program with the consent of the Federal 

Highway Administration for contracts financed in whole or in part with Federal funds. 

Consequently, the Disadvantaged Business Enterprise requirements of 49 CFR Part 26, and the 

Department’s DBE Program, apply to this contract as follows: 

a. The Provider will offer Disadvantaged Business Enterprises, as defined in 49 CFR Part 26, 

Subpart A and the Department’s DBE Program, the opportunity to compete fairly for contracts 

and subcontracts financed in whole or in part with Federal funds. In this regard, the Provider 

shall make a good faith effort to meet the Disadvantaged Business Enterprise goal for this 

contract. 

b. The Provider and any subprovider(s) shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national 

origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The Provider shall carry out applicable 

requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of DOT assisted contracts. 

The requirements of this Special Provision shall be physically included in any subcontract. 

c. When submitting the contract for execution by the Authority, the Provider must complete and 

furnish Form E-1 which lists the commitments made to certified DBE subprovider(s) that are 

to meet the contract goal and Form E-2 which is a commitment agreement(s) containing the 

original signatures of the Provider and the proposed DBE(s). For Work Authorization 

Contracts, Form E-1 is required at the time of submitting the contract for execution by the 

Authority. Form E-2 will be required to be completed and attached with each work 

authorization number that is submitted for execution, if the DBE will be performing work. Any 

substitutions or changes to the DBE subcontract amount shall be subject to prior written 

approval by the Authority. If non-DBE subprovider is performing work, insert N/A (not 

applicable) on the line provided. 
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d. Failure to carry out the requirements set forth above shall constitute a material breach of this 

contract and may result; in termination of the contract by the Authority; in a deduction of the 

amount of DBE goal not accomplished by DBEs from the money due or to become due to the 

Provider, not as a penalty but as liquidated damages to the Authority; or such other remedy or 

remedies as the Authority deems appropriate. 

3) DEFINITIONS. 

a. “Authority” means the Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority. 

b. “Department” means the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT). 

c. “Federal-Aid Contract” is any contract between the Authority and a Provider which is paid for 

in whole or in part with U. S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”) financial assistance. 

d. “Provider” is any individual or company that provides professional or technical services.  

e. “DBE Joint Venture” means an association of a DBE firm and one (1) or more other firm(s) to 

carry out a single business enterprise for profit for which purpose they combine their property, 

capital, efforts, skills and knowledge, and in which the DBE is responsible for a distinct, clearly 

defined portion of the work of the contract and whose share in the capital contribution, control, 

management, risks and profits of the joint venture are commensurate with its ownership 

interest.  

f. “Disadvantaged Business Enterprise” or “DBE” means a firm certified as such by the 

Department in accordance with 49 CFR Part 26 and listed on the Department’s website under 

the Texas Unified Certification Program.  

g. “Good Faith Effort” means efforts to achieve a DBE goal or other requirement of this Special 

Provision which, by their scope, intensity, and appropriateness to the objective, can reasonably 

be expected to fulfill the program requirement. 

h.  “Race-neutral DBE Participation” means any participation by a DBE through customary 

competitive procurement procedures. 

i. “DBE Liaison” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.e. herein. 

 

4) PERCENTAGE GOAL. The goal for Disadvantaged Business Enterprise participation in the 

work to be performed under this contract is 6% of the contract amount. This goal is established 

in accordance with the provisions of the MOU. 

 

5) PROVIDER’S RESPONSIBILITIES. A DBE prime may receive credit toward the DBE 

goal for work performed by his-her own forces and work subcontracted to DBEs. A DBE prime 

must make a good faith effort to meet the goals. In the event a DBE prime subcontracts to a 

non-DBE, that information must be reported to the Authority on Form E-3. 

a. A Provider who cannot meet the contract goal, in whole or in part, shall document the “Good 

Faith Efforts” taken to obtain DBE participation. The following is a list of the types of actions 

that may be considered as good faith efforts. It is not intended to be a mandatory checklist, nor 

is it intended to be exclusive or exhaustive. Other factors or types of efforts may be relevant in 

appropriate cases.  
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(1) Soliciting through all reasonable and available means the interest of all certified DBEs 

who have the capability to perform the work of the contract. The solicitation must be 

done within sufficient time to allow the DBEs to respond to it. Appropriate steps must 

be taken to follow up initial solicitations to determine, with certainty, if the DBEs are 

interested. 

(2) Selecting portions of the work to be performed by DBEs to increase the likelihood that 

the DBE goals will be achieved. This includes, where appropriate, breaking out 

contract work items into economically feasible units to facilitate DBE participation, 

even when the Provider might otherwise prefer to perform the work items with its own 

forces.  

(3) Providing interested DBEs with adequate information about the plans, specifications, 

and requirements of the contract in a timely manner to assist them in responding to a 

solicitation.  

(4) Negotiating in good faith with interested DBEs by making a portion of the work 

available to DBE subproviders and suppliers and selecting those portions of the work 

or material needs consistent with the available DBE subproviders and suppliers. 

(5) The ability or desire of the Provider to perform the work of a contract with its own 

organization does not relieve the Provider’s responsibility to make a good faith effort. 

Additional costs involved in finding and using DBEs is not in itself sufficient reason 

for a Provider’s failure to meet the contract DBE goal, if such costs are reasonable. 

Providers are not, however, required to accept higher quotes from DBEs if the price 

difference is excessive or unreasonable. 

(6) Not rejecting DBEs as being unqualified without sound reasons based on a thorough 

investigation of their capabilities. 

(7) Making efforts to assist interested DBEs in obtaining bonding, lines of credit, or 

insurance as required by the recipient or Provider. 

(8) Making efforts to assist interested DBEs in obtaining necessary equipment, supplies, 

materials or related assistance or services. 

(9) Effectively using the services of available minority/women community organizations; 

minority/women contractors’ groups; local, state, and Federal minority/women 

business assistance offices; and other organizations as allowed on a case-by-case basis 

to provide assistance in the recruitment and placement of DBEs. 

(10) If the Department’s Director of the Business Opportunity Programs Office or the 

Authority’s DBE Liaison determines that the Provider has failed to meet the good faith 

effort requirements, the Provider will be given an opportunity for reconsideration by 

the Department or the Authority, as appropriate.  

NOTE:  The Provider must not cause or allow subproviders to bid their services. 

b. The preceding information shall be submitted directly to the Chair of the Engineer Selection 

Team responsible for the project. 

c. The Provider shall make all reasonable efforts to honor commitments to DBE subproviders 

named in the commitment submitted under Section 2.c. of this attachment. Where the Provider 

terminates or removes a DBE subprovider named in the initial commitment, the Provider must 
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demonstrate on a case-by-case basis to the satisfaction of the Authority that the originally 

designated DBE was not able or willing to perform.  

d. he Provider shall make a good faith effort to replace a DBE subprovider that is unable or 

unwilling to perform successfully with another DBE, to the extent needed to meet the contract 

goal. The Provider shall submit a completed Form E-2 for the substitute firm(s). Any 

substitution of DBEs shall be subject to prior written approval by the Authority. The Authority 

may request a statement from the firm being replaced concerning its replacement prior to 

approving the substitution. 

e. The Provider shall designate a DBE liaison officer (“DBE Liaison”) who will administer the 

DBE program and who will be responsible for maintenance of records of efforts and contacts 

made to subcontract with DBEs. 

f. Providers are encouraged to investigate the services offered by banks owned and controlled by 

disadvantaged individuals and to make use of these banks where feasible. 

 

6) ELIGIBILITY OF DBEs. 

a. The Department certifies the eligibility of DBEs, DBE joint ventures and DBE truck-owner 

operators to perform DBE subcontract work on DOT financially assisted contracts. Under the 

terms of the MOU, only DBEs certified as eligible to participate on Department roadway 

construction projects and listed on the Department’s website under the Texas Unified 

Certification Program are eligible to participate on Authority roadway construction projects. 

b. This certification will be accomplished through the use of the appropriate certification schedule 

contained in the Department’s DBE program and adopted by the Authority under the terms of 

the MOU. 

c. The Department publishes a Directory of Disadvantaged Business Enterprises containing the 

names of firms that have been certified to be eligible to participate as DBEs on DOT financially 

assisted contracts. The directory is available from the Department’s Business Opportunity 

Programs Office. The Texas Unified Certification Program DBE Directory can be found on 

the Internet at: 

 http://www.dot.state.tx.us/services/business_opportunity_programs/tucp_dbe_directory.htm . 

d. Only DBE firms certified at the time the contract is signed or at the time the commitments are 

submitted are eligible to be used in the information furnished by the Provider as required under 

Section 2.c. and 5.d. above. For purposes of the DBE goal on this contract, DBEs will only be 

allowed to perform work in the categories of work for which they were certified. 

 

7) DETERMINATION OF DBE PARTICIPATION. A firm must be an eligible DBE and 

perform a professional or technical function relating to the project. Once a firm is determined 

to be an eligible DBE, the total amount paid to the DBE for work performed with his/her own 

forces is counted toward the DBE goal. When a DBE subcontracts part of the work of its 

contract to another firm, the value of the subcontracted work may be counted toward DBE 

goals only if the subprovider is itself a DBE. Work that a DBE subcontracts to a non-DBE firm 

does not count toward DBE goals.  

http://www.dot.state.tx.us/services/business_opportunity_programs/tucp_dbe_directory.htm
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A DBE subprovider may subcontract no more than 70% of a federal aid contract. The DBE 

subprovider shall perform not less than 30% of the value of the contract work with assistance of 

employees employed and paid directly by the DBE; and equipment owned or rented directly by the 

DBE. DBE subproviders must perform a commercially useful function required in the contract in 

order for payments to be credited toward meeting the contract goal. A DBE performs a 

commercially useful function when it is responsible for executing the work of the contract and is 

carrying out its responsibilities by actually performing, managing, and supervising the work 

involved. To perform a commercially useful function, the DBE must also be responsible, with 

respect to materials and supplies used on the contract, for negotiating price, determining quality 

and quantity, ordering the material, and installing (where applicable) and paying for the material 

itself. When a DBE is presumed not to be performing a commercially useful function, the DBE 

may present evidence to rebut this presumption.  

A Provider may count toward its DBE goal a portion of the total value of the contract amount paid 

to a DBE joint venture equal to the distinct, clearly defined portion of the work of the contract 

performed by the DBE. 

Proof of payment, such as copies of canceled checks, properly identifying the Authority’s contract 

number or project number may be required to substantiate the payment, as deemed necessary by 

the Authority. 

 

8) RECORDS AND REPORTS. 

a. After submission of the initial commitment reported (Form E-1), required by Section 2.c. of 

this attachment, the Provider shall submit Monthly Progress Assessment Reports (Forms E-4 

and E-5), after contract work begins, on DBE involvement to meet the goal and for race-neutral 

participation. One copy of each report is to be sent monthly to the Authority as provided in 

Section 8.b. below and should also be submitted with the Provider’s invoice. Only actual 

payments made to subproviders are to be reported. These reports will be required until 

all subprovider activity is completed. The Authority may verify the amounts being reported 

as paid to DBEs by requesting copies of canceled checks paid to DBEs on a random basis. 

b. DBE subproviders should be identified on the report by name, type of work being performed, 

the amount of actual payment made to each during the billing period, cumulative payment 

amount and percentage of the total contract amount. These reports will be due within fifteen 

(15) days after the end of a calendar month. Reports are required even when no DBE activity 

has occurred in a billing period. 

c. All such records must be retained for a period of four (4) years following final payment or until 

any investigation, audit, examination, or other review undertaken during the four (4) years is 

completed, and shall be available at reasonable times and places for inspection by authorized 

representatives of the Authority, the Department or the DOT. 

d. Prior to receiving final payment, the Provider shall submit a Final Report (Form E-6), detailing 

the DBE payments. The Final Report is to be sent to the Authority and one (1) copy is to be 

submitted with the Provider’s final invoice. If the DBE goal requirement is not met, 

documentation of the good faith efforts made to meet the goal must be submitted with the Final 

Report. 
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9) COMPLIANCE OF PROVIDER. To ensure that DBE requirements of this DOT-assisted 

contract are complied with, the Authority and/or the Department will monitor the Provider’s 

efforts to involve DBEs during the performance of this contract. This will be accomplished by 

a review of DBE Monthly Progress Reports (Form E-4), submitted to the Authority by the 

Provider indicating his progress in achieving the DBE contract goal, and by compliance 

reviews conducted by the Authority or the Department. The DBE Monthly Progress Report 

(Form E-4) must be submitted at a minimum monthly to the Authority, in addition to with each 

invoice to the appropriate agency contact.  

The Provider shall receive credit toward the DBE goal based on actual payments to the DBE 

subproviders with the following exceptions and only if the arrangement is consistent with standard 

industry practice. The Provider shall immediately contact the Authority in writing if he/she 

withholds or reduces payment to any DBE subprovider.  

(1) A DBE firm is paid but does not assume contractual responsibility for performing the 

service; 

(2) A DBE firm does not perform a commercially useful function; 

(3) Payment is made to a DBE that cannot be linked by an invoice or canceled check to the 

contract under which credit is claimed; 

(4) Payment is made to a broker or a firm with a brokering-type operation; or 

(5) Partial credit is allowed, in the amount of the fee or commission provided the fee or 

commission does not exceed that customarily allowed for similar services, for a bona fide 

service, such as professional, technical, Engineer, or managerial services, and assistance in 

the procurement of essential personnel, facilities, equipment, materials, or supplies 

required for performance of the contract. 

A Provider’s failure to comply with the requirements of this Special Provision shall constitute a 

material breach of this contract. In such a case, the Authority reserves the right to terminate the 

contract; to deduct the amount of DBE goal not accomplished by DBEs from the money due or to 

become due the Provider, not as a penalty but as liquidated damages to the Authority; or such other 

remedy or remedies as the Authority deems appropriate.
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EXHIBIT G 

Invoice Template 

 

To be provided after execution 
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EXHIBIT H 

Confidentiality Agreement 

 

I, _______________________________________, hereby agree as follows:  

(print first and last name)  

 

Except as otherwise permitted by this Agreement, I will maintain the confidentiality of any and all 

information relating to the consideration, study, evaluation, planning, procurement, and development of 

the Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III Project that I gain access to. This includes, but is not limited 

to, proprietary information, information designated confidential by the Central Texas Regional Mobility 

Authority (Mobility Authority) or by proposer teams, information discussed at meetings or contained in 

minutes or notes of those meetings, qualification submittals, proposals, information and requests 

submitted by proposer teams, information regarding project-related cost estimates, proposal prices, 

alternative technical concepts, project development or financing plans, tolling policies, advanced funding 

agreements, project development agreements, traffic and revenue data or any other information related to 

the Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III Project to which that I gain access (Confidential Information). 

 

I will not, without the prior written consent of the Mobility Authority’s Executive Director, or unless 

ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or an opinion of the Office of the Attorney General, or as 

otherwise required by law, disclose any Confidential Information to any person or entity to whom 

disclosure is not authorized under this Agreement, or use any Confidential Information for any 

unauthorized purpose. I will only communicate Confidential Information to Mobility Authority 

employees or consultants retained by the Mobility Authority who have executed a confidentiality 

agreement in this same or substantially similar form or who are covered under similar confidentiality 

agreements for the Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III Project, attorneys employed by the Mobility 

Authority who have executed a confidentiality agreement in this same or substantially similar form and 

are representing Mobility Authority’s interests in a matter related to the Manor Expressway (290E) 

Phase III Project, persons employed by the Office of the Attorney General who are administering and 

reviewing requests under the Texas Public Information Act for Confidential Information and who are 

prohibited by law from disclosing information submitted in response to a request, and members of the 

Mobility Authority Board of Directors. If contacted by a person to whom disclosure is not authorized with 

a request for Confidential Information, I will promptly forward such request to the Mobility Authority 

Director of Engineering. I will also maintain security and control over all documents containing such 

Confidential Information in my custody.  

 

The requirements of this Agreement shall not apply to any disclosure of information that is in the public 

domain or to any disclosure that is protected under the whistleblower provisions of federal or state law or 

regulation.  

 

 

Signed: ______________________________________  

Company/Organization: ____________________________  

Date: ___________________________ 
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ATTACHMENT C 

SUPPLEMENTAL WORK AUTHORIZATION NO. ____ 

TO WORK AUTHORIZATION NO. ____ 

CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING & INSPECTION SERVICES 

 

 THIS SUPPLEMENTAL WORK AUTHORIZATION is made pursuant to the terms 

and conditions of Article 4 of the Contract for Construction Engineering & Inspection Services (the 

“Contract”) entered into by and between the Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority (the 

Authority”) and ________________________________ (the “Engineer”) dated 

‘____________________. 

 The following terms and conditions of Work Authorization No. ____ are hereby amended as 

follows: 

 

 

 This Supplemental Work Authorization shall become effective on the date of final 

execution of the parties hereto. All other terms and conditions of Work Authorization No. ____ 

not hereby amended are to remain in full force and effect.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Supplemental Work Authorization is executed in duplicate 

counterparts and hereby accepted and acknowledged below. 

 

      THE ENGINEER    CENTRAL TEXAS REGIONAL 

       MOBILITY AUTHORITY  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

 (Signature)      (Signature) 

 

______________________________        Mike Heiligenstein   

 (Printed Name)     

 

                                                                                          Executive Director   

 (Title)     

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

(Date)       (Date)
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ATTACHMENT D 

LIST OF KEY PERSONNEL 

 

At a minimum the Key Personnel shall consist of the following: 

 

1. Project Manager/Construction Manager – Paul Bowen 

2. Resident Engineer – Raphael Campos 

3. Lead Materials Manager – Chien-Nan Fu 

4. Office Engineer – John Grounds 

5. Lead Roadway Inspector – Terry Gentry 

6. Lead Structural Inspector - Undetermined 

7. Survey Manager – Chris Conrad 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Exhibit B 
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Work Authorization No.13 

This Work Authorization is made as of this 26th day of September, 2018, under the terms 
and conditions established in the AGREEMENT FOR GENERAL CONSULTING 
ENGINEERING SERVICES, dated as of December 19th, 2017 (the Agreement), between 
the Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority (Authority) and Atkins North 
America, Inc. (GEC).  This Work Authorization is made for the following purpose, 
consistent with the services defined in the Agreement: 

 
Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III 

Construction Services 
 
Section A. - Scope of Services 

A.1. GEC shall perform the following Services: 
 
 Please reference Attachment A – Services to be Provided by the GEC 
 
A.2. The following Services are not included in this Work Authorization, but shall be 
provided as Additional Services if authorized or confirmed in writing by the 
Authority. 
 

Not applicable. 
 
A.3. In conjunction with the performance of the foregoing Services, GEC shall 
provide the following submittals/deliverables (Documents) to the Authority: 

 
 Please reference Attachment A – Services to be Provided by the GEC 

 
Section B. - Schedule 

GEC shall perform the Services and deliver the related Documents (if any) according 
to the following schedule: 

 
Services defined herein are expected to be substantially complete within thirty-six 
(36) months from the date this Work Authorization becomes effective.  This 
Work Authorization will not expire until all tasks associated with the Scope of 
Services are complete. 

 
Section C. - Compensation 

C.1. In return for the performance of the foregoing obligations, the Authority shall 
pay to the GEC the amount not to exceed $3,309,460 based on Attachment B -Fee 
Estimate.  Compensation for Direct Expenses under this Supplement which are 
incurred as part of normal business operations (i.e., internal document reproduction, 
internal plotting, travel and parking associated with local meetings, etc.) will be 
reimbursed on a Lump-Sum basis in the amount of:   $290,300 (with $8,063.89 to be 
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invoiced monthly). Profit will be 10% for all services.  Compensation shall be in 
accordance with the Agreement. 
 
C.2. Compensation for Additional Services (if any) shall be paid by the Authority to 
the GEC according to the terms of a future Work Authorization. 

 
Section D. - Authority’s Responsibilities 

The Authority shall perform and/or provide the following in a timely manner so as not to 
delay the Services of the GEC. Unless otherwise provided in this Work Authorization, 
the Authority shall bear all costs incident to compliance with the following: 
 
Not applicable 
 

Section E. - Other Provisions 
The parties agree to the following provisions with respect to this specific Work 
Authorization: 

 
Not applicable. 

 
 
 
 

Except to the extent expressly modified herein, all terms and conditions of the Agreement 
shall continue in full force and effect. 
 
Authority: Central Texas Regional Mobility 

Authority 
GEC:  Atkins North America, Inc. 

 
 

By: 

 
 
 Mike Heiligenstein By:

 
 

                        
 
 

Signature: 

 
 
   Signature:

 
 

  
 
 

Title: 

 
 
 Executive Director Title:

 
 
                                   

 
 

Date: 

 
 
   Date:
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GENERAL 

The work to be performed by the General Engineering Consultant (GEC) will include project management 
services necessary to oversee the construction of the Manor Expressway (290E) Phase III (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Project”) through the use of a Design/Bid/Build Contract (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Contract”).  This will entail those professional services and associated deliverables required to complete 
the oversight activities associated with the management of the Construction Engineering and Inspection 
Consultant and the construction Contractor. 

The Mobility Authority has procured a Construction Engineering and Inspection (CE&I) contract to support 
the project oversight team.  The GEC will provide support to assist with administering the CE&I service 
provider contract.   

The GEC will be the single point of contact between the Mobility Authority and Contractor, acting as an 
extension of the Mobility Authority’s staff by providing qualified technical and professional personnel to 
perform the duties and responsibilities assigned under the terms of this Agreement.  The GEC shall not 
control the construction under the Contract.  Oversight reviews by the GEC will not relieve the Contractor 
of sole responsibility for the means and methods of construction, or for health or safety precautions in 
connection with the work under the Contract. With comments and recommendations provided by the GEC, 
Final Acceptance decisions for construction shall be made by the Mobility Authority staff and coordinated 
with TxDOT as applicable. 

The GEC will maintain core oversight staff at the Contractor-provided project office to manage and 
administer the planning, execution and construction; including invoicing and administrative support, for 
activities required to complete the overall oversight efforts.  This staff will represent the Mobility 
Authority’s interests on the Project. 

TASK 1 PROJECT MANAGEMENT (CODE 13720) 

The GEC will provide staff to administer, manage, review and coordinate development of the Project.  
The GEC will develop and maintain a staffing plan for consistency and appropriate levels of Project 
staffing.  Activities included in this task: 

A. Contracting Support 

Complete various Contracting phase efforts associated with the Contractor and CE&I 
procurement, including: 

 Assist Mobility Authority in negotiating the final contract language. 
 Assist Mobility Authority in reviewing insurance and bond documents for inclusion in the 

Contract. 
 Assist Mobility Authority in preparing the final conformed Contract for execution. 
 Conduct debriefings on behalf of the Mobility Authority for proposers to the CE&I 

procurement that were not selected. 
 Final filing and documentation. 

B. Bond Sale/Finance Support  

 Develop detailed capital cost estimates defining all elements necessary for project 
implementation as part of the System. 
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 Develop detailed annualized cost estimate for funding of necessary operations, 
maintenance, and renewal & replacement elements for the duration of the bonds. 

 Develop comprehensive schedules defining all elements of the project, including the 
critical path tasks that directly affect the opening of the project. 

 Prepare the Engineer’s Report necessary for the bond sale with a detailed description and 
history of the bonded project, comprehensive schedules, detailed capital cost estimates, and 
annualized operations, maintenance, and renewal & replacement cost estimates. 

 Support the Mobility Authority in development of the Preliminary Official Statement and 
the Final Official Statement. 

 Coordinate as necessary with the Authority, Bond Counsels, Financial Advisors, and 
Underwriters on the bond finance team. 

 Issue such certificates as are required to be delivered by the GEC regarding specific scope 
of the project; estimated capital costs; estimated operations, maintenance, and renewal & 
replacement costs; and implementation/open to traffic schedule. 

 Present the accuracy and reliability of project costs and schedules to the bond rating 
agencies and insurers during bond sales. 

 Support the Mobility Authority with the preparation of a TIFIA application and supporting 
documentation. 

 Provide support as needed for the management of the terms and conditions of the Financial 
Agreement and Project Development Agreement with TxDOT. 

C. Project Administration 

 Report Project progress and issues in a timely manner. 
 Review, monitor, and report on Contractor's Project schedule.  
 Review and submit a report on the Contractor's as-built plans.  
 Maintain accurate records of the costs involved in potential change order work. These 

records will include labor and equipment times and materials installed (temporary or 
permanent) in the portion of the work in dispute. 

 Assist in the surveillance of the Contractor's compliance with contract requirements. The 
GEC is responsible for reviewing, monitoring, evaluating, and acting upon documentation 
required for Contract compliance and maintaining the appropriate files thereof. Typical 
areas of compliance responsibility include EEO Affirmative Action, DBE, OJT positions 
and number of hours, and payroll and subcontracts. 

 Provide management and administrative support for Mobility Authority oversight team 
service providers that will perform public involvement, construction inspection, materials 
testing, and survey services as part of the oversight team. 

 Provide compliance oversight of third party agreements and development permits that are 
to be completed and executed by the Contractor including: 
o Dewatering permits 
o NPDES permits 
o Demolition permits 
o Noise permits 
o Capital Metro agreements 

D. Project Coordination 

 Work with the Mobility Authority, TxDOT, Contractor, third party consultants, utility 
companies, public agencies, TxDOT’s SH 130 contractors, contractors and the general 
public to coordinate Project development and implementation. 
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 Coordinate the details of and participate in Project’s preconstruction meeting to be held 
shortly after notice to proceed has been given to the Contractor. 

E. Sub-Consultants  

 Coordinate, contract, and provide oversight for all sub-consultants to the GEC. 

F. Change Order Processing & Management 

 Provide review of potential change orders on the Project and process in accordance with 
the Contract and coordinate with external agencies as required. 

 Review change order cost estimates prepared by the Contractor, evaluate Contractor claims 
for extension of time, and provide comments and recommendations to the Mobility 
Authority. 

 Maintain log and retain all documents associated with potential change orders. 
 Provide constructability reviews of Work Sequence Plans submitted by the Contractor.  

The Contractor will be responsible for final approval. 

G. Dispute/Claims Support 

The GEC will provide consultation and assistance to the Mobility Authority and their General 
Counsel related to aspects of the design, construction, duties and services required during the 
development and implementation of the Project: 

 Assemble supporting documentation, review, analyze and provide recommendations to the 
Mobility Authority on the Contractor’s submittal of a dispute. 

 Review, analyze and make recommendations to the Mobility Authority on the Contractor’s 
claim package submittal. 

H. Project Meetings & Documentation 

The GEC will facilitate the following Project meetings to assess progress, schedule, and quality 
of services being provided as well as identify issues: 

 Internal Team Meetings (Weekly) 
 Internal Project Review Meetings (Monthly) 
 Issue Resolution Meetings (As Needed) 
 Mobility Authority Construction Status Update Meetings (Monthly) 
 Mobility Authority Board Meetings (Quarterly) 
 Maintenance of Traffic (Weekly) 
 Public Information (Weekly) 
 4-Week Rolling Schedule Review (Weekly) 
 Comprehensive Schedule (Monthly) 

 
The GEC will prepare agendas, meeting minutes, action plans and follow-up action item status 
for each of the GEC Project meetings and distribute to attendees and appropriate personnel. 

I. Documentation 

The GEC will review for completeness and accuracy the agendas, meeting minutes, action 
items and follow-up action item status prepared by the Contractor for each of the Contractor 
meetings. 



MOBILITY AUTHORITY GEC Atkins Work Authorization No. 13 September 26, 2018 
Attachment A - Services to be Provided by the GEC  Page 4 of 8 

J. Document Controls 

 Develop and implement a document control plan; including training of Project personnel 
including the CE&I firm and the Contractor in the use of document management system 
application and protocol. 

 Assist the CE&I firm in the maintenance of the Project files for the duration of the Project. 
 Transfer program files to the Mobility Authority upon completion of the work or as 

directed by the Mobility Authority. 
 Import documents into the Mobility Authority’s Electronic Document Management 

System (EDMS) as necessary. 

K. Document Distribution 

 Assign identification coding to incoming and outgoing Project related documentation and 
perform entry into the EDMS. 

 Prepare, manage, record, distribute and archive documentation of Project activities, 
progress, and related communications. 

 Log and track submittals and deliverables. 

L. Response to Open Records Requests 

 Perform retrieval of documents as a result of open records requests. 
 

TASK 2 – REPORTING (CODE 13720) 

The GEC will provide reporting required in accordance with the TxDOT Project Development 
Agreement (PDA), TxDOT Financial Agreement (FA), Bond Indenture, TIFIA, and the 
Mobility Authority.  The GEC will provide qualified technical and professional personnel to 
perform this task.  The following activities are included:  

A. Program Reporting  

 Prepare and issue monthly reports on the Project’s status which will document any issues, 
delays encountered, and corrective actions as necessary. 

 Provide a monthly update to the Mobility Authority on key milestones accomplished 
during the preceding month, meetings and key activities for the upcoming month, and 
identify outstanding issues requiring resolution. 

 Track, monitor, and report on contracts and budgets for the GEC, third party consultants 
and the Contractor. 

 Track, monitor, and prepare reports on DBE/HUB utilization for Contractor’s DBE/HUB 
program, third party consultants, and GEC Team. 

B. TxDOT Reporting 

 In coordination with TxDOT Austin District staff, develop template documents to be used 
for Project status to TxDOT. 

 Prepare and issue required monthly reports on the Project’s status to TxDOT.  
 Develop and submit monthly reimbursement requests to TxDOT. 

C. Trust Indenture Obligations 

 Prepare monthly reports with an executive summary that provides a comprehensive 
summary of the monthly activities and the overall Project progress.  
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 Prepare quarterly reports with an executive summary that provides a comprehensive 
summary of the monthly reports and the overall Project progress. 

D. TIFIA 

 Prepare monthly reports with an executive summary that provides a comprehensive 
summary of the monthly activities and the overall Project progress. 

 Prepare quarterly reports with an executive summary that provides a comprehensive 
summary of the monthly reports and the overall Project progress. 

 

TASK 3 – PROJECT CONTROLS (CODE 13720) 

The GEC will provide project controls required to manage the project and inform the Mobility 
Authority of key developments.  The GEC will provide qualified technical and professional personnel 
to perform this task.  The following activities are included:  

A. Project Schedule 

The GEC will provide staff to coordinate the Project scheduling efforts.  Specific activities 
include: 

 Evaluate, monitor and verify according to contractual requirements, Contractor’s Project 
schedule (baseline and updates) and Recovery Schedule.  

 Report and verify the Contractor’s progress and upcoming milestones on a monthly basis 
to the Mobility Authority. 

 Identify, catalog, and archive Baseline Schedule, schedule revisions, updates and Recovery 
Schedules.  Evaluate time impacts and report recommendations to the Mobility Authority.   

 Develop and maintain a detailed owner project schedule that will be used to independently 
assess the status and health of the project. 

 
TASK 4 – CONSTRUCTION OVERSIGHT (CODE 13720) 

The GEC will provide professional services associated with construction oversight including the 
construction engineering in accordance with the PDA, Contract and Systems Integrator (SI) Contract.  
The GEC will provide qualified technical and professional personnel to perform this task.  In 
performance of this task, the GEC shall not direct, manage or control the Contractor’s or SI’s 
construction work activities. Construction Oversight by the GEC will not relieve the Contractor or SI 
of sole responsibility for the means and methods of the construction, or for health or safety 
precautions in connection with this work.  The Engineer(s) of Record will remain responsible for 
design related services. 

Construction oversight efforts will focus on coordination with the Contractor’s and SI’s construction 
processes to provide monitoring and oversight of reasonable compliance obligations, sound 
engineering practices and regulatory requirements.  The following activities are included: 

A. General Technical Support 

The GEC will provide technical support and management assistance as required by the 
Mobility Authority toward the successful completion of the Project; including: 

 Advise the Mobility Authority on matters of engineering related to interpretation of design 
details, construction techniques and procedures, specifications, standard construction 
details, and construction plans prepared by the Engineer of Record. 
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 Seek clarifications from the Engineer of Record when necessary on the intent reflected in 
the design plans and specifications.  The Engineer of Record will remain responsible for 
design related services. 

 Review, monitor and recommend modification to the Contractor’s maintenance of 
traffic/traffic control operations according to applicable specifications and standards.  

 Document and issue deficiency reports to the Contractor on any non-compliance of traffic 
control devices or layouts.  

 Coordinate with the Contractor, affected third parties, interested agencies, emergency 
responders and the Mobility Authority for major traffic disruptions. 

 Attend meetings pertaining to the traffic control and maintenance of traffic that are held by 
the Contractor. 

 Track lane/shoulder/ramp/cross-street rental and/or Liquidated Damages fees. 
 Review ITS elements including CCTV, Microwave vehicle detection, fiber installation, 

DMS install, and ATM. 

B. Requests for Information (RFI) and Non-Conformance Report Processing and 
Management 

 Review and comment on Project RFIs. 
 Prepare and manage Non-Compliance Reports (NCRs) for non-compliant work. 
 Maintain, log and retain all documents associated with RFIs and NCRs. 

C. Shop Drawing / Submittals Processing and Management 

 Review shop drawings, erection drawings, working drawings, samples, material and 
product certifications, and catalog cuts and brochure submittals for general conformance 
with the design plans and specifications submitted by the Contractor.  Check that the 
Engineer of Record has provided required approvals.  The Engineer of Record will be 
responsible for final approval. 

 Maintain, log and retain all documents associated with shop drawings. 
 Coordinate with the Contractor on processing, submittal documentation, follow-up 

activities, and clarifications. 

D. Contractor Draw Requests 

 Review completeness of Contractor’s submittal in accordance with the requirements of the 
Contract, including: 
o Cover sheet 
o Monthly progress report 
o Report of personnel hours 
o DBE utilization report 
o Updated Project schedule 
o Waiver of liens from previous draw requests 
o Material on hand invoices 
o Lane rental fee report 

 Evaluate that the request accurately reflects monies due for acceptable work completed. 
 Review and provide required certifications to the Mobility Authority for processing of the 

Contractor’s partial and final pay requests. 
 Track Project contingency funds.  Maintain, log and retain all documents associated with 

expenditure of Project contingency. 
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E. Mobility Authority Construction Coordination Support 

The GEC will support the Mobility Authority in coordination and any interlocal agency 
agreements including exhibit preparation and supporting document preparation and assembly 
with the following agencies: 

 Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) 
 Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) 
 Capitol Area Metropolitan Planning Organization (CAMPO)  
 City of Austin 
 Capitol Metropolitan Transportation Authority (CapMetro) 
 Travis County 
 Other Agencies as identified and as directed by the Mobility Authority. 
 Provide information to the Contractor concerning previous negotiations with certain 

property owners along the Project corridor. 

F. Environmental Compliance 

The GEC will provide staff to review and report on the Contractor’s environmental compliance 
efforts.  Specific activities include: 

 Monitor the Contractor’s activities to determine if environmental encounters are being 
promptly reported and managed in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 

G. Final Punch List/Final Inspection/Notice of completion 

The GEC will: 

 Coordinate with the Contractor and TxDOT in the generation of a final punch list. 
 Monitor the resolution of outstanding construction items. 
 Inspection of punch list completion. 
 Verify there are no outstanding claims related to the Contractor’s work. 
 Provide a Notification of Completion to the Mobility Authority. 
 Review/Confirm accuracy of As-Built record drawings. 

 

TASK 5 - PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT (CODE 13750) 

The GEC will provide staff as needed to support the Mobility Authority with the administration, 
management, coordination, and implementation of the public involvement oversight efforts.  
Activities included in this task: 

A. Support for Director of Community Relations 

Provide assistance as requested from the Mobility Authority Communications Department for 
the day to day construction communications throughout the life of the contract, including: 

 Acting as the secondary point of contact for the project. 
 Attending internal meetings. 
 Responding to public inquiries regarding the project. 
 Assisting with community outreach strategy. 
 Providing assistance with the development of and implementation of the Public 

Information Plan (PIP) and Emergency Response Plan for the project. 
 Managing the updates of content and graphics on the Project website.  
 Managing the stakeholder mailing list. 
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 Providing public involvement materials, such as fact sheets and frequently asked 
questions. 

 Assisting with the writing and dissemination of construction updates to the public, 
including but not limited to e-newsletters and social media. 

 Assisting with emergency/crisis communications, as needed. 
 Provide ongoing reports to the Authority regarding the status of work performed and the 

success of the PIP. 
 Help coordinate media inquiries.  
 Support event management efforts with coordination and participation, as needed. 

B. Website Management 

Manage the project website, throughout the life of the contract, including maintenance support 
and analytic reports.  

 

TASK 6 – SYSTEM INTEGRATION SUPPORT AND INSPECTION (CODE 13720) 

The GEC will oversee the SI’s development of the toll collection system layout, including the location 
of the toll collection gantries, toll collection system design and toll collection system infrastructure 
requirements and the integration with the Contractor’s work.  The GEC will monitor adherence to the 
Toll System Collection Responsibility Matrix by both the Contractor and SI. 

LIST OF ASSUMPTIONS 

A. Project Scope 

The services provided by the GEC as described in this Work Authorization are based upon the 
Project scope as defined in the Contract.  It is assumed that construction inspection, materials 
testing, and survey services will be provided by other consultants contracted directly with the 
Mobility Authority. 

B. Project Schedule 

The services provided by the GEC as described in this Work Authorization are based upon the 
Project schedule.  Any change to the project schedule dates as noted below may require a 
supplement to this Work Authorization. 

 Substantial Completion 580 working days after NTP. 
 Final Acceptance 90 Calendar days after Substantial Completion. 
 Project Closeout completed 90 calendar days after Final Acceptance. 

C. Project Vehicles 

Vehicles will not be invoiced separately as they are included in the monthly lump sum direct 
expense. 

D. Staff Labor and Overhead Rates 

Hourly rates and overhead rates shown in Attachment B are estimates or averages used for the 
purpose of establishing the not to exceed budget for this work authorization.  The actual rates 
used will be in accordance with Section 4, Compensation in the Agreement. 

 

[END OF ATTACHMENT] 
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TASK 

NO
DESCRIPTION Title

Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20

1.0 290E/SH 130 GEC Project Management 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120

ATKINS
Program manager 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40
Corridor Manager 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40
Administration 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40

2.0 290E/SH 130 GEC Reporting 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40

ATKINS
TIFIA/OS/Financial-reporting 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40

3.0 290E/SH 130 GEC Project Controls 18 18 48 48 16 48 16 16 48 16 16 48 16 16 48 16 16 48 16 16 48 16

ATKINS
Corridor Manager 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

SUBCONSULTANTS
LPC 10 10 40 40 8 40 8 8 40 8 8 40 8 8 40 8 8 40 8 8 40 8

4.0 290E/SH 130 GEC Construction Oversight 176 176 176 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144

ATKINS
Construction manager 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120
Corridor Manager 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
Administration 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8
EB support 40 40 40 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8

5.0 290E/SH 130 GEC PI 70 70 70 260 260 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70

ATKINS
Communication 20 20 20 80 80 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20
Communication 40 40 40 80 80 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40

SUBCONSULTANTS
Blonde Ambition PI 10 10 10 100 100 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Monkeyboy Website 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

6.0 290E/SH 130 GEC SI Support & Inspection 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 10 10 10

ATKINS
Toll System Inspection 80 80 80 80 80 80 80
SI support 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10

99.EXPExpenses 

ATKINS
Expenses 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Vehicles 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Drone footage 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Aerial 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

SUBCONSULTANTS
90.02.X Expenses

1 of 2
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TASK 

NO
DESCRIPTION

1.0 290E/SH 130 GEC Project Management

ATKINS

2.0 290E/SH 130 GEC Reporting

ATKINS

3.0 290E/SH 130 GEC Project Controls

ATKINS

SUBCONSULTANTS
LPC

4.0 290E/SH 130 GEC Construction Oversight

ATKINS

5.0 290E/SH 130 GEC PI

ATKINS

SUBCONSULTANTS
Blonde Ambition
Monkeyboy

6.0 290E/SH 130 GEC SI Support & Inspection

ATKINS

99.EXPExpenses 

ATKINS
Expenses
Vehicles
Drone footage
Aerial

SUBCONSULTANTS
90.02.X Expenses

Hours 
Total FORECAST

Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 TOTAL

120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 4,320          929,610.52$                     
-                  
-                  929,610.52$                    

40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 1,440          444,721.08$                     
40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 1,440          379,742.86$                     
40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 1,440          105,146.58$                     

40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 1,440          197,213.13$                     
-                  
-                  197,213.13$                    

40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 1,440          197,213.13$                    

16 48 16 16 48 16 16 48 16 16 48 16 16 16 964             225,922.60$                     
-                  
-                  75,948.57$                      

8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 288             75,948.57$                      
-                  149,974.03$                    

8 40 8 8 40 8 8 40 8 8 40 8 8 8 676             149,974.03$                     

144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 5,280          1,035,557.98$                  
-                  
-                  1,035,557.98$                 

120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 4,320        908,763.25$                    
8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 288             75,948.57$                       
8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 288             21,029.32$                       
8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 384             29,816.85$                       

70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 260 260 70 70 70 3,280          388,082.90$                     
-                  
-                  309,738.91$                    

20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 80 80 20 20 20 960             133,978.91$                     
40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 80 80 40 40 40 1,600          175,760.00$                     

-                  78,343.99$                      
10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 100 100 10 10 10 720             60,343.99$                      
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 18,000.00$                      

10 90 90 90 90 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,240          242,772.64$                     
-                  
-                  242,772.64$                    

80 80 80 80 80 960             210,968.26$                     
10 10 10 10 10 10 280             31,804.38$                      

-                  290,300.00$                    
-                  
-                  290,300.00$                    

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 36               144,000.00$                     
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 72               100,800.00$                     
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 36               18,000.00$                       

1 1 1 1 11               27,500.00$                       
-                  -$                                 
-                  -$                                  

Total Fee 3,309,460$     
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Appraisal Report 
 

Summary Appraisal Report concerning a 0.158-acre 
tract at 9745 U.S. Highway 290 E in Austin, Travis 

County, Texas; WFS File No. V-72-18 
 
 
 

Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 
Attn: Mike Heilgenstein, Executive Director 

3300 North IH-35, Suite No. 300 
Austin, Texas 78705 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The W.F. Smith Company 
                  Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants 
 

4161 E. Highway 290 West, Suite 100 * Dripping Springs, Texas 78620 * 512.328.4330 * wfs@wfsmithco.com 

 
 
 
September 12, 2018 
 
 
Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority 
Attn: Mike Heilgenstein, Executive Director 
3300 North IH-35, Suite No. 300 
Austin, Texas 78705 
 
 
RE: Appraisal of 0.158 acres of vacant land located at 9745 E. U.S. Highway 290 in Austin, 

Travis County, Texas.  WFS File No. V-72-18 
 
Dear Mr. Heilgenstein,  
 
At your request, we have inspected and appraised the property legally described as 0.158 acres, 
more or less, out of the William H. Sanders Survey No. 54, Abstract No. 690, Travis County, Texas. 
 
The purpose of this inspection and appraisal is to estimate the "As Is" Market Value of the Fee 
Simple Interest in the subject property, as of the effective date, August 30, 2018 (the date of our 
inspection).  It is our understanding that the use of this appraisal will be to assist the client, Central 
Texas Regional Mobility Authority, along with their employees and board members (Intended Users) 
in estimating the current market value of the subject to help establish a possible sales price. 
 
Texas Courts have defined "Market Value" as follows: 
 

Market value is the price which a property would bring when it is offered for 
sale by one who desires, but is not obligated to sell, and is brought by one 
who is under no necessity of buying it, taking into consideration all the uses to 
which it is reasonably adaptable and for which it either is or in all reasonable 
probability will become available within the reasonable future. 

 
(Source:  State Department of Highways and Public Transportation Appraisal and Review Manual, 
Addition II, Section 2.03, Pages 37-38) 
 
This report conforms with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as 
promulgated by the Appraisal Standards Board of the Appraisal Foundation and the Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute. 
 
The appraisers certify that this appraisal assignment was not based on a requested minimum 
valuation, a specific valuation or the approval of a loan. The value of the subject property as stated 
within this report is based upon an estimated marketing period of 12 months to a single buyer.  This 
is based on adequate exposure to the open market, as well as competitive pricing and aggressive 
marketing. 
 
After a thorough analysis of the subject property, the surrounding area, and the best available 
market data, it is our opinion that the “As Is” Market Value of the Fee Simple interest as of August 
30, 2018 is as follows: 
 

THIRTY FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS 
 

($35,000) 
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Your attention is directed to the following report which details the market data leading to our final 
value conclusion.  Should you have any questions about the market data or our rationale, please 
feel free to call.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY 

    
Ashley K. Applegate W. F. (Dubb) Smith, III, MAI, SRPA, SRA  
State Certified General Real Estate Appraiser State Certified General Real Estate Appraiser  
Certificate # TX 1380728-G Certificate # TX 1321084-G 
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APPRAISAL OF 0.158 ACRES OF VACANT LAND LOCATED AT 9745 E. U.S. HIGHWAY 290 
IN AUSTIN, TRAVIS COUNTY, TEXAS.  WFS FILE NO. V-72-18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOR 
 
 
 
 
 

CENTRAL TEXAS REGIONAL MOBILITY AUTHORITY 
ATTN: MIKE HEILGENSTEIN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

3300 NORTH IH-35, SUITE NO. 300 
AUSTIN, TEXAS 78705 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 BY 
 
 
 
 
 
 THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY 
 4161 EAST HIGHWAY 290 WEST 
 DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS  78620 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 AS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 OF 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 AUGUST 30, 2018 - “AS IS” 



 THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY       4  REAL ESTATE SERVICES 

SUMMARY OF SALIENT FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS 
 
Property Name: Parcel 51R, 9745 E US Hwy 290, Austin, Texas   
 
Effective Dates Of Appraisal: August 30, 2018, as is the date of our inspection.  
 
Date of Appraisal: September 12, 2018 
 
Property Appraised: The subject is a 0.158-acre remainder tract from a 

previously condemned property (acquired for 
expansion of US Hwy 290 E).  

 
Legal Description: 0.158 acres, more or less, out of the William H. 

Sanders Survey No. 54, Abstract No. 690, Travis 
County, Texas. 

 
Site: The subject site contains approximately 0.158 acres, 

located along the south line of US Hwy 290 E (west 
of SH 130) in the City of Austin. The subject has 
access to all public utilities. The site has linear 
frontage along the south line of US Hwy 290 E, but 
has not legal access. The tract can only be accessed 
from adjoining tracts. An access easement is not in 
place at this time, the subject is legally landlocked.  

 
Improvements: None; the subject is vacant land.  
 
Highest and Best Use: 
 

As If Vacant: Assemblage with an adjoining land tract.  
 
 
Value Conclusions:  
 

9745 E US Hwy 290 E, Austin, Texas Market Value 
“As Is” Market Value as of August 30, 2018: $35,000 

 
 



 THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY       5  REAL ESTATE SERVICES 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 INTRODUCTION 



 THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY       6  REAL ESTATE SERVICES 

DATE OF VALUE ESTIMATES 
 
The effective date of this appraisal is the date of inspection, August 30, 2018.  
 
 
DATE OF REPORT 
 
The date of the report is September 12, 2018. 
 
 
PURPOSE OF THE APPRAISAL 
 
The purpose of this appraisal is to estimate the current “As Is” Market Value of the Fee Simple 
interest in the herein described real property. 
 
 
CLIENT, INTENDED USE AND USER OF THE APPRAISAL 
 
It is our understanding that the intended use of this appraisal will be to assist the client, Central 
Texas Regional Mobility Authority, along with their employees and board members (Intended Users) 
in estimating the current market value of the subject to help establish a possible sales price. 
 
 
FEE SIMPLE DEFINED 
 
Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate; subject only to the limitations of 
eminent domain, escheat, police power and taxation. The subject is vacant and owner occupied.  
 
 
SCOPE OF THE APPRAISAL 
 
The subject property consists of 0.158-acre vacant land tract. The subject is a remainder parcel 
from a previously acquired land tract utilized for expansion of the US Hwy 290 E right of way. The 
subject has no legal access to the right of way (there is an access denial line in place along the 
north perimeter/US Hwy 90 E).  
 
First the appraisers gathered comparable land sales to estimate the value of the subject property 
which includes the 0.158 acres. Area developers and brokers were consulted regarding the lack of 
legal access, and from there the appraiser’s determined the highest and best use of the subject 
property. Adjustments to the comparable land sales were then applied, with emphasis on access (or 
lack thereof).  
 
The specific data collected relating to the subject property and to comparable properties included 
the physical, location, cost, income and expense information on the subject as well as the 
comparables.  The quantity and quality of the data collected was felt to be sufficient for the 
appraisers to make accurate judgments during the appraisal valuation section. 
 
Three traditional approaches to value were considered in the appraisal of the subject property. Only 
the Sales Comparison Approach was utilized. The subject is a vacant land tract, the Cost and 
Income Approaches to value would not be reliable indicators of market value due to the nature of 
the tract. In summary, we believe a thorough investigation and analysis was undertaken to 
adequately arrive at an “as is” market value conclusion for the subject. 
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COMPETENCY 
 
We have appraised many properties similar to the subject and are competent to complete the 
appraisal. 
 
 
PRIOR APPRAISAL 
 
We have not previously appraised the subject property.  
 
 
MARKET VALUE DEFINED 
 
Texas Courts have defined "Market Value" as follows: 
 

Market value is the price which a property would bring when it is offered for 
sale by one who desires, but is not obligated to sell, and is brought by one 
who is under no necessity of buying it, taking into consideration all the uses to 
which it is reasonably adaptable and for which it either is or in all reasonable 
probability will become available within the reasonable future. 

 
(Source:  State Department of Highways and Public Transportation Appraisal and Review Manual, 
Addition II, Section 2.03, Pages 37-38) 
 
This appraisal report has been prepared with the intent to conform with the appraisal standards 
required by Title XI of FIRREA (Federal Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement 
Act of 1989).  This report also conforms with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal 
Practice (USPAP) as promulgated by the Appraisal Standards Board of the Appraisal Foundation 
and the Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute. 
 
 
EXPOSURE PERIOD 
 
In order to estimate the exposure period to achieve a sale for the subject property, we considered 
several factors such as supply and demand of similar properties as well as exposure periods of 
recent sales. The appraisers searched within the subject neighborhood and found numerous sales 
of similar properties. In determining an appropriate marketing period, we consulted with buyers, 
sellers and brokers active in the retail market. All of the participants we spoke with indicated that a 
sale can be procured within twelve months for projects of this type. 
 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
  
0.158 acres, more or less, out of the William H. Sanders Survey No. 54, Abstract No. 690, Travis 
County, Texas. 
 
 
OWNERSHIP HISTORY 
 
The subject property consists of a 0.158-acre remainder parcel from a larger 0.502-acre parent 
parcel that was purchased in 2011 for right of way expansion purposes. The parent parcel was 
purchased by Central Texas Regional Mobility Authority for $250,000 or $11.48/SF of land area. 
The seller was Daniel Perez, who sold the property on April 29, 2011. Record of ownership transfer 
is found in Document Nos. 2011061207 and 2014073364.  
 
The subject was referred to as Parcel 51R in the special warranty deed, and it is expressly 
conveyed that access will be denied to and from the transportation facility across the proposed right 
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of way line and “Access Denial Line” as described, being the entire common boundary line between 
the proposed US Hwy 290 facility and the remainder of the abutting property (the subject of this 
appraisal).  
 
The access denial line runs the entire length of the subject’s frontage, 104.64 linear feet, along the 
south line of US Hwy 290 E. The adjoining tracts to the east and west have not been denied access 
to the right of way.  
 
One of the adjoining property owners has approached the subject owner about purchasing the 
subject, a contract price has not been established to date, nor is the subject under contract. The 
subject is not and has not been listed for sale in the three years proceeding this appraisal report.  
 
This is all that has happened for at least the last three years. 
 
The previous information is not intended as a guarantee of the chain of title. The information has 
been included to satisfy the requirements of Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. 
Should a decisive abstract be desired, a title search should be performed by a title company. 
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APPRAISAL PROCESS 
 
A Description and Analysis Section describing and relating data concerning the Area/City, the 
Neighborhood, the Site, and the Improvements is undertaken to develop the pertinent market 
characteristics and factual data for further processing in the valuation process.  The analysis of all 
these characteristics is developed in an effort to establish the Highest and Best Use of the site as if 
vacant and the whole property as improved. 
 
The Valuation Section is then undertaken considering all pertinent market factors that relate to the 
subject property as recognized in the Description and Analysis Section of the report.  The valuation 
process is typically approached through the use of three recognized valuation techniques, each 
based upon an underlying basic concept or premise.  These three approaches are the Cost 
Approach, the Sales Comparison Approach and the Income Approach.  Each of these valuation 
techniques develops a value indication for the subject property, falling into a pattern of reasonable 
limits.  Then, through the process of reconciliation, a final market value estimate is correlated. 
 
The first valuation technique is referred to as the "Cost Approach", which is a physical analysis of 
the real property where the property is analyzed with respect to land and improvements.  The Cost 
Approach is based upon the premise that value is inherent to the object itself and that "cost" and 
"value" tend to coincide.  The value indication is developed by estimating the site value through 
direct sales comparison and estimating the improvement's value, by reproduction cost new less all 
accrued depreciation, if any.  The respective estimates of value of the land and the improvements 
are then summed to indicate an estimate of value from the Cost Approach. This approach has not 
been utilized.  
 
The second valuation technique is referred to as the "Sales Comparison Approach."  It is based on 
the premise that persons in the marketplace can buy by comparison.  Hence, the "principle of 
substitution" is represented, which basically states that a prudent purchaser/investor will pay no 
more for a property than the cost of procuring an equally desirable substitute property in the market; 
given that the substitute property possesses the same utility as the property being appraised. This 
approach is derived by analyzing comparable property sales by some unit or units of comparison 
and by adjusting appropriately for the dissimilarities between them and the subject; thus yielding an 
indication of value from the Sales Comparison Approach. This approach has been applied.  
 
The third valuation technique is referred to as the "Income Approach," which is based on the 
premise that the typical purchaser/investor in the market buys real property in anticipation of its 
capability to produce an acceptable return on the invested capital; thus, this approach reflects the 
"principle of anticipation."  Taking a potential gross income stream and reducing it by the expenses 
attributable to the production of that income stream, thus yielding a net operating income, develop 
this approach.  This net income estimate is then capitalized at an appropriate market derived 
capitalization rate into an indication of value from the Income Approach. This approach has not 
been utilized.  
 
The correlation of a "Final Market Value Estimate" is then developed through reconciliation of 
pertinent value affecting factors reflected in each approach.  During this process of review and 
reconciliation, the appraiser considers the strengths and weaknesses of each approach with 
respect to the property being appraised.  Consideration must be given to pertinent physical, legal 
and economic conditions which exist and influence the value of the subject property.  The final 
market value estimate is concluded through this reconciliation process. 
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 AREA, NEIGHBORHOOD AND PROPERTY ANALYSIS 
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AREA MAP 
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AUSTIN AREA ANALYSIS – 2018 
 
The Austin Metropolitan Area contains five counties: Travis, Hays, Williamson, Caldwell and 
Bastrop. The land area consists of 4,280 square miles.  Area cities and towns include: Austin, 
Cedar Park, Georgetown, Leander, Pflugerville, Round Rock, Hutto, Taylor, Lockhart, San Marcos, 
Buda, Kyle, and Bastrop. 
 
According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the Austin MSA experienced the largest population increase 
in Texas and was one of the country’s fastest-growing cities during the 1990s and 2000’s, growing 
by nearly 48 percent.  Austin is the state capitol and one of the most vibrant communities in the 
state. It is the center for state government, education, and in recent years, Austin has diversified its 
economic base further through the attraction of high-technology industries. The state’s largest 
institution of higher learning, the University of Texas, resides in Austin. The area has been 
experiencing substantial growth over the years, with new construction occurring in the residential, 
apartment, industrial, retail and office markets. According to Forbes.com and based on data from 
the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Austin is now ranked 2nd among the fastest growing economies 
in the U.S. with GRP growth of 37.1% between 2010 and 2015.  
 
 
DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 
 
The 2016 population was 2,056,168, a 2.918% increase since 2015 and a 20% increase since 
2010.  Austin is among the fastest growing cities in the nation. Local economist Angelos Angelou 
estimate the Austin metro area added another 70,000 people in 2017. 
 

Date Population 
% 
Change 

Total 
Population 
Change 

Births Deaths 
International 
Immigration 

Net 
Domestic 
Migration 

2005 1,453,358 3.1 43,300 23,686 6,733 7,199 22.535 
2006 1,515,485 4.3 62,127 24,481 7,281 7,243 41,069 
2007 1,577,856 4.1 62,371 25,680 7,345 6,577 40,211 
2008 1,633,870 3.6 56,014 26,628 7,627 6,391 33,838 
2009 1,682,338 3.0 48,468 26,750 8,079 6,406 25,654 
2010 1,716,289 2.0 33,951 6,306 1,950 1,167 5,608 
2011 1,781,409 3.8 65,120 25,236 8,294 5,742 29,482 
2012 1,835,298 3.0 53,889 24,846 8,411 5,694 30,984 
2013 1,884,439 2.7 49,141 25,367 9,030 6,290 26,433 
2014 1,943,465 3.1 59,026 25,931 9,412 7,331 33,412 
2015 1,998,104 2.921% 56,715 26,874 9,894 6,964 32,976 
2016 2,056,405 2.918% 58,301 27375 10,304 6,878 33,395 
2018* 2,156,168       
Source: U.S. Bureau of Census and Real Estate Center at Texas A&M University 
Note: Decade years represent April 1, Census data, not the mid-year estimates. 
*2018 data is projected. 

 
 
EMPLOYMENT 
 
Austin's desirable living conditions have attracted numerous employers along with the well-
educated work force, resulting in an unemployment rate that is consistently below the national 
average.  Austin's location within the “right to work” State of Texas, along with other factors, 
provides an adequate, relatively union free, labor force at competitive wages. Given these factors, 
the Austin area is a hot commodity for people from the West Coast, Midwest, and Northeast to find 
employment.  Consequently, Austin has had a relatively low and stable jobless rate since 2007 that 
is generally below the national average. The Austin MSA unemployment rate reported September 
2017 was 2.9%. (State of Texas was 4.0% and the Nation was 4.1%). Below is a chart illustrating 
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the annual change in employment rate for the Austin MSA. 
 

UNEMPLOYMENT RATE 
 

Year Austin MSA Texas U. S. 
2008 4.3% 4.8% 5.8% 
2009 6.9% 7.6% 9.3% 
2010 7.0% 8.2% 9.4% 
2011 6.6% 7.8% 8.3% 
2012 5.7% 6.7% 7.8% 
2013 5.1% 6.2% 6.6% 
2014 4.2% 5.1% 5.5% 
2015 3.3% 4.4% 5.0% 
2016 3.2% 4.6% 4.5% 
2017 2.9% 4.0% 4.1% 

 
Surrounding Counties – November 2016-2017 

 
County Employment Unemployment Rate 
Austin MSA 1,092,569 2.9 
 Bastrop Co.  37,900 2.9 
 Caldwell Co.  17,520 2.9 
 Hays Co.  100,165 2.9 
 Travis Co.  668,207 2.9 
 Williamson Co.  268,777 2.9 

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor & Statistics, Texas A&M Real Estate Center 
  
The following are the top employers in Austin, whom employ more than 6,000 workers: 
 

 
 
 
LOCAL ECONOMY 
 
State and local government dominate Austin’s economy.  As the State Capitol and an education 
center, the Austin area derives a much larger share of its income from government earnings than is 
typical for the State or the nation. Located in the center of a primarily conservative state, the local 
government is a stronghold for liberal political practices. These practices include a sometimes-rigid 
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environmental regulatory agency that has attracted non-polluting industries with its desirable quality 
of life. These rigid policies result in a slower process in terms of new construction permits and 
growth. As a result, the housing market maintains some stability because of the heightened 
demand this causes.  Major new industrial developments have occurred in medical and 
pharmaceutical products, electronics, computers and video equipment. The Bureau of Economic 
Analysis report shows that recent growth in Austin was led by the professional and business 
services sector, which grew by 1.6 percentage points. That sector has been fueled by population 
gains in the region, which is also tied to booming employment from major companies — among 
them Apple, Facebook, Google and Amazon — increasing their presence in Austin. 
 
The Austin, Round Rock and San Marcos MSA reported jobs increased from 1,004,600 to 
1,028,100, according to the latest figures published by the Texas Workforce Commission. This 
marks a 2.34% year-over-year increase compared with September 2016, a net increase of 23,500 
new jobs.  In September 8,300 new non-farm jobs were added during the month (according to the 
Texas Workforce Commission). September’s figures also reverse a downward trend in the job 
growth rate that started in April. While Austin is nowhere near the peak (6.1% job growth in January 
2016), we are still growing. This new data puts the city at a pace of a relatively healthy 2.3% job 
growth rate. However, there is a continued decline in key high-income sectors. Both the 
Professional and Business Services and the Information sectors slid—by 1.4% and 3.2% 
respectively. The highest rate of growth in September was in the Mining, Logging & Construction 
sector, which grew 6.2% during the period. 
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In summary, Austin is operating at full employment with a reported unemployment rate of 2.9% 
which compares favorably to the Texas rate of 4.0% and the U.S. rate of 4.1%. With a diverse 
employer field and an increasing educated population, the Austin economy has a strong outlook for 
continued growth into 2018, with continued low unemployment expected.   
 
Real Estate 
 
The last year has been another strong year for Austin’s new home industry. According to the 3rd 
Quarter, Metro Study current pace of annual starts if 16,719, up 19.1% year over year (YOY). The 
market peaked prior to the Great Recession in 3Q06 with 18,406 annual starts. The MetroStudy 
survey team recorded 4,586 starts in the third quarter, which is 4% higher than the previous quarter 
and 12.5% increase YOY. Strong growth in closings has allowed inventory levels to remain 
somewhat constrained as Austin heads into the 2018 spring selling season.  
 
Starts and closing continue to be concentrated in submarkets associated with major commuting 
routes. Pflugerville tops the list, but other submarkets aligned with Highway 130, I-35 and the 183A 
toll road also make the top ten for quarterly starts: 
 

 
 
Much of the activity took place in suburban and even rural locations as closer-in locations approach 
build-out. The top five submarkets (Cedar Park/Leander West, Pflugerville, Kyle/Buda, Manor, Del 
Valle) accounted for 40% of the starts and closings in the Austin region. The top ten subdivisions in 
the area expanding with starts outpacing closings (primarily located in the north area of the MSA). 
The Kyle/Buda area continues to slow, but remains constrained in terms of housing inventory, at 6.8 
months. Siena continues to achieve over 400 starts (Hutto Submarket). 
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Over the last year, several new communities came online to target Millennial buyers and other 
shoppers constrained by income. In addition, builders de-featured or resized product in an effort to 
challenge land, labor and development costs, which continue to grow. The median new home base 
price (based on annual starts) as of 3Q17 was $305,000, which is record high price. The summer of 
2017 was the first time the Austin market recorded over $1 billion in homes sales, over six straight 
months (March – August). June alone recorded $1.483 billion in sales. However, momentum slowed 
in September and dipped slightly below 2016 and 2015 figures to a median home price of 
$289,000. Inventory continued to remain steady at a 3.0-month supply.   
 
We continue to see a movement toward the single-family condo regimes and attached product, both 
developed in order to serve home shoppers who needed or wanted to stay below $250,000. We 
expect to continue to see the greatest demand in the $200,000 to $300,000 price range in the 
single-family residential market. That segment generated 8,000 starts from 3Q16 to 3Q17, capturing 
nearly half of the market.  
 

 
 
The amount of new home supply continues along its record-setting track. Under construction 
inventory in Austin hit a new high of 7,732 units in 3Q17. Total Inventory (models, finished vacant 
and under construction) is up 29.4 percent YOY to 10,816 units, the most ever recorded in the 
market. That figure represents 9.1 MOS at the current closings pace. It has been at least ten years 
since the market has reported that level of supply.  
 
The number of finished vacant homes jumped 36.6% year over year to 2,488 units. Yet given the 
strong starts pace, that level of finished inventory still represents only 2.1 months. For the past five 
quarters, the percentage of Finished Vacant homes has hovered between 23-24%, which is a 
healthy level.  
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While new home inventory has remained healthy overall, the situation remains softer in upper price 
ranges and in certain submarkets. As we look at Finished Vacant Inventory by price we see that 
price points above $300,000 are approaching equilibrium and could easily tip toward over-supply. 
(Figure 6.) While closings so far are keeping pace, any softening of the market at this price point 
could significantly affect not only that range but also those above it. 
 
The supply of Vacant Developed Lots increased from 22,068 in 3Q16 to 24,356 in 3Q17, an 
increase of 10.4% YOY. However, due to the strong starts pace, supply actually dropped to 17.5 
MOS overall. Yet performance varies significantly according to price band. Lot supply for homes 
priced between $200,000 and $399,000 ranges from 11 to 14.5 MOS and is thus significantly 
constrained.  
 
Developers are doing their best to add more supply. Once again, we hit a new record in 3Q17: 
annual lot deliveries totaled 19,007, the highest ever. Liberty Hill leads the pack for most new lots 
underway for delivery later this year and into 2018. 
 

   
 
 
Apartments 
 
The Austin area completed nearly 11,300 apartments during the last twelve months which is up 
from the previous year by 9,400 units. Nearly 8,500 rentals have come online year to date through 
the third quarter, with approximately 2,900 of these units delivered in the southern portion of the 
metro. Developers will remain focused on this area of Austin as an additional 2,000 units are slated 
for completion next year, though some attention is shifting east and north. 
 
Approximately 4,500 units have been added to inventory in the come over the last five years, with 
inventory set to rise by 600 apartments in the final three months of the year. Developers have an 
additional 500 units scheduled for completion here in 2017.  
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Household formation has largely favored renting rather than homeownership during the last 12 
months, and the absorption of nearly 10,200 apartments over this span resulted in the one of the 
highest net absorption periods in the last 10 years. Supply additions will outstrip demand for a 
second consecutive year, and vacancy remains at 6.0 percent, which is two points higher than 
2015.  
 
Class C apartments boast tightest conditions, produce healthy rent growth. Apartment vacancy is 
tightest for Austin’s Class C units, reaching 5.3 percent in the third quarter. Low vacancy in this 
segment has encouraged strong rent gains over the last 12 months, with the average effective rent 
climbing more than 4 percent to over $1,000 per month. Development activity is concentrated in the 
Class A segment, and the spread between effective rents in the two classes is large enough to 
keep many renters from moving into newer luxury buildings. As a result, demand for upgraded older 
properties will remain strong. 
 
The average asking rents across classes for Austin, the South Region of the Sate and across the 
Nation are compared below (as published by Integra): 
 

 
 
 
Looking south, the average rent for an apartment in San Marcos is $1,195 per month, a 5% 
increase compared to the previous year, when the average rent was $1,135. The average rent in 
Buda is $1,145 (+3% growth), and Kyle reports an average monthly rent of $1,055, a +5% growth 
over the year.  
 
Healthy occupancy at properties in Cedar Park and sizable demand for units in the area 
encouraged a 4.0 percent increase in the average rent to $1,175 per month. Other northern 
suburbs also achieved healthy gains, with rent in Hutto increasing by 10%. Average rents in 
Georgetown and Round Rock reported a decrease in the average asking rent. However, this is 
largely due to new deliveries in the absorption phase.  
 
Investors remain optimistic about job growth and strong demographic trends in the metro area. 
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Though down from a cyclical peak, apartment building activity remains elevated, producing 
thousands of luxury Class A apartments.  
 
 
Housing 

Single-family home sales declined in the city of Austin but increased across the Austin-Round Rock 
Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA) for the second month in a row, according to the November 2017 
Central Texas Housing Market Report released by the Austin Board of REALTORS®. 
 
Brandy Guthrie, 2017 President of the Austin Board of REALTORS® commented, “Due to rapid 
population growth throughout Central Texas, Austin continues to have one of the highest demands 
for housing in the nation. Homes sales are the strongest where price points are the lowest and 
where development options are available, such as parts of Williamson and Hays counties. We are 
seeing some slowing home price appreciation and housing inventory gains, which is normalizing us 
to a more stable market and aligning us with long-term historical market trends.” 
 
The pace of home price growth continued to slow in November. In the Austin-Round Rock MSA, the 
median price for single-family homes increased 2.9 percent year-over-year to $296,500. In 
Williamson County, the median price for single-family homes was unchanged from November 2016, 
or $275,000. In Hays County, median price increased 4.0 percent to $260,000 and in Travis County, 
median price increased 6.1 percent to $341,000. In the city of Austin, the median price for single-
family homes increased 6.8 percent year-over-year to $360,000. 
 
Housing inventory increased 0.2 months to 2.5 months of inventory across the Austin-Round Rock 
MSA and 0.1 months to 2.0 months of inventory in the city of Austin in November. At a county level, 
housing inventory was 2.9 months in Hays County, 2.5 months in Travis County and 2.4 months in 
Williamson County. 
 
The 2018 Austin-area housing market is expected to be similar to 2017, very strong but slower as 
residents and high-income earners continue to look to the suburbs to reside.  
 
A historical look at the housing market within the Austin-Round Rock MSA is below.  
 

Date Sales Dollar 
Volume 

Average 
Price 

Median 
Price 

Total 
Listings 

Months 
Inventory 

2007 27,571 $6,783,518,944 $246,038 $183,292 9,163 4.0 
2008 22,068 $5,369,952,456 $243,337 $187,319 10,911 5.1 
2009 20,407 $4,830,082,305 $236,688 $185,150 10,131 5.1 
2010 19,547 $4,819,525,215 $246,561 $189,356 10,906 5.3 
2011 21,032 $5,281,514,091 $251,118 $189,900 7,494 3.9 
2012 25,196 $6,705,431,385 $266,131 $202,975 5,940 2.4 
2013 29,965 $8,601,111,424 $287,039 $220,000 5,062 1.8 
2014 30,137 $9,267,487,161 $307,512 $240,000 4,982 2.0 
2015 31,517 $10,449,121,329 $331,539 $260,000 5,300 2.0 
2016 32,957 $11,452,411,293 $347,496 $280,000 6,509 2.1 
2017 26,250 $972,000,000.65 $347,496 $289,000  3.0 
Source: Real Estate Center 

 
 
Retail 
 
Per the 3Q17 market report published by Marcus & Millichap, the retail market in Austin has 
continued its strong performance with overall vacancy remaining well below historical norms. 
Deliveries outpaced absorption this year, pushing up vacancy to 3.5% (which is the first annual 
increase since 2009). However, some large block space in the Northwest came online as 
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businesses like Office Depot and Gander Mountain declared bankruptcy. An estimated 1.6 million 
square feet will have been completed in 2017 and early 2018, with significant additions occurring in 
the suburban areas of Austin. Developers and retailers continue to follow the rooftops to other 
areas of the metro, with more than half of all completions during the period occurring in Cedar Park. 
Development continues to be heavy in Hays County, Round Rock and East Austin (each submarket 
boasts more than 200,000 SF underway).  
 
Austin continues to boast one of the lowest retail vacancy rates in the country despite ticking up 
over the past 12 months. Hays County has one of the tightest vacancy rates in the metro, despite 
adding over 1.5 million square feet since 2009.  
 
The average asking rent surpasses the prior high during the last year and now sits 4.9% above the 
previous peak at $21.83/SF. Several submarkets recorded rent advancements above 10 percent: 
Bastrop County, Cedar Park, East Austin, Far Northeast Austin, Hays County and Southwest 
Austin.  
 
The market statistical snapshot by submarket as presented by Transwestern is below.  
 

 
 
Buyer interest for retail properties remains strong, especially within the multi-tenant assets. There 
was a 9% rise in the average price per square foot to $330, and cap rates compressed 10 basis 
points to 6.9%. Single-tenant prices surged 19 percent over the last year to nearly $460 per square 
foot as first-year yields declined 30 basis points to 5.9 percent. Expansion of local and regional 
retailers into inline space will continue to drive down vacancy and attract investors to the metro. 
 
Office 
 
As predicted, the office market has remained extremely strong and rates have seen a slight 
increase over the past quarter. The trend of big companies eating up large spaces has become the 
norm and the expansions of tech giants and co-working spaces have continued to embolden 
landlords and developers to bring speculative product to the market. Unfortunately for tenants, not 
enough of this product is becoming available beyond the preleasing phase to have a meaningful 
impact on rates or landlord concessions. The occupancy rate of direct space in the Austin office fell 
slightly to 91.2% per Aquila Commercial and Transwestern reported direct occupancy as 91.5%. 
However, Transwestern surveys now include smaller structures and Hays County. Both Aquila and 
Transwestern reported positive net absorption for 3Q17.  Submarkets that saw a decrease in 
vacancy over the quarter include Central, East, North/Domain, Northwest, Round Rock, South, and 
Southwest. The Round Rock submarket saw the largest decrease in vacancy, falling from 9.3% to 
5.0% over the quarter.  
 
Austin’s office market posted 41,974 square feet of negative net absorption in Q3 2017. The three 
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submarkets that experienced the largest positive net absorption gains over the quarter include 
Northwest, Central and Round Rock. A majority of the positive net absorption in the third quarter 
happened in the class A North/Domain submarket, totaling 96,755 square feet of positive net 
absorption. Some of this can be attributed to Social Solutions moving into their 25,231 square foot 
space at Braker Pointe III (10801 North MoPac Expressway). The second highest positive net 
absorption occurred in class B space in the Northwest submarket, with 66,183 square feet 
absorbed in the third quarter. Austin’s office market posted 41,974 square feet of negative net 
absorption in Q3 2017. The three submarkets that experienced the largest positive net absorption 
gains over the quarter include Northwest, Central and Round Rock. 
 
There were four leases signed in Q3 in the South submarket including Nexstar taking 17,900 
square feet at Mirabeau at 2330 South Lamar Boulevard. The submarket with the most square feet 
leased in Q3 was the CBD with 283,695 square feet. The most notable is Facebook’s 231,506 
square foot lease at Third and Shoal (208 Nueces Street). Third and Shoal is set to deliver in Q3 of 
2018.  
 
The large amount of new multi-tenant space, most of which is considered Class “A” space, drove an 
increase in quoted rental rates to $30.77 per square foot, with CBD reporting $40.99 per square 
foot net. A summary of average net rents, net absorption and average asking rates by Class are 
summarized below: 
 

 
 
The citywide average gross rental rate decreased marginally over the quarter from $34.03 per SF in 
Q2 2017 to $34.02 per SF in Q2 2017. Class A rental rates in Austin’s CBD decreased by 0.8% 
over the quarter to $49.43 per SF from $49.84 per SF in the second quarter of 2017. Overall 
suburban Class A rental rates increased, from $33.57 per SF to $34.80, over the quarter (gross). 
Citywide class B rental rates increased in Q3 to $28.50 per square foot from $28.18 in Q2. Class B 
rental rates in the CBD increased by 6.9% over the quarter from $40.28 per square foot to $43.08 
per square foot. 
 
New office construction and deliveries continue to add inventory throughout the city. Currently there 
is more than 3.8 million square feet of office space in 20 buildings that were either approved for 
development or under construction. Out of that total, 60% is pre-leased and will be delivered over 
the end of 2017 and the first half of 2018. Preleasing has been particularly strong in the CBD, 
Northwest, and Central markets.  Looking ahead, we expect the office market to be generally flat, 
but strong. Job growth has slowed in some sectors, while other sectors continue to report growth. 
CBD properties will likely continue to report strong occupancies and possibly see density increases, 
while concessions could return to attract tenants to the suburban markets to older properties. In 
general, we predict continued demand for a variety of office space will remain strong and should 
result in strong positive absorption going through 2018.  
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Industrial 
 
Activity in the Austin industrial market increased during the third quarter after the previous quarter’s 
sluggish performance. New leases and expansions generated 29,485 square feet of positive net 
absorption moving the year-to-date net gain to 444,181 square feet. While tenant move-outs 
mitigated the potential gain, several sizeable leases prevailed to keep absorption in the black for the 
quarter. Commerce Center South Building 10 was the only project delivered in the third quarter, 
adding 96,280 square feet to the service center inventory in the Southeast sector.  
 
With new supply outpacing demand, local industrial properties closed the quarter with a citywide 
vacancy rate of 8.3%, which is up compared to 7.8% last quarter and 6.1% recorded in the same 
quarter of the previous year. The Round Rock submarket experienced the strongest activity with 
112,050 square feet of the total citywide gain; meanwhile, the North and the East sectors both saw 
substantial negative absorption. The industrial market experienced some key leases to create 
positive absorption during the third quarter, including Opcity Inc. (49,293 sf) at Bergstrom Tech 
Center, Singulex (35,681 sf) at Crystal Park Bldg. 12, and Seton (28,800 sf) at Met Center II Bldg. 
12.  
 
Flex/Service Centers experienced a rebound during the third quarter resulting in 133,319 square 
feet of positive net absorption. On the other hand, the Warehouse market experienced 103,834 
square feet of negative net absorption. The East submarket was hit the hardest with the loss of 
105,942 square feet.  
 
The cost of renting office warehouse space remained at mid-year rates during the third quarter, 
currently ranging between $0.60 - $0.85 per square foot per month on a triple net basis while the 
price for bulk warehouse ranges between $0.45 - $0.70 and $0.65 - $0.90 for manufacturing space. 
Among Service Center/Flex properties, asking rental rates range between $0.80 - $1.25 per square 
foot per month. 
 
Given the current market conditions, tenants may begin to see lower rates if vacancies remain on 
the higher end of the spectrum for consecutive quarters. Currently, more than 1.2 million square 
feet of industrial space is currently under construction. The active Southeast submarket can expect 
to see more than 626,000 square feet of new industrial space come online by the end of the year 
led by Southpark Commerce Center V and two buildings at Park 183. Another project soon to reach 
completion is The Collective at South Congress, which will feature 83,775 square feet of industrial 
space.  
 
While the Austin industrial market has experienced a relatively sluggish performance, the recent 
pick up in leasing activity during the third quarter could be a good sign as we head into the fourth 
quarter and with new lease space soon to come online.  
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POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT 
 
Growth and quality of life are at the forefront of major concerns in the city.  There is a strong 
constituency favoring controlled growth to protect Austin's quality of life.  This group makes Austin 
more politically difficult for developers than other Texas cities, and these political restraints should 
continue to limit new developments and maintain barriers to entry, thereby increasing values due to 
limitations on new supply. 
 
The City remains committed to the environmental protection of the surrounding hill country lakes 
and creeks, and there are restrictions on impervious cover and drainage. The general political 
climate is not favorable for development but very encouraging to new business requirements.  This 
causes a two-edged economic sword.  Job growth increases while housing supply is continually 
thwarted.  This restrictive development attitude causes support for very strong housing prices due 
to supply limitations as demand increases.   
 

TRANSPORTATION 

Austin's location, 200 miles south of the Dallas-Fort Worth Metroplex, 160 miles northwest of 
Houston, and 77 miles northeast of San Antonio, makes it easily accessible to all parts of the state 
and region. IH-35 and Mopac Expressway (Loop 1) are the major north-south traffic arteries for the 
city. The extension of Mopac to State Highway 45 in the north and State Highway 45 in the south 
has been completed. Loop 360 is a major north-south thoroughfare in West Austin, and “loops” 
around the western portion of the city to ease congestion. State Highway 130 and State Highway 45 
(toll roads) have been opened between North Mopac Boulevard, Round Rock and along the 
Pflugerville/Manor/Georgetown corridor. SH 130 now connect to IH-35 at Georgetown and IH-10 
outside of Seguin to the far south.  
 
The Austin Bergstrom International Airport, which opened in 1999, provides major airline service for 
the Austin area. Major airlines serving the facility include Air Canada Express, Alaska Airlines, 
American Airlines, British Airways, Delta Airlines, Frontier Airlines, JetBlue Airways, Southwest 
Airlines, United Airlines, and Virgin America. 
 
 
UTILITIES AND TEXAS 
 
The City of Austin owns and operates the electric utility system and the water and wastewater 
system. Current property values help provide additional funds for the city as well as preserving low 
property tax rates.  The tax assessments are based on 100% of the appraised market value of the 
property.   
 
Tax rates are established for two categories: (1) for the operation of the public-school system of the 
city, and (2) for operation of municipal government and providing services such as police and fire 
protection, and parks and playgrounds.  
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Due to rapid growth in the Austin area, there are numerous water and municipal utility districts on 
the fringes of the city.  The 2017 tax rates for the districts in Travis County range from 
approximately $0.020/$100 to $1.540/$100 of assessed valuation.   
 
 
EDUCATION 
 
Austin is serviced primarily by the Austin Independent School District.  The Eanes, Round Rock, 
Pflugerville, Manor, Taylor, Lago Vista, Lake Travis, Leander, Liberty Hill and Del Valle School 
Districts serve the outlying areas of Austin. Also, there are numerous private institutions providing 
education from kindergarten through grade 12.  
 
Among the region’s strong assets is the Central Texas workforce, representing one of the most 
educated talent pools in the country. Approximately 42.6% of the adults within the Austin Metro 
have at least a bachelor’s degree, compared to 30.6% nationally, which lands Austin in the top 10 
among the largest metros. There are over 50 colleges and universities within the region, and over 
400,000 enrolled students within a 100-mile radius. The growing work force has a median age over 
four years younger than that of the rest of the nation.  Listed below are Fall 2016 enrollments for the 
larger institutions in the Austin MSA.  
 

Area Universities and Enrollment 
 
  University of Texas at Austin  51,211 
  Texas State University (San Marcos)  38,524 
  Austin Community College  41,898 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Austin continues to experience new industrial growth from clean industries and the supportive 
companies that follow these industries.  However, due to the restrictive attitude towards new 
development within the City of Austin and the ETJ along with the lengthy approval periods (from 18 
to 24 months) the Austin economy is somewhat insulated from extreme oversupply.  The highly 
restrictive and pro-environment Austin City Council and staff are extremely diligent and therefore 
slow in approving any development.   
 
The main focus in the Austin area and the Texas economy is that Austin is viewed as a desirable 
location.  It appears that Austin is one of the major job creating cities in Texas, along with San 
Antonio, Dallas, and Houston (the oil capital of the United States), indicates that the Texas 
economy overall and subsequently the Austin economy, should continue to improve and continue to 
grow. 
 
The State has rebounded since the recession and reported a surplus in 2013-2016. The outlook in 
the Texas and Austin area remains positive now and in the future. Austin will continue forward as a 
fertile market in the tech industry pushing job growth in a positive direction. This along with further 
expanding creative media, green energy, and health care industries will help allure out of state 
workers thereby pushing the market forward. An influx of persons in the job market will only 
continue to intensify the housing demand in the area as we have witnessed in the single-family and 
multi-family sectors. Vacancy rates in office, retail, and industrial sectors are also at healthy levels, 
so the rents for each respective part of the market should continue to increase with demand rising. 
Given all of the factors provided in this analysis, the Austin market is still growing and will continue 
moving positively in the future. 
  
However, there are multiple economic factors to watch out for going into next year. Slowing job 
growth in Central Texas, the impact of Hurricane Harvey on the price of building materials and 
housing development costs, and the overhaul of the U.S. tax plan are all factors that could hinder 
market growth and negatively impact affordability in the Austin area in 2018. 
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NEIGHBORHOOD MAP 
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NEIGHBORHOOD ANALYSIS 
 
The purpose of the neighborhood analysis is to provide a bridge between the study of general 
influences on all property values, as was done in the preceding Austin Area Analyses and the 
analysis of a particular subject which follows in the Site Analysis.  The Appraisal of Real Estate, 
Fourteenth Edition defines a neighborhood as "a group of complementary land uses."  This section 
of the appraisal emphasizes the four forces as they influence value:  social, economic, government 
and environment.  However, these forces are analyzed in terms of the defined neighborhood in 
which the subject exists. 
 
The subject tract is located on the east line of FM 973 and south of FM 1660.  The subject 
neighborhood is located in Eastern Travis and Williamson Counties.  The subject neighborhood is 
also located in the Manor ISD.  The neighborhood was examined by the appraisers and concluded 
to have the following boundaries: 
 

North: State Highway 79 
South: State Highway 71 
East: SH 95 
West: IH-35 

 
When analyzing a neighborhood comprised of such diverse property types, it is necessary to first 
divide the analysis into segments of the forces to be analyzed.  These forces include Land Use and 
Economic Factors, Infrastructure and Linkage Attributes, Demographic Profile and Neighborhood 
Trends.  These forces and how they affect the subject site are described below.   
 
Land Use 
 
The subject neighborhood is located in eastern Travis County.  Properties in this area are mostly 
large acreage home sites or vacant land with commercial uses on major thoroughfares.  The land 
uses at this time are estimate in the following table. 
 
 

Land Use Exhibit 
 

Land Use  % of Total Area 
 
Undeveloped/Farm 50% 
Residential  35% 
Non-Residential 10% 
Public  5% 
 
Total:  100% 

 
 
The table shows that 50% of the neighborhood is undeveloped at this time. Existing developments 
are concentrated in the western portion of the neighborhood.  Residential land use comprises 
subdivisions in a majority of the western and northern portions of the neighborhood. 
 
Major thoroughfares through the area include U. S. Highway 290, U. S. Highway 183, SH 130 toll 
road. Major neighborhood thoroughfares include FM 973, Blake Manor Road, Parmer Lane and 
Greg Lane.  
 
Commercial uses are located along the major thoroughfares such as U.S. Highway 290, State 
Highway 79, and FM 973.  The major arteries through the subject neighborhood include U.S. 
Highway 290 East, State Highway 79, and FM 973. 
 
The subject neighborhood has seen tremendous growth since 2013 residential development has 
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increased dramatically in Manor to the south and Pflugerville to the west.  
 
Commercial activity has picked up in Manor, Texas over the last several years. Wal-Mart built a 
store along south line of US Highway 290 on the east side of Manor. This included a Wal-Mart 
Store along with restaurants Panda Express and Whataburger. Additionally, Auto Zone and a retail 
center were also constructed.  
 
Also, after the completion of the US Highway 290 and Lexington Street intersection, retail pad sites 
including McDonald’s, Starbuck’s, Taco Bell and O’Reilly’s auto parts have been constructed. This 
has been part of the Shadowview Shopping center which has included several in-line retail strip 
center buildings. 
  
The outlook of this neighborhood appears to be good in the long term as many people wish to live 
closer in to the downtown area. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
In summary, the neighborhood can be characterized by vacant land and new single-family 
residential development in the majority of the neighborhood.  The subject neighborhood has slowly 
picked up in growth since a majority of the neighborhood is starting to be developed.  Although the 
economy is in a downturn this area should remain stable over the next several years with possible 
growth of infill tracts throughout the neighborhood. 
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AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH 
 

 
 

 



 THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY       29  REAL ESTATE SERVICES 

SITE ANALYSIS 
 
"Site analysis is a careful study of the factual data in relation to the neighborhood characteristics 
that create, enhance, or detract from the utility and marketability of the land or site as compared 
with competing comparable land or sites" (From The Appraisal of Real Estate, Fourteenth Edition, 
published by The Appraisal Institute, 2013). 
 
The property is legally described as 0.158 acres, more or less, out of the William H. Sanders Survey 
No. 54, Abstract No. 690, Travis County, Texas. The subject is located at 9745 US Hwy 290 E in 
Austin, Travis County, Texas.  
 
Below is a brief synopsis of the general characteristics pertaining to the subject property. 
 

 
 
Size: 0.158 acres or 6,882 square feet  
 
Shape: Rectangular 
 
Frontage: The subject has frontage along the south line of US 

Hwy 290 E. The subject has an access denial line in 
place along the right-of-way line. At this time, the 
subject has no legal access, nor are any easements 
across adjoining tracts in place.  

 
Topography: The subject site is basically level and at street grade 

with the US Hwy 290 E frontage road.  
 
Soil Conditions: A detailed soil or subsoil analysis was not made for 

the subject property. This appraisal is contingent 
upon no detrimental soil condition that negatively 
affect development.   

 
Floodplain: No portion of the subject property is located within 

the floodplain according to the Federal Flood 
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Insurance Administration Firm Panel No. 
48453C0480 J, dated August 18, 2014. 

 

 
 

Utilities: The tract has access to all pubic utility services.  
 
School District: Manor Independent School District. 
 
Zoning: None, City of Austin 2-Mile ETJ 
 
Easements: Typical utility easements along property lines are 

assumed and do not appear to inhibit development.  
 
Environmental Concerns: An environmental site assessment was not furnished 

to the appraisers. We did not observe any 
environmental hazards upon our inspection; however, 
we are not qualified engineers. This appraisal is 
contingent upon no detrimental materials located on 
the subject tract. 

 
Endangered Species: We are unaware of any endangered species situated 

on the subject tract. 
 
Improvements: None. The subject is vacant land.  
 
Surrounding Land Uses: The subject property is surrounded by vacant land 



 THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY       31  REAL ESTATE SERVICES 

tracts, currently used for outdoor storage (containers 
and vehicle tow lot).  

 
Tax Assessment: The subject is not currently assessed by TCAD. The 

subject is located in the following taxing jurisdictions.  
 

 
 
Conclusion: The subject lot is basically level and at street grade. 

All utilities are in place, and the subject is not 
currently zoned. The subject has no known legal 
access at this time.  
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 SUBJECT PHOTOGRAPHS 
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HIGHEST AND BEST USE ANALYSIS 
 
The term highest and best use as used in this appraisal report is defined as,  
 

"The reasonably probable and legal use of vacant land or an improved property, which is 
physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible and that results in the highest 
value.’ 

 
(From The Appraisal of Real Estate, Fourteenth Edition, published by The Appraisal Institute, 2013) 
 
The highest and best use of the land as though vacant and as improved must meet four criteria: 
 

Legally Permissible – The uses that are legally permitted by private restrictions, zoning, 
building codes, historic district controls and environmental regulations on the site. 

 
Physically Possible – The use to which it is physically possible to put the site in question. 

 
Financially Feasible – The possible and permissible uses that will produce a net income or 
return, equal to or greater than the amount needed to satisfy operating expenses, financial 
obligations and capital amortization. 

 
Maximally Productive – Of the financially feasible uses, the use that produces the highest 
residual land value consistent with the rate of return warranted by the market for that use is 
the highest and best use. 

 
The highest and best use criteria shown above must be addressed with regard to the subject 
property on an as if vacant basis and in the preferred sequential order of analysis to derive our 
opinion of highest and best use. 
 
 
1. Legally Permissible 
 
Zoning and land use restrictions must be considered when determining highest and best use. As 
discussed in the Zoning Information section of this report, the subject property is not located within 
the City of Austin and is not zoned. The subject is located within the Austin two-mile ETJ and must 
adhere to all subdivision and site development standards promogulated by the City.  
 
The subject has no known legal access at this time. The subject is deed restricted from having 
access to the right-of-way via an “Access Denial Line”. An easement over an adjoining property, or 
assemblage would provide legal access. A sidewalk is in place along the right-of-way, access via 
foot is permitted.  
 
Considering the legally permissible uses for the subject property it appears limited use of the 
property is possible. If the subject had legal access, a wide variety of uses would be available to the 
subject property including retail, commercial and office.  
 
 
 
2. Physically Possible 
 
In arriving at a conclusion of highest and best use for the subject property, it was also necessary to 
consider the physical aspects of the site.  As discussed in the Site Analysis, the subject does not 
appear to be encumbered or adversely affected by soil conditions or damaging easements. 
However, the subject has no known legal access (except via foot from the sidewalk).  
 
The subject consists of 0.158 acres of land, and the property is fairly level and at street grade with 
the US Hwy 290 E frontage road. No portion of the property is located in the floodplain.  
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For a typical commercial use to succeed, the property must be located along a major artery or must 
be in proximity to other traffic generators. The subject's location is felt to be suited for commercial 
use, except that vehicular access is prevented by the access denial line along the right-of-way. The 
traffic flow along US Hwy 290 E (Manor Expressway) is heavy. The subject has good visibility. It is 
the major thoroughfare from the Manor area to Austin. 
 
According to our information, utilities are provided to the site and are adequate to support a 
commercial development. The subject property is surrounded by vacant land utilized for outdoor 
storage and sales.  It appears that the only appropriate use for the subject would entail assemblage 
with an adjoining tract to gain legal access. 
 
 
3. Financially Feasible 
 
Property uses that are expected to produce a positive return are regarded as financially feasible. 
Austin jobs grew at a 0.9% annualized rate over the three months through May 2018. Austin’s 
unemployment rate fell to a low of 2.9% in May, from 3.0% in April. This is well below the May 
Texas and U.S. jobless figures of 4.1% and 3.8%, respectively. 
 
Austin’s industrial market remained tight during the second quarter of 2018, with the overall 
vacancy rate rising slightly to 6.8%, an increase of 10 basis points quarter-over-quarter, and year-
over-year. In addition, net absorption continued in positive territory for the fourth consecutive 
quarter at 143,490 sq. ft.—though down from Q1 2018’s 783,605 sq. ft. Solid demand led to an 
overall NNN average annual asking rent increase during Q2 2018. The price to rent both Flex and 
Manufacturing space dropped, while the cost of Warehouse/Distribution space increased, pulling 
the overall average rent up $0.12 to $10.45 per sq. ft., a figure that has remained largely 
unchanged from this time last year at $10.41. Close to 1 million sq. ft. has been delivered in 2018, 
with about 44% of that space available for occupancy. Rates for industrial real estate throughout 
Austin show that the Northwest submarket has the highest prices for industrial space at $12.36. The 
average rate for Flex space is currently highest in the Northeast submarket, at $13.74 per sq. ft.; 
Manufacturing rates peak in the Georgetown/Round Rock submarket, at $11.50; and 
Warehouse/Distribution space is at its high point in the Southeast at $11.72. Part of the appeal of 
the Southeast industrial submarket, located primarily east of IH-35, and surrounding the Austin 
Bergstrom International Airport, is the easy access to San Antonio, Central Texas and Houston via 
the surrounding major highways.  
 
Austin’s retail market remained tight during the second quarter of 2018, with the overall vacancy 
rate rising slightly to 4.2%, an increase of 30 basis points quarter-over-quarter, and 50 basis points 
year-over-year. With the rate at such a low level, small fluctuations up and down are not particularly 
significant. Net absorption was down 13.8% quarter-over-quarter to 365,580 sq. ft., though up 
31.6% year-over-year. In addition, metro Austin leasing activity is at 529,683 sq. ft., on par from the 
previous quarter. The retail market saw overall average asking rates rise $0.13 per sq. ft. quarter-
over-quarter to finish at $22.03 per sq. ft.—an all-time high—on a triple-net basis. Austin’s retail 
market has been gradually tightening for the last ten years and has seen occupancy rates at or 
above 95% for fifteen consecutive quarters, or Q4 2014. 
 
In consideration of this information, as well as data collected in our market research, we believe 
sufficient demand exists for a mixed industrial/retail use. Given the surrounding land uses and 
visibility, but smaller size of the tract, it would be likely a small owner occupant with an outdoor 
storage or sales company would desire the tract (if legal access was available). However, given the 
lack of legal access, and the fact the tract is not very walkable (and public parking is not available 
nearby), we believe assemblage with the adjoining tract to be the only financially feasible use for 
the subject. 
 
 



 THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY       35  REAL ESTATE SERVICES 

4. Maximally Productive 
 
The maximally productive criteria analyzes the use that produces the greatest net return to the 
property. From the analysis of the physically possible and legally permissible criteria, we 
determined that assemblage of the subject with the surrounding tract to be the maximally productive 
use of the site. We believe that the highest and best use for the subject is for assemblage of the 
subject with the adjoining tracts.  
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SALES COMPARISON APPROACH 
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LAND VALUATION 
 
The first step in the valuation process is to estimate the market value of the subject site "as if 
vacant". In estimating the site's current market value, the subject market area was researched for 
recent sales of similar vacant sites.  After gathering the most comparable sales which could be 
located, the Sales Comparison Approach was performed to estimate the value of the land as if 
vacant. 
 
The Sales Comparison Approach is based upon the principle of substitution.  "The principle of 
substitution states that when several similar or commensurate commodities, goods or services are 
available, the one with the lowest price attracts the greatest demand and widest distribution." (From 
The Appraisal of Real Estate, Fourteenth Edition, published by the Appraisal Institute). 
 
The applicability of this approach is based upon the assemblage of similar sales data for 
comparison, from which market derived adjustments for relevant factors can be extracted.  The 
sales data is compared to the subject on the basis of significant characteristics exhibited in the 
subject property.  When specific characteristics differ between the comparables and the subject 
property and are also considered to affect the sales price or value, adjustments are made to the 
comparable's per unit sales price.  Factors such as location, date of sale, floodplain and size are 
typical value influencing characteristics.  The comparative analysis is referred to as a paired sales 
analysis and, by market comparison, reflects desires and actions of typical buyers and sellers in the 
marketplace. 
 
To estimate the appropriate adjustments for the dissimilar characteristics, the appraisers have 
utilized a pure pairing process where possible.  This process compares two sales which are similar 
in all respects except for the characteristic for which an adjustment is to be derived, thereby 
isolating the variable in question.  The adjustment generally represents the per unit percentage 
price differential between the two sales.  This pairing process is employed for each characteristic in 
an attempt to extract market-derived adjustments.  Each pairing is based upon the adjusted prices 
obtained from the prior adjustment, if any, which creates a new adjusted value. 
 
It should be noted, however, that so-called "pure" pairings do not always exist and occasionally the 
appraisers are forced to rely on alternative sources for the estimation of an appropriate adjustment 
for a particular attribute.  Following the presentation of the comparable land sales is a discussion of 
the characteristics for which adjustments are deemed necessary.  In addition to an explanation of 
the basis for these adjustments, the appraisers have explained the extraction of the actual 
adjustment factors from the market data. 
 
The reader's attention is directed to the following pages for the factual summaries and details of the 
comparable sales utilized to value the subject property. A discussion and analysis of these 
comparables will be presented following the sales comparables. 
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COMPARABLE LAND SALES MAP 
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COMPARABLE LAND SALE NUMBER ONE 

 
 
Location: 9741 US Highway 290 East, Austin, Travis County, 

Texas. 
 
Legal Description: 4.3133 acres in the W.H. Sanders Survey No. 54, 

Abstract No. 690, Travis County, Texas 
 
Parcel Nos:  R227132 and R 
 
Date:  March 5, 2018 
 
Recording Data: Document Number 2018032975 
 
Grantor: Robert Hurst Rental Company 
 
Grantee: Patrick M. Callan 
 
Consideration: $950,000.00 (Confirmed) 
 
Terms: Cash to Seller 
 
Price/Unit: $5.06/Square Foot (Confirmed) 
 
Size: 3.3133 acres or 136,473 square feet 
 
Shape: Irregular.  
 
Frontage: Approximately 535 total linear feet of frontage along 

U. S. Highway 290. The tract is two parcels, that wrap 
around a small parcel, intermittently disrupting the 
total linear frontage of the tract. Only the west parcel 
has access to the roadway at this time, via two 
existing driveways. It is unknown if the east parcel 
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has legal access to the roadway, as the small out 
parcel has an access denial line in place.  

 
Terrain: Generally level with some slope to the south, mostly 

clear.  
 
Floodplain: Less than 2% along the west and south property lines.  
 
Utilities: All available. 
 
Zoning: None; Austin ETJ 
 
Comments: The property was purchased as an investment, and is 

currently being utilized for yard storage for a wrecker 
service.   

 
 The subject was listed on the market with an asking 

price of $1,000,000 for a period of 278 days. The 
price was reduced to $950,000 after six months. 
Within two months of reducing the asking price, the 
tract was placed under contract (at the then current 
asking price). The buyer paid cash.  

 
 This tract wraps around the subject on the east, 

south and west property lines. The buyer of this tract 
is the interested buyer of the subject property.  

 
Confirmation/Date: Broker Jeffrey Slanker @ 512.225.8625; 8/18; AKA 
 
File Number: V-72-18 
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COMPARABLE LAND SALE NUMBER TWO 
 

 
 
Location: 12421 US Highway 290 East, Manor, Travis County, 

Texas. 
 
Legal Description: Lot 2, Manor Storage, Travis County, Texas 
 
Date:  July 20, 2017 
 
Recording Data: Document Number 2017097241 
 
Grantor: Hardy Realty, Inc. Employees Pro 
 
Grantee: Manor Plaza, LLC 
 
Consideration: $525,000.00 (Calculated) 
 
Terms: Cash to Seller 
 
Price/Unit: $4.02/Square Foot (Confirmed) 
 
Size: 3.00 acres, 130,680 square feet 
 
Shape: Slightly Irregular rectangle 
 
Frontage: Approximately 300 feet of frontage along U. S. 

Highway 290. 
 
Terrain: Basically level, mostly clear.  
 
Floodplain: None 
 
Utilities: All available except sewer. 
 
Zoning: None 
 
Comments: The property was purchased as an investment.   
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Confirmation/Date: Phil Morris with Retail Solutions @ 512-474-5557; 

10/17; JDG 
 
File Number: I-7-17 
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COMPARABLE LAND SALE NUMBER THREE 
 

 
 
Location: Northeast corner of John Glen Way and East Ben 

White Boulevard, Austin, Texas 
 
Legal Description: Lot 1B, Block A, Airport Commerce Section 2, a 

resubdivision of Lot 1, Block A, Travis County, Texas. 
 
Parcel Number: 883012 
 
Date: December 14, 2016 
 
Recording Data: Document No. 2016206765 
 
Grantor: W2 Hill ACP II, LP 
 
Grantee: Zenith Hospitality, LLC 
 
Consideration: $1,695,315 
 
Terms: Cash to seller 
 
Price/Unit: $14.07/SF 
 
Size: 2.7660 acres or 120,489 square feet 
 
Shape: Rectangular 
 
Frontage: The tract has frontage along East Ben Whit 

Boulevard and John Glen Way.  
 
Terrain: Level 
 
Floodplain: None 
 
Utilities: All public utilities extended to site. 
 
Zoning: “CS-CO-NP” – Commercial Services with Conditional 
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Overlay and Neighborhood Plan 
 
Surrounding Land Uses: The subject is surrounded by a hotel to the north, 

vacant land to the east, a mobile home park to the 
south across East Ben White Boulevard and vacant 
land to the west. 

 
Comments: This property was purchased for an Aloft Hotel to be 

built in 2018.  
 
Confirmation/Date: Vijay Patel (Grantee) @ 512-590-9957; 11/17; JDG 
 
File Number:     SP-34-17 
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COMPARABLE LAND SALE NUMBER FOUR 
 

 
 

 
Location: Southeast corner of US Highway 290 and Eintrage 

Drive, Manor, Hays County, Texas 
 
Legal Description: Lot 2, Block A, Las Entradas South, Section 1, Travis 

County, Texas. 
 
Date: August 27, 2015 
 
Recording Data: Document #2015138836 
 
Grantor: Las Entradas Development Corporation 
 
Grantee: Kaslik Bay, LLC 
 
Consideration: $500,000 
 
Terms: Cash to seller 
 
Price/Unit: $12.49/SF 
 
Size: 0.9190 acres or 40,030 square feet 
 
Shape: Irregular rectangular 
 
Frontage: The lot has frontage along US Highway 290, Eintrage 

Drive and a private road along the south line. It also 
has reciprocal access with surrounding subdivision 
land uses to the east. 

 
Terrain: Basically level at street grade with both frontage 

roads. 
 
Floodplain: None 
 
Utilities: All public 
 
Zoning: “C-1” – Light Commercial 
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Comments: The site was purchased to build a convenience store 
with fuel pumps. The grantor will also deed restrict 
any other lot sales from convenience stores for five 
years. 

 
Confirmation/Date: Review of contract; 6/15;JDG  
 
File Number: SUB-17-15 
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COMPARABLE LAND SALE NUMBER FIVE 
 

 
 

 
Location: Northeast corner of US Highway 290 and Tillgang 

Pass, Manor, Hays County, Texas 
 
Legal Description: Lot 5, Block A, Las Entradas North, Section 1, Travis 

County, Texas. 
 
Date: October 1, 2015 
 
Recording Data: Document #2016158801 
 
Grantor: Las Entradas Development Corporation 
 
Grantee: Kaslik Bay, LLC 
 
Consideration: $560,000 
 
Terms: Cash to seller 
 
Price/Unit: $14.01/SF 
 
Size: 0.92 acres or 39,967 square feet 
 
Shape: Irregular rectangular 
 
Frontage: The lot has frontage along US Highway 290, and 

along the proposed Tillgang Pass. It will also have 
reciprocal access with surrounding subdivision land 
uses. 

 
Terrain: Basically level at street grade with both frontage 

roads. 
 
Floodplain: None 
 
Utilities: All public 
 
Zoning: “C-1” – Light Commercial 
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Comments: The site was purchased to build a convenience store 
with fuel pumps. The grantor will also deed restrict 
any other lot sales from convenience stores for five 
years. 

 
Confirmation/Date: Review of contract; 6/15;JDG  
 
File Number: SUB-17-15 
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VACANT LAND SALES ANALYSIS 
 
The Comparable Land Sales presented on the previous pages have been compared to the subject 
with respect to such factors as market conditions, location, size, topography, floodplain and utilities. 
 The appraisers chose to utilize these sales due to the fact that they all possessed the same or 
similar land use potential as the subject property.  As previously mentioned in our highest and best 
use analysis, we feel that the subject property would be best utilized for future commercial 
development (through assemblage).  All of the sales were felt to have a similar highest and best 
use as the subject. 
 
For the purpose of analyzing these Sales, we have used the price per square foot measure. The 
appraisers found various similarities and differences between the comparables and the subject.  In 
order to accurately estimate the value of the subject, it was necessary to adjust when differences 
existed. These adjustments were derived from actual market extractions, opinion of brokers and 
landowners in the area, cost analysis and from the appraisers past experience. Below is a summary 
of the Sales, along with a discussion of each type of adjustment made to the Comparable Sales. 
 
 

Sale Location Date Size 
(Acres Price/SF  

1 9741 US Highway 290 East, Austin 3/18 3.3133 $5.06 

2 12421 US Highway 290 East, Manor 7/17 3.00 $4.02 

3 Northeast corner of John Glen Way and 
East Ben White Boulevard, Austin 12/16 2.766 $14.07 

4 SEC US Highway 290 and Eintrage Drive, 
Manor 8/15 0.9190 $12.49 

5 NEC of US Highway 290 and Tillgang 
Pass, Manor 10/15 0.92 $14.01 

Subj. 9745 US Highway 290 East, Austin 8/18 0.158 NA 

 
 
Property Rights Conveyed 
 
We are appraising the fee simple interest in the subject. The market data used in this analysis 
reflects fee simple conveyance. 
 
All of the comparable sales have legal access and frontage. The subject is essentially landlocked at 
this time. The subject is a remainder parcel from a previously acquired land tract utilized for 
expansion of the US Hwy 290 E right-of-way. The subject has no legal access to the right-of-way 
(there is an access denial line in place along the north perimeter/US Hwy 90 E).  The subject’s 
property rights via denied vehicular access and lack of easement access from adjoining tracts 
decreases the current usability of the tract, and decreases the number of investors that would be 
interested in the subject.  
 
We have surveyed the market for comparable sales, and are aware of one similar 2018 transaction 
that occurred in Drippings Springs, on a tract with a 15’ wide access easement from US Hwy 290 
W. This is a central infill tract within the community, well suited for a mixed-use commercial 
development (if marketable access was available). The tract cannot be fully developed with a 
commercial project due to the inferior easement access and the unwillingness of the adjoining 
property owner to increase the access width due to their own development requirements. The tract 
had been listed on the market for a number of years, until recently an adjoining property owner on 
the northwest corner purchased the tract for assemblage. Mr. Scott Daves, the broker on the 
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transaction, stated if the tract would not have been limited by legal access, the selling price would 
have been at least 40% to 60% higher. As a resulted of the diminished access, the tract sold for 
much less as an assemblage parcel. During a pairing process employed by the appraisers, it was 
determined that superior legal access would have resulted in a likely selling price of at least 52% 
higher.   We further consulted area developers at Riverside Resources regarding their knowledge of 
tracts with denied access. There is a consensus amongst market participants that the diminished 
property rights as a result of denied access can affect the market value up to 80%, with factors such 
as size, walkability, and location also having a role in value. We have adjusted all of the comparable 
sales down 50% for superior property rights (in relation to legal access and lack of restrictions).  
 
 
Financing 
 
Favorable financing may have an effect on the ultimate sales price.  Where favorable financing is 
present, a portion of the sales price may be attributable to the value of the financing.  This value, if 
recognized by the market participants, would be deducted from the sales price to reflect the cash 
equivalent sales price of the real estate.  The comparable sales did not require adjustments for this 
item. 
 
 
Conditions of Sale 
 
Adjustments for conditions of sale generally take into consideration the motivations of the buyer and 
seller. When atypical motivations such as duress or transactions between related parties are 
recognized, adjustments should be considered. Of the sales considered in this analysis, no unusual 
motivations were noted for any of the comparable sales and no adjustment was necessary on this 
basis.  
 
 
Market Conditions 
 
The market conditions adjustment takes into consideration the difference in sales prices due to 
changes in the market. The comparable sales were all conveyed between August 2015 and March 
2018. An overview of the comparable sales indicates an adjustment based on market conditions of 
approximately 10% annually, or 0.833% per month. Therefore, this adjustment was necessary for all 
five of the comparable sales. See following table for adjustment calculations. 

 
Sale Date # Months % Appreciation % Adjustment

1 Mar-18 5 0.00833 4%
2 Jul-18 11 0.00833 9%
3 Dec-16 20 0.00833 17%
4 Aug-15 36 0.00833 30%
5 Oct-15 34 0.00833 28%  

 
 
Location 
 
The subject is located along the south line US Hwy 290 E, just west of SH 130. This area is in the 
growth stage, numerous vacant land tracts are present, and new construction is occurring. 
Adjustments for access has been previously addressed in the Property Rights Conveyed. The 
location adjustment is tailored to neighborhood and synergy in this adjustment component.  
 
Comparable Sale One is adjacent to the subject property, and Sale Two is east of the subject in a 
similar neighborhood as the subject. No adjustments are necessary. Sales Three, Four and Five 
are very superior in location, as these tracts are located within high synergy areas, with superior 
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demand for speculative land. Downward 40% adjustments for superior neighborhood location has 
been applied.  
 
 
Size 
 
The subject consists of approximately 0.158 acres. The comparable sales range in size from 0.9190 
acre to 3.3133 acres. Typically, a smaller tract will sell for a higher price per square foot than a 
larger site, all other attributes equal. Previous pairings indicate anywhere from 5% to 20% per 
halving or doubling in size. In this scenario, we have utilized a 5% adjustment for doubling or 
halving in size. All of the comparable sales have been adjusted upward for inferior size.  
 
 
Topography, Floodplain and Usable Area 
 
The subject property consists of 0.158 acres. The property is fairly level and at street grade. All of 
the comparable sales were felt to be fairly similar in topography, no adjustment was necessary on 
this basis.  
 
 
Improvements 
 
The subject property and the comparable sales are vacant tracts. No adjustments are warranted.  
 
 
Other Adjustments 
 
None of the comparable sales required any further adjustments.  
 
Your attention is directed to the Comparable Sales Grid on the following page.   
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COMPARABLE SALES ADJUSTMENT GRID 
 

Comparable Number One Two Three Four Five
Sale Price/SF $5.06 $4.02 $14.07 $12.49 $14.01

Property Rights Superior Superior Superior Superior Superior
Conveyed -50% -50% -50% -50% -50%
Financing Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar

0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Conditions of Sale Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar

0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Time/Market Conditions Inferior Inferior Inferior Inferior Inferior

4% 9% 17% 30% 28%
1st Adjusted Value $2.73 $2.37 $9.43 $9.99 $10.93

Location Similar Similar Superior Superior Superior
0% 0% -40% -40% -40%

Size Inferior Inferior Inferior Inferior Inferior
25% 25% 20% 12% 12%

Topography/Floodplain Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar
0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Improvements Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar
0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Site Improvements and Similar Similar Similar Similar Similar
Utilities 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Net Percentage        
Adjustments 25% 25% -20% -28% -28%

Final Adjusted Value $3.42 $2.96 $7.54 $7.19 $7.87

Mean: $5.80
Median: $7.19  

 
 
Reconciliation 
 
Before adjustments, the comparable sales ranged from $4.02 per square foot to $14.07 per square 
foot. After adjustments the comparable sales range from $2.96 per square foot to $7.87 per square 
foot with a mean of $5.80 per square foot and a median of $7.19 per square foot.  
 
Comparable Sale One is adjacent to the subject, is a recent transaction, but is much larger in size. 
Sale Two is just east of the subject and is located along US Hwy 290 E, but is slightly older and a 
larger tract. Sales Three, Four and Five are located in superior neighborhood locations, along high 
traffic corridors as well. After adjusting the comparable sales for variances in property rights, market 
conditions, location and size, the appraisers have placed equal weight on the comparable sales.  
 
It is our opinion that with adequate marketing and exposure, the subject property would sell at or 
near $5.00 per square foot of land area. We have reconciled just below the mean, but within the 
range of the adjusted comparable sales.  
 
Based on this reasoning, we are of the opinion that the “As Is” market value of the Fee Simple 
interest in the subject property with a 12-month exposure period, and as of the effective date of this 
report, is as shown below: 

 
0.158 acres X 43,560 SF X $5.00/SF    =    $34,412 

 
Rounded:     $35,000 
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CERTIFICATE 
 
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief: 
  
· The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.   
 
· The reported analyses, opinions and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions 

and limiting conditions and are my personal, impartial, and unbiased professional analyses, 
opinions and conclusions. 

 
· I have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and no 

personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 
  
· I have not performed services as an appraiser or in any other capacity regarding the property 

that is the subject of this report within the three-year period immediately preceding acceptance 
of this assignment. 

 
· I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties 

involved with this assignment. 
 
· My engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 

predetermined results. 
 
· My compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or 

reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the 
amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a 
subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal. 

 
· The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 

prepared, in conformity with the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics & Standards of 
Professional Appraisal Practice of the Appraisal Institute, which include the Uniform Standards 
of Professional Appraisal Practice. 

 
· I have made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report. 
 
·  No one provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this 

certification.  
 
· The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to review 

by its duly authorized representatives. 
 
· As of the date of this report, I, W. F. (Dubb) Smith, III, has completed the continuing education 

program of the Appraisal Institute." 
 
 
“The Appraisal Institute conducts a program of continuing education for its designated members.  
MAI's and designated members who meet the minimum standards of this program are awarded 
periodic educational certification.”  "I, William F. (Dubb) Smith, III, am currently certified under the 
continuing education program of the Appraisal Institute." 
 
To the best of the appraisers' knowledge the subject property does not contain any toxic 
substances such as hazardous waste, asbestos or radon gas which would adversely impact the 
market value of the subject.  Additionally, to the best of the appraisers' knowledge, there are no 
properties within the immediate area which contain these substances.  This is not a guarantee that 
these substances do not occur in the subject property or within the immediate area. 
 



 THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY       54  REAL ESTATE SERVICES 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
THE W. F. SMITH COMPANY 

 
Ashley K. Applegate W. F. (Dubb) Smith, III, MAI, SRPA, SRA  
State Certified General Real Estate Appraiser State Certified General Real Estate Appraiser  
Certificate # TX 1380728-G Certificate # TX 1321084-G 
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CONTINGENT AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 
 
This report is subject to the following limiting conditions: 
 
The legal description furnished is assumed to be correct.  The firm assumes no responsibility for 
matters legal in character, nor renders any opinion as to the title, which is assumed to be good.  
The property is appraised as having knowledgeable ownership and competent management. 
 
The firm has made no survey and assumes no responsibility in connection with such matters.  The 
information identified in this report as being furnished by others is believed to be reliable, but no 
responsibility for its accuracy is assumed.  The construction and condition of the improvements 
mentioned in the body of this report is based on observation and no engineering study has been 
made which would discover any latent defects.  No certification as to any of the physical aspects 
could be given unless a proper engineering study was made. 
 
The distribution of the total evaluation between land and improvements (if any) in this report applies 
only under the existing program of utilization.  The separate estimates for land and improvements (if 
any) must not be used in conjunction with any other appraisal, and are invalid if so used. 
 
We are not required to give testimony or attendance in court by reason of the appraisal with 
reference to the property in question, unless arrangements have been made previously thereof. 
 
Possession of this report or a copy thereof does not carry with it the right of publication.  It may not 
be used for any purpose by anyone other than the addressee without the previous written consent 
of the appraiser. 
 
Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report shall be conveyed to the public through 
advertising, public relations, news, sales, or other media without the written consent and approval of 
the author, particularly as to valuation conclusions, the identity of the appraiser or firm with which he 
is connected or any reference to the Appraisal Institute and the SRPA or MAI designation. 
 
We are not qualified to detect the presence of potentially hazardous materials such as 
urea-formaldehyde foam insulation, asbestos, toxic wastes, etc.  While it is assumed the property 
(land and improvements) is free from the influence of same, such condition is not warranted by The 
W.F. Smith Company. 
 
This appraisal conforms to the Uniform Standards of Professional Practice (USPAP) adopted by the 
Appraisal Standards Board of The Appraisal Foundation. 
 
Our compensation is not contingent upon the reporting of a predetermined value or direction in 
value that favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value estimate, the attainment of a 
stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event. 
 
This appraisal assignment was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation, 
or the approval of a loan. 
 
The Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA") became effective January 26, 1992.  We have not 
made a specific compliance survey and analysis of this property to determine whether or not it is in 
conformity with the various detailed requirements of the ADA.  It is possible that a compliance 
survey of the property, together with a detailed analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could 
reveal that the property is not in compliance with one or more of the requirements of the Act.  If so, 
this fact could have a negative effect upon the value of the property.  Since we have no direct 
evidence relating to this issue, we did not consider possible non-compliance with the requirements 
of ADA in estimating the value of the property. 
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QUALIFICATIONS OF W. F. (DUBB) SMITH, III, MAI, SRPA, SRA 
 

William F. Smith, III, graduated with a Bachelors of Science degree from Texas A & M University, College 
Station, Texas.  He is currently President of The W. F. Smith Company, 4161 E. Hwy. 290 Suite 100, 
Dripping Springs, Texas, 512-328-4330 (phone), 512-858-2097 (fax) and wfsmithco@austin.rr.com 
(email).  Presently he is involved in the evaluation of commercial, residential, land, apartments, 
subdivisions, light industrial and special purpose properties.  A partial resume of specific qualifications are 
outlined as follows: 

 
Professional Memberships, Designations & Licenses 
 
MAI - Member of the Appraisal Institute – 1985  
SRPA - Senior Real Property Appraiser - 1983 
SRA - Senior Residential Appraiser - 1992 
Texas Real Estate Brokers License #227484 
Member of Texas Capitol Area Builders Association 
State Certified General Real Estate Appraiser Certificate # TX 1321084-G 
TREC Approved Real Estate School Instructor 
Member Austin Board of Realtors 
Member San Marcos Board of Realtors 
 
Education 
 
B.S. Degree from Texas A & M University (Real Estate Economics, 1978) 
AIREA Course 1A:  Principles of Real Estate  
SREA Course 201:  The Appraisal of Income Properties  
SREA Narrative Report Writing Seminar  
SREA R-2 Examination (Residential Narrative Report Exam)  
AIREA Course 4:  Litigation Valuation Appraisal for Condemnation & Civil Proceedings  
AIREA Course 2-1:  Case Studies  
AIREA Course 2-2:  Valuation Analysis and Report Writing  
AIREA Course 2-3:  Standards of Professional Practice  
AIREA: Comprehensive Examination  
SREA Course 301:  Market and Feasibility Analysis  
UT Law School:  Valuation of Assets in Bankruptcy Seminar  
SREA:  Standards of Professional Practice Seminar  
AIREA: Mortgage Equity Analysis, Highest & Best Use and Cash Equivalency Seminars  
AIREA: Course 2-3:  Standards of Professional Practice  
SREA:  The Challenge of Measuring Economic Obsolescence  
SREA:  Standards of Professional Practice  
UT Law School:  Valuation of Assets in Bankruptcy Seminar  
Austin Institute of Real Estate: Real Estate License Recertification  
U.T. School of Law: Bankruptcy Seminar  
Standards of Professional Practice Part B  
U.R.A.R. Seminar  
AI:  Limited Appraisals  
AI:  Market Extractions  
AI:  Standards of Professional Practice, A&B  
AI:  Real Estate Trends  
AI:  Principles of Real Estate, Instructor  
AI:  Legal Update  
AI:  USPAP  
Columbia Institute:  Tax Free Exchange of Residential Property, No. 712  
Columbia Institute:  CompuTaught Appraisal Methods, No. 940 
Columbia Institute:  Basic Real Estate Finance, No. 814  
Champions School:  Asset Management  
Champions School:  Fair Housing  
Champions School:  Environmental Hazards  
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Education (continued) 
 
RE Campus:  Professional Property Management  
AI:  Appraisal Review Seminar  
AI:  USPAP 400  
AI:  USPAP 420  
AI:  Highest and Best Use 520  
AI:  USPAP 210  
AI:  USPAP 400  
AI:  Analyzing Distressed Properties  
AI:  Analyzing Operating Expenses  
AI:  Forecasting Revenues  
 
Experience 
 
Mr. Smith has been actively engaged in the real estate profession since March 1977, when he began 
marketing commercial and residential properties.  He has been engaged in the appraisal profession since 
January 1978. His previous employment affiliations include:  The Bryan City Tax Office, Real Property 
Analysts Houston, and Executive Vice President of R. Robinson & Associates, Inc.  He has operated his own 
appraisal services company since 1984.  His experience entails commercial and residential appraisals, 
investment counseling, ad valorem tax valuations, and appraisals for condemnation proceedings.  Mr. Smith is 
a qualified expert witness in District Court, County Court and Federal Bankruptcy Court. 
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QUALIFICATIONS OF ASHLEY K. APPLEGATE 
 

 
Ashley Applegate is a graduate of Texas A & M University in College Station, Texas.  While 
attending Texas A & M University she received a Bachelor of Arts degree in International Studies 
with an emphasis in Global Economics and Spanish. She is currently a state certified general real 
estate appraiser with the W. F. Smith Company, which is located at 4161 East U. S. Highway 290 
Suite 100 in Dripping Springs, Texas. 
 
 
Professional Memberships and Licenses 
 
State of Texas Certified General Real Estate Appraiser, Certificate No. 138028-G 
 
Education 
 
Texas A & M University 
Bachelor of Arts Degree, International Studies, 2005 
 
McKissock, Expert Witness for Commercial Appraisers, 2016 
McKissock, Commercial Appraisal Review, 2014 
Appraisal Institute, Real Estate Finance Statistics and Valuation Modeling, 2014 
Appraisal Institute, General Appraiser Income Approach Part II, 2014 
McKissock, General Appraiser Highest and Best Use Analysis, 2012 
Appraisal Institute, General Appraiser Site Value & Cost Approach, 2011 
Appraisal Institute, General Appraiser Sales Comparison Approach, 2010 
Appraisal Institute, General Appraiser Report Writing & Case Studies, 2009 
Appraisal Institute, General Appraiser Income Approach Part I, 2008 
Career Web School, U.S.P.A.P., 2007 
Career Web School, Appraisal Principles, 2007 
Career Web School, Appraisal Procedures, 2007 
 
Experience 
 
August 2007 – Present:  Employed by the W. F. Smith Company in Dripping Springs, Texas as a 
state certified general real estate appraiser.  The scope of this position includes the appraisal of a 
wide variety of real properties including commercial office, retail, industrial, subdivision, special use 
and vacant properties. Certificate No. 138028-G 
 
 
August 2005 – August 2007:  Employed by the Farm Credit System with both First Ag Credit and 
Capital Farm Credit in Texas as a Loan Officer.  The scope of this position included all aspects of 
lending, credit analysis and title examination of rural commercial properties, rural improved 
properties and vacant land tracts. 
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CERTIFICATE 
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	Resolution No. 18-046 (Financial Statements July 2018 & August 2018)
	4 1 FINAL AIS Approve July 25 and August 22, 2018 Mins.pdf
	4 2 BACKUP MINUTES Minutes for July 25, 2018 Board Meeting.pdf
	5. Approve Work Authorization No. 16 with Kapsch TrafficCom USA, Inc. for support of the new Pay By Mail back office system implementation.
	Presentation by Tracie Brown, Director of Operations.
	6. Approve agreement with Kapsch TrafficCom USA, Inc. for license plate image review services for the new Pay By Mail system.
	Presentation by Tracie Brown, Director of Operations.
	24. Discuss acquisition of one or more parcels or interests in real property needed for the Bergstrom Expressway (183 South) Project and related legal issues, including consideration of the use of eminent domain to condemn property, pursuant to §551.0...
	25. Discuss legal issues related to claims by or against the Mobility Authority; pending or contemplated litigation and any related settlement offers; or other matters as authorized by §551.071 (Consultation with Attorney).
	26. Discuss legal issues relating to procurement and financing of Mobility Authority transportation projects, as authorized by §551.071 (Consultation with Attorney).
	27. Discuss personnel matters as authorized by §551.074 (Personnel Matters).

	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	Resolution No. 18-047 (CDM Smith Amendment No. 2)
	Resolution No. 18-048 (Approving Fee Schedule)
	Resolution No. 18-049 (Adopt Habitual Violator Policy)
	8 1 FINAL AIS Habitual Violator Policy Code.pdf
	8 3 BACKUP Habitual Violator Toll Policy Changes.pdf
	Chapter 1:
	Chapter 2:
	Chapter 3:
	Article 1.
	Subchapter A.
	301.1
	301.2
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	Subchapter B.   Toll Collections
	301.4
	301.5
	301.6 Purpose
	This subchapter establishes practices and operations for toll collection systems on designated controlled-access toll roads operating within the turnpike system, and incorporates provisions of Section 370.177, Transportation Code, regarding failure or...

	301.7 Transponder Account
	A customer may establish a transponder account by contacting any interoperable agency’s Customer Service Center (“CSC”). A transponder is an electronic device that records the presence of a vehicle on a toll road and is usually attached to the windshi...

	101.1 Unauthorized Transfer of Transponder
	A transponder that is interoperable with the authority’s toll facilities is for use with one vehicle per transponder, and should not be transferred to another vehicle once the transponder  is attached to the original vehicle’s windshield. Transfer of ...

	301.8 Video Billing
	(a) The authority offers video billing as a courtesy payment option for customers that use the authority’s toll facilities without a transponder account. The authority, through its third-party vendor Violations Process and Toll Collection Provider (th...
	(a) The Collections Contractor will send an invoice to the registered owner of the vehicle and accept payment on behalf of the authority. The Contractor will add a mail administrative fee for each invoice. All toll bills/invoices require payment by th...
	(b)

	301.9 Establishment of Video Billing Administrative Fees for Unpaid Tolls
	(a) Section 370.177, Transportation Code, authorizes the assessment and collection of an administrative fee to recover the authority’s cost of collecting unpaid tolls. An administrative fee may not exceed $100.00 per unpaid toll. The authority has det...
	(b) The administrative fees for each billing stage and other related charges shall be published on the authority website.The current administrative fee shall be applied at each phase of the collection process. This means that upon issuance of a notice...
	(a) If payment is not received in connection with the first notice of non-payment, and a second notice of non-payment is sent, an additional $15.00 administrative fee shall become due. Therefore, full payment of a second notice of non-payment will req...
	(a) If payment is not received in connection with either the first or second notice of non-payment, the unpaid account shall be considered for collection, an additional $30.00 administrative fee shall become due, and the cumulative administrative fee ...
	(c) The board recognizes that the amount of the administrative fee should be subject to periodic change when collection costs and associated matters are considered. Therefore, the board delegates the authority to revise the administrative fee, or any ...

	301.10 Customer Service and Violation Enforcement Policies
	(a) A tolerant and customer-friendly approach will be employed towards customers who use the road without paying the required toll. While it is understood that the objective of the authority is to collect revenue and minimize toll violation abuse, the...
	(b) The authority will establish a “Violation Processing Center (VPC)”process where vehicle images captured at the toll collection point and for which no toll was paid will be reviewed and processed according to authority policies in accordance with t...
	(c) Failure to respond to the established customer contact process and to satisfy outstanding, unpaid toll amounts will result in the issuance of citation and prosecution in accordance with state lawadditional collection activities and/or legal action.
	(d) The Executive Director may determine a customer with 100 or more events of nonpayment within a period of one year and who have received at least two written notices of nonpayment is considered to be a habitual violator under Section 372.106, Trans...
	(e) The two written notices of nonpayment must state the full amount owed for the 100 or more events of nonpayment and must also include a warning that the failure to pay the amounts specified in the notices may result in the toll project entity’s exe...
	(f) For those potential habitual violators who have “not paid in full the total amount due for tolls and administrative fees under those notices”, notice will be sent to the potential habitual violator that complies with State law and affords the pote...
	(g) The board must take action to deem an individual as a habitual violator before name publication, vehicle bans and/or vehicle registration blocks can be used.
	(h) The habitual violator process shall be published on the authority website.

	301.11 Procedures for Disputing Toll Violations
	(a) A customer may dispute an alleged failure to pay a toll on the authority’s web site or by contacting the CSC where a valid transponder account has been established.
	(b) A customer who has contacted a CSC or the authority’s collection contractor and has been unable to satisfactorily resolve a dispute regarding a toll violation may submit a written appeal to the authority. Such appeal shall be for the purposes of t...







	Resolution No. 18-050 (NET RMA ILA)
	9 1 FINAL AIS NET RMA ILA.pdf
	9 3 BACKUP CTRMA-NET RMA Toll Processing ILA Draft.pdf
	PPINTERLOCAL AGREEMENT
	WITNESSETH:
	I.
	II.
	III.



	Resolution No. 18-051 (CEI and Work Authorization for 290E Phase III)
	Resolution No. 18-052 (CAPCOG Fuel Emissions Analysis
	Resolution No. 18-053 (Sale of 51R)
	ITEM 22 SURPLUS PROPERTY SALE (PARCEL 51R).pdf
	Appraisal Report Sep. 2018 Parcel 51R.pdf
	NEW COVERS-Sample
	Appraisal Report

	V-72-18
	Appraisal of 0.158 acres of vacant land located at 9745 E. U.S. Highway 290 in Austin, Travis County, Texas.  WFS File No. V-72-18







